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Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the
Senate, Monday, February 5, 1973:

“The Honourable Senator Goldenberg moved,
seconded by the Honourable Senator Thompson:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and
report upon all aspects of the parole system in
Canada, including all manner of releases from correc-
tional institutions prior to termination of sentence;

That the said Committee have power to engage the
services of such counsel, staff and technical advisers
as may be necessary for the purpose of the said
examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so
authorized by the Committee, may adjourn from
place to place inside or outside Canada for the pur-
pose of carrying out the said examination; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on
the subject in the third and fourth sessions of the 28th
Parliament be referred to the Committee.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Robert Fortier,
Clerk of the Senate.
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Minutes of Proceedings

March 6, 1973.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing
Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
met this day at 10:05 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Goldenberg (Chair-
man), Hastings, Lapointe, McGrath, MclIlraith, Prowse
and Quart. (7)

Present but mot of the Committee: The Honourable
Senator Denis.

In attendance: Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director
for the Examination of the parole system in Canada; Mr.
Patrick Doherty, Special Research Assistant.

The Committee resumed its examination of the parole
system in Canada.

The following witnesses were heard by the Committee:
Mr. S.F. Sommerfeld,
Director, Criminal Law Section,
Department of Justice;
Mr. D.R. Watson,
Senior Prosecutor,
Department of Justice;

Mr. J.W. Braithwaite,

Deputy Commissioner of Penitentiaries,
Department of the Solicitor General.

At 12:30 p.m. the Committee adjourned until 2:00 p.m.

At 2:00 p.m. the Committee resumed its examination of
the parole system in Canada.

Present: The Honourable Senators Goldenberg (Chair-
man), Hastings, Lapointe, McGrand, McIlraith, Prowse,
Quart and Williams. (8)

Present but not of the Committee: The Honourable
Senators Denis and Thompson.

In attendance: Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director
for the Examination of the parole system in Canada; Mr.
Patrick Doherty, Special Research Assistant.

Mr. Therrien, Vice-Chairman of the National Parole
Board, was heard by the Committee.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Prowse it was
Resolved to print in this day’s proceedings the Statements
submitted by the Department of Justice, the Canadian

1:4

Penitentiary Service and the National Parole Board. They
are printed as Appendices “A”, “B” and “C”, respectively.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Hastings it was
Resolved that unless and until otherwise ordered by the
Committee, 1,100 copies in English and 400 copies in
French of its day-to-day proceedings relating to the
Examination of the parole system in Canada be printed.

At 5:00 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the
Chairman.

ATTEST:

Denis Bouffard,
Clerk of the Committee.



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and

Constitutional Affairs

Evidence

Ottawa, Tuesday, March 6, 1973.

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitu-
tional Affairs met this day at 10 a.m. to examine the
parole system in Canada.

Senator H. Carl Goldenberg (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, the hearings of the
committee were, of course, interrupted by the adjourne-
ment of the last Parliament and its subsequent dissolu-
tion. We are now resuming with a view to considering
some of the remaining briefs.

As you will see from the memorandum prepared by the
Executive Director, the purpose of this morning’s hearing
is to clarify certain matters. There is obviously a good
deal of confusion in the public mind with respect to the
various forms of release before termination of sentence.

In view of this, we have with us representatives of the
Department of Justice and of the Solicitor General to
explain the various forms of release. I believe a memoran-
dum has been prepared by each of the three witnesses.
With the agreement of the committee, in order to save
time I suggest that each memorandum be made part of
the record of today’s proceedings. May we have such a
motion?

Senator Prowse: I so move.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

For text of memoranda, see Appendices A, B and C.

The Chairman: The first witness this morning will be Mr.
Sommerfeld, of the Department of Justice, who has with
him Mr. Watson. Mr. Sommerfeld’s statement has been
distributed to members, and I will ask him to proceed. In
view of the fact that the statement will be made part of
the record, it may not be necessary for Mr. Sommerfeld to
read it in its entirety. I will ask him to proceed as he
wishes, after which we shall see how we get along in the
light of questions. Mr. Sommerfeld.

Mr. S. F. Sommerfeld, Director, Criminal Law section,
Department of Justice: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Ladies and gentlemen, as I understand it, the interest of
the committee relates to situations in which persons who
have been involved in some way in the criminal process
are released and permitted to be at large, as distinct from
situations to which such processes as parole apply.

The directions, on which I based the paper which has
been distributed to you, set out a number of instances
which have been broadly designated in Mr. Jubinville’s
memorandum as instances of conditional release. This is

not strictly true in all cases, and perhaps I might preface
my remarks by saying that a number of them are also
related one to the other. For example, the first two head-
ings, on bail and remand, are closely related, because a
remand takes place in the course of the pre-trial and
pre-appeal procedure; and the conditions upon which a
person is permitted to go free during the period of a
remand involve really the same considerations that apply
to him if released in the pre-trial or pre-appeal procedure.
Similarly, a suspended sentence, probation, conditional
discharge, and intermittent sentences all involve the use
of a probation order which have certain consequences for
a person bound by one. These four headings are also
closely related because of the fact that a probation order
applies in all of them and there are certain consequences
that follow a breach of a probation order.

Finally I might mention that the question of pardons,
while part of the Criminal Code, is really something that
is administered by the Solicitor General’s Department. I
have not really attempted to deal with this in the paper
that I have prepared, except to identity it as being in the
Criminal Code and as being something that is within that
department’s jurisdiction.

If I could turn now to the memorandum itself, ladies
and gentlemen, the first heading is dealt with in a fairly
general way. There is an appendix to the first heading
which deals with these matters in considerably more
detail. I am not certain to what extent the committee
wishes to get into that. In any event, to begin with the first
heading:

When a person is accused of committing an offence, he
may be compelled to appear in court either by summons,
police process or warrant of arrest. The peace officer may
also arrest without warrant a person whom he has reason-
able and probable grounds to believe has committed an
indictable offence.

When the accused is required to appear in court by
means of a summons, he is not taken into custody and
remains free until the completion of his trial. A person
who is arrested and detained before his trial has the right
to pre-trial release in certain circumstances. The onus of
showing that an accused person should continue in cus-
tody until completion of his trial is on the prosecutor. The
justice or judge may order the detention of the accused on
two grounds only. These are as follows: (a) on the primary
ground that his detention is necessary to ensure his
attendance in court in order to be dealt with according to
law; and (b) on the secondary ground that his detention is
necessary in the public interest or for the protection or
safety of the public, having regard to all the circum-
stances including any substantial likelihood that the
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accused will, if he is released from custody, commit a
criminal offence involving serious harm or an interfer-
ence with the administration of justice. The secondary
ground applies only after it has been determined that his
detention is not justified on the first.

If the prosecutor does not show cause why the detention
of the accused in custody is justified or why conditions
and sureties should be given in addition to a recognizance,
the justice may release the accused on his simple under-
taking to appear for his trial unless it is an offence of
murder or one punishable by death.

Now, as I mentioned, attached to this paper is Appendix
“A”, which sets out in greater detail the provisions in the
Code, with a discretion that can be exercised, who exer-
cises it, and so forth. The statement I have read simply
points out the general circumstances under which a
person may be released before his trial, and how the onus
is on the prosecutor to justify his retention.

If he is going to be retained, if he is not going to be
released, perhaps the committee may be interested in the
conditions of release which appear on page 2 of the
appendix at the back of the statement. These are the
conditions that may be applied where the release may be
granted by the officer in charge of the lock-up on a
person’s simple promise to appear, or on his own recogni-
zance, with up to $500 without sureties or without condi-
tions, and that cash deposit of $500 may be called for if he
is not a resident of the province or does not reside within
100 miles of the place where he is being held.

Senator Prowse: That is a maximum?

Mr. D. R. Watson, Senior Prosecutor, Department of Justice:
That is right.

Senator Mcllraith: Mr. Chairman, may I ask a question or
two here? There seems to be some uncertainty and some
difficulty, not with the grounds for detention, but with
regard to the time at which they must be applied. A great
many of the prisoners to be charged with crimes are
arrested in the night, and the required time, to check up
on their identity and certain other related matters rele-
vant to a responsible determination as to whether or not
they should be detained awaiting trial, needs clarifying.
Could you develop the point regarding the time at which
that decision must be made, the decision as to whether or
not they will be retained, bearing in mind complaints
about their being released before there is an opportunity
to check more fully on their crime, bearing in mind that a
new shift on most forces comes on in the morning at 8
o’'clock? There is a new crew on, and the sources of
information are not open until 8 or 10 o’clock in the
morning.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, I wonder if Senator McIl-
raith would agree to my putting it this way? Let us sup-
pose that Mr. X is picked up by the police at 1 a.m. The
police grab him at a certain place. They suspect that he
has raided the till of a service station. It has been found
that the doors have been forced open, and the man has
some change in his pocket which they think is not his.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Mr. Chairman, may I defer that ques-
tion to my expert on that subject, Mr. Watson?

The Chairman: Feel free to call on Mr. Watson to answer
any question.

Mr. Watson: It depends on the seriousness of the offence
and the circumstances applying where the police officer
makes the arrest. The law requires a police officer, if it is
a fairly minor offence—an offence that is a summary
conviction offence, or one that the Crown may proceed
with by way of indictment or summary conviction, or one
that falls within the absolute jurisdiction of the magis-
trate, which are by and large relatively . . .

Senator Prowse: Let us not become confused. Put it in a
simple way.

Mr. Watson: If it is a minor offence, the police have an
obligation to release that person as soon as possible, pro-
vided there is no reason to suspect that the accused will
not show up for his trial when required, or that there is
not something in the public interest that requires that he
be detained, and it would be in the public interest to
continue his investigation, to identify the accused ade-
quately, to prevent him from hiding the evidence, from
disposing of the evidence, or from getting to other poten-
tial Crown witnesses. So there is an obligation on the
policeman. The policeman has to decide whether he is
going to release him or not under this police process. If he
decides to release him, or the person is released subject to
this recognizance, or to an undertaking, or if he decides
that he is not going to release him, the law requires . ..

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, we are overdoing this,
with all due respect. Let us take a very simple case. Let us
say that a policeman comes along and goes past a service
station at 1 o’clock in the morning. He finds the door open
and, inside, the cash drawer open and no money in it, and
a fellow holding $20.93 in his hand. What does the police-
man do with this man? What does he do with the fellow
now?

Mr. Watson: We are in the realm of speculation. I sup-
pose the police officer would arrest him and bring him
down to the police station then he would have to have him
identified. If the accused co-operates and helps to identify
himself, then his release is speeded up. The moment they
can identify him, make sure he has roots in the communi-
ty, that he will show up for his trial, that there is no
possibility of his destroying evidence. . .

Senator Prowse: They have the $20.93 by this time.

Mr. Watson: That is right. The moment they have his
identity checked through the RCMP identification system
and find out who this person is—he may be one of the ten
most wanted men in Canada or just a local chap who is
out of work and needs ready cash—then there is an obli-
gation on the peace officer to bring him before the justice
as soon as possible. If the arrest is made at two o’clock in
the morning, then that would be at, say, nine or ten
o’clock in the morning. At the moment he is brought
before the justice the Crown must say whether or not it
wishes to show cause why the accused should not be
released on a simple undertaking. If the Crown does not
indicate that it wishes to show cause as to why he should
not be released on a simple undertaking, then the justice
must release him on a simple undertaking. If the Crown
does wish to show cause, then, of course, it opens up a
whole range to the justice, from a simple undertaking
right down to detention.

Senator Mcllraith: My point is a little different. If the
arrest is made at one or two o’clock in the morning, and it
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is not apparent that there is a serious charge against him,
because that policeman goes off duty at eight o’clock, or
whatever it is, depending on the force, there is no way he
can get the relevant information, nor, indeed, is there any
way in which he can lay a charge at the hour he brings
him in, other than, perhaps, a very minor one. But an
offence may be revealed when daylight comes and it is
discovered that the store next door has been broken into,
and that type of thing. That kind of information only
comes to light as the businesses come to life sometime in
the morning hours. There is no way to check the informa-
tion as to identify until the morning hours, and in some
instances it takes more than a day to do so. The legislation
has shifted the onus on to the operator in the arresting
act—the man who is out alone on the beat or the pair who
are out on the beat—and there is no readily apparent way
that he can produce the relevant information because that
man on a night arrest has to sleep some time in the day.

What I am trying to find out in more precise terms in
relation to that person who is going to be the accussed—
although the charge may not be laid until eight or nine
o’clock in the morning—is how long he can be held with-
out this process becoming applicable. I am not question-
ing the grounds at all.

Mr. Watson: He can be held until he is brought before the
justice who must dispose of the case.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, but when must he be brought
before the justice?

Mr. Watson: The law requires it bo be as soon as possi-
ble. In a city like Toronto there are justices available at all
times. However, in some of the small towns in northern
Ontario, say, the justices are not as readily available.

Senator Mcllraith: Well, he is available through the phone
fairly easily.

Mr. Watson: The peace officer must bring him before a
justice as soon as there is one available. That varies from
place to place. It would be virtually impossible to have a
Justice of the Peace available on a 24-hour basis.

Senator Mcllraith: Is there a statutory limitation of time?

Mr. Watson: Yes. Section 454 states:

where a justice is available within a period of twenty-
four hours after the person has been arrested . ..

So it is within 24 hours, where he is available.

where a justice is not available within a period of
twenty-four hours after the person has been arrested
by or delivered to the peace officer, the person shall
be taken before a justice as soon as possible.

Senator Mcllraith: As far as the cities are concerned,
then, for all practical purposes, that means he must go
before a justice not later than ten o’clock?

Mr. Watson: That is right.

Senator Mcllraith: So there is no way, then, of having the
relevant information to make a proper determination.
There are cases where the policeman may suspect there is
something very wrong—something more than the charge
on which the person has been arrested—yet he cannot
assemble or cannot check out the information which has
to be checked out in order to make this determination.

Mr. Watson: It depends on the individual police officer.
The law does not require the police officer to arrest every
person. The law is framed that a police officer “may”
arrest. If he arrests a person and then releases him, that is
up to the individual police officer. As long as that
individual policeman feels that he is satisfied that he can
identify him, et cetera, then he can release him. The
person may have furnished identity which turns out to be
false, or there may be a break-in next door which does not
come to light until the next morning, then to re-arrest that
person we have to get . . .

Senator Mcllraith: This is my point. They have to release
that criminal who has a long record and who will not be
able to meet the criteria set out here. They have to release
him, and then try to find him again the next day.

Mr. Watson: They do not have to release him until they
are satisfied who the individual is. There is no obligation
on the police to release that individual until they are
satisfied as to his identity.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, there is. The arresting policeman
cannot hold a man simply on his own fancy. The onus is
on the Crown to show cause why this person should be
detained.

Mr. Watson: Not on the individual policeman, with all
due respect, senator. The law says that the individual
peace officer may detain a person for reasons of public
interest, which include establishing the identity of the
person. The person arrested may give his name and
address, but the peace officer does not necessarily have to
accept that. He may want to bring him in and have him
finger-printed.

Senator Mcllraith: But he cannot have him finger-printed
under the Identification of Criminals Act unless it is an
indictable offence.

Mr. Watson: That is quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: So he cannot have him finger-printed
and, consequently, there is no way to check the man out at

Mr. Watson: In the case of a summary conviction
offence, you are quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: In so many of these cases, in actual
practice, when they are first picked up by the policy
officer, they are not picked up on a major offence at all.
That may take a clear working day to come to light and
for the police to relate the person picked up to the more
serious charge. They may have arrested him on a minor
charge, but the major charge does not come to light right
away. It seems to me, from what has been said here, that
there is a gap in this legislation and it leaves the police
officer in a position of not being able to do his work, or is
a handicap to him in the conduct of his work.

I am talking now only about the cities. I do not think the
problem arises in the smaller centres, because the kind of
criminals who are hard to identify do not usually get into
those smaller centres.

Mr. Watson: From the point of view of an experienced
police officer in Toronto, there is probably no more dif-
ficulty in the present law than there was under the old
law. Under the present law the peace officer is fully
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justified to bring the accused into the police station, and if
that individual police officer is not satisfied that he should
be released, then he hands him over to the desk sergeant
and the desk sergeant then goes into an inquiry.

Senator Mcllraith: If you go into these police courts at
two or three o’clock in the morning, when they bring an
individual in, and stay there until it becomes light and see
the whole process, there is no way the man on the beat
who brings him in can do any investigative process with
respect to that man until at least nine o’clock that
morning.

Mr. Watson: That is quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: And then he has to leave at some time.
If he is on the overnight shift he cannot wait until ten
o’clock; he has to sleep at some time.

Mr. Watson: He brings him in and he hands him over to
the officer in charge.

Senator Mcllraith: The desk sergeant.

Mr. Watson: Yes, and the desk sergeant must dispose of
that individual. He cannot go off duty until he has dis-
posed of that individual.

Senator Mcllraith: That is my point. In Toronto at three
o’clock in the morning there is just no real application of
the judicial determination contemplated by the act,
because the practicalities of the situation do not permit it
to be exercised. That is my point.

Mr. Watson: Well, the law does give a discretion, and

obviously if you give a discretion to someone he may not
exercise it properly.

Senator Mcllraith: It only gives him if I may, a discretion
with the onus on the prosecutor to show the negative—
that he must not be released. The man is in custody for
some reason. He is not brought in for no reason at all.
There is no way that a prosecutor can satisfy that onus
right away, so the man has to be released. These officers
do not act just on a whim.

Mr. Watson: You are quite right, senator, but the prob-
lem of onus and the prosecutor showing cause does not
take place until the accused is brought before the justice
at the bail hearing.

Senator Mcllraith: That is my point, which is at three
o’clock in the morning.

Mr. Watson: There is no onus on the police officer at the
stage of arrest, other than that he have a good reason to
detain the individual.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, but the section says that he must
be brought before a justice within 24 hours, so that means
ten. o’clock in the morning, although you could argue that
it does not need to be ten . . .

Senator Prowse: But then we get into the remands.

Senator Mcllraith: At that point, the prosecution must
show cause, and there is no way he can show cause at that
hour. He cannot keep his men available to show cause at
that hour. There is no way you can work that man day
after day—the policeman involved and those who come

into it—without sleep. You can do it once a week, but you
cannot do it day after day.

Mr. Watson: But there is no obligation to show cause the
next morning. If the police do not have the evidence
available or the witness available, the prosecutor can ask
for an adjournment. He is entitled, under the law, to ask
for an adjournment so that he can properly show cause to
the justice and present his case in a proper fashion. If he
tries to go ahead and show cause before he is ready to do
so, the law requires the justice to release the accused. So
the prosecutor should not proceed with the “show cause”
hearing until he is ready to do so. I dare say that any
experienced prosecutor will not tell the justice that he is
ready to proceed until he is ready to proceed.

Senator Mcllraith: This is the whole nub of the com-
plaints of the system, as I understand them. Prosecutors
have no basis for asking the Justice of the Peace to hold
the person another day; they cannot say they will have
evidence to show cause, because they do not know.

Mr. Watson: You have to look at it from the two points of
view. From the point of view of the accused, if he is
brought before a justice and the prosecutor stands before
the justice and says, “I have no evidence to show why this
person should be held. I have a strong suspicion that
maybe tomorrow I might have it, but I do not have any-
thing more than that now,” the law gives the benefit to the
accused and he has to be let out, otherwise that person
would be unnecessarily detained.

Senator Mcllraith: Let us take an actual case that arose a
few years ago, with which I am familiar. When the King
and Queen were here on Parliament Hill there were some
professional pickpockets in from Chicago working over
the crowd, as it were, and that day they were picked up
during the course of their operations. There was no possi-
ble way in which by the next morning at 10 o’clock, under
this law, anyone could have produced just cause, and
those thugs would all have had to be released and sent
back to Chicago. It was suspected that they were not
Canadians, and it had to be checked out in another coun-
try. It took until the second day after they were picked up
to get that information, and under the existing law they
would have been out and away.

Mr. Watson: I do not agree, because I think the law does
cover that. Where a peace officer has reasonable and
probable grounds to believe that a person is about to
commit an indictable offence he may arrest the man. The
section of the law allows the police to hold that person
until they are satisfied that his continued detention in
custody is no longer necessary in order to prevent the
commission by him of an indictable offence.

There is more authority now to deal with that sort of
person than there was under the old law, because if there
are reasonable and probable grounds to believe he is
about to commit an indictable offence he may be arrested
and detained. In the case of a visit by some dignitary, if
the police suspect somebody is going to attempt to
assault. ..

Senator Mcllraith: These were not violent persons.

Mr. Watson: He could in that instance be arrested and
detained, and when the visiting VIP left town he could be
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released. He has never committed an offence; it is a pre-
ventive arrest, which is what the law provides now.

Senator Prowse: And still provides it.

Mr. Watson: It still provides it, and gives authority to
continue his arrest. Obviously, here you get on to a touchy
point. Who is to decide when the custody is no longer
necessary in order to prevent the person from committing
a crime?

Senator Mcllraith: I was not talking about prevention; I
was talking about actual crimes—they were pickpocketing
in a professional manner.

Mr. Watson: In that case it would be a matter for the
proper exercise of discretion by the police, the justice, and
the prosecutor. It is a combination of the three. The police
arrest a person and say to the prosecutor, “We don’t want
this guy released, and this is the reason we don’t want him
released . . .” The prosecutor then assesses that reason for
not releasing him, and may be convinced that it is a valid
reason.

Senator Mcllraith: There is no way that could have been
produced by 10 o’clock the following morning.

Mr. Watson: Then the prosecutor is entitled under the
law to ask for a remand of up to three clear days—which
means, not counting the first day, that if a person is
arrested on Monday the prosecutor is entitled to a remand
that allows him to come on again the following Friday. I
would say that if between Monday and Friday they cannot
get information together to show why the person should
be detained before trial, before he has been convicted . . .

Senator Prowse: And while he is presumed innocent.
Mr. Watson: And while he is presumed innocent . . .

Senator Mcllraith: It is the onus that has to be satisfied
here by the prosecutor at too early a point.

Mr. Watson: I should like to draw the honourable sena-
tor’s attention to section 457.1:

A justice may, before or at any time during the
course of any proceedings under section 457, upon
application by the prosecutor or the accused, adjourn
the proceedings and remand the accused to custody in
prison by warrant in Form 14, but no such adjourn-
ment shall be for more than three clear days except
with the consent of the accused.

If the police are not ready to proceed with the bail
hearing, they ask for an adjournment.

Senator Mcllraith: That is quite clear. They do not have
any evidence to produce at that point at all. They have a
suspicion in their own minds. but nothing more; they do
not have “reasonable and probable cause”. They are pros
at their job, just as the criminals are pros. They may
suspect that there is something wrong in the case, but
there is nothing at that point, they still have to show
cause.

Mr. Watson: The justice could release him, and when he
finds out at 3 o’clock the next afternoon he is wrong he
issues a warrant for the person’s arrest and hauls that
man back before him.

Senator Mcllraith: Are any statistics kept under the
present statistical set-up of persons taken into custody by
a policeman and brought into the station and released,
who immediately before that had committed an offence,
or immediately go out and commit another before being
brought up for trial?

Mr. Watson: Statistics Canada are doing a study at the
moment. They have a pilot project under way. They have
picked various cities across Canada and are engaged on
this project.

Senator Mcllraith: They are trying to find a formula.

Mr. Watson: They will be keeping statistics. It is much
too early at this stage to decide how the present law is
working compared with the previous law, because there
has been too short a period of time to get sufficient
figures.

Senator Mcllraith: I understand that.

Mr. Watson: From the reaction we get from provincial
attorneys general, from police forces in general, from
prosecutors and lawyers, it would seem that the law is
working very well.

Senator Mcllraith: I am not so sure of that.
Mr. Watson: It is just the odd police officer who may . . .

Senator Mcllraith: It is not such an odd police officer; it is
the fellows out in the cars.

Mr. Watson: Experienced police officers I have talked to,
with due respect, have found that it is easier now to detain
somebody than it was under the old law. The prosecutors
I have spoken to have also said it is easier now to detain a
person who should be detained.

Senator Mcllraith: The prosecutor never hears about the
cases I am talking about, because they don’t come to him
until after they are into the next working day; the cases
have been disposed of before they get to the prosecutor,
so he is not in the picture under the new system, whereas
he was in the picture under the old system.

Mr. Watson: I feel that a peace officer who is
experienced—not someone who is still trying to learn the
ropes—now finds that the law is easier to operate under
than the old law. Under the old law he was also called
upon to make decisions. Under the law as it existed
before, the peace officer had a discretion to arrest or not
to arrest. If he arrested when he should not have arrested,
there was always the possibility of a suit for false arrest.
The law now protects him vis-a-vis his own superiors. If
he does not have a good reason for detaining the person
once he arrests him, the police officer must release him,
so he is off the hook; whereas if he has a reason for
detaining him, he may do so. The police officer alone can
know whether he has a good reason for detaining the
person. If he does not have a good reason for detaining
me, say, I would rather he did not detain me than detain
me at his discretion, as he could under the old law.

Senator Mcllraith: Under the old law it came into the
hands of the crown attorney, and he dealt with it. At that
point the determination was made as part of the regular
judicial process as we had built it up. It is now made by a
set-up in the police establishment in the wee, small hours
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of the morning before any crown attorney is on the job,
and this is why the policemen are simply not trying to
detain these people, because they are protected if they do
not, as you just pointed out. The men out on the beat are
the ones who are confronted with this situation, and who,
in the first instance, have the responsibility of protecting
society at that first operation.

Mr. Watson: As I recall, under the old law I do not think
it was very easy to get hold of a crown prosecutor at 3
o’clock in the morning to discuss it.

Senator Mcllraith: They never did, because the man was
locked up and came up out of the pen in the morning at 10
o’clock, and then it was dealt with.

Mr. Watson: The only change that has occurred between
then and now is that in a worthy case the police can
release the man, whereas under the old system they kept
him until the next morning.

Senator Prowse: They could not release him under the
old system.

Mr. Watson: That is right, and now they can.
Senator Mcllraith: That is right.
Mr. Watson: If a person were picked up. ..

Senator Mcllraith: I am really dealing with the other
thing, where now they are released at 3 or 4 o’clock in the
morning in Toronto before the police know the first thing
about them, so the men are not bothering to bring them in.
It is the same thing that you have in Washington, where
you meet them coming out with their bail, and the police
system simply does not work.

Mr. Watson: The bulk of offences that are committed are
very minor offences. You get the person who is picked up
at 3 o’clock in the morning for impaired driving. Under
the old system they kept that person, picked up for
impaired driving, until the next morning. Now there is an
obligation on the police to release a suspect at 3 in the
morning, after they have given him the breathalyzer test.
They can then call his wife and she can come and pick
him up, or he is sent home in a taxi. Now there is authori-
ty to release him, whereas under the old system they
probably kept him until the next morning. He might have
been the mayor of the community or a person well known
to the police officer who would say, “I would like to let
you go, but there is no way I can do it.” Now the law
provides that if he can identify him, if all the proceedings
of the investigation are completed, he has an obligation to
release that person.

Senator Prowse: Under the old system, the police, the
magistrate or the justice of the peace who was validly on
duty in this city had a list which was provided by the
attorney general, showing that for X dollars—say, $250 for
impaired driving, $500 for something else, or $800 for
something else—he could be released on bail. If he could
produce that cash he went free, and if he could not pro-
duce it he stayed in the hoosegow.

Mr. Watson: He had to stay in, that was so.
Senator Prowse: That is right.

Senator Mcllraith: I am not dealing with the merit of the
law, the old and the new; that is not the question to which

I addressed myself. I addressed myself to what appears to
be a weak spot in the new law. I am not for a moment
suggesting that the old system was perfect or better, or
anything like that. I am suggesting that there is a point in
the new system where there may be a weakness—and note
I say “may”—and I would like to get evidence on that
particular narrow point, to see whether it might conceiv-
ably be relevant. I may or may not wish to say something
about it in terms of its improvement.

I am not one who accepts the philosophy that any law,
merely because it is new, is necessarily perfect. It may be
a big improvement over the old law, but it may also, itself,
be capable of improvement. That is true of any law, as it
is drafted.

In this law, it seems to me that there is a point of
possible weakness—note I do not say “point of weakness,”
I say “possible weakness”’—and it lies in that, having
shifted the responsibility to show cause to different parts
of the process, of letting them out on their own recogni-
zance. We corrected one evil, if you like, but we may have
created another in the correction process.

It is on that very narrow point that I was seeking assist-
ance. I think the answer may well be that it relates to the
point that perhaps the procedures and practice used by
the various forces concerned in the judicial process are
not a matter for substantive legislation at all.

Mr. Watson: The problem is that many of the attorneys
general throughout Canada said that the bill, in its
format, did not change anything, but merely codified
what already existed in practice in their own provinces.

Senator Mcllraith: I know there are no kicks coming from
the very provinces where they have applied that principle.
There are no kicks at all coming from there, but there are
from the others.

Mr. Watson: That is right. It is difficult to find a proper
solution. You get down eventually to the individual police-
man on the beat having enough discretion. You can leave
that discretion with him, or you can take it away. If you
take the discretion away, you have to give him good
guidelines that are so strict that he simply just brings the
person into the police station; he brings everybody in.

Senator Mcllraith: What I was trying to clarify is this.
Without intending to do so, I think we have in fact taken
the discretion away from him at that point.

Mr. Watson: They may have interpreted it in that way.
Senator Mcllraith: That is the point I was getting at.

Mr. Watson: It was meant to make it easier for them, and
they may have interpreted so that they say, “I am either
off the hook and I am letting him go, or I am just dragging
him in.”

Senator Mcllraith: On the intention of the new legislation,
as far as I am concerned, I am not certain that we have
drafted it to achieve its objectives at all. We may have
caused or brought about a new evil in the process. That is
really the point.

Mr. Watson: I agree with you, senator, that there are
police officers who have interpreted it not in the way the
legislation was intended; I might say, not in the way the
majority of police officers have interpreted it. There has
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been no trouble, for instance, with the RCMP or with most
of the provincial police forces. It is the municipal police
forces—and perhaps it is a matter of education, of getting
that individual police officer to apply it in the right spirit.

Senator Mcllraith: It is a little bigger than that. A number
of police officers were in on the drafting body and they
knew exactly what was intended there. I think they are
applying what was intended there. Some of the other
forces are confronted with the statute and do not have
that thought.

Senator Prowse: It may be that they do not want to make
it work.

Senator Mcllraith: No, I am not so sure that that is the
point at all. I do not think it is a question of lack of good
faith.

The Chairman: I think that Senator Mcllraith has made
his point very clearly and this leads us on to the next item,
remand. Would you be good enough to cover that, Mr.
Sommerfeld?

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes, Mr. Chairman.

As I mentioned in my opening remarks, the question of
remand is really tied up with the question of pre-trial
release, because it occurs within the context of the pro-
cess that goes on once the person gets involved with the
criminal law.

To remand an accused means to order some type of
temporary postponement of the proceedings against him.
For example, on his first appearance, an accused may be
remanded to a particular date to plead to the offence, he
may be remanded to another date to fix a date for his trial
and then remanded again to the date fixed for his trial. He
may be remanded in or out of custody, depending upon
whether or not in the pre-trial release procedure
described above—which my friend Mr. Watson has been
dealing with—he has been permitted to be at large.

Senator Prowse: Or this may be reviewed at that point.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Or it can be reviewed, yes. So, when a
person is remanded in the course of proceedings that are
going on, the question of his being at large or being in
custody is governed by much the same considerations that
go on prior to the time the trial actually gets under way.

In the case of remand for a mental examination, it is
really a special sort of remand that occurs in the course of
the proceedings. It is a remand in custody, he is not
released when he is remanded for a mental examination,
so there is no question of his release under those circum-
stances. He may be remanded for mental examination for
a period not exceeding 30 days . .. There is supposed to be
supporting evidence from a medical practitioner. If there
is not, but if there are special circumstances he may,
nonetheless, be remanded for a period of 30 days, or he
may be remanded for up to 60 days if there is supporting
evidence from a qualified medical practitioner.

Senator Hastings: You used the phrase “he may be
remanded in custody”. Where does this examination take
place?

Mr. Sommerfeld: It might be in the Provincial Hospital or
wherever there are custodial facilities of this nature,
where a mental examination can take place. It would

usually be a Provincial Hospital. Is that not so, Mr.
Watson?

Mr. Watson: That is pretty well so, I think. Here in
Ottawa it would be the Royal Ottawa Hospital.

Senator Hastings: Does the examination take place in
custody in the institution or jail, or does the mental exami-
nation take place in custody in a mental home or mental
hospital?

Mr. Watson: That would vary, of course, in the case of
the judge concerned and the facilities available to him;
and if he is in a state where he needs to be tranquilized, or
if he is a person who simply appears to be in need of a
mental examination for ancillary purposes rather than to
decide whether the person is fit to plead or not in his trial.
There is such a variety of possibilities that it would
depend on which facility is best capable of dealing with
that mental examination for that particular accused.

Senator Hastings: Who would make that decision?

Mr. Watson: It would be the judge, on the recommenda-
tion of the defence counsel and the prosecutor.

Senator Lapointe: Sometimes is he kept only in jail, or in
a hospital? Can he be kept in jail?

Mr. Watson: He would be held in custody. That, in cer-
tain cases, might be a jail.

Senator Mcllraith: It could be, but it is not likely to be,
unless it is just for the want of a chance to bring the
doctor or the psychiatrist in.

Mr. Watson: In other words, he is not free to go, so he has
to be held, and he has to be held somewhere.

Senator Prowse: I am not sure it lays down what he has
to do, but the normal procedure would be that he is
remanded to X institution for Y number of days for
mental examination. For example, in Edmonton he would
be remanded to the Provincial Mental Hospital in Oliver
for mental examination. He would go there and would be
held in that ward. I presume that is the general picture. 1
cannot imagine that he would be remanded to the jail
itself for a mental examination. I think they always send
them to a mental institution. I am not sure that the place is
marked down here, though.

Mr. Watson: No, there is nothing that requires it; it is a
matter of local practice.

Senator Prowse: Maybe there should be, though.

Mr. Watson: Well, I do not think there are in fact any
problems in relation to that, at least not what we are
aware of. No one has complained that he is being unjustly
detained in circumstances that do not allow for proper
mental examination. So, in practice, it works very well.

Senator Prowse: You do get complaints.
The Chairman: Mr. Sommerfeld.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Dealing with
the degree of discretion, in the case of remands other than
for a mental examination there is a wide degree of discre-
tion, except that generally speaking a remand may not be
for more than eight days unless the accused is not in
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custody and he and the prosecutor consent to the pro-
posed adjournment.

Senator Prowse: Would I be correct in saying that
ordinarily the term “remand” is used where the person is
kept in custody, and the term “adjournment” is used
where the person is free and you merely set another date
when he shall appear—or am I making a distinction that
does not really exist here?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I have always thought of the terms as
more or less interchangeable, but perhaps you are right.
The word “remand” does have a connotation of custody,
but they do speak of remands out of custody as well.

Senator Prowse: I do know that when a person is in
custody and is unable to raise bail they always talk of a
remand for eight days. If you want it longer, there has to
be an agreement. On the other hand, if the person is not in
custody, then they talk of an adjournment and you may
very get often an adjournment of a month or more. It
depends on what is convenient for everybody. But the
terms “adjournment” and “remand” would apparently be
interchangeable so far as the law is concerned, then?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I have always regarded them as fairly
interchangeable.

Mr. Watson: There are some who feel that a remand is
for the person in custody, and that an adjournment is for
the person who is not in custody, and it probably works
out to be that way in 99 per cent of the cases. But just to
go back to the principle of the bail, once bail is set at the
very beginning, or once the pre-trial release or detention
is set, that status of the accused goes on until the end of
his trial.

Senator Prowse: Unless it is changed.

Mr. Watson: Unless it is changed, yes. If a person has
opted for a trial by judge and jury and has been freed on
some form of process, or else they have proceeded by way
of summons, when the person is committed for trial by
judge and jury there is no question of deciding his pre-tri-
al detention or release, at that stage. That has been set. At
the preliminary hearing the committal for trial is no
longer a factor in deciding custody. He is committed for
trial; but he is not put in custody if he is out.

Sonfxtor Prow'so: But once he is committed for trial, the
qugstlon of bail then must be determined at the same time
again.

Mr. Watson: That has been eliminated now, the question
of setting bail.

Senator Prowse: Once it has been set, it is set?

Mr. Watson: Once it has been set, it is set for good, unless
it is changed by the . .

Senator Prowse: By the prosecutor appealing.

Mr. Watson: By the prosecutor appealing, yes. So he
continues in his state. So, if you are talking about a person
who is not in custody, whether you would refer to that as
a remand or an adjournment would not matter.

Senator Prowse: It would not matter.

Mr. Watson: No, it would be equivalent. Whereas, if you
had a person in custody, whether you called it an adjourn-
ment or a remand would not matter either, because he
would still remain in custody and it would still be no more
than eight days. So it is difficult to say whether or not
there is, in practice, a difference.

Mr. Sommerfeld: The next heading in the paper we pre-
pared, Mr. Chairman, is “Supsended Sentence.” This
means that the court may suspend the passing of sentence
for a specified period of time during which the person
convicted is free subject to an order of probation. If,
during that period of time, he commits an offence or
breaches the order of probation, in addition to any pun-
ishment that may be imposed for that act—that is, for the
offence or the breach of the probation order—he may also
be required to appear before the court again to be sen-
tenced for the original offence for which the sentence was
suspended for a period of one year, or whatever the case
may have been.

Senator Hastings: You used the words “he may”. Is it not
a requisite that he appear?

Senator Prowse: That is a good question.

The Chairman: You mean, to answer to the original
offence?

Senator Hastings: Yes. You say, “he may be required to
appear.” Is it not mandatory?

The Chairman: I thought it was “shall,” but I am not
sure.

Mr. Watson: The question of bringing him back has to be
made on the application of the prosecutor. If the prosecu-
tor does not apply to have him brought back for sentence,
then he is not.

Senator Hastings: On the breach of probation?

Mr. Watson: Yes. I think the section is 664, paragraph 3:

Where a court has made a probation order, the court
may at any time, upon application by the accused or
the prosecutor, require the accused to appear before
§ PEA

And, after hearing the accused and the prosecutor, the
court may make any changes or, in fact, impose the sen-
tence that was not imposed in the first place.

Senator Prowse: In other words, they could impose the
sentence that could have been imposed at that time.

Mr. Watson: That is right.

Senator Prowse: Really, it works out in fact that the
passing of sentence is postponed or adjourned until a
particular time, and if nothing happens to bring the
accused to the attention of the prosecutor in the mean-
time, and that time is passed, then the thing is finished.

Mr. Sommerfeld: It is at an end, yes.

Mr. Watson: Really it comes down to this, that the
accused can be charged with breach of probation. If he
breaches his probation, then there is a separate offence
for the breach of probation and he can be charged for
that. In addition to being charged with breach of proba-
tion and being punished for that, if it is a suspended
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sentence with probation, he can be brought back and
sentenced for the original offence. But, the way the law is
written, that can only be done upon application by the
prosecutor.

Senator Prowse: The person does not automatically come
back. If a person is sentenced on July 1 this year and is
given a suspended sentence for a year to keep the peace,
he does not automatically come back on July 1 next year.

Mr. Watson: No. Some judges, as a part of their order of
probation, make it a requirement that the accused be
brought back one week before the termination of his
probation. Such judges then review the probation with the
accused.

Senator Prowse: And that would be a condition of the
probation?

Mr. Watson: That would be a condition of the probation,
yes.

Senator Lapointe: But don’t you think that the accused,
while he is on probation, can be committing many
offences without being caught?

Senator Hastings: It is done every day.
Senator Prowse: Undoubtedly they do it.

Mr. Watson: That is true, but we can only talk about
persons who are caught committing offences. If it hap-
pens that a person commits an offence while he is on
probation and is caught, three things could happen to
him: he is charged with that offence; he is charged with
breach of probation; and he can be brought back before
the judge, on application of the prosecutor, for sentencing
on the original offence. So that means that he could
accumulate three new sentences.

Senator Lapointe: Yes, I know, but if they are really
cleaver they are not caught.

Mr. Watson: Well, of course, that applies to all criminals,
but I think people on probation tend to be more cautious
than persons not on probation.

Senator Hastings: Well, if I can just give a simple exam-
ple, if I am given two years’ suspended sentence and a
year later I am caught breaking and entering and I am
given a three-year sentence on that, do I serve five years
or do I serve three?

Mr. Watson: You would just serve the three, unless you
were charged with a breach of probation, in which case
the judge would take into consideration whether the sen-
tence should be in addition to the three years for breaking
and entering. If the prosecutor were to apply to have the
accused brought back before the judge for sentencing on
the original charge, then that sentence would be whatever
sentence the judge decided to impose. A two-year sus-
pended sentence is not simply a sentence of two years that
is suspended. It simply means that the judge does not pass
sentence for two years, which means that there is a sword
hanging over the accused for a period of two years during
which he can be brought back and sentenced on that
charge. At that time he could be sentenced to whatever
sentence the judge might decide on—it could be five years,
it could be two years, or it could even be six months.

Senator Prowse: But from a practical point of view what
actually happens is this, the judge says, “I sentence you to
two years less a day, but I will suspend sentence.”

Mr. Watson: Yes, but that is an illegal punishment and in
a case like that the prosecutor should appeal it.

Senator Prowse: That is the type of case you are worried
about, but it is the type of thing that magistrates do.

Mr. Watson: What is happening in that case is that the
magistrate or the judge is substituting himself for the
Parole Board. If the person is sent to jail for two years,
then the National Parole Board can in effect parole him
or suspend the effects of incarceration. But the judge
himself has no power under existing law to impose a
sentence of, say, two years and suspend its effects. What
in fact he does is simply to adjourn the passing of
sentence.

Senator Prowse: In other words, he adjourns the sentenc-
ing for one or two years from the date of the hearing.

Mr. Watson: And if the accused stays out of trouble for
that period, then there is no power to sentence him for the
original offence which lapses, and it then becomes, in
effect, a final sentence.

Senator Hastings: Could a judge sentence a man and
then suspend the sentence on condition that he behaves
himself and that he pays to his victim—and let us suppose
there is a victim—a sum of, say, X dollars?

Mr. Watson: In a case of assault, or something of that
nature, it can be a term or condition of probation, but if it
should happen that this term or condition were excessive,
then the accused could appeal that sentence. Let us sup-
pose that a judge says to an accused, “You will have to
compensate the person you injured to the extent of $50,-
000,” and this was for something of comparatively minor
importance, then the accused could appeal that and have
the court of appeal substitute its decision. It might well
say, “Well, that is not a valid condition of his probation
order.” But if it is a reasonable one, then it would form
part of his probation, and if he did not compensate the
victim, then he would be in breach of his probation and he
could be brought back.

Senator Prowse: But under the Code, in certain cases can
they not give a judgment for X dollars which is then
registerable as a civil judgment?

Mr. Watson: Yes, but that is something that is quite
different. That could be where there is an order made for
restitution or compensation at the time of the passing of
sentence; but that would not apply where he gave a sus-
pended sentence and put him on probation.

Senator Prowse: No. This is where it is given as part of
the sentence.

Mr. Watson: The magistrate or the judge might sentence
the accused to a fine of, say, $100 plus make an order at
the time of the passing of sentence that the accused
should make restitution to compensate the victim.

Senator Prowse: Let us take the case of a bad cheque. I
remember this type of thing happening regularly, where
stores have cashed cheques and consequently an individu-
al was brought up on a bad cheque charge. He would be
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charged with fraud, and the injured party would get a
judgment against him from the magistrate’s court for the
$25, or whatever the sum might be, which would be a
registerable judgment and was collectible, as any other
judgment would be.

Senator Hastings: But I am talking now about sentenc-
ing. There is always this concern for the victim, but is it
ever used?

Mr. Watson: Yes, in appropriate cases where it is a
matter of restitution or compensation for hospitalization
or doctor’s bills.

Senator Lapointe: Don’t you think that the third condi-
tion specified in your probation order is somewhat unreal-
istic—that he shall abstain from the consumption of
alcohol?

Mr. Watson: Well, that depends. A person may be an
alcoholic and his problem may be caused by drinking.
And that is why the judge, in not putting him in jail, is
recognizing that this is the problem, and he gives him the
opportunity to remain free provided he abstains from
alcohol. Because if he does not abstain from alcohol, then
he is likely to be back before him on some other offence,
in addition to that of breach of probation plus whatever
other offences he might happen to commit. Now, I agree
that it may not be a reasonable condition to impose
automatically on everybody, and I would hope that if I
were in that position they would not impose such an order
on me, but if it was the case of somebody who was an
alcoholic or whose offence was related in some way to
drinking, then I think it might very well be appropriate. If
the accused did not think it was appropriate, then he
could simply appeal the sentence, and the court of appeal
might or might not agree with the judge’s original order.

Senator Lapointe: But who would control that?

Mr. Watson: The probation officer. When a probation
order is made, it is normally part of that order that the
accused shall report at certain intervals to a probation
officer who supervises him. By that I do not mean to
imply that he follows him around for 24 hours a day. But
if the probation officer becomes aware by one means or
another—let us say the accused person’s wife telephones
the probation officer to say that he is drinking again—
then, of course, he has to follow it up, and take the
appropriate steps.

Senator Mcllraith: This also preserves in the court the
power to give a substantive sentence on the original
charge, if the man repeats the same offence. By that I
mean that when he is charged the second time they can
still sentence him on the first offence as well, and there
may be no supervision or probation involved at all. It is
really a case of giving a man a chance, but if he does come
back again he can be sentenced at that time on the first
charge. Some people have the habit of committing the
same type of offence when they get drinking, and this is
the type of case where it is used. They let him go on the
first charge, provided he does not drink, because they
know very well that if he does get drinking he is likely to
be back again.

Mr. Watson: This is no more difficult to supervise than in
the case of a person who is on parole under certain
conditions. They do not follow the person around 24 hours

a day; they trust him, but if he does breach it and if they
become aware of it, then they can take the appropriate
steps. But I imagine there are many, many persons who
breach not only their parole but also their probation
orders, and if they are not caught, then that is their own
good fortune.

The Chairman: We can now go on to probation following
imprisonment.

Mr. Sommerfeld: The type of probation we have been
considering is one that arises on a suspended sentence. It
may also be imposed following a sentence of imprison-
ment, and under section 663(1)(b) of the Code there is a
provision that in addition to fining the accused or sentenc-
ing him to imprisonment, whether in default of payment
of the fine or otherwise, for a term not exceeding two
years, the court may direct that the accused comply with
the conditions prescribed in the probation order. As in the
case of breach of probation order on a suspended sen-
tence, such breach amounts to an offence under section
666 of the Criminal Code. However, where the probation
order follows upon a sentence of imprisonment and the
accused is convicted of an offence, including an offence
under section 666, he may also be required to appear
before the court, which may then alter the conditions of
the probation order or extend its operation for a period
not exceeding one year. There would be no question of
bringing him back to sentence him on the original offence,
as in the case of a suspended sentence, because he has
already been sentenced to a term of imprisonment for
that, and has completed it.

Senator Hastings: But that order only applies to any
sentence less than two years.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes.
Mr. Watson: I think the text is “not exceeding two years.”
Senator Hastings: That is provincial term.

Mr. Watson: Not exactly because if you were imprisoned
for two years you would be in the penitentiary.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes, two years would be a penitentiary
sentence.

I turn now to the section dealing with absolute and
conditional discharge. Absolute and conditional discharge
may be applied to accused persons other than corpora-
tions and only for offences other than those for which a
minimum punishment is prescribed by law, or punishable
by imprisonment for 14 years, or for life, or by death. If
the accused is discharged absolutely it means he is free to
go without any conditions being attached to his release. If
he is given a conditional discharge he is placed under an
order of probation, but in neither case is he convicted of
the offence for which he has been charged or tried. If he
breaches the probation order this amounts to an offence
in itself, as it does in the case of any breach of probation
order. He may also have his conditional discharge
revoked and be convicted of and sentenced for the
offence with which he was originally charged and given a
conditional discharge. Generally speaking, the conse-
quences of breach of a probation order in the case of a
conditional discharge are the same as those in the case of
any other breach of probation order.
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I have referred to the sections of the statute involved in
the Criminal Code, and of course, the deciding authority
is the court having jurisdiction in the case. As far as
discretion is concerned, the court may order an absolute
or conditional discharge where the accused pleads guilty
or has been found guilty if it considers it to be in the best
interests of the accused and not contrary to the public
interest. This consideration appears in section 662.1.

Senator Hastings: I notice some criticism by the bench
with respect to this section. Can you explain their criti-
cism? What is bothering them?

Mr. Sommerfeld: We can tell you what the criticism is. I
am not entirely sure we understand it.

Senator Hastings: Neither do 1.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Certainly, there is a reluctance on the
part of some judges to apply it at all. Part of this, I think,
stems from the fact that it is very difficult to appreciate
what is really meant by a discharge, either absolute or
conditional. It is a separate animal which Parliament has
created. Prior to this a person could be convicted or
acquitted. Now he can be acquitted, convicted, or he may
be given an absolute or conditional discharge. The only
thing you can say about this is that a discharge is simply
something different from a conviction, notwithstanding
the fact that it has to follow a plea of guilty, or a finding of
guilt; and instead of registering a conviction there is a
discharge. The consequence is that the person has not
been convicted of an offence.

I think judges do have difficulty with this concept, and I
quite understand this because it is a new concept, and it is
complicated too by the fact that even though it is a sepa-
rate and different status, oddly enough it has some of the
same incidents which go with a conviction. For example,
you have certain appeal procedures which make it sound
as though he has been convicted.

Perhaps Mr. Watson has something to add to this as
well.

Mr. Watson: I think you hit the nail on the head. It is a
new concept that is not taught at law school and the law
professors have not yet caught up with it.

Senator Prowse: Neither has anyone else.

Mr. Watson: The lawyers and judges are endeavouring to
fit these concepts into their pre-existing concepts dealing
with conviction and acquittal, guilty and not guilty. I may
point out to the senator from Quebec that the French
wording has not helped because the term for parole is
“libération conditionnelle”; and the term for absolute dis-
charge is “libération inconditionnelle”; and the term for
conditional discharge is “libération sous-condition”. So
you can imagine that when they began to talk about
“libération inconditionnelle” and “libération sous-condi-
tion” in the Province of Quebec, this is just a half step
away from “libération conditionnelle” which is the term
for parole. 2

Many judges from Quebec have asked me whether this
is like parole because the term sounded so similar.
Quebec judges have a more difficult task because of the
wording. They have to sit down and study this and make a
distinction in their own mind between terms which sound

an awful lot alike, such as “libération inconditionnelle”
and “libération sous-condition.”

In a recent newspaper report a lady from Montreal was
given an absolute discharge and the Montreal Gazette
reported it as though she was freed unconditionally; they
translated it “freed unconditionally.” That was in the case
of Carmen Geoffroy who received an absolute discharge.
The newspaper did not report it as an absolute discharge;
they reported it as if she was freed unconditionally. That
was very confusing. Was she placed on parole or what was
her sentence?

The Chairman: Would you explain to another Quebec
senator what the difference is? I must admit I am
confused.

Mr. Watson: If you stick to the English version your
confusion should be relieved.

Senator Prowse: We were told that the beautiful part of
having the laws in both languages would be that if you
could not get a clear concept in one language you could
get one in the other, that the two ere interchangeable.

Mr. Watson: That is why I suggest to the senators from
Quebec that they use the English version.

Senator Mcllraith: As a matter of fact, this section deals
with a new concept and I am not certain that the term
“unconditional discharge” is a happy choice of language
to describe this new concept which we have enacted,
because the word “discharge” has certain significance
and connotations in the application of criminal law, so
does the term “unconditional discharge.” This new con-
cept is not quite related to the usage of those words in the
administration of criminal law.

Mr. Watson: I think you are quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: It may be that we have not found a
happy expression for this new concept. I think the con-
cept is very much welcomed, particularly dealing with
young offenders.

Mr. Watson: I think the term “unconditional discharge”
is probably a more accurate way of describing it because
it comes from the French wording, and yet the English
term is “absolute” discharge, which sounds very final.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, it is not really an absolute
discharge.

Mr. Watson:
conviction.

No, it means there is no record of

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, no record of conviction.

Mr. Watson: Yet a record is kept of a finding of guilt or a
plea of guilty.

Senator Prowse: It was an old Welsh jury that brought in
the verdict: “We finds the defendant not guilty, but we
advises him not to do it again.” Or the Scottish concept of
“not proven”.

Mr. Watson: I suppose it is very close to that concept.

Senator Denis: The wording in French or in English
means the same thing.
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Mr. Watson: Oh, yes. Once you bring yourself to exercise
an act of faith in this new concept, and actually believe
there are people who are neither convicted or acquitted
but who are in this middle group of “dischargees”, a
person who is given a conditional discharge, once his
period of probation is up, his discharge becomes, in effect,
absolute. The passage of time turns a conditional dis-
charge into an absolute discharge.

Senator Prowse: Am I correct in assuming that if in the
case of a conditional or absolute discharge a situation
arises in which a person is technically guilty of a breach
of law but it is not sufficiently serious that the court
wishes to convict him but orders him to pay $50, which
would be the conditional discharge, the whole thing is
forgotten?

Mr. Watson: That is correct, with no condition.

Senator Prowse: The other point is when the court says it
cannot find him guilty. You know, theft is an awfully
tough term to define, because you move something which
belongs to someone else and technically you have stolen it.
In another case the accused may be given an absolute
discharge, the court saying it cannot dismiss the case
against him because technically he has broken the law but
the court should really not have been bothered in the frist
place. Is this not what it really amounts to?

Mr. Watson: Not so much not being bothered, because if
the person commits that offence again, even though it is
fairly minor, there is a record of the previous time, so that
the judge on the second occasion is not likely to use the
discharge procedure, certainly not the absolute. He might
grant a conditional discharge the next time, but the judge
would be made aware of the fact that the person did
receive an absolute discharge for the same offence previ-
ously. If he repeated the offence, which might have been
very minor when committed once, it would become a
nuisance and very serious.

Senator Prowse: It seem to me that in 1935 the old Code
contained a provision whereby a person could plead
guilty and make restitution. He would be convicted, but
the magistrate would have the right, if the accused had no
previous record, to discharge him from the conviction. Do
you remember that sentence?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I do not recall it.
Mr. Watson: Neither do 1.

Senator Prowse: I remember it very well. Under the old
Code, prior to the change in 1952, this particular situation
arose in 1935. I have reason to recall it, not because I was
the principal. I was a newspaper reporter at the time, but
I remember reading it in my father’s library when I was
quite young. Two university students were convicted of
stealing such items as a bottle of ketchup and a door
opener. I remember going to the magistrate because I
knew these students and saw them in jail next morning,
where they had been overnight. I was able to refer the
magistrate to this section of the Code. There was complete
restitution and they paid for all damage, and the magis-
trate then discharged them from the conviction and there
was no record kept.

Mr. Watson: A practice existed prior to this legislation
whereby judges in such cases would award the accused a

suspended sentence; in other words, he would not be
punished.

Senator Prowse: But this was better. There was an inter-
regnum period when that power did not exist and a con-
viction had to be registered, but under the old section the
magistrate had the power to hand down a conviction and,
provided there was no damage involved, he could erase it.
I particularly remember a case in which this was done.

Senator Lapointe: Is the word “acquittement” not used in
French?

M. Watson: Non, ce n’est pas un acquittement. C’est
aprés qu’une personne a été trouvée coupable ou a plaidé
coupable.

The “acquittement” is the most for which the accused
could hope. He is found not guilty by the jury or the judge
and is therefore acquitted. This, however occurs after the
person pleads guilty or is found guilty, either by the jury
or by the judge, so it is not an acquittal or an “acquitte-
ment.” On the other hand, it is not a conviction.

Senator Prowse: So it is relatively unimportant?

Mr. Watson: It is something in between acquittal and
conviction.

Senator Lapointe: So a word should be found in French
other than “libération.”

Mr. Watson: I do not know; perhaps we will become used
to employing that term and it will become second nature
to us, in the same way as ‘“acquittement.”

The Chairman: Mr. Sommerfeld, would you proceed
please?

Mr. Sommerfeld: Thank you Mr. Chairman. I have noth-
ing further to say with respect to absolute and conditional
discharges.

The next item in the paper is: “Fines (In Default of
Payment—Imprisonment).”

Particular statutes may provide for imprisonment in
default of payment of fine. In addition there is a general
provision in the Criminal Code that where a fine is
imposed and no provision is made for imprisonment in
default that the court may order in default of payment
that the defendant be imprisoned for a period of not more
than six months. The court may also direct that the fine
be paid forthwith or within such time and on such terms
and conditions as the court may fix. The court may not
direct that the fine be paid forthwith unless it is satisfied
that the convicted person has sufficient means to enable
him to pay the fine at once, upon being asked whether he
desires time to make payment the convicted person does
not request such time, or for any other special reasons the
court deems it expedient that no time be allowed. The
minimum time to be allowed is 14 days. If the time
allowed expires and payment has not been made the court
may issue a warrant for the committal of the accused
unless the person has appeared and applied for an exten-
sion of time. Where there has been part payment of the
fine the term of imprisonment is reduced proportionately. '

There are really no conditions attached to the release of
a person under these circumstances, other than that his
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fine be paid forthwith, if that is the order, or within
whatever time is allowed by the order.

If there are no further questions on that section, I will
proceed to the section respecting intermittent sentences.

Where the court imposes a sentence of 90 days or less it
may order that the sentence be served intermittently at
such times as are specified in the order and direct that the
accused at all times when he is not in confinement comply
with the conditions prescribed in a Probation Order. The
convicted person is, therefore, subject to all the conse-
quences of being under a Probation Order that apply in
the case of anyone else.

This applies in such situations as those in which it may
be ordered that a person serve a sentence, for example, of
30 days on weekends. When he is out he is subject to an
order of probation and if he breaches it or commits anoth-
er offence he is in the same position as anyone else under
a probation order.

Senator Prowse: Would the order be for six successive
weekends, from 5 o’clock on Friday to midnight on
Sunday, for instance, at which time he shall report to
such-and-such a jail and remain in its custody at that
time?

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes, so that he would really be serving
12 days intermittently.

Senator Prowse: My point is, does the 90 days cover the
total period, or would it be 90 days accumulated three
days at a time?

Mr. Sommerfeld: My understanding is that the 90 days is
the period that would be divided up throughout the week-
ends, or whatever the case would be, rather than requir-
ing 90 days to be served continuously. He is told he can
serve it at certain times so that he can continue to work or
whatever the case may be.

The Chairman: It is entirely within the discretion of the
court.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes.

Senator Lapointe: What are the main reasons for this type
of sentencing?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I imagine the main reason would be to
enable a person to continue in his employment and not
lose his job as a result of having to go to jail for 30 days,
or whatever the case may be.

Senator Mcllraith: There may be a large family which
needs the security of a permanent job, plus some help in
the home in looking after the children, and his record in
that respect might be relatively good. It is for that type of
problem.

Mr. Sommerfeld: The next item has to do with pardon
and amnesty. As I mentioned at the beginning of the
paper, although it is covered by the Criminal Code, this is
really under the jurisdiction of the Department of the
Solicitor General. The matter of free and conditional
pardon is governed by section 683 of the Criminal Code. I
do not propose to say anything more than that about it. I
will defer that to my friends from the Department of the
Solicitor General.

25874—2

As far as any other releases are concerned, the only
other situation that I can think of arises very rarely.
Under section 617 of the Criminal Code there is a provi-
sion that the Minister of Justice may order a new trial or a
hearing before the court of appeal in the case of a person
who has been convicted under certain circumstances; and
where such an order is made the person who is in custody
and serving a sentence can apply for release pending the
determination of his new trial and the appeal, and the
usual considerations as to whether or not he should be
released would apply in that case. That is really a sort of
situation involving bail as well. I do not think I have
anything further to add.

Senator Hastings: All of these instances which you have
covered this morning, pertaining to the release of an
accused by police, by the courts, have no connection what-
soever with the National Parole Service or the National
Parole Board?

Mr. Sommerfeld: None whatsoever.

Senator Hastings: None of these accused will ever be
under the supervision of the National Parole Service.

Senator Prowse: Under the circumstances which we have
been discussing.

Senator Hastings: Yes. Under the circumstances which
we have been discussing this morning, none of these
would have anything whatsoever to do with the board or
the service?

Mr. Watson: There is one slight possibility that some-
times a person may, for a short period of time, because of
the operation of the two different acts, be subject to both
parole and supervision by a probation officer. That is an
administrative problem at the moment.

Senator Prowse: That is a provincial officer.

Mr. Watson: The probation officer who is a provincial
officer supervises him because he is on probation. Let us
say he has been sentenced and is paroled. He is then
subject to mandatory supervision, or the parole officer; at
the same time, because of the sentence imposed, he is also
subject to a probation order. It is usually for a short
period of time and it is worked administratively between
the two bodies, the provincial authorities and the parole
officer.

Senator Hastings: There seems to be a great deal of
confusion in the minds of the public and the press that
every time an inmate or an accused is at large it is the
Parole Board that is letting these men out. I think we have
an obligation to clarify this. Police officers, judges—in
fact, a great many people—are releasing men from cus-
tody. The Parole Board are not necessarily the only
people.

The Chairman: And that person on probation is not
subject to supervision by the Parole Service.

Senator Quart: How does the Parole Board come into the
picture? Mr. Watson has said there is one condition. Are
they requested by the judge to come in, to take over?

Mr. Watson: Perhaps I can explain this. Where a person
receives probation in addition to a prison sentence, he
may not serve his full prison sentence; he may be paroled
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before the end of his prison sentence. The probation order
takes effect after the determination of his sentence, so
that he is both out on parole and subject to probation for
a certain period of time.

Senator Quart: It works automatically. I was wondering
if the Parole Board would be requested by somebody to
take over in respect of these cases which have been men-
tioned all morning. Do they come in automatically, or are
they requested by someone?

Mr. Watson: Where a person is subject to both a proba-
tion order and parole, one service would ask the other to
do it on its behalf. Surely, they would not duplicate the
work. The probation officer may ask the parole officer to
look after a person during this period, or vice versa. It is
very rarely that a person could be both on parole and
subject to probation at the same time.

Senator Quart: That was the clarification I wanted.
Mr. Watson: It is not automatic.

Senator Quart: But I still want to know how the Parole
Board gets into the picture.

Senator Mcllraith: Only cases where there have been both
a prison sentence and a probation period have been dealt
with this morning.

Mr. Watson: It is only where there could be possible
overlapping.

Senator Mcllraith: I am wondering whether you have
made it sufficiently clear that in nearly all the cases we
have been talking about this morning only a judge can
order a probation officer to come into the picture. A judge
or magistrate is the only one who can do that. The Parole
Board cannot be brought into the operation directly. The
parole officer has nothing to do with it. The situation
applies to all the cases we have been talking about this
morning, except for that one very narrow group, which
does not occur very often.

The Chairman: It is very exceptional.
Mr. Watson: It is one that is an administrative headache.

Senator Mcllraith: It is only in that particular case. Its

useage has been disappearing more and more over the
years.

Senator Prowse:. Am I understanding Senator McIlraith
correptly? T}}e situation he is referring to would apply
only in Ontario and British Columbia—about one in ten.

Senator Mcllraith: I think that is right, but I would like
one of the officers to answer that.

Mr. Watson: Whex} t'he officers of the Solicitor General’s
Dep?rtment are giving their paper, you might want to
clarify that point, as they are more familiar with parole.

Senator Prowse: Nothing we have been talking about this
morning, as far as you know, concerns parole.

The Chairman: This last question can be put to the repre-
sentative of the Solicitor General’s Department.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Chairman, I have one question
pertaining to the release of inmates, which is pertinent to
the Department of Justice. It pertains to the old section

684(3) of the Criminal Code which ended December 25,
which stated that prisoners serving time for murder could
be released only on the authority of the Governor in
Council. Yet under the Canadian Penitentiary Act the
director of an institution has authority to release inmates
in the interests of rehabilitation. Why is there that con-
flict? I notice that you have placed it also in the new, Bill
C-2.

The Chairman: We have the Deputy Commissioner of
Penitentiaries here as our next witness.

Senator Prowse: This is a legal matter.
Mr. Watson: I do not think that . ..

Mr. Sommerfeld: It may depend to some extent on a legal
opinion which has been asked by the Solicitor General of
the Department of Justice.

Senator Prowse: At the moment you are not prepared to
give one?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I would prefer not to, senator.
Senator Prowse: Fair enough.

Senator Mcllraith: It is really a conflict between section
684(3) of the Criminal Code and section 26 of the Peniten-
tiary Act, there is a difference between the words ‘“re-
lease” and granting “temporary absence”.

Mr. Watson: It is probably not the kind of release we
have been talking about. It may be something that the
officers from the Solicitor General’s Department may
want to get involved in, as it is the Penitentiary Service
that is interpreting it.

Senator Mcllraith: There appears to be conflict in the
wording. The Penitentiary Act gives the officer in the
Penitentiary Service power to grant temporary absence
permits—it is called temporary absence there—to assist in
the rehabilitation of the inmate. The Criminal Code states
that a convicted person shall not be released without the
prior approval of the Governor-in-Council. So you have
an apparent conflict there. There it is; I do not know the
answer.

The Chairman: I think we should leave it at that.
Senator Prowse: We will leave it for now.

Senator Hastings: I think the word “permanent” should
be inserted.

The Chairman: Thank you very much, gentlemen.

Senator Prowse: I should like to move, Mr. Chairman, on
behalf of those of us here, a vote of thanks to both Mr.
Sommerfeld and Mr. Watson for their appearance before
us this morning and for their co-operation and assistance
in helping us to find our way through these rather dif-
ficult mazes.

The Chairman: You mean that we should discharge them
unconditionally!

Senator Mcllraith: With the power to bring them back.

The Chairman: Thank you much, gentlemen.
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Our next witness, Mr. Braithwaite, the Deputy Commis-
sioner of Penitentiaries, will deal with temporary absence
and remission of sentence.

Mr. J. W. Braithwaite, Deputy Commissioner of Penitentiar-
ies: Mr. Chairman, honourable senators, I will try in the
remaining time to deal succinctly but, I hope, satisfactori-
ly with the matter of temporary absence and remission of
sentence, both earned and statutory.

Mr. Braithwaite: If I might be permitted to start with
statutory remission: The legal basis of this is the Peniten-
tiary Act, sections 22 and 23. The most pertinent subsec-
tion is Section 22(1) which states:

Every person who is sentenced or committed to peni-
tentiary for a fixed term shall, upon being received
into a penitentiary, be credited with statutory remis-
sion amounting to one-quarter of the period for which
he has been sentenced or committed as time off sub-
ject to good conduct.

And it goes on to deal with the matter of the authority to
take this statutory remission away from the inmate
should he violate the disciplinary code of the institution in
which he is serving his sentence.

If any portion of that statutory remission is taken away,
there is also provision made under section 23 for the
possible subsequent return of the remission taken away.
That section reads, in part:

The Commissioner or an officer of the Service desig-
nated by him may, where he is satisfied that it is in the
interest of the rehabilitation of an inmate, remit any
forfeiture of statutory remission but shall not remit
more than ninety days of forfeited statutory remission
without the approval of the Minister.

The authority, of course, is the Penitentiary Act. There
is no discretion allowed by law with reference to the
crediting of statutory remission, but there is discretion
permitted by law in relation to the forfeiture of statutory
remission and also for the return of forfeited remission
time.

As for the conditions of release, a record is maintained
in the case of each inmate in relation to any credits or
debits in regard to statutory remission, and the date of
release is based on the number of days of statutory remis-
sion remaining to his credit and deducted from the total
term of the sentence.

There is also provision made for the forfeiture of statu-
tory remission, in whole or in part, if an inmate is convict-
ed by the institution disciplinary board of a disciplinary
offence. The statutory remission may also be forfeited if
an inmate is convicted of escape, attempt to escape or
being unlawfully at large.

Senator Hastings: Would you repeat that, please? How
much is forfeited?

Mr. Braithwaite: It can be forfeited in whole or in part.
Senator Hastings: Thank you.
Mr. Braithwaite: May I proceed to “earned remission”?

The Chairman: Are there any questions on statutory
remission?

25874-2%

Senator Hastings: I wonder if you could explain the dif-
ference between escape and walk-away?

Mr. Braithwaite: That is not necessarily a legally defined
term. This is a term that came into use with the advent of
minimum security institutions—forestry camps, farm
annexes, community correctional centres, and so forth—
and the term came into use in order to distinguish within
our own service and in relation to discussing an individu-
al’s case with other interested parties such as the police,
the courts, and so forth, the difference between an escape
from behind a fenced or walled institution, which may or
may not have involved violence, and the situation where
someone is in a minimum security setting and merely
absents himself by walking or even running away, I
suppose.

Senator Mcllraith: Such as the parklike atmosphere up at
Landry Crossing?

Senator Prowse: Between breaking out of an institution
and leaving the area?

Mr. Braithwaite: Basically, yes.

Senator Hastings: Would he be an escapee, or would he
come under your section dealing with walking-away?

Mr. Braithwaite: Legally, he would be looked upon as an
escapee.

Senator Hastings: Unlawfully at large.
Mr. Braithwaite: Yes.

Senator Lapointe: May we consider this statutory remis-
sion as a discount for good conduct?

Mr. Braithwaite: Not strictly speaking, as I understand it,
senator. My understanding is that it is given to the man
upon being received into the penitentiary ...

The Chairman: It is in anticipation of good conduct.

Senator Mcllraith: Only to be lost if there is bad conduct.
Otherwise, it is given to him. It puts the onus on the other
side.

Mr. Braithwaite: It was looked upon, I believe, as an
additional means of control in relation to the inmates. In
other words, he had something to lose from the moment
he entered the institution.

Senator Prowse: The present is on the tree but he does
not get to the tree unless he is a good boy until Christmas.

Mr. Braithwaite: Basically, yes.

Senator Hastings: With the institution of mandatory
supervision, have you lost the additional means of control
that the earned remission gave you?

Mr. Braithwaite: I do not really think so, no. That is an
opinion, and it is only my opinion. I think people still
appreciate serving their sentences in the community
rather than being in an institution.

Senator Prowse: But it changes it, does it not? Before
mandatory supervision, if I was serving four years I
would get a quarter of that off for earned remission. I
would serve three years, and then I would be out and free.

Mr. Braithwaite: Basically.
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Senator Prowse: Now I would have to serve a year, and
15 months on parole.

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes.

Senator Prowse: So whereas I was free at the end of three
years under the old system, I am now liable to be picked
up at any point during the 15 month probation period and
returned to the institution to serve the rest of my time.

Mr. Braithwaite: That is my understanding. On the other
hand, that has to be considered in the light of additional
protection to the public and the additional resources
available to the individual upon his discharge from the
institution. Under the old system we more or less said to
the fellow, “Well, goodbye and good luck! We will keep
your cell available for you,” or something of this nature.

Senator Prowse: But under the old system you did not
say you would keep the cell available. You just said,
“Goodbye and good luck!” Now you say, “We will keep
your cell available for you.” This worries a good many of
them, by the way.

Mr. Braithwaite: I have heard that some people do say
that. However, I harken back to what one of the previous
witnesses said—I do not know whether it was Mr. Som-
merfeld or Mr. Watson—and that was that people on pro-
bation tend to be somewhat more circumspect in their
behaviour than if they were not on probation. Perhaps
there is a similar effect in relation to a man on mandatory
supervision. However, I am going beyond my area of
competence.

The Chairman: Mandatory supervision will be dealt with
by the next witness.

Senator Prowse: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Would you go on to “earned remission,”
Mr. Braithwaite.

E Mr. Braithwaite: Earned remission is covered under sec-
tion 24 of the Penitentiary Act, which states:

Every inmate may be credited with three days
remission of his sentence in respect of each calendar
month during which he has applied himself industri-
ously, as determined in accordance with any rules
made by the Commissioner in that behalf, to the pro-
gram of the penitentiary in which he is imprisoned.

Senator Prows.o: This is a positive incentive and not
something that is given and can then be taken away.

Mr. Br'anhwcxlto: That is correct. The deciding authority
in relation to this is the Commissioner of Penitentiaries,
through delegation of his authority to an institutional
board. There is discretion, of course, permitted by the
statute as to the amount of time that any given inmate
may be credited with in relation to any specific month.

The earned remission credits are recorded in the case of
each inmate and added to his statutory remission credits
to be counted towards his date of release. Earned remis-
sion, unlike statutory remission, cannot be forfeited after
it has been earned and credited, and earned remission is
recorded in the case of all inmates.

Senator Hastings: I have one question on your phrase
“cannot be forfeited.” If I were released today with three

months statutory remission and one month earned remis-
sion under mandatory supervision, and two weeks from
today I am brought back in, am I not called upon to serve
a remission?

Mr. Braithwaite: That is not my understanding.

Senator Prowse: Your understanding is that once you
have earned it you have got it?

Mzr. Braithwaite: Once you have earned the remission it is
yours.

Senator Hastings: Perhaps this will arise under mandato-
ry supervision when we discuss it. I think you are called
upon to serve your earned remission.

The Chairman: I do not believe that is correct.
Mr. Braithwaite: That is not my understanding.

The Chairman: We will cover that when we deal with
mandatory supervision.

Mr. Braithwaite: Temporary absence is covered under
section 26 of the Penitentiary Act, which states:

Where, in the opinion of the Commissioner or the
officer in charge of a penitentiary, it is necessary or
desirable that an inmate should be absent, with or
without escort, for medical or humanitarian reasons
or to assist in the rehabilitation of the inmate, the
absence may be authorized from time to time . . .

(a) by the Commissioner, for an unlimited period for
medical reasons and for a period not exceeding
fifteen days for humanitarian reasons or to assist in
the rehabilitation of the inmate, or

(b) by the officer in charge, . ..
That is a director of an institution.

... for a period not exceeding fifteen days for medical
reasons and for a period not exceeding three days for
humanitarian reasons or to assist in the rehabilitation
of the inmate.

As you can see, the deciding authorities are the Com-
missioner of Penitentiaries and the officers of the service
who are in charge of individual units within the service.
Discretion is permitted by the statute to the deciding
authorities in determining the necessity or desirability for
an inmate to be absent, with or without escort, and it also
allows discretion as to the frequency of such temporary
absences.

Senator Lapointe: What do you mean by rehabilitative
reasons for three days?

Senator Mcllraith: Getting a job.
Senator Lapointe: Is it just to boost morale?

Mr. Braithwaite: No, it is more than that. You are asking
specifically about rehabilitative reasons?

Senator Lapointe: Yes.

Mr. Braithwaite: The directive under which the officers
of the service use the authority in section 26 cites as
examples of rehabilitative reasons: the visiting of mems-
bers of the family to help preserve the family unit; to have
prearranged interviews with prospective employers; to
attend lectures, seminars in connection with special stu-
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dies or interests. I do not know whether I should be
facetious at this point, but I recall a visit of a number of
fellows from Drumbheller to this committee. We felt that
that, for example, in relation to them was a rehabilitative
reason.

Senator Prowse: Good for us, too.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would not want to express an opinion
on that.

Senator Quart: It was at our request.

Mr. Braithwaite: Other examples are: to visit within the
immediate community to ease the transition from confine-
ment to freedom, and to seek employment immediately
prior to release date. Those are some examples of
rehabilitative reasons that are given in the divisional
instructions.

The Chairman: Senator Lapointe was particularly inter-
ested in the three days that you mentioned. I understand
that those three days can be extended by the commission-
er. Is that right?

Mr. Braithwaite: The Commissioner of Penitentiaries can
grant up to 15 days for humanitarian and rehabilitative
reasons, and an unlimited period for medical reasons.

The Chairman: But could he grant several 15-day periods
for rehabilitation?

Senator Denis: And several three-day periods?
The Chairman: And a number of three-day periods?

Senator Hastings: This has reference to my question in
the Senate. You indicated that there are 354 men absent
on a regular basis from penitentiaries for employment,
education and other purposes.

Mr. Braithwaite: This was in relation to the question you
raised. There were 373, as I recall, absent on a fairly
regular basis as of November 30, 1972, for pre-release
employment, regular employment, educational purposes,
or other reasons. There were very few in the “other rea-
sons” category, except those on medical grounds. Since
you raised that question we have been moving towards a
more co-ordinated program, in co-operation with the
National Parole Service and the board, so the incidence of
regular temporary absences under section 26 is diminish-
ing somewhat.

Senator Prowse: That has been taken over by day parole.

Senator Mcllraith: I should like to follow that up. This
section says that temporary absence may be granted for
three or 15 days, as the case may be, “from time to time”.
The answer to the question troubled me greatly, because I
think you used the word “regular”. I do not see how in law
“from time to time” can be construed as “regular”. In
other words, you cannot use “from time to time” merely to
extend the time fixed by statute. It is somewhat analagous
to “on another occasion” for another purpose, rather than
mere extension of the statutory limitation of three or 15
days.

Rehabilitation on a long term basis is clearly rehabilita-
tion through absence from the institution. That aspect of
rehabilitation by that method was not given by statute to
those in charge of the institution; it was given to another

body under other legislation. Have you had or requested
any legal opinions on what “from time to time” in section
26 means? Does it authorize the penitentiary authorities to
let the person out for more than the three or 15 days, as
the case may be? That is, for a longer period, virtually
continuously. I do not mean on another occasion a year
later.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would like to answer your question
and also explain my use of the word “regular.” When I
used the word “regular” I did not necessarily mean that it
was synonymous with continuous. I should like to make
that distinction. The word “regular” might mean someone
who, for example, was taking a course at a university or
who requires medical treatment on a regular basis.

Senator Mcllraith: Leaving out the medical ones, because
there you have absolute discretion.

Mr. Braithwaite: For instance, someone may be taking a
course at a university and under normal circumstances
may be required to attend on Monday, Wednesday and
Friday for one hour on each of those days. He would be
included in this category I referred to. In the broad sense,
they are regular, as distinct from continuous.

Senator Mcllraith: I am just dealing with the case of a
person who is being released in order to take a university
course throughout the year. Have you ever had an opinion
as to whether or not clause 26 authorized that man’s
release on two days regularly other than the interview to
go and get registered so as to make his arrangements for
the course? Have you ever had the point where specifical-
ly you would put him under a system where you grant him
this at the first of the year that will enable him to take his
classes throughout the whole year?

Mr. Braithwaite: The department has asked the Depart-
ment of Justice for an opinion in relation to the use of
temporary absences on a rehabilitative basis. We are look-
ing at re drafting some of the divisional instructions in
relation to this, in order to get a further clarification of
this.

Senator Mcllraith: Mr. Chairman, could we ask the wit-
ness about that legal opinion?

Mr. Braithwaite: The final opinion has not been given yet.

Senator Mcllraith: Mr. Chairman, could we pursue that
subject, as to what the law is on that particular point? I
am not certain whether it should be pursued with this
witness or with the Department of Justice?

The Chairman: It cannot be pursued with Mr. Braith-
waite, who is not a lawyer. I suggest we defer that at this
moment.

Senator Prowse: Whenever the final decision comes, it
could be raised.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Braithwaite, I am disturbed to
hear you say that you are going to reduce the number. I
think a year ago it was 160, and you have raised it to 374 in
a year, which impressed me. I know the work that you are
doing there is really good. I think it is necessary for you to
explain candidly to us what is actually being done with
these men who are regularly being released, and why you
are regularly releasing them and not the Parole Board.
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Mr. Braithwaite: I would like to start by clarifying what I
said. I do not believe I said we were reducing the number
of people involved, but that we were moving towards a
use of temporary absence and day parole that is more
co-ordinated in practice than it has been in the past.

Senator Hastings: Why was it not co-ordinated in the
past?

Mr. Braithwaite: It is difficult for me to say with authori-
ty, because I became involved in this, in the consideration
of temporary absence and day parole, prior to assuming
my present position with the Penitentiary Service. Both
the practice of day parole and temporary absence were in
operation prior to my coming to the Penitentiary Service.
One of the things that was done at the time when I
occupied the position which was known as Director of
Correctional Planning was to work with the then Execu-
tive Director of the National Parole Service and the Peni-
tentiary Service, to develop a more co-ordinated approach
to these two programs. The approach that we agreed upon
and that we were trying to implement was basically this,
that in relation to rehabilitative reasons, section 26 of the
Penitentiary Act would be used on a relatively short-term
basis and primarily to take advantage of a resource that
existed in a communtiy, such as a job opportunity, to grab
hold of that resource; and then this would be converted to
day parole for the purpose of the continuing program.
That is basically the approach that we are trying to
implement.

.Sonutor Hastings: And proceeding by day parole takes
six to nine months to get decisions.

Mr. Braithwaite: Well, . . .

Senator Hastings: It takes time; I will not say “six to nine
months:*

Mr. Braithwaite: In fairness, I would not want to set out a
specific time as to how long it takes, but I would have to
admit this, that it takes longer than if you just say to the
director of an institution, “You make the decision.”

Senator Hastings: Agreed.

Mr. Braithwaite: I think we recognize this, that there is a
need for an initial decision to be made to capture some
resource; but I think we also take cognizance of the fact
that we have an obligation to the total community, that
there is a need for careful investigation and some supervi-
sion. That is why we would hope to convert that individu-
al’s program to day parole. So we are trying to meet our
two-fold objective, the protection of society and the
rehabilitation of the individual.

The Chairman: You said that temporary absence could
be with or without escort. Is it without escort in most
cases?

- Senator Denis: How do you decide to have it, with or
without escort?

Mr. Braithwaite: There are two basic means of deciding.
One is in relation to the security risk that the individual
may present. If I could use a very simple example, a man
who requires hospitalization outside the institution, if he
is a security risk then, of course, he goes with an escort,
with an officer of the service, to the hospital. If he is a
man in a minimum security camp, for example, he might

be taken to the hospital with escort, but we would not
have someone standing over his bed 24 hours a day,
because he is not a security risk. That is one considera-
tion, senator.

The other one would depend on the type of activity. For
example, if it is a group activity, it would be different. It
may be for entertainment purposes. Just last Thursday
the Red Deer and District John Howard Society had their
annual dinner, and they asked the orchestra from Drum-
heller institution to come and entertain. Those men went
down there with two staff members as their escort. Anoth-
er example would be the men at our camp at Landry
Crossing. If they go out as a group to do work for the
Department of Lands and Forests, they do so with a
supervising officer. So, in part, it depends on the activity.
On the other hand, if you send a man home for rehabilita-
tive purposes, to maintain ties with his wife and family, it
is not likely we would send him home with an officer as
escort.

The Chairman: Mr. Braithwaite, the Montreal press
reported the other day that two individuals released
under temporary absence, one to attend the funeral of his
mother, the other to attend the funeral of his father, both
disappeared. Were they under escort?

Mr. Braithwaite: Frankly, I am sorry, I am not trying to
be evasive but I am not familiar with this particular
incident.

The Chairman: Those were both announced last week.
Mr. Braithwaite: I am sorry.

Senator Quart: One was Cowansville and the other was
Leclerc.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would be happy to get the details from
you and give you a report on both incidents, but at the
moment I do not know.

Senator Prowse: You had some bad experiences with
people on temporary absences. Could you tell us off-
hand—maybe you can and maybe you cannot—how many
of those involved the only absence or a single absence,
and how many of them concerned people who were
involved in these continual absences? In other words,
have you had the difficulty with the people on continual
absences, or has it been generally with the people you are
experimenting with?

Mr. Braithwaite: I am unable to give you an answer in
precise terms. I am not able to tell you that it was X
number in this category and Y in the other. However, it is
my impression that where we have had problems the
majority of the problems have been in relation to those
who are not on regular temporary absence.

Senator Denis: They are those on their first time out?

Mr. Braithwaite: That is right. I would also have to say
that the majority of temporary absences fall into that
category. So how good an observation it is, I do not know.

Senator Prowse: Would it be possible for you to get that
without too much difficulty? It might be useful for us to
have that information. Would you take a look at it?

Mr. Braithwaite: I will. I will provide you with whatever I
can.
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Senator Prowse: Fine.

Mr. Braithwaite: Say, for the year 1972. Would that be
satisfactory?

Senator Prowse: Yes. (Note: The data referred to above
will be made available to the Committee at a later date.)

Senator Hastings: Mr Braithwaite, there seems to be
some impression that you open the gates every Friday
afternoon and let them all out. I think it is imperative for
you to go through the procedure you use generally in the
granting of a temporary absence, with special emphasis
on the safeguards that you are using to protect society
and the interest you have in protecting society.

Mr. Braithwaite: Well, as I said at the outset, we have two
basic responsibilities: one is the protection of society; the
other is to use every reasonable effort to rehabilitate the
individual offender.

Senator Denis: Which is more important in your opinion,
the first responsibility, protecting society, or the second,
protecting the inmate?

Mr. Braithwaite: Well, our first concern is the protection
of society. Then we are concerned with the rehabilitation
of the offender. I may only confuse you further if I say
that, philosophically, we still look on the inmate as part of
society.

Senator Prowse: And the rehabilitation is part of the
protection.

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes.
Senator Hastings: It is the protection.

Mr. Braithwaite: So the two are interwoven. Now, you are
asking for the safeguards and the procedure.

Senator Hastings: As I say, the impression is that you let
everybody out on Friday afternoon and get them back in
on Monday morning.

Senator Prowse: How do you decide to let them go?

Mr. Braithwaite: No inmate upon entering a penitentiary
is considered for a temporary absence until he has served
six months within the institution. So there is a period of
six months within which the institutional staff have the
opportunity to get to know the individual who may be
under consideration.

Senator Hastings: Would that be the case if I were serv-
ing 15 years?

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes. All I am saying is that no one will
be considered prior to that.

Senator Prowse: Except on humanitarian grounds.

Mr. Braithwaite: Or medical, right. But I think we were
talking primarily about rehabilitative reasons. Then an
application for temporary absence may originate from the
inmate, a member of his family or the.classification offi-
cer or some other authorized person within the institution.

The Inmate Training Board will then consider that
request and they will ask the National Parole Service to
provide them with a community assessment. If the man,
for example, makes a request that he wishes to go home to

visit his wife and children, part of the request for a
community assessment would be to ascertain if he has a
wife and children, if indeed they are in that community,
and if indeed they want to have him for a visit. As part of
that community assessment the Parole Service, or an
appropriate after-care agency such as the John Howard
Society, would contact the local police and obtain their
opinion.

Senator Hastings: In addition to the Parole Service?

Mr. Braithwaite: No, I said the National Parole Service or
an appropriate after-care agency, for example—

Senator Prowse: Somebody would get to speak to the
local police.

Mr. Braithwaite: Just to clarify this, what we do is we ask
the district representative of the Parole Service to do it. It
is my understanding that if he has the staff readily avail-
able they will do the community assessment. If not, they
will ask an authorized organization such as the John
Howard Society to do it on their behalf.

Senator Hastings: You said the police, didn’t you?

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes, as part of the community assess-
ment the National Parole Service or the John Howard
Society, for example, will confer and consult with the
police.

Senator Mcllraith: Is it “may” consult or “will”’ consult?

Mr. Braithwaite: The community assessments are paid
for by the Department of the Solicitor General through a
contractual fee for service arrangements, and the contract
says in it that in relation to community assessments the
police will be consulted. It is part of the guidelines for the
community assessment.

Senator Quart: The investigation conducted by the asso-
ciation or group responsible for the investigation of the
“children” in the Geoffroy case, was certainly very
unsatisfactory.

Mr. Braithwaite: I am sorry. Was that a question?
The Chairman: I think it was a comment.

Senator Quart: Well, to rephrase it, would you consider
that it was satisfactory?

Senator Prowse: That is not a fair question.

Senator Quart: The
nonetheless.

temptation was too great,

Senator Mcllraith: Well, it may very well be relevant to
know whether that was done before the contracts of
which you speak were in operation and these grants were
provided. I am not clear whether that was done before the
contracts or not, and that is a point that might well be
cleared up.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would ask Mr. Therrien to correct me,
if I am wrong, but it is my recollection that that assess-
ment was done after the contracts.

Senator Mcllraith: Is it a fair question to ask you if the
terms of the contract were complied with in that case?

Mr. Braithwaite: I am not a lawyer.
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The Chairman: I don’t think you should boast.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, what we are asking for
here is an opinion on a matter that the witness may or
may not be competent to speak to.

Senator Mcllraith: That is all very well, but these reports
are in the Penitentiary Service and someone has custody
of them.

Senator Prowse: Yes, he should be able to get them.

Senator Mcllraith: It is very relevant to know whether or
not the police were consulted about those children.

Senator Quart: Yes.

Senator Mcllraith: And where they were, and whether or
not the safeguard put under this contract on the use of the
taxpayers’ money for this purpose was being observed. It
is a relevant point. The money is not just voted to be
handed out, you know. The contract represented a lot of
work and thought.

Senator Quart: If I may further pursue the point that I
raised about these children, I believe that it was the tes-
timony of this so-called Mrs. Geoffroy as regards where
the children were and how she was going to be good to
them, it was her testimony that was taken and accepted, if
I remember correctly. But the point is some group was
requested to do it, did it and was paid for doing it.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, they were paid.

Senator Quart: And they questioned the so-called wife of
Geoffroy. She was not his wife then.

Mr. Braithwaite: My hesitancy to speak with authority on
this point, Senator McIlraith, relates to the fact that the
agency involved did comply, I believe, with the specific
terms of the contract in the sense that, yes, they did
interview the lady in question, and they did make inqui-
ries regarding the children. Whether they did do it to the
degree that we in retrospect might have liked them to do it
is the question that is in my mind now.

Senator Mcllraith: Or whether they did, in fact, meet the
clause in the contract dealing with the requirement for
!‘.hem to go to the police. That would be important, would
it not, because the money was provided under that con-
tract? I am not interested in the case as such, but I am
very much interested to know that our funds are being
used in accordance with the safeguards that were careful-
ly wox"ke.d out, or whether it is being used carelessly by
agencies in rather a slipshod way, for whatever purpose.

Mr. Brglthwaito: 1 §hould be happy, if it would be helpful
to you in your deliberations, to review the guidelines of
community assessment, especially in relation to consulta-
tion with the police, and subsequently to report to you
through Mr. Jubinville. 3 e

Senator Mcllraith: I would be very glad of that, and 1
would have been very glad if the point in the particular
case, the Geoffroy case, which got some considerable
publicity, had been clarified for us.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Chairman, the commissioner has
issued the directive with respect to procedure. Can we
have that as part of the minutes of this meeting?

The Chairman: Do you have any objection, Mr.
Braithwaite?

Mr. Braithwaite: I do not have any objection.

Senator Hastings: I think it would be very useful to the
committee.

My second question is this: Is it not true that this direc-
tive was issued as a result of the Geoffroy affair, which
considerably tightened your regulations?

Mr. Braithwaite: The directive is actually a divisional
instruction. It was revised following that situation.

The Chairman: Is it agreed that it be made part of the
record?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Senator Mcllraith: That may take care of the points I was
raising with respect to the Geoffroy affair. It may be that
they are not relevant now under the new instructions.

Mr. Braithwaite: Actually, this is something that would be
obtained from the Parole Service—guidelines for com-
munity assessments—and if Mr. Therrien has no objec-
tion, I think these could be made available to you, because
I think it has to be read in conjunction with the instruec-
tions issued by the Commissioner of Penitentiaries.

The Chairman: What you are saying is that the commis-
sioner uses the same guidelines as the National Parole
Board for community assessment.

Mr. Braithwaite: That is right.

The Chairman: But the Parole Board is not in any way
responsible for the final decision on the question of
whether temporary absence should be granted.

Mr. Braithwaite: That is correct. But the Parole Service
provides us with the information relative to the man’s
situation and his family situation in the community.

Senator Mcllraith: The Parole Service provides that
information to you without direct compensation. But the
agency who provided the service, let us say in a city where
there is a John Howard Society, do you make the provi-
sion for compensation to them for that service, or is it
done also by the Parole Service, or are they compensated
by the department, as such? Who does the actual contract-
ing and payment to agencies?

Mr. Braithwaite: I think the funds are available through
the Parole Service.

The Chairman: I think we can put that as a question to
Mr. Therrien this afternoon.

Senator Prowse: Perhaps it could be answered after
lunch, and perhaps we could be told how much was paid.

Mr. Braithwaite: For community assessment, at the
present time I believe it is $41.

Senator Mcllraith: Well, perhaps we could be told about it
this afternoon, whatever jurisdiction it is in.

Senator Hastings: I wonder if I could go on to deal with
the question of procedure. It is considered by the Inmate '
Training Board in the light of the community
assessment. ..
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Mr. Braithwaite: And the criteria they have, and this is all
covered, by the way, in the divisional instruction which
you will receive.

Senator Hastings: One further question. If I go on a
temporary absence this month. ..

The Chairman: You are always thinking of yourself,
senator!

Senator Hastings: Well, I am simply putting it in the first
person. Do you use the same procedure for each tempo-
rary absence, or does the performance on the first one
cover subsequent ones?

Mr. Braithwaite: When considering subsequent tempo-
rary absences, the performance on the preceding one or
ones would be taken into account, and if some consider-
able time had elapsed, we would ask for an updating of
the community assessment. It is not the practice to say,
“Well, he had a successful temporary absence a year ago;
therefore, there is no problem and we will turn him loose
again.”

Senator Prowse: Whereas if it was last week, it would be
different.

Senator Hastings: Would it be permitted to discuss Mr.
Head’s temporary absence from B.C.P., or is this consid-
ered sub judice?

Senator Mcllraith: The crime might be so considered but
not the absence.

Mr. Braithwaite: Mr. Chairman, if I may say so, the
understanding was that I was to give what I understood to
be the legal basis for these matters—temporary absence,
earned remission and statutory remission; and I am in no
way prepared this morning to discuss any particular case.
I would have to say that I would be prepared to come
back at some other time, or something of that nature,
because I do not have this information at the present time.
There has been a great deal of speculation in regard to
that case, and I certainly would not want to add to it.

The Chairman: It was not the purpose of this session to
discuss particular cases; the purpose was to clarify the
various release methods and procedures, and I think we
should adhere to that.

Senator Prowse: Do you have any other ways of letting
people out?

Mr. Braithwaite: There are other ways that people get
out, but there are no other ways that we let them out.

The Chairman: You have told us of escapes and walking
away.

Senator Hastings: Well, Mr. Chairman, I think it is essen-
tial that Mr. Braithwaite should be given the opportunity
to explain to this committee with respect to Kulley, Head
and Anderson. There is so much misunderstanding in the
press and so forth that I think you have-a duty to put it
before us, even if it is in camera.

Senator Prowse: Perhaps, Mr. Chairman, Senator Hast-
ings might make a formal request. Perhaps arrangements
could be made to have somebody come and discuss with
us these cases in complete detail, to show us what steps

were taken leading up to the release and to show how the
person happened to be released under the circumstances.

The Chairman: I suggest that we submit this to the steer-
ing committee for decision.

Senator Hastings: It could be given to us in camera if
necessary, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: We were going to meet in camera this
afternoon, but since we have not been able to receive the
evidence of the three witnesses this morning, and since
Mr. Therrien is here as vice-chairman of the National
Parole Board, I am going to ask that we adjourn and
continue in open session after lunch. °

Mr. Braithwaite: Mr. Chairman, there is just one other
aspect of my responsibility that I have not discharged as
outlined in Mr. Jubinville’s letter. That deals with provin-
cial authority or any relevance to provincial jurisdiction.

I would just point out that in regard to temporary
absence the same provisions that are available within the
Penitentiary Service are available to provincial correc-
tional services under section 36 of the Prisons and Refor-
matories Act.

The Chairman: Thank you.

We will adjourn now until two o’clock when we will hear
Mr. Therrien. On behalf of the committee, I want to thank
Mr. Braithwaite for appearing before us.

The hearing resumed at 2 p.m.

The Chairman: Mr. Therrien, the Vice-chairman of the
National Parole Board will now examine the parole
system in Canada for us. Copies of his submission have
already been distributed.

Mr. A. Therrien, Vice-chairman, National Parole Board: Hon-
ourable senators, as you can see, this document is rather
technical. I thought it would be a good idea to examine in
concrete terms the situation of an inmate entering an
institution and possible actions by the Parole Board.

Let us take the example of an inmate who has received
a three-year sentence. This means he goes into the institu-
tion and the first time his case is reviewed by the board is
at the end of the first year he serves in the institution. At
that time he is either granted or denied parole. If he is
granted parole he will be on parole for two years. On a
three-year sentence, he will have served one-third of his
time in the institution and two-thirds on parole in the
community under supervision. If he is not granted parole
he will continue serving his sentence in the institution.

The term ‘“remission” was explained to us this morning
by Mr. Braithwaite. He will serve, through the effect of
remission, about two-thirds of the sentence handed down
by the judge in the first place. Then he will be released on
what we call mandatory supervision. So, in effect, he will
have served two-thirds of his time inside the institution
and one-third outside.

The Parole Board has no jurisdiction over the length of
time we will have control over this man. It has been set
once and for all in the sentence imposed by the judge in
the first place.
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Ordinary parole is defined in the act as ‘“authority
granted under the Parole Act to an inmate to be at large
during his term of imprisonment.” Of course, the statute
is the Parole Act and the authority is the National Parole
Board.

As far as discretion is concerned, the act says that the
National Parole Board has exclusive jurisdiction and
absolute discretion in granting parole. That discretion is
exercised within limits which are set out in the Parole Act
and the Parole Regulations. The most important limits are
the legal criteria and the time rules pertaining to parole
eligibility. The legal criteria are set out in section 10(1)(a)
of the act. They provide that the board may grant parole
if it considers that: the inmate has derived the maximum
benefit from imprisonment; the reform and rehabilitation
of the inmate will be aided by the grant of parole; the
release of the inmate would not constitute an undue risk
to society.

The eligibility rules are found in section 2 of the Parole
Regulations. This section establishes the portion of the
term of imprisonment that an inmate ordinarily serves
before parole may be granted. The general rule is one-
third of the sentence or four years, whichever is the lesser.
Eligibility is at 10 years for a commuted death sentence,
or a sentence of life imposed as a minimum punishment;
and at seven years for all other life sentences.

Section 2(2) of the Parole Regulations provides that the
Board may waive these rules if special circumstances
exist.

In cases of preventive detention—people who have been
found by the courts to be habitual criminals or dangerous
sexual offenders—there is a yearly review made by the
board under section 694 of the Criminal Code.

Concerning the conditions of parole under section
10(1)(a) of the act, the board can impose any terms or
conditions when it grants parole. In practice, the condi-
tions imposed by the board are listed on the copy of a
parole certificate. I do not know if the parole certificate
has been annexed to the document which has been
distributed.

Senator Prowse: They were distributed.

Senator Hastings: I wonder if we could stop here for a
xpoment. With respect to the section dealing with preven-
tive detention, as you say, the Criminal Code provides for
an annual review. If the eligibility date of an inmate is
January 1, and through a series of decisions by the board
you reserve a decision and render it in September, your
next review then becomes September of the following
year which, in effect, is not an annual review am I
correct?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, you mean if a board has reserved a
decision for two, or three, or five months . . .

Senator Hastings: Or nine months, and then renders a
decision.

Mr. Therrien: A decision to defer for one year, according
to the law the man has not had two reviews in two years.

Senator Hastings: He ends up with two reviews in three
years, or three reviews in five years.

Mr. Therrien: Yes, that is possible.

Senator Prowse: You do not consider that it must be
looked at in each calendar year?

Mr. Therrien: Let us suppose we set the date at one year,
in the example which you have given. This would mean
that after obtaining all the information which may have
taken five, six, seven or eight months, then you set anoth-
er date at four months from the date of the last decision.
We feel that having a yearly review creates a situation
where the man is in a perpetual state of unrest. His case is
always under some kind of consideration. It would be a
worse situation were we to say to a man, “We defer you
for four months,” and it starts all over again.

Senator Hastings: He is under a great strain during the
nine months he awaits your decision. But I think parlia-
ment intended that he be reviewed every year under the
terms of the Criminal Code. Could it not happen that a
great change could take place during this nine-month
period while he is awaiting your decision?

Mr. Therrien: When a man’s case was reviewed in the
first instance and the board decided it was not prepared
to put this man on parole at this time but it would go on
investigating, and then after nine months, or six months,
or five months, it makes another decision that the man is
not ready, or that the Board wants something more to
happen and sets another date, you could also say the case
has been reviewed three times by these three decisions.

Senator Prowse: Having reviewed a case and decided
that you are not going to let a man out, can more than a
12-month period go by before you look at his case again?

Mr. Therrien: No, that would be strictly illegal. We cannot
say, “We will defer your case for a year and half.”

Senator Prowse: In other words, if you review a man in
September of this year, you will have to look at his case
before the end of September of the following year, is that
correct?

Mr. Therrien: That is correct.

Senator Denis:
automatic?

Does he apply for parole or is it

Mr. Therrien: In these cases, the Criminal Code provides
an obligation that the board review these cases every
year.

Senator Denis: That is in these particular cases. But
generally speaking, is there a review of every case?

Mr. Therrien: This would depend on the sentence, sena-
tor. If a man is serving two years or more, there is an
obligation under the Parole Act for the Parole Board to
review his case automatically at the date set in the
regulations.

Senator Denis: After one-third of his time?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, or four years, seven years, or ten
years. Now if you are dealing with a sentence of less than
two years, the man has to apply for parole; otherwise we
do not know he is in jail.

Senator Prowse: That is if he is in a provincial
institution? ;

Mr. Therrien: Yes.
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Senator Prowse: In provincial institutions you only see
them on application of the individual himself?

Senator Hastings: They do not see him.
Mr. Therrien: Yes, we review the case.

Senator Prowse: You do not look at each case. You do not
know he is even there unless he lets you know.

Mr. Therrien: When we receive an application this is an
indication that the man is serving so many months. And
we have a rule which says that within four months we
have to make a decision in the case.

Senator Mcllraith: Reverting to cases under section 694 of
the Code, where persons convicted are kept in custody
under the sentence of preventive detention, do you know
how many of these cases there are in the whole penitentia-
ry system?

Mr. Therrien: I believe at this time, while I would not like
to be quoted on the exact figures, I can give you a fair
approximation. There are somewhere between 160 and
170 under the habitual criminals provisions and between
80 and 90 under the dangerous sexual offenders
provisions.

Senator Thompson: May we return to your eligibility
rules? By law it is one-third of a sentence, or four years.
Eligibility is at 10 years for a death commuted sentence or
a sentence of life imposed as a minimum punishment, and
at seven years for all other life sentences. Would you
know the reasons for these particular numbers of years?
Is it on the basis that the public would feel that it is a
safeguard—that he is in for 10 years, or is it that after 10
years you can carry out an assessment of a man to decide
on rehabilitation? Could you give me any reason for
deciding on those numbers of years?

Mr. Therrien: I was not in the organization when these
regulations were made and I did not have anything to do
with it. However, I suppose that this figure of 10 years
must have come about by considering the experience of
what had occurred in the past with respect to lifers. I
think there was an internal rule before 1959 under which
a man would be considered at approximately 15 years, but
the experience indicated that a large number of these
inmates could safely be released at around 10 years.

Senator Thompson: Are there actual facts with respect to
that? Has any research been carried out that would indi-
cate that?

Mr. Therrien: We have facts on the time of release of all
lifers. If the committee would like statistics in this regard,
I could provide them quite readily. We also have figures
respecting the situation since 1959, when the board took
over. Figures are also available as to what has happened
to lifers during the five-year trial period of the new sec-
tions in the Code.

Senator Thompson: It would be interesting, Mr. Chair-
man, because, as we all know, there are some who suggest
a lifer should be in for 25 years before this consideration
is given. I would like to see whether your statistics indi-
cate a 10-year period. You may even feel that it should be
less than 10 years.

Mr. Therrien: We must remember that when we refer to
an eligibility rule we are not discussing the moment of a
lifer’s release. There is some confusion in this connection.
First of all, people seem to think that life is 20 years, for
which I cannot find any basis in law. Life is life, unless a
parole is granted. The second point is that when speaking
of eligibility as 10 years people tend to think that all these
inmates are released at 10 years, which is not the case.

I can provide the figures for this class of inmate. During
the five years during which this change in the Criminal
Code with respect to capital punishment was in force the
average time at which inmates were released from this
kind of life sentence was 13.8 years. Obviously, some have
been released later than that, so when we refer to 10 years
we are not saying that all these are released after 10 years.

Senator Prowse: You are saying they can be released
before 10 years.

Mr. Therrien: That is right.
Senator Mcllraith: Some are refused.
Mr. Therrien: Oh, yes.

Senator Hastings: Can you indicate how many are
refused during one year? What percentage of murderers
are refused? I think it is important that the public know
that not all inmates are released after 10 years, but remain
for 15 or 20, and some for life.

Mr. Therrien: The best approach I could make to this
would be to provide you with statistics as to the numbers
released during the last 10 years and the precise times at
which they were released. For example, we have a table
which indicates that so many were released between 10
and 12, or 12 and 13 years, and so on, up to some who
spend 20 to 25 years. There are cases such as that.

Senator Hastings: I believe it is important that the public
should know this.

Mr. Therrien: One must be careful when referring to
refusing. Actually, we cannot just deny parole in a life
sentence. The regulations provide that once a review is
started and parole not granted, the case must be reviewed
at least every two years after the first deferral. Therefore,
in the case of a lifer, if at 10 years the board feels that any
one of the three criteria is not met, it can only defer for
two years or any intervening period.

Senator Hastings: Between 1961 and 1965 you could
invoke section 2(2) with respect to murders and parole by
exception under seven years.

Mr. Therrien: You mean section 2(2) of the Parole Regula-
tions; this section was inserted in January, 1968.

Senator Hastings: I believe it was 1967.
Mr. Therrien: 1964.

Senator Hastings: In any event, at one time over that
short period of five years you could parole a murderer by
exception; that is, he did not have to serve seven or 10
years. Is that correct?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. Before this section was added to our
regulations, the general power of exception applied to
these cases.
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Senator Hastings: How many were released by exception
during that period?

Mr. Therrien: That would be before that regulation came
into force?

Senator Hastings: Yes.

Mr. Therrien: I would not dare guess the number. I know
there were a few released before they actually served the
seven or 10 years.

Senator Hastings: What was the shortest sentence?

Mr. Therrien: I think it was 3} years. I would have to
check that.

Senator Hastings: And he has been a successful parolee?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I do not remember the case that
well. I know the figure of 3} years; I could not connect it
with a specific parolee now.

Senator Hastings: He is very successful.
Mr. Therrien: Well, we did not hear about it.

Senator Thompson: Could you provide the figures as to
the numbers released and their success? I am still trying
to understand why it was raised to 10 years and the
exception removed. Was this because of public opinion
which pushed for a longer term for such offenders, or was
it the fact that those who were released under the section
were achieving success?

Mr. Therrien: I do not think it was ever raised to 10 years;
this is how it started.

[ Senator Thompson: But that exception rule was included
in 1968 and then removed.

Senator Mcllraith: Was the problem not a little different?
The 10-year rule came in with an applicability, or when
we were beginning to deal with persons convicted of
murder and the other persons sentenced to life imprison-
ment on other charges, which formerly had been nearly
all the types of cases they had to deal with. It became only
a section or group of the life imprisonment cases. Is that
not where the difference in practice arose?

Mr. Therrien: It is true that during the years the same
categories of offenders have not always been dealt with in
the ‘same manner. The law regarding capital punishment
or }1fers has changed through the years. If there is at some
point capital murder and non-capital, as it was defined in

the last five years, this is quite different from what it was
before that five-year period.

Senator Mcllraith: The statistics you mentioned you
would endeavour to obtain were referred to in terms of
the statistics respecting persons who had been convicted
and sentenced to life imprisonment. Do the statistics
include all life imprisonment, or are they separate as to
those convicted of murder and sentenced to life
imprisonment?

Mr. Therrien: They give two classes; death commuted
sentences and life as minimum punishment and the other
type of life sentences.

Senator Mcllraith: Including the sentence of life for
murder?

Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Denis: If you parole an inmate, let us say after
one-third of his sentence, and if he has earned some
remission because of good behaviour, is it possible that
such an inmate could be released much sooner after serv-
ing one-third of his sentence?

Mr. Therrien:
correctly.

I hope I understand your question

Senator Denis: Every month he earns three or four days
for good behaviour, or for something that was explained
this morning. Supposing he earned six months for good
behaviour or for other reasons. When you parole a man
after one-third of his sentence, is time added to that or
taken away? Can a man get out of jail much earlier than
after serving one-third of his sentence?

Mr. Therrien: Remission, either statutory or earned
remission, is not taken into account in the computation of
the date of eligibility. It means that it is not possible,
through the effect of remission, to be released before
one-third of the sentence is served. One-third is straight
time. Remission is applied only at the time the man is
released, either at that time or at the end of his sentence.

Senator Hastings: During the existence of the present
National Parole Board, with respect to the parole of mur-
derers, you have not had one repetition covering the fur-
ther loss of life?

Mr. Therrien: I want to be clear here, you are talking
about a man who would have—

Senator Prowse: Who was convicted of murder.

Mr. Therrien: Who was sentenced to death and his sen-
tence was commuted. I think there has been only one
example of that in the history of this country.

Senator Hastings: Which was in 1944. So you have not
released one man who has killed again?

Mr. Therrien: There have been cases of parolees who
have killed, but they were not in for that offence.

Senator Denis:

recidivists?

Do you parole inmates who are

Mr. Therrien: You heard this morning of the types of
intervention that can apply in a case. I would say that a lot
of the cases with which we deal have been before us
under some kind of suspended sentence or they have been
on probation. They have served a very short period of
time before, or they have received a fine at some point in
their life, they are doing time in a provincial institution or
a federal institution, and we have to deal with them. This
would depend on the way you define a recidivist.

Senator Denis: A recidivist is a man who has been in jail
twice, or three, four or five times. Can you give us a list or
the number of those who have been paroled after being in
jail three, four or five times? I want to know if, in order to
rehabilitate an inmate who has been in jail two or three
times, he is freed the same as are other persons.

Mr. Therrien: We do this, but I would not say that he
becomes free. We exercise a kind of control over him
other than the kind that says, “You must stay in the
institution!” We believe that it takes longer for some
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people to learn. We always think that it is all right to give
a chance to the 18-year old boy who stole a car, that you
can take a chance with him, but that a man who is 40, and
who has been in jail two, three, four or five times, should
be dealt with. Personally, I have always found it easier to
make up my mind when dealing with a man who is 40
than with a man who is 18. A man who is 18, I find, is
sometimes unpredictable. It may be the right thing to say,
“We will give him a chance and see how he operates under
our rules outside, in the community,” but a man who is 40
is more predictable, I think. I find that you can make up
your mind that this guy has had enough. His record may
show that he has been in institutions or before the courts
two or three times, but he has finally realized that this is
not the way he wants to spend the rest of his life, and so
he turns his coat.

Senator Denis: Has it happened that you have paroled an
inmate two or three times?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. This also has happened.

Senator Denis: What is the real reason for that? You gave
him two chances and he came back to prison for almost
the same crime—it could be for violence—and yet you put
him back into society. If you have given him a chance, if
you have paroled him once or twice and he commits
another crime of violence, or commits a hold-up, why is he
paroled again?

Mr. Therrien: I suppose the reason is that we never lose
hope of eventually sort of forcing this man to put a stop to
his criminal ways. One has to consider that when a man
ends up in a penitentiary, it means that his family life has
failed to make an honest citizen out of him, the church has
failed, and perhaps everything that has been done with
him at the juvenile court level has failed. So we are
starting from scratch, actually, and if you want to make
an honest citizen out of him, he has an awful lot to learn
about how to live honestly in society. It would be quite
natural, I suppose, to think that the first time you put him
out in society he has so much to learn that he might still
make some mistakes. So, at some point he becomes a
failure of the system and goes back to the institution. Well,
maybe he has learned so much. The next time around he
is going to learn more, up to the day when he is finally no
longer a threat to us. This is not, I think, being helpful to
him all the time. This is trying to provide some long-last-
ing protection for society.

Senator Denis: If you have paroled a man twice or three
times, does it mean that you must parole every inmate,
that you never refuse parole to anyone? If you have
paroled a man who has been accused of a crime two or
three times, is there ever a case where you do not grant
parole?

Mr. Therrien: Last year we paroled about 45 per cent of
the people who applied for parole, which means that 55
per cent of inmates who applied to us were denied parole.
This, frankly, may seem to be the thing to do, or an easy
decision, but I find it is not the easiest decision to make.
For example, if we deal with a man who, say, is doing two
years, we look at him in nine months. It may seem to be
very easy to say, “Okay, we will not parole you. You stay
in,” but the sentence is two years, and included in the
moment when a man is told it is two years is the fact that
he will be coming back into society. So it must become a

question of: Do we want him to come back after having
been told “No” a few times about parole, after having
built up more anger towards society in general; or do we
want to try to have some kind of control over him when he
comes out, and try to provide him with some assistance at
the time he comes out?

Senator Denis: Before you parole an inmate, do you get
in touch with the judge who sentenced him?

Mr. Therrien: We used to have a procedure, in the first
years of operation of the board, where in each case we
would send a form to every judge who had given a sen-
tence. We were asking the judge, “Please tell us what you
had in mind when you said three years” or “15 years,” so
that we would not defeat the purpose of the sentence. We
would try to get as much information as possible from the
judge who gave the sentence.

Senator Denis: But this is done by a form letter. You do
not get in touch with him personally or by telephone, or
anything like that?

Mr. Therrien: At that time the return rate for these
reports reached about 15 per cent.

Senator Prowse: Only about 15 per cent of the judges
answered?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. So at that point we wrote to all of the
judges in the country and explained to them that we felt
we were losing money and time going through this exer-
cise, and that we would welcome their opinions and the
reasons for judgment, and that type of thing. We also told
them that they were free to write us regarding any par-
ticular sentence.

Those who were reporting prior to the sending out of
that letter are still doing so; also, the new judges who have
been appointed since then do report to us.

Senator Prowse: Has the percentage remained about the
same?

Mr. Therrien: Approximately.

Senator Denis: Don’t you think that the judge who pre-
sides over the trial is aware of every fact and every reason
for his imposing the sentence he does? Do you not think
the judge is in a better position to judge than the Parole
Board as to whether or not a certain individual should be
given a chance? Do you not think that the judge takes into
consideration every fact before handing down sentence?
Do you not think that he is better qualified than the
Parole Board? After all, you people are strangers to the
case; you were not at the trial. Do you not think that the
judges are well qualified to decide whether or not a man
who has been sentenced to two or three years in prison
should get parole?

I am not referring to this being done through a form
letter. The judge has a great deal to do every day and
perhaps does not have time to fill out this letter and
return it. Instead of getting in touch with a community
agency to determine whether or not a man should get
parole, should you not send someone to the judge to
discuss the matter with him? Do you not think that that
would be better than the present situation of getting in
touch with him by a form letter to be filled out by him and
returned?
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Mr. Therrien: I do feel the judges are well qualified, and I
feel they take every factor that is before them into consid-
eration when they hand down their sentence. However, I
do not think they are better qualified to make the decision
with respect to parole. That decision is made at another
moment. The parole decision is made, perhaps, nine
months after the judge has dealt with the matter, or four
years after, or whatever. So I do not believe that the
judges are better qualified to make the decision respect-
ing parole.

If the country wants to have a system whereby the
judge sets the sentence and also makes the decision with
respect to whether or not parole should be granted, then
we will have to change the law. The law at this moment
says that the judge sets the sentence, and then there is a
parole authority that will interfere with that to the point
where it will change the manner in which that sentence is
to be served. It seems to me that the system we have at
this time is that the judge actually is deciding that the
state will have control over an individual for a period of
three years, ten years, or whatever, with the type of con-
trol being left in the hands of the Parole Board. Mind you,
other systems could be devised. All these things could be
decided by the judge. However, that is not our system at
this time.

As far as getting in touch with the judges on specific
cases by telephone or some other type of consultation is
concerned, this is done in some instances. I myself on a
few occasions have done this. However, some judges do
not like it. I know a number of judges in this country
whose attitude is, “Now look, in the total process of the
administration of justice we all have our bit to do. I have
done my work and the parole decision is yours. I can tell
you what I had in mind, but I am not going to tell you how
you should make your parole decision.”

Senator Hastings: Does that not lead to a breakdown?

Senator Denis: How do you explain the fact that the
citizen, the police and the judges criticize the Parole
Board? This is a constant criticism. If it is not the judge, it
is the police; if it is not the police, it is the citizens or the
press. You seem to be the one agency that is held respon-
sible when these cases fail. You must have received writ-

ten criticism from the police or from judges, or from the
general population.

Senator Hastings: From the inmates.
Senator Denis: Do you receive criticism in that respect?

Mr. Therrien: We receive critism from both sides. A cer-
tain segment of the population is saying, “Do not release
these inmates; do not release them early”; and another
segment is saying, “You are not doing enough. You are
not providing control and assistance to these people in the
community in as many cases as you could.” So I get the
notion, from the fact that we are critized from both sides,
that we in the Parole Board must have a middle of the
road attitude.

It is true that we are critized as to the time that we
release people, and we are also blamed, as was pointed
out this morning, for a good many things over which the
board has no authority—such things as failures when a
man is serving a suspended sentence, or is on probation,
or out on bail. It seems that people say that because he

was out, he was on parole. I suppose we are the most
visible organization—

Senator Denis: You mean you are both responsible.
Senator Hastings: We are all responsible.

Mr. Therrien: I think it shows that the system is complex.
It is difficult to understand all of the measures under
which a man can be out in the community. The Parole
Board is the first organization that people think about,
and they say, “Oh, he was out, so he was on parole.” It
may be that the board has not been doing enough as far as
selling what it is doing and explaining what it is doing.
People do not make the distinction between such things as
probation, suspended sentence, bail and parole.

There may also be another reason, and that is this: In
this country we have newspaper specialists on police
work and court work, but we have very few who are
specialists on corrections. We do not have people in the
newspaper field who know all of the fine print and all the
sections of the Penitentiary Act, or those of the Parole
Act, and who are aware of what is going on and can give
accurate information. I have had the experience a number
of times where someone from the press will come to see
me to get information for a story resulting from the fail-
ure in some manner of one of our parolees. In other
words, a parolee has committed a further crime so they
want to write an article on paroler. In talking to these
people I have found that they do not know what remission
is or how parole work is related to the sentence, or any-
thing about the time at which it is possible for us to
release a man on parole. As a result of this, we are always
spending our time giving basic facts. There seems to be a
lack of this knowledge in the newspaper field. I suppose
the finger is pointed at us right away because we are the
most visible organization.

Senator Denis: If a man has been released on parole two,
three, or four times, and each time he has committed
another crime, do you not feel that these criticisms are
well founded?

Mr. Therrien: There is one thing that has always sur-
prised me about this type of thing and that is this: We are
criticized if we release a man on parole who has been
sentenced to two years, and during the parole period he
fails. Supposing that same man got two years and served
the full two years in the institution and upon his release
he goes back to crime, in that case no one asks any
questions; no one says, “Well, the sentence was wrong or
the penitentiary did not rehabilitate this man.” It seems
that society accepts the fact that this individual will go
back to crime. So what is the thing do do?

Senator Denis: But at least society was protected during
that time.

Mr. Therrien: That is the only effect of it. In the case of a
two-year sentence, society was protected for 16 months.

Senator Denis: Don’t you think that that is enough?

Mr. Therrien: The chances are that he going to commit a
more serious offence.

The Chairman: Isn’t a lot of this criticism, Mr. Therrien,
due to the confusion in people’s minds? People regard
parole as an act of clemency. It is not an act of clemency;
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it is intended to rehabilitate the criminal as far as possible
in order to protect the public when he is finally released.

Senator Denis: That is fine for the first offence.

Senator Prowse: It does not interfere with the length of
his sentence; it merely determines where he will serve his
sentence.

Senator Denis: That is fine for the first offence, but when
it is two, three or four it is more dangerous than helpful.

Mr. Therrien: I think there is a basis for some people
considering this as mercy. As you know, it flowed out of
mercy. At one point our organization was called the
Remission Service. In French it was even worse; it was
called Le Service des Pardons, which was not when a man
was put on pardon; it was not what “pardon” means; he
was still under control. It was not like when you forgive
someone, unless you say, “I am giving you a conditional
forgiveness,” which is not what you are doing.

Senator Williams: A little while ago you referred to let-
ters of request or demands not to release a prisoner on
parole. When these letters arrive and are considered by
the board, perhaps a dozen or more of them, do they
influence the board to say the inmate shall not be given
parole?

Mr. Therrien: I do not believe we talked about letters of
request asking that there be no parole.

Senator Williams: I may have used the wrong phrase.

Mr. Therrien: It does happen and, of course, it is taken
into consideration. It could be said that when a parole
decision is made two things are considered: first, is the
man ready for the community; and secondly, is the com-
munity ready for the man?

Senator Williams: These requests come from the public,
who have no knowledge of the penal system within the
institution. On what do they base their request that, in
their opinion, an inmate should not be paroled or
released, which may influence the Parole Board?

Mr. Therrien: I do not want to give the impression that
this is something that happens all the time.

Senator Williams: I realize that.

Mr. Therrien: I could think of two or three cases in ten
years. If a crime is so serious that the people of the
community sign a petition saying, “We don’t want this
man back in our community,” the board will have to
consider that. On what they base this kind of thing, I do
not know.

Senator Williams: Maybe this has some relationship to
the criticism the board gets. After a justice imposes his
sentence, I, for one, cannot see what further responsibility
he has in influencing the board on whether to parole or
not to parole that inmate who is serving time; his respon-
sibilities end when he pounds his gavel and says, “I sen-
tence you to...” whatever it is. It is then in the hands of
the penal system or those in authority on the Parole
Board. This is the way it should be.

Mr. Therrien: This is the way most of the judges see this.

Senator Hastings: Is this not leading to a breakdown of
the whole system? There are the police who arrest the
man, the judges who sentence, the penal institution that
keeps him, and then the board. The man has to go through
that whole system, and one jurisdiction does not know
what the other is doing with the man; the judges misun-
derstand your work, and so on.

Mr. Therrien: I think it is a basic defect in the administra-
tion of justice. It seems that all those in these different
sectors are so busy playing their part that there is not
enough time for them to find out what is done with the
same man after they are through with him. The people at
the end of the line do not have enough time to find out
what those who dealt with the man at the beginning of the
line had in mind. The board is trying to solve this prob-
lem, but there are several hundred judges who send
people to jail in this country, and we are only nine making
these decisions.

Senator Prowse: I should like to get something clear,
which I think it is important to get clear in everybody’s
mind. When reference is made to the judges who send
people to jail now, we are including what used to be called
the police magistrates and are now provincial judges, the
district court or county court judges, supreme court
judges, and the appelate judges. Would 85 per cent of
those now in penitentiaries have been dealt with only by
those we used to call police magistrates and who are now
called provincial court judges?

Mr. Therrien: About 85 per cent, I think, or more.

Senator Prowse: In other words, when we refer to judges
we are talking about the stratum of judges who sit in the
criminal courts as provincial judges, not judges of the
Supreme Court of Canada, or the supreme courts of the
provinces—is that correct?

Mr. Therrien: That is right.

Senator Hastings: A man sentenced to six years’ impris-
onment, who bounces from place to place along this road
to the Parole Board, is in the institution two years before
you see him; you have had no knowledge of what he has
been doing, the programs he has undertaken in the insti-
tution, or what he has undertaken in the institution, or
what he has been doing at all. After serving two years in
the institution he comes before you as a stranger for a
decision. Am I correct?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. I think two things have to be consid-
ered here. First, there will be contact with the parole
organization at the time the man enters the institution.
Our staff are undertaking introduction courses, which are
conducted in most institutions, where parole is discussed,
to show that there is such a thing as parole.

Senator Hastings: You say “in most”’; how many is that?

Mr. Therrien: Most institutions. Our people give a brief-
ing on parole to new arrivals at the institution. Even that
is not enough. What you are getting at, I suppose, is some
kind of early involvement of the board in programs, so
that an inmate has an indication of what is expected of
him to improve himself in order to gain parole, and at the
same time become a better citizen. We have plans in this
respect. For example, in your province we have started—
and are extending throughout the country—to conduct
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what we call a community investigation; that is, to go to
the community from which the inmate comes to get some
information about what kind of man he is outside, what
are the factors that made a criminal out of him. This
information is given to the Penitentiary Service right
from the start.

Up to the present we have done this sort of thing but
just before the parole decision, so that the information in
the hands of the penitentiary people came mostly from
the inmate himself. They will now have something about
his lifestyle outside from the very beginning of his sen-
tence, so that they can use it all through the sentence; they
can make a better diagnosis of the problem and know
what they have to deal with. These are defects we have to
try to correct. We are now trying to get involved in the
process much earlier than we have been up to the present.
I agree it is not a very good situation when a man is
sentenced to 12 years’ imprisonment and spends the first
four years without any word from the Parole Board.

Senator Hastings: Or anyone.
Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Many men go to prison, reach grade 10,
11, 12, and even university, but nobody has ever stopped
them somewhere along the line and said, “What are you
doing about this?” until he gets to you at the end of the
line. He may have behaved himself, worked industriously
at his education or trade, but no one has sat down with the
man and taken the time to ask, “What about this?”

Mr. Therrien: The idea of the new system of getting more
information about the inmate right from the start is also
in order to get some kind of prescription program at the
start of the sentence. When he goes into a reception
centre, he may stay there for a month or so. At the end of
that stage, the people from the penitentiary and also the
people from Parole can sit together with the inmate and
say’ “The way we look at this, there are two or three
things that you should be doing.”

Senator Hastings: Early in the sentence?

/ Mr. T.herrion: Yes, early in the sentence, or right after the
induction period or when he is still in the reception centre.

Senator Prowse: If we were able to keep our prison
populations within limits that permit us to use the living
unit concept of treatment, do you see yourself as having a
representative in each one of these living units, with these
people, who would see the inmate all the time he is in
there, so that he is operating with someone who is his key

:ﬁ_tge outside, you might say? Do you see something like
is?

. Mr. Therrien: Yes, this would be part of it. Once you start
doing something at the very beginning, I believe that what
will flow from that is that you will not be able to go for the
first month and then go back to your office and not do
anything for four years; you will have to get some kind of
involvement.

Senator Prowse: Day by day.

Mr. Therrien: And you will be a link between the com-
munity and this inmate.

Senator Prowse: In other words, in a living unit you
would have a representative of the parole board, although
that individual might change from time to time as he was
rotated around in other places; but there would always be
in the living unit, from the time the fellow got into the
penitentiary, a representative from the parole board, who
would be there working with this group and passing on
the information? Would this be a useful thing or would it
not?

Mr. Therrien: The parole representative could be there.
You see, that is the crux of the thing. If you take the
parole man and you put him in an institution all the time,
he becomes an institutional man.

Senator Mcllraith: It is a method of liaison and review
continuously from the date of induction, and as you work
that out it becomes a little more complex.

Senator Prowse: It is not as easy to do it as it is to say it.

Mr. Therrien: If you want the man to bring to the institu-
tion or to the inmate the point of view of the outside, if
you want to force the inmate to think always about the
outside, he has to be from outside. The way I see this is
that if you discuss the general program at the start of his
sentence, then a parole representative has to go back and
review this man’s progress at periodic intervals; but not
stay in, because he then becomes a classification officer.

Senator Hastings: Are any of your Parole Service offic-
ers members of inmate training boards in any of these
institutions, or do they sit in on them?

Mr. Therrien: They have started to assist, to be present at
some of these meetings; but this is time consuming and we
will have to get much more staff than we had in order to
be present at all times. As far as the beginning of the
living unit community therapy is concerned, as in the case
of Springhill, our people go there regularly to meet at
night or during the day with the people in authority there.

Senator Quart: Have you a dossier on such persons—I am
sure the warden has a dossier—with monthly or quarterly
reports or progress reports that the Parole Board would
be able to consult?

Mr. Therrien: I would say we work from two dossiers.
When one of our parole officers will go and interview an
inmate, he brings with him his own file. In that file he has
information about the man’s criminal record, his life his-
tory, a police report on the circumstances of the offence;
he has pre-parole reports from all the people in the insti-
tution; but at the same time he has also access to the
penitentiary file where you will find this kind of report,
more regular reports, on what has happened to him in the
institution. As Mr. Braithwaite was explaining, the man is
assessed at monthly intervals, to decide whether or not he
should get three days. All these are in the penitentiary file,
so we have access to those two files in order to make that
decision.

Senator Quart: Do you find, Mr. Therrien, the new
system of panels going to the various institutions and
penitentiaries better than eyeball-to-eyeball consultation,
better than reading reports, as you used to do before? Do
you find it is an advantage to the board as well as to the
person applying for parole?
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Mr. Therrien: It is difficult to talk in the name of inmates,
I suppose. I would say that, in general, the reaction from
inmates has been good. They like to be able to talk to the
people who actually make that decision, even though it is
not always the decision that they want. I have had a large
number of cases where, after a hearing and after telling a
man no, he is still happy about it, as at least he had his
day in court, he had his chance of explaining his own case
to the people who make the decisions. Of course, those
who get paroled do not care that much, I suppose, as long
as they go out, whether they get a letter from Ottawa or
they have someone tell them. He goes out and that is what
he wants. As far as board members are concerned, it is a
much more time-consuming process, of course. When we
talk about a hearing, you just cannot go to make an
important decision in a man’s life without some kind of
preparation. So you have to read his file beforehand. In
the previous system, after reading that file, I was ready to
make a decision, but now that is only one step in the
process. I have read that file and I have taken a few notes
with me, and I bring it to the region where I am going.
After that I get the latest information from the parole
officer or the classsification officer, and then I hear the
inmate. After that I am going to discuss it with my col-
league on the panel and then the inmate will be brought
back and will be told the decision. It is surely time
consuming.

When you ask, “Is it more effective?” I think it is too
early to find out. I do not think that decisions will be
better if they are done here than if they are done on the
spot.

I would say that in a few cases in the previous system, it
would have been no parole; but now, once you see the
man, and he has had a better chance to explain his case
and you have had a better chance to ask the right ques-
tions, he gets a parole, whereas before he would not have
got a parole. But it works in reverse, too. Take some who
might have received parole in the previous system. Once
you pry into the thing you find that he is an undue risk
and you do not give him the parole. So, in so far as the
effectiveness of the decision in terms of recidivism is
concerned, I do not think we can say anything very much.

Senator Quart: Just thinking of myself and what I would
do if I had to decide—certainly I am not qualified to do
anything of this kind—meeting an inmate with personal-
ity, let us say, good looks, charm, call it what you like, and
another person who was not able to explain his case so
well and was perhaps dumb or bad tempered or some-
thing else, or one who would show a little bad temper,
would that influence—the question I am asking is very
unjust—in any way the members of the Parole Board who
are judging the case?

Mr. Therrien: I do not think it is unjust. I think it is the
fabric of a hearing, that is what we live with. We know, we
have to know, that there are people who find it very easy
to sell their case; we know that others are not very good at
this. Of course, we take this into consideration. If you are
facing a man who finds it very difficult to talk about
himself, you try to take all kinds of means to make him
more at ease.

I remember one hearing where the man did not talk for
five minutes. He just could not talk about himself. It was a
case where the man was doing seven years. He had done
two years and three months in the institution, and this
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was a moment when an important decision was going to
be made about four or five years of his life. He had been
thinking about it, he had been preparing for it, and it
became so important in hiw own mind that he just froze
there. So, you have to take this into consideration and do
somthing to bring the right atmosphere into the hearing,
so that you get the information you want. Now, it does not
mean that, because the man refuses to talk, we are going
to accept that. At times there are cases when he wants to
refuse or actually refuses to talk, but we will not accept
that. If there are things that we want to know about him
before we make a decision, well, he has to answer.

Now, as far as those who are pretty good at deception
are concerned that is another question. Say you are talk-
ing about a fraud artist. Well, again I suppose this comes
with experience. Once you have dealt with a large number
of these people you begin to see through them and you get
to know what kind of questions to ask. You also get to put
a proper interpretation on what they say to you.

I suppose when you start up in the parole business you
want to rehabilitate all of them; they are all “good”. It is
only through the years that you learn that a few of them
are not so good.

Senator Lapointe: Some people have complained that the
members of the National Parole Board are not close
enough to the inmates of certain regions and, therefore,
these people would favour regional boards, with perhaps
one member of the National Board sitting with them.
What do you think of that idea?

Mr. Therrien: That is something that is being discussed at
the present time. It is very much a topic of discussion
within the organization now. I suppose that there are
some good points about having people in the regions, but
there are some bad points as well. Frankly, it is a matter I
have been thinking about a great deal in the last few
months. I have not made up my mind as to the final
conclusion I will come to about whether regional boards
would be a better system.

Senator Lapointe: They say that you do not have time to
review them thoroughly and to look at this man, that man
and the other man individually.

Mr. Therrien: Well, that does not necessarily relate to
being or not being in a region. If it is a matter of time, you
can operate from here and still have the time if you have
the number of people who can spend the time.

At the moment there are only nine of us, which means
that within one month, for example, there might be four
panels going out—that is, eight members of the Board
going out during that month covering four regions—and
the next month there might be three panels going out. So
we do not have the facilities to spend all the time that we
would want to, but that is not connected with whether you
have a national board or a regional board; it could be
done with a national board.

The Chairman: But the regional board would not have to
do as much travelling. It would be much less time con-
suming, would it not?

Senator Quart: Aren’t there some provinces with provin-
cial boards? Ontario?
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The Chairman:
Lapointe.

I am afraid I interrupted Senator

Senator Lapointe: I just wanted to know whether it would
be better if you had 20 members.

Senator Mcllraith: You get into another problem when
you are talking regional boards, and that is the desire to
get relatively equal justice administered across the coun-
try on a comparable basis. I can see some grave difficul-
ties with regional boards, just as we have had very wide
regional discrepancies in the whole prison system. For
example, some of the institutions that were in existence in
some parts of the country and seemed to be reasonably
tolerable there were not tolerable in the other parts of the
country at all. I think you would have to discuss and come
to a conclusion on that whole point about the uniformity
of standards.

Mr. Therrien: In fact, that is the most serious problem
connected with regional boards. The time that you save in
travelling by having regional boards is offset anyway. It
can be organized, of course, but you would still have to
have fairly regular meetings of all these people, and then
they would still be travelling because they would have to
meet at some point in order that some uniform practice
would actually be the case in all regions of the country.

Senator Prowse: Could you work a system like this: Sup-
pose we had, for the sake of argument, five districts
across Canada in which you would have a board of, say,
three members in each district. The chairmen of those
various districts would then be the members of a national
parole board which would act as an appeal board from
the district boards. The chairmen would maintain contact
with the local boards and would know what the others
were doing. With that system, would you not be able to
maintain some degree of equality between the boards?

Mr. Therrien: There are so many schemes that one can
think of. In your proposition the chairman of regional
boards are members of a national board, but actually they
are in the regions, if I understood you well.

Senator Prowse: The chairmen would be the chairmen of
the regional boards, but they would be members of the
national board. Presumably, they would spend a certain
amount of time in both places. I am just thinking now, but
that is a suggestion that was kicked around when some of
us were talking about this whole matter. In that way you
would 'Fhen have a regional board on the spot to deal with
things immediately. It would be available for contact with
the peqple who needed it and would be in contact with the
local situation. On the regional boards, as well as profes-
sionals, you could have lay people who would be available
to the local boards, and from the local boards there would
then lie an appeal, at the instance, I would think, only of
the person who felt that he was unjustly denied his parole.
Perhaps you would want the appeal to be available to the
government as well. That would be all right, too.

So the central board would always consist of, say, three
of the five members of the central board plus two from
the other areas. In that way each board’s decisions would
be subject to appeal to the central board, which could
then work as an equalizing agency.

Would something like that be too cumbersome or would
it be possible? Is it fair to ask you that question?

Mr. Therrien: As I say, I have not made up my mind yet,
but in my opinion it is preferable to have a system in
which all the board members are at the same level and
can talk to each other on the same level. Once you get into
the kind of system where you have regional as opposed to
central, then you find one member saying, “Oh, he is a
national member and this one is a regional member.” You
also get the type of discussion where the regional mem-
bers says, “We are closer to the situation,” and that is the
end of it. “You are from Ottawa. You don’t know the
situation here; so that is the way it should go.” But it can
go the other way too. It can be, “Look! I'm on the national
board. My voice is more important. You are just local
people.”

I do not object in principle to regional boards, but I can
say that there are these problems and they have to be
settled first. You have to find the way to avoid this type of
situation I have mentioned, because it would be a bad
situation.

Senator Thompson: What is the average time that the
panel spends with each inmate applying for parole?

Mr. Therrien: I think it is about 40 minutes now. That
includes a discussion of the case with a representative
from the Penitentiary Service and a representative from
the Parole Service; it includes the hearing itself; then the
discussion and decision-making; and then the oral notifi-
cation to the inmate.

This means that there are cases on which we spend an
hour or an hour and a half, and I have even known them
to go to two hours. On the other hand, there are cases on
which we spend only 20 minutes. The average is about 40
minutes, though.

Senator Thompson: Or you might spend as little as about
two minutes in some cases, I understand.

Mr. Therrien: Not in my experience.

Senator Thompson: I am thinking of a previous discus-
sion we had with a representative of the board. We asked
him this question: “What is the largest number of inmates
you have ever seen?” And he gave us a rather extraordi-
nary figure, I thought, which worked out to a very short
amount of time that he had spent with each inmate.

My concern is: Do you think such a short amount of
time is a sufficient length of time to spend with the
inmates? You fellows must be very much harried, in my
opinion. Certainly, if you were going to employ a man in a
business you would spend a lot more time with him than
20 minutes, if it was an important job. Surely, it is a key
decision for the inmate. Do you feel that you give him
enough time?

Mr. Therrien: I do not think that 40 minutes is enough as
an average; I would very much like the average to be an
hour, but, frankly, 40 minutes is the best we can do under
the present circumstances. It means that you see approxi-
mately from 10 to 15 inmates a day. There are only so
many hours that you can be of service to an inmate. There
are too many times, I feel, when board members are still
hearing cases at 7 or 8 o’clock in the evening. I disagree
with that. I do not think we should be forced to do this,
but we are because of the circumstances and because of
the large number of cases that have to be reviewed. How-
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ever, I do not think that after five I am less of a board
member to this man.

Senator Thompson: Do you think the solution to this is to
have more members on the Parole Board? Am I right in
that, or is there another solution?

Mr. Therrien: Well, once you have started on the system
of conducting hearings, I think it is very difficult to get
out of it. One solution, perhaps, would be to go back to the
old system, but I do not agree with that. It is quite clear
that we would save time because, as te chairman was
saying, there is a lot of travelling time involved, but this is
frequently taken care of by travelling on Saturdays, on
Sundays or at night.

Senator Prowse: Did you have experience, Mr. Therrien,
in the years back when you did not see the prisoner and
when your decisions were made on the basis of files
prepared for you here?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, I was a member of the board using
that procedure from April, 1969 to January or February,
1970. Frankly, I was not too happy with it because I had
been a parole officer before, so I was used to making
recommendations and trying to make up my mind about
inmates by seeing them and talking to them. I found it
rather difficult to make these decisions just on the basis
of 10 or even 200 pieces of paper.

Senator Prowse: Do you feel that you are now able to give
better decisions, meeting the applicant face to face, than
you were able to give when you were simply dealing with
paper?

Mr. Therrien: Well, it depends on what one means by that.

Senator Prowse: Well, are you more comfortable with the
decisions you make now than you were with the decisions
you made before?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, I am; but, again, it depends on what
you mean by a “better” decision. If you mean by that,
“Does it lead to a reduction in the rate of recidivism?” I do
not think we can say that. But I am satisfied that the
decision-making process is better; I am more at ease with
my decision, and I have an opportunity to explain to the
man, especially in cases where the answer is no or where
parole is deferred for one year or for two years, just what
the situation is. I can discuss things with him and I can
say to him, “The reason the decision is no is that, as I see
your case, your problem is this, and you have not been
doing anything about it.” I feel that he should leave that
room saying, “At least they considered my case, and that
is how they see it.” He may not see it that way himself, but
he knows on what I have based my decision and he is free
to do something about it. But under the previous system
he would simply get a piece of paper saying, “Parole
denied.”

Senator Prowse: I do not know if you can answer this
question, but I shall ask it anyway. Do you think the men
themselves who now meet the Parole Board are generally
happier with the decisions for or against than they were
before, when they were merely dealing with some imper-
sonal thing covered by letter?

Mr. Therrien: This indeed was a criticism—the imperson-
ality of the decision-making process, and not knowing
who these people were who were making the decisions;
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but as to knowing how these people react when they get a
referral or a denial, I suppose your committee could ask a
few of these inmates to come along and testify.

Senator Prowse: We will.

Senator Lapointe: Do you allow the inmate to hear every-
thing said about him by the other persons during the
hearing? By this I mean the social worker or people like
that.

Mr. Therrien: Do you mean the social worker in the
prison or our own parole officer?

Senator Lapointe: Every one who testifies. Is the inmate
allowed to hear everything?

Mr. Therrien: No. We feel that the hearing is an oppor-
tunity for the man to explain his own case, and we want to
give him as much time as possible to do so. The informa-
tion from the classification officer and the parole officer
comes to us before the hearing, and usually at the hearing
itself it is a question of the man and the board member
talking—there is a dialogue—but he does not hear what
the other people are saying.

Senator Lapointe: So he does not know what these people
have reported about him?

Mr. Therrien: He does not know that, but he will know
that after the hearing. I say that because in the hearing
these things will come out, not directly in terms such as,
“Your instructor feels that you should not get parole,” or
something like that, because this is not the way it is done.
But if there is something about his lack of initiative or his
bad behaviour in the shop where he is working, then he
will know about that indirectly.

The Chairman: Or if there are psychiatric problems.

Mr. Therrien: This is another tricky thing to start discuss-
ing. We do not talk in terms of people having been either
for or against parole; but if this is to be a meaningful
process, one has to talk about the problem, and we do that
without pointing a finger at anyone. Actually, the tech-
nique is to present this as a conclusion that the board is
coming to from the reports it gets. That is how it is. When
I say to a man, “I feel you have not been doing enough on
that score,” that is my conclusion after reading the
reports on it, and this is the way I present it. They can
draw all kinds of conclusions from that, and they do,
because you cannot prevent anyone from drawing conclu-
sions, no matter what system you are using.

The Chairman: That brings me back to a matter which
you mentioned earlier. You said that you considered it
wise and helpful that the inmate should be able to express
himself and that he should be able to talk to you. You
have also said that there are inmates who can talk for
themselves, and that some are good fraud artists, but
there are others who cannot. Have you considered the
desirability of allowing some one to talk for the inmates—
and I am not thinking of counsel?

I will just follow through on that by saying that Senator
Williams impressed on us the other day the particular
problems of Indians as inmates. They may not understand
the law; their culture is different; they may not under-
stand parole. So how can an Indian, for example, in those
circumstances express himself on his own behalf?



1:36

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 6, 1973

Mr. Therrien: I think that in the present system that role
which is important for this type of person is played by
these classification officers or the social workers in the
institution. These are the only cases where they will actu-
ally intervene in the hearing, when everyone in the room
realizes the inmate has a block of some kind and is not
able to explain his case. Sometimes you ask a question
and the answer will not be too good, or it will not address
itself at all to the question. The classification officer will
then say, “Now, look, he may be shy because he doesn’t
know you, but I have known him for a year and what he
means is this...,” or, “what he has done is this ...” Then
the inmate has a chance to say, “Well, yes, that is what I
wanted to say.” I think that role is played by the classifi-
cation officer.

Senator Hastings: But he does not know him. We have
had the evidence of a Parole Board member here who has
said that there are classification officers who do not know
the inmates. How can one classification officer with a
caseload of 100 men be prepared to make a representation
to you?

Mr. Therrien: I know what the situation is and it is not
quite as bad as that in all institutions; but at least the
classification officer, before the parole consideration, has
had to prepare a report on this man so he has met him at
least on that one occasion, but in a large number of
institutions these days they see them more often than that.

§onutor Thompson: But the classification officer may
wish to make a negative report and he is not going to be
an advocate for the parolee if such is the case.

Mr. Therrien: At the beginning of the hearing you are not
asking for opinions. You are asking for facts. What you
want to find out from the inmate are facts about his
lifestyle before he entered the penitentiary, and what he
has been doing in the institution. Surely, a professional
classification officer will remain objective on that score
and tell you what the situation is.

Senator Thompson: I am thinking of the case of an
Indian, again, who impressed me as having difficulty with
communications. He feels the classification officer does
not understand his cultural background and customs, and
perl.laps he does not. Is there any consideration given to
having a representative of a particular cultural group,
fand I am thinking of the Indians, who has an understand-
ing of Indians, who enjoys their confidence and who
might act as a cultural interpreter for you?

Mr. Therrien: I suppose that is something we might con-
sider. I do not like to talk about criminals in a general
way, and I do not think we should talk about Indians in a
general way either. As we see them, we find some of them
are pretty good at representing their cases. But I agree,
they are a class of people for whom it is very difficult. It
may be difficult for them to explain their case to a clas-
sification officer, or to a Parole Board member; but it
may also be difficult for them to explain their case to
another Indian.

During the last few years we have endeavoured to hire
some Indians as parole officers in penitentiaries. We have
four or five of them on staff now. Of course, in a regional
office where we have these people at our disposal we will
send them to interview Indians.

As far as allowing some degree of representation for an
inmate is concerned, frankly, we are very leery about
getting into this situation because once we open the door,
God only knows what kind of situation we will be forced
into. Are we going to end up having representation for
everyone? Then there are two or three people who want to
speak on his behalf and there are five people who love
him and want to talk to Board members, and there is no
end to it.

Senator Williams: There are many problems among the
Indian people in Canada. I think the greatest problem,
particularly for those in the northern parts of the prov-
inces, concerns isolation in freedom. Once they are
brought into a penal institution they have forced isolation
where they are no longer persons who can decide and
think for themselves; that is taken away from them; they
just become numbers.

What I am getting at is this: Take the inmate who has
had isolation in freedom and then becomes imprisoned
for some considerable time and has no real communica-
tion with those in authority. It may be for more than one
reason, such as a language barrier, and the isolation in
freedom of his environment. He may be a craftsman or a
fisherman. The outside world is very vague to him in his
particular area, or in his isolation in freedom. Then he
goes into an institution where there is forced isolation. He
is no longer an individual who thinks for himself. He is
told to get up at a certain time, to do certain things at
certain hours, and this is very foreign to him.

There is a barrier between his way of life and that of
society because the approach of your people were formed,
for one thing, in Europe and elsewhere. This was to put
criminals away to protect the public, not to rehabilitate
them; and it has not changed much. I have visited one of
your prisons in British Columbia three times, and there is
no form of rehabilitation whatsoever. This Indian in the
North, or elsewhere, due to poor communications with
society, does not fully understand why he is in. What did
he do wrong? This is not a wrong with my people.

Then, how can we have him apply for parole and under-
stand the system and why he is in, with people who will
stand up and speak on his behalf? Our present system
treats all as equal; that is what it is and what it was set up
for. A man may have 10 degrees behind his name, but he
is no better than the chap who has been in the woods of
British Columbia with no education whatsoever. He is
equal in this prison-type institution in which he finds
himself serving and paying society for the criminal act he
may have committed. However, with respect to the Indian,
we, you and this country cannot speak on his behalf in
generalities as a prisoner. He is treated in a very foreign
society.

What is the answer to this? All right, he may finally be
granted parole and returns to his own environment,
where he lives as he did in the past. He is told, however,
that he must report to the parole officer once a week, or
every 10 days. That parole officer may live 500 miles away
and the parolee has no means of transportation, so what
will happen to him?

I am informed that the number of Indian inmates is still
increasing. I do not know whether that is true, but there
are times when the inmate population is 50 per cent
Indian.
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Mr. Therrien: I am not too sure of your question. I would
like to say something with respect to the fate of an Indian
in an institution and what happens to him when he is on
parole. I think it is important to know how we endeavour
to treat them once they are on parole. First, a number of
the things that you say happen to Indians in institutions
are true of all inmates. This is the basis and essence of the
institution; you sort of become a number.

Senator Williams: My point is that he is not equal with
his fellow men in the way in which he is treated.

Mr. Therrien: The end result, no matter what handicaps
he has in the institution, so far as presenting his case to us
is concerned, for example, is not discrimination in the
sense that the percentage of your people who receive
parole would be less than that for whites. We have had a
number of questions in this connection during the last few
years and have researched our statistics for British
Columbia and the Prairie provinces. It always results in
approximately the same percentage making or not
making parole, whether white or Indian.

The manner in which we deal with these people once
they are released is a problem for us. We have been
endeavouring to find supervisors who are not located 500
miles from the parolee. We try to employ some of the
Indian people in communities. In some localities we have
employed Indians who work with the RCMP. We have
tried to employ numerous native organizations as supervi-
sors so that there would be a degree of communication
between the supervisor and the paroled Indian.

We would agree that to set up this list of 10 conditions
applying to any parolee in this country may not be the
best approach, but, of course, to have a set of conditions
and a practice under which they are applied may be two
different things. We attempt to take this into considera-
tion with respect to Indian parolees.

I am sure I do not have the solutions to this rather
serious problem, but I do wish to indicate that we know
there is a problem and are attempting to take steps to
correct it.

Senator Quart: Are there many cases where you require
the services of the classification officer to help out the
inmates in presenting their case? Are there many across
Canada? Maybe the classification officers could help out
very well in the case of the Indians.

Mr. Therrien: I would not say there are many people who
come to us and are unable to make a decent presentation
of their case. There is just a minority of people who
cannot present a case. I suppose use is made of “prison
lawyers.” If you know that you are going to come before
the board next month, you will try to get information on
the type of questions to be asked. What are they interested
in? What seem to be the right answers to the questions?
This goes on, I am sure.

Senator Quart: We heard testimony from three inmates
from Drumbheller. They carried on a sort of small commit-
tee for the inmates, giving them guidelines on what ques-
tions to expect from the parole officers.

Mr. Therrien: That is why personally I try to change my
questions each time.

Senator Prowse: I presume you are familiar, Mr. Therri-
en, with the practice in the Canadian Pension Commis-
sion of having pension advocates who are available to
veterans who want a pension. This man is on the staff of
each branch headquarters of Veterans Affairs across the
country. Anyone who wishes to apply for a pension can go
to this person, who prepares the case and presents it. If
the person concerned wished to get other advice, he could.
These men are highly skilled; they take real pride in the
number of their successful cases, and in the appeals they
win from the board. They take the appeals and follow
them through. Could something similar be arranged to
help men present their cases to your board or boards?

Mr. Therrien: We could initiate any kind of assistance
regarding representation, I suppose, but I really think that
in practice a lot of this goes on. Mothers are good advo-
cates. Some inmates ask a lawyer to make representations
to us; they have friends; their previous employer is a good
advocate in some cases, and he will tell us, “Look, this
man is not all bad. He worked for me for five years and he
was a very good employee.” A lot of people are making
favourable representation on behalf of most of the
inmates. It is not very frequently that we will go to an
institution and have only the application from the man
himself. In most cases we have comments from a number
of people.

Senator Prowse: You do not feel that they are suffering
any disadvantage by lack of representation in presenting
cases to you?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I could live with a system where
there is some kind of expert representation, maybe, but I
do not think we could do it at this time. In a number of the
American states, the practice has reached the point where
the due process is the right to have a lawyer, and if you do
not have a lawyer you are provided with one. I asked a
number of board members in some of the states about
their experience of a system where there was no legal
representation compared with the arrangement they have
now. They seemed to feel, frankly, that it does not change
the percentage of people who do or do not get parole. It
takes more time; that is the main effect of it.

Senator Prowse: I cannot see throwing the thing wide
open by having lawyers come in. I am not prejudiced
against lawyers, but I am not prejudiced for them either. I
do know from my own experience with veterans’ groups
that these men who did nothing but this became very
skilled and very competent and were able to handle things
very quickly. They could listen to a fellow and tell him
exactly what was missing in his application or what he
had to get, and there were never any difficulties because
they could handle them so well. A lawyer would be a fool
to get into this area because it would cost him money. He
could not begin to charge for the amount of time it would
take him to acquire the expertise which these men have.

Those people are still operating. There are a devil of a
lot more veterans in this country than there are criminals
and a lot more pensioners than there are criminals, and
every one of those pensioners has probably been repre-
sented at some stage by a pensions advocate.

Do you think this would make it easier for you people?
Your staff could prepare the case for presentation before-
hand. I should think it might be worthwhile to have the
department take a look at that system as it operates in the
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Pension Commission, to determine if it could not be
implemented in your area. I should think this could be
done very cheaply and that it would be very effective. You
could have one advocate for, say, each area. This would
give a good man a good job; it would keep him busy and
he would be of value to everyone and save the board a
good deal of time.

Mr. Therrien: Of course, the matter of having complete
information before the board at the time of the decision is
something that is the responsibility of our staff.

Senator Prowse: But the documentation is not always
complete.

Mr. Therrien: It is one of their responsibilities to see that
the documents required for the decision are there. If they
are not there, it is their role to get them. Your suggestion
might be useful in the representation aspect of it. I do not
know exactly what the complexities of the Pension Act
are. We like it to be done on a form which we provide, but
we will accept it in any form. Some inmates simply write
on a sheet of paper that they want to apply for parole, and
that is a valid application. There are not too many com-
plexities about that. It is strictly a matter of speaking for
the individual.

The Chairman: That is what I was thinking of.

Mr. Therrien: But at the hearing we like the individual
himself to speak to us. It is not that we do not see other
people who come to us on behalf of the individual. Our
offices across the country receive visitors every day who
wish to talk to us on behalf of some inmate. So there is
that degree of representation.

Soncxtor Hastings: It seems to me that a continuation of
this representation would just be a perpetuation of this
“v&ge/they.” This is what bothers me about it. If there is one
thing we have to break down it is the fact that the Parole
Board is rendering a decision on his behalf. To bring
counsel and other representation to a board hearing, the
hearing is liable to become just another court and any
effect that you now have you will lose.

Mr. Therrien: I am not saying it is a bad idea, but as a
matter of priority I would prefer to have more time to give
to the study of a case and to give to the inmate himself. If
we get into a nice system where we have all the time we
want and all the time that the inmate requires to talk with
the board member, then we may start thinking about it.

Senator Prowse: To put it another way, in your opinion it
would be a good deal more useful for everyone concerned
if you had five more board members than you have now,
rather than five advocates such as I was discussing. I
suppose you could get them for about the same amount of
money, too.

Mr.Therrien: I should like to have 7 additional board
members, sir!

Senator Th.omp-on: To come back to the different
paroles—ordinary parole, day parole, parole for deporta-
tion or voluntary departure, and mandatory supervision—

Senator Prowse: How did we get away down there?

The Chairman: We will be getting to those three items,
Senator Thompson. If your question is not on ordinary
parole, I would ask Mr. Therrien to go on to day parole.

Senator Hastings: Could I just ask one quick question?
The Chairman: A very quick one.

Senator Hastings: What do you mean by “parole in
principle”?

Mr. Therrien: A parole in principle is a judgment made
by the board, saying, “We have assessed the whole criteria
and find that there is no undue risk. We want this man on
parole.” Before he is actually put on parole we want one
or two things to happen, and once they have happened he
goes out. Mostly this relates to a job. The man is looking
for a job; there is a chance he may get a job two or three
weeks hence, and as soon as this is confirmed he goes on
parole.

Senator Hastings: Whose duty is it to assist him through
that period, the institution’s or the Parole Service’s?

Mr. Thgrrien: They both do it.
Senator Prowse: They are both supposed to.
Senator Hastings: What is “parole with gradual”?

Mr. Therrien: Parole with gradual is a decision when the
board says the man goes on parole at a definite date in,
say, two months; that in the meantime we want him to go
back to society, but gradually. There are two documents
that go with a parole with gradual. There is a document of
temporary parole, which is a day parole, so that he is
allowed to go out a few days a week in the first week, and
maybe the second week for the whole week, coming back
at the weekend, for a month, two months or three months,
up to the time his parole date arrives, when he goes out
with the real parole certificate.

Senator Hastings: In the interval is he under the Peniten-
tiary Service or the Parole Service?

Mr. Therrien: He is on day parole.
Senator Hastings: He is under the Parole Service?
Mr. Therrien: Yes.

The Chairman: Would you now talk to us about day
parole?

Senator Williams: Mr. Chairman, Before that I have one
question. I have in mind an Indian with no skills that
would qualify him for certain umployment, in particular
those that I have referred to as ‘“isolation in freedom.” If a
man is a trapper no one employs him; he employs himself.
If it is off-season for trapping, who employs him? Who
recommends his application for parole, when so much
depends on job availability?

The Chairman: You mean: How can he satisfy the condi-
tion which reads, “To endeavour to maintain steady
employment.”

Mr. Therrien: There are two things, before the decision
and after. If the season is one in which the man’s main
way of earning a living can be pursued, he can go to what
he usually does. If not, there are a great many who go on
some Manpower courses these days, for example.
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Senator Williams: How can manpower train a 35-year old
Indian in isolation who can neither read nor write?

Mr. Therrien: That is something the man will present to
us. We never force a plan on a man.

Senator Williams: That was your answer.
Mr. Therrien: I am giving some examples.

Senator Williams: I am referring to the problem of the
Indian inmate in getting parole.

Mr. Therrien: In getting parole?

Senator Williams: Yes. Job availability seems to control
much of the parole as it now works. If an inmate has a job
to go to his parole becomes a little easier, his application
gets a little more consideration.

Mr. Therrien: I would not say that. First, the board will
make up its mind about the man’s parolability, whether
we think he is the type of man we want out on parole.
After that we consider the conditions, what kind of job he
is going to. First, we make the decision about parole, and
after that we consider employment. It is not the case that
he does not get parole because he does not have employ-
ment. In some cases, because of what a man has done in
the past, his way of earning a living, he may not be able to
find a job from the institution where he is; he may be
going 600 miles from the institution, and we know that his
way of getting a job and earning a living is to be on the
spot and to be able to talk to the people there. If we decide
we want a man on parole, that we think he is not an undue
risk, that he has derived maximum benefit from imprison-
ment and so on, we will parole him.

Senator Williams: Suppose in the past the trapping facili-
ties have been very limited and the man has been on
welfare for four or five years, what consideration does the
Parole Board give him?

Mr. Therrien: He will get the same consideration as any
other parole applicant.

Senator Williams: There is no parole then, is that your
answer, because he has been on welfare for five or six
years?

Mr. Therrien: We do not see that as a crime.

Senator Williams: This is the problem with the Indian
people.

Mr. Therrien: It is the problem with very many white
people in some of our cities too.

Senator Williams: They choose welfare rather than work,
in most cases.

Mr. Therrien: I could not agree with that. I think there is
a percentage of people who may, consciously or uncon-
sciously, make that choice, but I think there are very
many people who are on welfare and’ it is not of their
choosing.

Senator Williams: We do not differ in our thinking on the
matter of welfare, but there is a great number of these
young people in British Columbia who are not prepared
to work and who do not want to work.

Senator Thompson: I think the point is that if this Indian
has no work, if the trapping is closed up, he has to go on
welfare; all he has to do is go on welfare.

Mr. Therrien:; No, the purpose is to decide whether he can
be allowed on parole to be sort of half free in the com-
munity, subject to certain conditions, that he will not go
back to committing crimes, and if we are satisfied that
this is the case, then he goes out. If he is going back in a
few months to the situation he was in before, we cannot
create the job for him if there is no job there.

Senator Thompson: Might I ask you about another area
from that of the Indians? I am thinking of the mentally
retarded. Do you know the proportion of those who are in
penitentiaries, or is there any way of assessing the
proportion.

Mr. Therrien: I would not like to guess any percentage. I
suppose people from penitentiaries may have this infor-
mation, when they assess the 1.Q. of these people when
they come in. I know we see a certain number of these
people who apply for parole, and it is a problem in those
cases, especially on the matter of finding employment at
times. When you review the case of such a person, he has
not been in jail for thirty years, he was out at some time
and he knows a few people, so you can go back to these
people and you can find out what he actually can do. You
try to help him find something that he can achieve out-
side. I am not saying it is easy but there are some organi-
zations that try to help these people. We try to establish a
relationship with this kind of an organization, where pos-
sible. We may refer him to a specialized agency that deals
with this kind of people and tries to find jobs for them.

Senator Thompson: I am not thinking just of mentally
retarded; I am also thinking of marginal cases who would
have difficulty in learning some of the accepted skills, and
so on. I am wondering how many of the unfortunate
population make up the penitentiary population, and I am
thinking of the difficulty of getting them readjusted.

Mr. Therrien: Yes. There is a certain number of so-called
marginal people. The first thing the board has to assess is:
What are the dangers of this man going back to crime?
Because he is marginal, it does not follow that he is going
to be a criminal. There are a number of marginal people
who actually never get to an institution. They live the
marginal life outside without getting to the system at all.
But sometimes you have a man who has been out ten
years of his life. He may have been marginal all along;
then he comes into an institution. He may be a good risk
for parole; it may be the last time he is in the hands of the
police, or the courts, or the institution, or in our hands.
You do not start to make a judgment and say, “We will
release him if we can find a job for this kind of man as a
teacher in a university”. You have to adjust your ideals to
what he can do. It may be he is going to be marginal, but
this does not mean he is going to be criminal. So you have
to satisfy yourself that this is the situation, and he stands
an equal chance of getting parole.

Senator Thompson: It has been suggested that the
requirements of parole are really middle-class values, and
that we are imposing our middle-class criteria on the
people coming out of the penitentiary. Do you think there
is any justification in that?
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Mr. Therrien: This has to be an opinion or a judgment
that one makes after so many years’ working in this, I
suppose. I do not see how you can measure that. I think it
is becoming an issue mostly because there are more of the
so-called middle-class people in the institutions than there
were ten years ago. Frankly, it is not my experience that
the so-called middle-class man has a better chance before
the Parole Board than the lower-class man, but I suppose
you have to take my word for it. I cannot prove it, any
more than I can prove the contrary.

The main aspect is that you have to consider the risk,
and you have some people from the middle class who
could be great risks as far as parole is concerned, and
they do not get parole. The same may be true of any class,
I suppose.

Senator Thompson: It seems to me that you go for refer-
ences to the church, to school teachers, and so on. These
are the people you go to, and they will say, “This fellow
has held a good job. He attended the church in the com-
munity,” and so on. So that the people who are reflecting
whether they are good bets or not are people who reflect
middle-class values.

Mr. Therrien: If people could prove this to me, I would be
very concerned about it, but the fact is that each time you
release a middle-class man because you think he is a good
parole bet, witnesses of that release will say, “Oh, you see,
it is easy for middle-class people to get parole.” I do not
see how you can fight that. That is just the way people will
react each time you do it.

At the same time, you have to think in terms of not
going to the adverse position of saying, “Because they are
middle-class they have to stay in, because we don’t want
to be accused of discrimination or preferential
treatment.”

Senator Williams: In these penal institutions, who are
considered middle-class men?

Mr. Therrien: I have been saying all along “so-called
middle class”. There may be a number of definitions. You
are dealing with the white-collar type of criminal, for
example, the man who may be a lawyer or a druggist.

Senator Williams: I have no idea what a white-collar
criminal is.

Mr. Therrien: Again, these are all labels. They represent
the rga]ity behind the label, some in a better way and
some in a worse way, but at times labels seem to be useful
as a means of talking about certain classes of people. If
you are talking about a lawyer who is doing time for some

fraud or other, most people would say, “Oh, he is middle
class.”

The Chairman: Would you now clarify day parole for us,
Mr. Therrien? And, for my personal information, would
you differentiate between day parole and temporary
absence, and tell us whether you consider it a satisfactory
system that two different bodies are involved—that is, the
Parole Board in respect of day parole, and the Penitentia-
ry Commission in respect of temporary absence?

Mr. Therrien: One thing I tried to do in this document
was to say a few words about the term “day parole” itself.
First, I think it is a misnomer. It may create confusion in
the sense that people think of day parole as implying a

return to the institution each night—the man goes out
every day but comes back every night. That is the situa-
tion in day parole some of the time, but it is not always the
situation; it may be something else. Actually, it should be
called “temporary parole,” because it can be the situation
where the man goes out during the week and comes back
during the weekend. That is all included in what they
refer to as “day parole” in the act, and which, in my
opinion, should actually be called “temporary parole.” So
it is a parole, the terms and conditions of which require
the inmate to whom it is granted to return to prison from
time to time during the duration of such parole, or to
return to prison after a specified period.

Now, you have asked the question: What is the differ-
ence between day parole and temporary absence? Some
of the words that are used are the same, like “from time to
time,” but at some point we have tried to define this
difference, and this is what we came up with. We have
always seen day parole as part of an organized program,
planned mutually by the penitentiaries and parole staff,
designed to involve the offender in a community, educa-
tional, employment or other program which is anticipated
to extend beyond 15 days. While temporary absence is
something less continuous than this, it will be relatively
short, except for medical reasons, of course, and involve
the offender being in the community for specific short-
term periods, with or without supervision.

In day parole, of course, we always provide for supervi-
sion, either by one of our parole officers or a parole
supervisor from a private after-care agency. We use day
parole in the way that I explained when answering one of
your questions; that is, as a preparation for full parole, in
the sense that the man has been in the institution for so
long that it would be unreasonable one day to take him
out of the institution and put him out on the street where
he finds himself on full parole in amatter of one day or
one hour, which is the way it was done 15 or 20 years ago.
At that time a man would do 12 or 15 years, and then one
day notification would arrive at the institution and he got
a parole. At 9 o’clock in the morning they put a suit on
him and they put him out on the street. So now we have
devised this gradual system, and this is one way in which
day parole is used.

It may also be used in a case where it is felt that the man
is really not a very good bet for full parole, but it is felt
that he should be worked with in the community, at the
same time having some kind of stricter control over him,
with the result that each night or each weekend he goes
back to the institution. At the same time you want to teach
him to work because perhaps his problem is that he has
never held a good job outside; or, on the other hand, he
may be pretty good at getting a job but has never succeed-
ed in keeping one. So you want to teach him that when he
gets a job he must try to keep it. Therefore, you want to
give him the opportunity and at the same time have some
control over him, and you have more contact with him on
day parole than you would have with him if he were on
full parole.

You have these two elements: it can be a kind of testing
period bebore he comes to full parole; or, as I have said,
he may be a person you may not want to put on full
parole, but you would still try to bring him back to the
community gradually.
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The Chairman: Is he released on day parole for a fixed
period?

Mr. Therrien: As an internal policy, the board has decid-
ed to make these decisions three months at a time. For
example, we may have a case where we will say to our-
selves, “Well, we need to know more about him before we
make a decision on full parole, and obviously we will not
learn more about him by having him remain in the institu-
tion, so we will try and get that information by letting him
out on day parole for three months.” Now, this will be the
stricter kind of day parole; he comes back to the institu-
tion every night. After three months we make an assess-
ment of what has happened during the three months, and
if we find he is progressing, we can extend these condi-
tions and we can decide that he need only go back, say,
four or five times a week. Then we may decide that he
need only go back at weekends. You can do this for up to
a year, and there is no law which forces us to do this, but
it is a decision which the board has come to by experi-
ence. We have found that after a man is on such a pro-
gram for a full year, you have to make a decision one way
or the other: either you want him outside or you do not
want him outside, and you have to make up your mind.
You cannot stretch a period like that for two years. The
inmates say that this is more difficult to abide with than
full parole. They say you become schizophrenic, because
at the same time you have to abide by the laws of a free
society. But then you are not really that free because you
have to return to the institution.

The type of practical situation is that you hold a job
during the day, you begin socializing and you make
friends with some of your co-workers. After a few weeks
they say to you, “Tonight my wife and I are going to have
two or three friends in. Will you come?” but he has to
refuse because he is going back to the institution. This is
very rough on inmates. They find this situation very dif-
ficult, more difficult than with full parole.

Senator Hastings: With respect to day parole to a convict-
ed murderer, you consider yourself governed by section
684(3) in granting day parole?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, we would also be governed by a sec-
tion in our regulations which says we have to go to the
Governor in Council.

Senator Hastings: That is the section to which I am
referring.

Mr. Therrien: Well, these are two different matters. We
have had section 684(3) for five years; but at the same time
there is also a section in our regulations which deals with
this situation.

Senator Thompson: I suppose day care implies that the
institution is near to cities where there are opportunities
to work, or to go to university.

Mr. Therrien: As you know, there are more institutions
now than we had five or ten years ago, so it is now easier
to conduct day parole programs than it was five years
ago. If an institution is near a city where there is a pool of
jobs available, usually we use one of the minimum securi-
ty institutions for day parolees. For example, in Quebec
there is a dormitory which accommodates 25 people, and
it is only for day parolees who go out during the day and
return at night, or who go out during the week and return

for the weekend. We can also use community correctional
centres which are springing up across the country, such
as those in Montreal, Toronto, Winnipeg, Saint John, Van-
couver. We use these for day parolees.

Senator Thompson: It would be more advantageous for
the Indian if there was an institution near his type of job
opportunity in the North, so he could trap by day and
return to the institution at night. Job opportunities for
him are very limited in the city, in view of his past experi-
ence, so it is unfair to him.

Mr. Therrien: Well, I do not know what the proportion is,
but some of these people are quite prepared to hold jobs
near the jail where they are incarcerated, obviously
because it is not possible for them to obtain parole in the
region where they usually live. But this is also true for
people in Montreal. For example, in Quebec most of the
institutions are situated near Montreal. The situation is
exactly the same for people who come from the Lac
St-Jean district, the Gaspé, or Three Rivers, where we do
not have federal institutions. They are all centred around
Montreal, so they are in exactly the same situation. If they
are going to get day parole, they will have to work around
these institutions.

Senator Thompson: Do you think it would be advanta-
geous? I am reading this article which appeared in
Maclean’s magazine with the suggestion of mobile prison
units such as on a freight car travelling to a camp. Do you
see any advantage for this particular category of inmates
in providing a lock-up for them near a centre of work to
which they are used?

Mr. Therrien: I have never run a penitentiary or jail
system, but my offhand view would be that I would not
like to have too many of this type of institution. I would be
very much afraid of getting into the business of road
gangs, with too much authority in the hands of too many
supervisors with whom I would not have much contact. I
would be very leery of going into this type of program.
Also, you can never solve all of the problems. How many
of this type of mobile institution would be required?

Senator Thompson: I wish to clarify this point. I do not
mean a work gang such as those that exist in Arizona or
somewhere such as that.

The Chairman: Georgia.

Senator Thompson: I mean facilities for someone who
might be adapted to trapping. We might ask the RCMP to
provide a lock-up where he can serve some of his time, or
a facility such as a boarding house where he can return
and sleep.

Mr. Therrien: How many such institutions would be
necessary to cover the northern areas of the four prov-
inces, or nothern Ontario? I do not know.

Senator Thompson: My point is there are none, but I think
that with imagination we could acquire accommodation
and arrange that it be used as institutions.

Mr. Therrien: But I would still hold to my idea that there
are risks involved in this. I do not think that when these
programs such as road gangs were started in the United
States it was done in order that it would allow brutality.
There is always the risk that these conditions will arise in
this type of program.
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Senator Thompson: I am not speaking of places where
prisoners go to work for contractors, but of a fellow who
is trained, for instance, in trapping, a solitary figure. If
there were flexibility for this, he might go for a month on
his trap line and when he comes back stay in a place
stipulated by the board, which would be designated as a
penitentiary. In actual fact, however, it may be the quar-
ters of the RCMP officer and his wife. This would give
such inmates an opportunity to move outside, but under
supervision.

Mr. Therrien: Such programs are in effect from provin-
cial institutions which are not situated so near the larger
centres in the southern parts of the provinces. There is
nothing to prevent us doing this with the day parole
legislation in existence now. It does not force us to insist
that the men return each night, but from time to time.
They can also be allowed to go out and return to prison
after a specified period. There is nothing to prevent such
an inmate going on his trap line for a month and
returning.

Senator Hastings: I was interested in your reasons for
day parole; you said education and employment, which
are practically the same as the reasons for the temporary
absences which were granted. The general complaint is
that decisions are hard to come by. When the local com-
munity needs help or labour it needs it immediately and
cannot await a decision of your board. You realize that I
am not criticizing you; I know how overworked you are
and how difficult these decisions are to make. What would
you think, however, of giving the day parole decision to
the director and your district representative?

Mr. Therrien: First, I think this could not be done under
the existing law. Secondly, there are certain principles
that must be applied to this. We are discussing releasing
inmates. I do not believe that such decisions to release are
made just because a job becomes available. This is a
decision which is arrived at after making a proper assess-
ment of the case. I do not believe that availability of
employment should exert too great an influence over an
asessment of whether we wish to release an individual,
and I do not believe in making such decisions quickly.
They should be made as quickly as possible, as long as the
proper assessment is made. I believe that the solution to
this will be reached through the program I was explain-

ing, under which we start to work with the man right from
the start.

Actually, I can envisage a system where at some point
you could go to a man rather early in the sentence and tell
hu"a, “Now look_, this is the direction in which you are
going, and we will be prepared to entertain an application
for day parole, for employment or for education, at
approximately that time in your sentence.” There is a
program that he knows about, and it is not a decision that
is made just because some local contractor wants a man
to work on a forklift, or something. I am not going to
change my mind.

Senator Hastings: You do not believe that type of labour
contributes to his rehabilitation?

Mr. Therrien: If there has been an assessment of what the
program is for this man, what the problems are, whether
it will form part of a plan to make a decent or honest
citizen out of him. If it is only a matter of, “Well, it’s too

bad. He has been in prison for three years. There is a job,
and we are going to send him to the job” That is not the
way parole decisions are made.

Senator Hastings: I do not believe in that, either; but
don’t you believe that a director of an institution or a
district representative can make an accurate decision, or
just as accurate a decision as the board, which takes six
or nine months?

Mr. Therrien: Well, it does not take six or nine months: in
most cases the time is four months; in some cases it is less
than that, even for day parole. What has happened in
practice in a number of cases is that the board has been
approached regarding some of these requests when the
job was there. The board has never liked to be asked
today, “Will you release this man tomorrow because there
is a job waiting for him at 9?” The board does not want to
work that way. It has been a problem. Personally I am
going to fight against that. I want to make a proper
assessment. Even with day parole you have first to make
up your mind that the man is not an undue risk for
society. You have to have reports on what assessment was
made of him when he came in, and what he has done in
the right direction since then. You then make a decision
about parole, or even day parole, because the same crite-
ria apply. When you are making a decision about day
parole, you are not thinking in terms of whether or not he
has done enough time. You think in terms of whether it is
going to help his rehabilitation, and whether he consti-
tutes an undue risk for society. Once you satisfy yourself
on these two criteria, you can then start talking about
planning.

The Chairman: Would you say that those criteria are not
applicable to temporary absence for purposes of
rehabilitation?

Mr. Therrien: I think the risk criterion is embodied in
section 26. I am not familiar with it, but I think the risk is
embodied there.

Senator Hastings: If I am a director of an institution
which has had a man for three or four years, along with a
district representative I could make just as accurate a
decision as the Parole Board in Ottawa with respect to
day parole.

Mr. Therrien: I am not saying that it is not possible; I
think it is possible. But to me the facts are that you have
to have at some point one authority that is responsible for
the people in the community. My own feeling on this is
that since we are blamed for all these things, we might as
well be responsible for the decisions.

Senator Thompson: But you are not responsible for the
fellow on temporary leave.

Mr. Therrien: What we were saying about regional boards
might be a partial answer to this.

Senator Thompson: From listening to what has been said,
it seems that economically day parole is a good thing. It
seems a good thing from a rehabilitation aspect, but I am
wondering about the eligibility clause. You may have
someone within that category, and with the rigidity of it
he cannot go out on day parole until he has completed
four years, or wherever it is, of the 10 year sentence. Am I
right in that understanding?
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Mr. Therrien: Except that the Board has an internal rule
which is set out here, which states:

As an internal policy, the Board has decided that it
would not entertain applications for day parole earlier
than one year prior to the eligibility for ordinary
parole.

So, actually, in the case of a man doing three years, for
example, technically he could be released on day parole
from the first day. However, if a man is doing 12 years, he
is eligible for parole at four years. We will not look at a
day parole application unless he has served three years.
We are prepared to try him on day parole for one year,
and then he is eligible for full parole.

Senator Thompson: But an individual serving ten years
would have to be in for nine years before he is eligible for
day parole?

Mr. Therrien: In this case we could not do anything
because of section 2, paragraph 3 of our regulations which
states:

A person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment
to which a sentence of death has been commuted,
either before or after the coming into force of this
subsection, or a person upon whom the sentence of
imprisonment for life has been imposed as a mini-
mum punishment after the coming into force of this
subsection, shall serve the entire term of the sentence
unless, upon the recommendation of the Board, the
Governor-in-Council otherwise directs.

Since we have had this rule there has been no case where
a man has been released on day parole before the 10
years.

Senator Thompson: I understood that in the Truscott case
that boy was allowed out—

Mr. Therrien: He served more than 10 years.
Senator Mcllraith: After 10 years.

Senator Thompson: I thought he was allowed to go to an
outside institution, to some school outside the institution.

Mr. Therrien: That is at the beginning of the sentence. He
was in an institution.

Senator Thompson: I thought he was allowed to go to
school outside the institution.

Mr. Therrien: No, he was inside all the time.

Senator Prowse: But they do go out on temporary
absence permits for educational purposes within the 10-
year period?

Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Thompson: So you can get around it for a fellow
who has to wait for 10 years by calling it temporary
absence as opposed to day parole.

Senator Prowse: No, they do not.
Mr. Therrien: We do not do anything or call it anything.

Senator Mcllraith: There was a legal point raised. The
provision in the Code says, “. .. shall not be released . ..”
and, of course, a temporary absence is a release.

Senator Hastings: That means permanently.
Senator Mcllraith: There was a big argument on that.

The Chairman: there is one more item on parole which I
do not think will take very much time.

Do you just want to read what you have there, Mr.
Therrien?

Mr. Therrien: We were asked to say a few things about
parole for deportation or volumtary departure. The same
things apply to this as to full parole, except that on the
parole certificate the only condition is that the man agrees
not to return to Canada for the duration of his parole. If
he does come back, the penalty is parole revocation.

Senator Prowse: Which means he goes back to jail.
Mr. Therrien: Yes, to serve the balance of his sentence.
The Chairman: The final item is mandatory supervision.

Mr. Therrien: Mandatory supervision applies to all
inmates who are released as a result of 60 or more days of
remission. This, as I said earlier, takes place at about the
two-third mark of the sentence, namely, one quarter of
statutory remission plus three days per month. This
amounts to about one-third of the sentence. The statute is
the Parole Act; The authority is the Parole Act, not the
Parole Board.

The only discretion invested in the Parole Board as far
as mandatory supervision is concerned has to do with the
imposition of conditions. There is a section which says
that we can impose any condition we want on the manda-
tory supervision, notwithstanding that we are not the
authority who decides to release the man. It is the law that
says he is to be released. The conditions are the same as
those for full parole.

If I may, Mr. Chairman, there was a technical point
raised this morning concerning earned remission. The
question was asked as to whether or not it is possible to
lose earned remission. the example that was given was
that if you go out on parole on mandatory supervision,
earned remission is included in your parole time, so you
actully do it on parole. What happen if you commit a
crime and there is a parole forfeiture or a parole revoca-
tion so that you go back to the institution? Earned remis-
sion that was to your credit at the time you were released
on parole is given back to you at that time.

Senator Prowse: When you go back in.
Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Prowse: You get the earned remission but lose
the statutory remission.

Mr. Therrien: You lose about three-quarters of it, because
once you go back for the rest of the time you get a quarter
of the rest.

Senator Hastings: So you are credited with your earned
remission when you return?

Mr. Therrien: That is it.

Senator Hastings: Which applies to mandatory supervi-
sion too.
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Senator Lapointe: Are there any cases of inmates want-
ing to remain in the institution, not wanting to come out?

Mr. Therrien: We have not experienced this yet.
Senator Hastings: There is one in Prince Albers.
Senator Mcllraith: Yes, there is one.

Mr. Therrien: Is he still in, even though his time is up?

Senator Hastings: There is one eligible for parole who
wants to stay; he does not want parole.

Mr. Therrien: That is for parole. There is a fair propor-
tion of people who say they do not want parole at the time
of parole eligibility. Are you talking about mandatory
supervision?

Senator Lapointe: Yes.

Mr. Therrien: I do not know of anyone who has refused to
go. I know of a number who say they do not want to abide
by the conditions or that they will not abide by the
instructions, which then becomes a case for suspending
the mandatory supervision or revocation. I do not know of
anyone who has actually refused. I do not know how this
can be done. The law says you go, so you go.

Senator Prowse: Suppose I am an inmate doing ten years;
I have been a very good boy while in there, but I do not
want any part of parole. What would I get off altogether?
On the statutory, a quarter of it would be two and a half
years; then I would have three years coming to me at that
point, and I would be out after about six and three-quar-
ter years.

Mr. Therrien: Six years and eight months approximately.

Senator Prowse: I go to the end of the time. Under the old
system I would then come out and that would be it. Now
what happens? I come to that point, I go on to this system
and I am now on parole. If I get into any kind of trouble in
the next three years I am brought back to do the rest of
my three years over again.

Mr. Therrien: Yes, the situation you describe is exactly
what is happening.

Senator Prowse: This upsets a lot of prisoners, does it
not? Do you know? I do not suppose I should ask you that
question. I have had some letters on this subject, and I
know Senator Hastings has had a lot of people talk to him,
and also a great many letters, showing that this has really
upset people, because they feel that with this mandatory
supervision the government suddenly took away from
them by this legislation something that had been theirs at
the time they were sentenced; in other words, this does

not apply to people sentenced after mandatory supervi-
sion came into effect.

Mr. Therrien: Oh yes.

Senator Prowse: It applies to everybody in jail at the time
it came into effect.

Mr. Therrien: No.
Senator Hastings: Only those after.

Senator Prowse: It applies only to people sentenced after
this?

Mr. Therrien: August 1, 1970, is the cut-off date. This does
not apply to anyone sentenced in July, 1970. It applies to
those sentenced after August 1, 1970. It means that the
first people who were released were released around
December, 1971, under that scheme.

Senator Hastings: How many were returned in 1972 for
violation of mandatory supervision?

Mr. Therrien: In 1972 there were 58. I know we have
started to look at the situation, and this is not a true rate. I
do not know the exact number of those who have been
released on mandatory supervision since December, 1971,
but I do know that 17 per cent of those who have been
released have been returned since then.

Senator Prowse: That is on mandatory supervision?

Mr. Therrien: Curiously enough, it would be the same
percentage as on full parole.

Senator Hastings: How many of those are revocations
and how many forfeitures?

Mr. Therrien: I do not have these figures here but I could
provide you with these figures.

Senator Lapointe: What is the difference between proba-
tion after imprisonment and mandatory supervision?

Mr. Therrien: That is a good question. I guess that the
authority for mandatory is in the Parole Act; probation
after imprisonment is a decision that a judge has taken.
There is a difference in the sense that if probation is
included in your sentence you are going to be supervised
by a probation officer, who is a provincial employee. If
you are on mandatory supervision, you are going to be
under a parole officer or an after-care agency working for
the Parole Service. About the same conditions will apply,
because in general the conditions that are asked of a
probationer are about the same as those that are asked of
a parolee.

Senator Prowse: The effect is approximately the same; it
is the way in which it happens that is different.

Mr. Therrien: I think it is really a confusion of roles. All
along, probation has been defined as something that you
do instead of imprisonment, and parole is something that
follows imprisonment. But now we have probation
instead of imprisonment and after imprisonment, and
parole after imprisonment, so I do not see the logic of it,
but we live with it.

Senator Lapointe: In some of the briefs it is recommend-
ed that probation after imprisonment be abolished. What
do you think of that?

Mr. Therrien: I am not making the laws. If a man is going
to get a parole during his sentence and at the same time
there will be a probation period, it allows for a longer
period of control by the state. If he gets two and two—two
years in jail and two years probation—and suppose he
gets parole after one year, it means he will be on parole
for one year and then probation starts, so he is going to be
on some kind of control outside for some three years. This
can be achieved through parole laws, too, in many ways.
It may ensure that a man who is not going to get a parole
is going to get some kind of supervision after the sentence.
If you think in terms that only 45 per cent of those who
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apply actually get parole, it means that 55 per cent get out,
and then some are on mandatory; and then the jail case,
for example, some do not get mandatory. For even a short
term, three months, plus two years’ probation, you may
not get parole, but the two years’ probation ensures that
there is some control and assistance for you after you
have finished your jail sentence.

Senator Hastings: You had 5,000 men out on parole on
December 31. How many of those were under mandatory
supervision?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I am not very good at figures; I
think it must be just a few hundred.

Senator Prowse: I think it was 94.
Mr. Therrien: I may have something here.

Senator Hastings: You released about a thousand this
year from penitentiaries. Are we not using the Parole
Service to enforce this mandatory supervision over men
who do not want it and who will not benefit from it?

Mr. Therrien: As you know, parole is often defined—and
this is the way I see it—as control and assistance. They
may not want assistance; they may not want control. It
may be a way that society does exercise some kind of
control over these people, and it may be they represent a
greater risk to society. The experience up to this point,
from talking with the parole officers who have been deal-
ing with people on mandatory, is not so bad. They say that
in general the first interview is bad, the second one, too;
the man is not happy about being forced to go by these
conditions. Then he realizes he has to live with it, and he
starts working. It may be he is the type who does not like
to ask for assistance, but since the guy is there and he has
to come, they are going to talk about something, and they
talk about some of his problems. He finds, “These parole
officers, I thought they were all bad, but they are not so
bad.” It is said that after a few weeks some kind of
relationship is established. I would suspect that after five
years we will find that the percentage of those who break
mandatory is not going to be so much greater than those
who break parole, even though we consider them to be
good risks and so on.

Senator Prowse: As a matter of fact, they should be on
parole.

Mr. Therrien: I have the figures for you here, Senator
Hastings. It is 549 at the end of December, 1972.

Senator Hastings: Do you consider parole an extension of
custody or an extension of freedom, Mr. Therrien?

Mr. Therrien: I think it is a mixture of both, sir.

Senator Prowse: You phrased your question wrongly,
Senator Hastings.

Senator Hastings: Well, you phrase it.

Senator Prowse: All right, I will try. Do you consider
parole an interference with the sentence of the court or an
administrative decision as to how the court sentence is to
be carried out? That is a double-barrelled question which
is probably leading, but let us leave it at that.

Mr. Therrien: I do not consider it an interference with the
court. I would hope that it would be seen as just another

step in the continuum of the administration of justice. I
think we will never get anywhere in the administration of
justice as long as the situation which Senator Hastings
was describing continues to be our life story—the separa-
tion between all the interventions that are made with
respect to an inmate. We are a long way from that. The
different sectors have to meet and talk and realize that
they are all trying to achieve the same end, and that they
are all dealing with the same people; and we have to
arrive at a day when there is some kind of consensus as to
what we want to achieve when we send a man to jail or
put him on probation, or when we keep him in jail or
when we parole him. All these people have to have one
aim in mind, it seems to me.

Senator Hastings: The protection of society.
Mr. Therrien: The protection of society, yes.

Senator Prowse: The other day I was looking at some
figures in the Solicitor General’s report for the last year. I
have not the figures with me, but that does not matter.
They gave the average earnings of parolees, and some of
them were distressingly low.

Do you have any facilities at all? Are there any funds
into which your parole servicemen can reach in order to
give these men financial assistance to get them over dif-
ficult times when they are trying to find a job, other than
directing them to civilian agencies?

Mr. Therrien: I am not too sure if you are talking about
financial assistance.

Senator Prowse: Financial, yes—dollars, money.

Mr. Therrien: There is what we call a parolee fund or
parole fund, where we can make a loan. We do not like to
give money. Frankly, I would not like to be giving money
to these people. I believe in entering into some kind of
contract with them, saying, “Now, look, you are in a bad
spot. It is Friday night. It is five o’clock. There is no way
you can get help or financial assistance. We will make a
loan to you.” So we will lend him $10, $15 or $20, and he
signs a paper agreeing to give it back to us, and then itis a
revolving fund.

Senator Prowse: But you do have a fund of that type?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. But we do not have $2 million per
office.

Senator Prowse: What I am wondering about is this—
various figures have been loosely thrown around, and I do
not wish to argue about what they actually are; but we are
told that it costs roughly $10,000 a year to keep a man in
prison while it costs $500 a year to keep him on parole.
Now, if a man is out of prison and he is unable to live,
might it not be useful for us to take some of that $9,500
that is being saved and make it available to help him over
that first period when he is trying to get established, so
that he will not be readily available to be enticed back into
crime? Do you think some device of this kind might be
useful?

Mr. Therrien: I am not too sure that my own thinking—
and I am going to be very personal here—goes with what
we usually do. I do not believe in setting up specialized
agencies to give money to these people. Our purpose is to
have them become law-abiding, or at any rate like the rest
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of us, and therefore I think that as soon as possible you
should make them use the agencies available and that
they would use if they were not criminals. The other thing
I do not like is to say, “Parole is a good thing because we
save money through it.” If this is going to be a considera-
tion in the measures we take regarding criminals, then I
can find you some very economical measures.

Senator Prowse: Then, let me put it this way: Would we
be doing something useful if we suggested that men in a
penitentiary, whether we pay them wages or not, should
be enabled to build up what they would be doing in
industry—that is, unemployment insurance benefits, and
things of that sort—on which they would be able to draw
from the time they left the penitentiary until they could
get a job? What would your feeling be about that?

Mr. Therrien: I feel great about it. That is what we try to
do through day parole. We send a man out to work, and
we actually try to have some degree of control over his
finances. You set up rules for him, and you say to him,
“Now, you are going to send so much to your wife, and so
much is going to stay there so that when you come out on
full parole you will be able to see ahead of you for a week
or two or three”. We try to do this.

Senator Prowse: If, while they are in jail, we give them
credit for X dollars a day, and then we subtract from that
so many dollars for their cost of living and various other
things like that—contributions to welfare and unemploy-
ment insurance—then, when they came out, they would
have some kind of a balance, perhaps a very small one,
and they would have the same kind of credits as every
other man coming off a job. Would this, in your opinion,
help these people to reintegrate themselves into society in
a useful way?

Mr. Therrien: I think it would counteract some of the bad
feelings you get in an institution where, in some cases,
people really do work hard and at the end of the day there
is $1.25 or 85 cents or something like that to their credit.
Anything that would seem to attach importance to the
work that they do would be useful. It is all right to say,
“You work because you have been sentenced to work, but
there is a value attached to work too on the outside.”
Some of these people have been working only when in
institutions, and if we leave them with the impression that
they work only because they are forced to, and if they do
not get too much pay for it, then when the man is outside,
work is associated with something that he is forced to do
and it is not something he does because he wants to do it.

In France they have a system somewhat along these
lines. In some institutions they pay the kind of salary they
would get on the outside, but then certain rules are
imposed as to how they may use it. If I remember correct-
ly, one-third of it will go for restitution, for example, if
that has been ordered by the judge; one-third of it can be
sent out to his wife or his family; and the remaining
one-third has to stay there as, what they call, un pécule. I
do not know what the word is in English, but that
becomes his going-out money.

Senator Lapointe: Is it true that judges are imposing
longer sentences now because they know that parole will
have the effect of shortening the sentence?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I could not say on what the judges
base their sentences. I do not know that they do this. I
know it would be illegal.

The Chairman: But it has been suggested.

Senator Quart: And it has been reported in the newspa-
pers, too.

Senator Prowse: It has been admitted.

Senator Quart: Mr. Therrien, have women committed
more crimes within the last year or two than they did
previously?

Mr. Therrien: Well, it does not seem to show in the popu-
lation. I do not think the population of women in institu-
tions has increased to any degree. I know that just like the
boys, a number of girls are in institutions for a new type
of offence, drug offences. But it does not seem to have
increased the population very significantly.

Senator Quart: Do you have as many women as men
return on a second offence after being paroled?

Mr. Therrien: They seem to return at about the same rate.

Senator Quart: I may be very unpopular among members
of my sex in saying this, but I read a report last week—
and I wish I had kept it—that in the United States
research indicates that as a result of the women’s libera-
tion movement crimes committed by women have
increased with all this permissiveness.

Senator Prowse: No, no, the convictions of women.

Senator Quart: Well, they have to commit something to
be convicted.

Senator Prowse: They used to be chivalrous to women,
but women do not want chivalry any more.

Senator Quart: We do, too. Certain types of women may
not want chivalry, but I do. That article was in the paper
last week. I am serious about this.

The Chairman: Your complaint is that the women’s lib.
movement has not been as successful in Canadal!

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, I submit this is not really
our business. We have troubles enough. I think the
women’s lib. movement has been very successful in
Canada.

Senator Quart: I don’t.

During the war and after World War II various service
clubs, such as the Kiwanis and Rotary, used to offer to
take up to six or ten men for their weekly meetings. Could
we not ask these service clubs to co-operate and help in
the rehabilitation of prisoners? At the end of the war
many of these men found positions by chatting with some
of these businessmen.

Mr. Therrien: This is being done. We are moving more
and more into situations such as this under the general
heading of ‘“community involvement,” where we are
trying to involve not only the so-called experts, but people
gn_lthe outside who can help a man when he comes out of
jail.

I can cite you one example where we conducted a day
parole program out of Dorchester. The Junior Chamber
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of Commerce supplied cars for a whole year. A man from
the Junior Chamber of Commerce would come to the
institution in the morning and take a few of our people
into Moncton to work; and another man would round
them up at night and take them back to Dorchester. This
kind of situation is very useful. Some of the people in the
institutions do not believe this before they see it, but some
people in the community are interested. We hear a lot of
criticism from people who say, “Don’t release them,” but
there are people who do things to help others. Usually
they are not too vocal about it; they prefer to do things
rather than talk about it.

Senator Prowse: People are shy rather than reluctant.

Senator Quart: But if they attended some of these service
club meetings it would give them a friendly feeling and
they would see how stupid some of these clubs are for

fining the men for not calling each other by their first
names! I do not know, it is just an idea.

May I ask to delete the word “stupid” with regard to
service clubs? I am all for them. I spoke too quickly. I
think they are wonderful. The camaraderie and informal-
ity of these clubs would help them to adjust to society
again.

Senator Hastings: May I express our thanks to Mr. Ther-
rien for a very informative afternoon?

I move we now adjourn.

The Chairman: The committee stands adjourned until
tomorrow, March 7, at 2 o’clock.

The committee adjourned.
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APPENDIX “A”

Statement for Senate Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 6, 1973

Legal Provisions for the "Conditional' Release
of "Offenders"

In accordance with Mr. Jubinville's memorandum
of February 27th to Mr. Cuthbertson the following matters
are dealt with in this statement.

1% Bail - Pre-trial, Awaiting Appeal

When a person is accused of committing an offence
he may be compelled to appear in court either by summons,
police process or warrant of arrest. The peace officer may
also arrest without warrant a person whom he has reasonable

and probable grounds to believe has committed an indictable
offence.

When the accused is required to appear in court
by means of a summons, he is not taken into custody and remains
free until the completion of his trial. A person who is
arrested and detained before his trial has the right to
pre-trial release in certain circumstances. The onus of
showing that an accused person should continue in custody
until completion of his trial is on the prosecutor. The
justice or judge may order the detention of the accused on
two grounds only. These are as follows:

(a) on the primary ground that his detention is
necessary to ensure his attendance in court
in order to be dealt with according to law;
and

(b) on the secondary ground that his detention
is necessary in the public interest or for
the protection or safety of the gublic, having
regard to all the circumstances including any
substantial likelihood that the accused will,
if he is released from custody, commit a
criminal offence involving serious harm or an
interferénce with the administration of justice.
The secondary ground applies only after it
has been determined that his detention is not
justified on the primary ground.

258744
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If the prosecutor does not show cause why the
detention of the accused in custody is justified or why
conditions and sureties should be given in addition to a
recognizance, the justice must release the accused on his
simple undertaking to appear for his trial unless it is an
offence of murder or punishable by death.

Attached is Appendix "A", a more detailed
explanation in relation to pre-trial release and detention
of accused persons.

2. Remand

To remand an accused means to order some type of
temporary postponement of the proceedings against him. For
example, on his first appearance an accused may be remanded
to a particular date to plead to the offence, he may be
remanded to another date to fix a date for his trial and then
remanded again to the date fixed for his trial. He may be
remanded in or out of custody depending upon whether or not
in the pre-trial release procedure described above he has
been permitted to be at large. In the case of a remand for
a mental examination he is always remanded in custody and
for a period not exceeding thirty days, or sixty days if
there is supporting evidence from a doctor. This can occur
either at the preliminary inquiry, on the trial of either an
indictable offence or a summary conviction offence, or on
an appeal.

(a) Section of Statute Involved

Sections 465, 471, 608.2, 738(5),(6), 457.1,
457.3 of the Criminal Code.

(b) Deciding Authority
The deciding authority is the judge or justice
having jurisdiction over the case at the time
of the remand.

(c) Degree of Discretion

In the case of remands other than for a mental
examination there is a wide degree of discretion
except that generally speaking a remand may not
be for more than eight days unless the accused

1s not in custody and he and the prosecutor
consent to the proposed adjournment. In the case
of a remand for a mental examination there must
be supporting evidence of at least one duly
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(d)

3.

qualified medical practitioner unless there
are special circumstances.

Conditions of the Release

These are determined in the case of remands
prior to and during trial by the release
procedure already outlined. In the case of
remands for mental examination the person is
not released.

Suspended Sentence

The court may suspend the passing of sentence for

a specified period of time during which the person convicted

is free subject to an Order of Probation. If, during that
period of time, he commits an offence or breaches the Order

of Probation, in addition to any punishment that may be imposed
for that act, he may also be required to appear before the
court again to be sentenced for the original offence.

(a)

(b)

(<)

(d)

25874—-4"

Section of Statute Involved

Section 663(1)(a), section 664(4) Criminal
Code.

Deciding Authority

The deciding authority is the court having
jurisdiction in the particular case.

Degree of Discretion

Section 663 requires the court to have '"regard
to the age and character of the accused, the
nature of the offence and the circumstances
surrounding its commission".

Conditions of Release

Section 663(2) sets out the conditions of
release in a Probation Order and is as follows:

"(2) The following conditions shall be
deemed to be prescribed in a probation order,
namely, that the accused shall keep the peace
and be of good behaviour and shall appear
before the court when required to do so by the
court, and, in addition, the court may prescribe
as conditions in a probation order that the
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accused shall do any one or more of the
following things specified in the order,
namely,

(a) report to and be under the super-
vision of a probation officer or other
person designated by the court;

(b) provide for the support of his spouse
or any other dependants who he is liable
to support;

(c) abstain from the consumption of alcohol
either absolutely or on such terms as the
court may specify;

(d) abstain from owning,possessing or
carrying a weapon;

(e) make restitution or reparation to any
person aggrieved or injured by the commission
of the offence for the actual loss or damage
sustained by that person as a result thereof;

(f) remain within the jurisdiction of the
court and notify the court or the probation
officer or other person designated under
paragraph (a) of any change in his address or
his employment or occupation;

(g) make reasonable efforts to find and
maintain suitable employment; and

(h) comply with such other reasonable
conditions as the court considers desirable
for securing the good conduct of the accused
and for preventing a repetition by him of the
same offence or the commission of other
offences".

4. Probation

(a) Ordinary - the statement concerning probation
on suspended sentence applies in this case.

) (b) Following imprisonment. Section 663(1)(b)
provides that in addition to fining the accused or sentencing
him to imprisonment, whether in default of payment of the
fine or otherwise, for a term not exceeding two years, the
court may direct that the accused comply with the conditions
prescribed in the Probation Order. As in the case of breach
of Probation Order on a suspended sentence such breach
amounts to an offence under section 666 of the Criminal Code.
However where the Probation Order follows upon a sentence of
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imprisonment and the accused is convicted of an offence
including an offence under section 666 he may also be
required to appear before the court which may alter the
conditions of the Probation Order or extend its operation
for a period not exceeding one year.

S& W 0. Absolute and Conditional Discharge

Absolute and conditional discharge may be applied
to accused persons other than corporations and only for
offences other than those for which a minimum punishment
is prescribed by law, punishable by imprisonment for 14
years, or for life, or by death. If the accused is discharged
absolutely it means he is free to go without any conditions
attached to his release. If he is given a conditional
discharge he is placed under a Probation Order. In neither
case is he convicted of tke offence. Should he breach the
Probation Order this amounts to an offence in itself, and
he may also have his conditional discharge revoked and be
convicted of and sentenced for the offence with which he
was originally charged. Generally speaking the consequences
of breach of a Probation Order in the case of a conditional
discharge are the same as those in the case of any other
breach of Probation Order.

(a) Section of Statute Involved

Section 662 and 662.1 Criminal Code.

(b) Deciding Authority

The court having jurisdiction in the case.

(c) Degree of Discretion

The court may order an absolute or conditional
discharge where the accused pleads guilty or
has been found guilty "if it considers it to be
in the best interests of the accused and not
contrary to the public interest".

(d) Conditions of Release

There are no conditions attached to an absolute
discharge. In the case of a conditional discharge
the conditions are those specified in the Order

of Probation and thke breach of that order has

the usual consequences.
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y i Fines (In Default of Payment - Imprisonment)

Particular statutes may provide for imprisonment
in default of payment of fine. 1In addition there is a general
provision in the Criminal Code that where a fine is imposed
and no provision is made for imprisonment in default that
the court may order in default of payment that the defendant
be imprisoned for a period of not more than six months. The
court may also direct that the fine be paid forthwith or
within such time and on such terms and conditions as the
court may fix. The court may not direct that the fine be
paid forthwith unless it is satisfied that the convicted
person has sufficient means to enable him to pay the fine at
once, upon being asked whether he desires time to make
payment the convicted person does not request such time, or
for any other special reasons the court deems it expedient
that no time be allowed. The minimum time to be allowed is
14 days. If the time allowed expires and payment has not
been made the court may issue a warrant for the committal
of the accused unless the person has appeared and applied for
an extension of time. Where there has been part payment of
the fine the term of imprisonment is reduced proportionately.

(a) Section of Statute Involved

Section 722, section 646, section 650
Criminal Code.

(b) Deciding Authority
The court imposing the sentence has the
authority.

(c) Degree of Discretion

The discretion has been described above and
is found in section 722(4) and section 646(5)
of the Criminal Code.

(d) Conditions of Release

Tbere are no conditions other than that the
fine be paid forthwith or within such time
as is allowed.

8. Intermittent Sentences

Where the court imposes a sentence of 90 days or
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less it may order that the sentence be served intermittently
at such times as are specified in the order and direct

that the accused at all times when he is not in confinement
comply with the conditions prescribed in a Probation Order.
The convicted person is, therefore, subject to all the
consequences of being under a Probation Order that apply in
the case of anyone else.

(a) Section of Statute Involved

Section 663(1)(c) Criminal Code.

(b) Deciding Authority
The court having jurisdiction in the particular
case.

(¢c) Degree of Discretion

There is no limit on the discretion permitted.

(d) Conditions of Release

These are determined by the terms of the Order
of Probation and the order requiring that the
sentence be served intermittently.

9. & 10. Pardons and Amdesty

Although covered by the Criminal Code this is really
under the jurisdiction of the Department of the Solicitor
General. Free and conditional pardons are governed by section
683 of the Criminal Code.

gi: Other Releases

Under section 617 of the Criminal Code the Minister
of Justice may on application order a new trial or a hearing
by the Court of Appeal in the case of a person who has been
convicted. Where such an order is made the person in custody
and serving a sentence may apply for release pending the
determination of the new trial or the appeal. The terms and
conditions of his release in such case would be similar to those
that he would obtain in a case of release granted in the course
of '‘initial trial proceedings.

S.F. Sommerfeld
D.R. Watson
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ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX “A”

1) ~Bail~=~Pre~trial-and-Awaiting Appeal

~Section~of-Statute~Involved

Pre-trial - Part XIV of the Criminal Code,

Awaiting Appeal from Indictable Offence - Section 608 of
the Criminal Code.

Awaiting Appeal from Summary Conviction Offence - Section 752
of the Criminal Code.

Deciding Authority

Pre-trial - (1) Police officer in charge of lock-up -
See Section 453 of the Criminal Code,

(2) Justice - See Section 457 of the
Criminal Code.

(3) Sunerior Court .Judge - See Section 457,7
of the Criminal Code,

Awaiting Appeal - (4) from indictable offence - .Tudge of
the Court of Apbneal,

(5) from summary conviction offence -
Justice,

Degree of Discretion

(1) Pre-trial by officer in charge of lock-up - If not
a serious offence (ie. punishable by imprisonment
for five years or less), he must release unless he
believes detention is necessary in the public interest
or he believes accused will fail to attend court -
for other offences, discretion to release or detain
and bring before justice as soon as possible,

£2) Pre-trial by justice - He must release accused on
his undertaking without conditions if offence is
other than one mentioned in Section 457,7 of the
Criminal Code (eg. murder, treason, sky-jacking)
unless accused pleads guilty, prosecutor shows cause

ort:ccused is reauired to be detained for some other
matter.
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(3)

(4)

(5)

Superior Court Judge (s.457.7) - May release
accused unless prosecutor shows cause why detention
is necessary,

Judge of the Court of Appeal - In case awaiting
appeal from indictable offence, may release if
accused establishes his apreal is not frivolous,
he will surrender when required, and his detention
is not necessary in the public interest,

Justice must release accused in appeal from summary
conviction offence uron his entering into an
undertaking or recognizance,

Conditions of Release

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Pre-trial by officer in charge of lock-un: on
simple promise to anpear, or on recognizance un

to $500,00 without sureties or without conditions,
(Cash devosit un to $500.00 if not resident of the
province or within 100 miles of place of detention,)

Pre-trial by justice: on undertaking or recognizance
with or without both conditions and sureties but
without cash deposit, (Cash devosit if not resident
of the province or within 100 miles of place of
detention.)

Pre-trial by Superior Court Judge: on undertaking
or recognizance with sureties, conditions and cash
deposit.

Judge of Court of Appeal awaiting appneal on
indictable offence: on undertaking or recognizance
with conditions, sureties and cash deposit,

Justice in case Awaiting Appeal in summary conviction
offence: same as (2) above.

Conditions may include:

(a)

report at times to be stated in the order to a peace
officer or other pnerson designated in the order:
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

remain within a territorial jurisdiction specified
in the order;

notify the peace officer or other person designated
under paragraph (a) of any change in his address
or his employment or occupation;

abstain from communicating with any witness or
other person exnressly named in the order excent in
accordance with such conditions snecified in the
order as the justice deems necessary-

where the accused is the holder of a passnort,
deposit his passport as specified in the order: and

comnly with such other reasonable conditions
specified in the order as the justice considers
desirable.
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APPENDIX “B”
CANADIAN PENITENTIARY SERVICE

Measures Relating to the Release of Inmates and to the Temporary

Leave of Absence Program

STATUTORY REMISSION

Statute:
Penitentiary Act, Sections 22 and 23.

Section 22:

(1) Every person who is sentenced or committed to penitentiary
for a fixed term shall, upon being received intc a peni-
tentiary, be credited with statutory remission amounting to
one-quarter of the period for which he has been sentenced
or committed as time off subject to good conduct.

(2) Every inmate who, on the 1lst day of April 1962, was serving
a sentence for a fixed term shall be credited with statu-
tory remission amounting to one-quarter of the period
remaining to be served under his sentence, without preju-
dice to any statutory remission standing to his credit
immediately prior to the 1lst day of April 1962.

(3) Every inmate who, having been credited with statutory
remission, is convicted in disciplinary court of any
disciplinary offence is liable to forfeit, in whole or
in part, the statutory remission that remains to his
credit, but no such forfeiture of more than thirty days
shall be valid without the concurrence of the Ccmmissioner
or an officer of the Service designated by him, nor more
than ninety days without the concurrence of the Minister.

(4) Every inmate who is convicted by a criminal court of the
offence of escape, attempt to escape or being unlawfully
at large forthwith forfeits three-quarters of the statutory
remission standing to his credit at the time that offence
was committed.

(5) Statutory remission credited pursuant to this section to a
person who is sentenced or committed to penitentiary for a
fixed term shall be reduced by the maximum amount of
statutory remission with which that person was at any time
credited under the Prisons and Reformatories Act in
respect of a term of imprisonment that he was serving at
the time he was so sentenced or committed.

Section 23:

The Commissioner or an officer of the Service designated by him
may, where he is satisfied that it is in the interest of the
rehabilitation of an inmate, remit any forfeiture of statutory
remission but shall not remit more than ninety days of forfeited
statutory remission without the approval of the Minister.



: 60

Legal and Constitutional Affairs March 6, 1973

Deciding Authority:

This procedure is governed by the Act.

Discretion Permitted by the Statute:

a) No discretion is allowed by law with reference to the
crediting of Statutory Remission.

b) Discretion is permitted by law for forfeiture of
Statutory Remission and also for the remission of
forfeited Remission time.

Conditions of Release:

A record is maintained in the case of each inmate listing
credits and debits. The date of release is based on the
number of days of Statutory Remission remaining to his
credit and deducted from the term of the sentence.

NOTES :

a) This Statute is not applicable in the case of inmates
serving life sentences.

b) Statutory Remission may be forfeited in whole or in
part, if an inmate is convicted by an Institutional
Disciplinary Board of a disciplinary offence. It is
also forfeited if an inmate is convicted of escape,
attempt to escape,or being unlawfully at large. In
this case the forfeiture amounts to three-quarters of
the Statutory Remission standing to his credit at the
time the offence was committed.
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EARNED REMISSION

Statute:
Penitentiary Act, Section 24.

Section 24:

(1) Every inmate may be credited with three days remission
of his sentence in respect of each calendar month during
which he has applied himself industriously, as determined
in accordance with any rules made by the Commissioner
in that behalf, to the program of the penitentiary in
which he is imprisoned.

(2) Upon being committed to a penitentiary pursuant to section
20 or 21 of the Parole Act, an inmate shall be credited
with earned remission equal to the earned remission that
stood to his credit pursuant to any Act of the Parliament
of Canada at the time his parole or mandatory supervision
was revoked or forfeited.

Deciding Authority:

The Commissioner of Penitentiaries, through delegation to
the Institutional Inmate Grading Board.

Discretion Permitted by the Statute:

The crediting of Earned Remission is governed by an evaluation
by the Inmate Grading Board of the inmates efforts and attitude
towards the programs of the institution in which he is
imprisoned.

Conditions of Release:

Earned Remission credits are recorded in the case of each
inmate and added to his Statutory Remission credits to be
counted towards his date of release.

NOTES:

a) Earned Remission cannot be forfeited after it has been
earned and credited.

b) Earned Remission is recorded in the case of all inmates
including those serving life sentences.
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TEMPORARY ABSENCE

Statute:
Penitentiary Act, Section 26.

Section 26:

Where, in the opinion of the Commissioner or the officer in
charge of a penitentiary, it is necessary or desirable that an
inmate should be absent, with or without escort, for medical or
humanitarian reasons or to assist in the rehabilitation of the
inmate, the absence may be authorized from time to time

(a) by the Commissioner, for an unlimited period for medical
reasons and for a period not exceeding fifteen days for
humanitarian reasons or to assist in the rehabilitation
of the inmate, or

(b) by the officer in charge, for a period not exceeding
fifteen days for medical reasons and for a period not
exceeding three days for humanitarian reasons or to
assist in the rehabilitation of the inmate.

Deciding Authority:

a) The Commissioner of Penitentiaries may grant such absences
for an unlimited period for medical reasons and a maximum
of 15 days for humanitarian and rehabilitative reasons.

b) The Officer in charge of a Penitentiary has the authority
for a maximum of 15 days for medical reasons, and a maxi-
mum of 3 days for humanitarian and rehabilitative reasons.

Discretion Permitted by the Statute:

The Statute permits discretion to the deciding authorities
in determining the necessity or desirability for an inmate
to be absent, with or without escort, for medical or humani-
tarian reasons or to assist in the rehabilitation of the
inmate and also allows discretion as to the frequency of
such temporary absences.

Conditions of the Granting of Temporary Absence Permits:

The case of each inmate is considered on its own merit. In

cases of Temporary Absence for medical reasons, the medical
authorities determine the necessity for granting such leave.

In cases of temporary absence for humanitarian or rehabilita-
tive reasons, each application is considered by the Institutional
Classification Board and approved by the Director if within his

authgrity or by the Commissioner of Penitentiaries as the case
may be.
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PROVINCIAL PROGRAMS
¢ (A The Prisons and Reformatories Act provides for similar legal

measures as applicable to the Canadian Penitentiary Service.

2. The Statutes governing are as follows:

a) Statutory Remission: Prisons and Reformatories Act,

Section 17.

Section 17:
(1) Every person who is sentenced or committed by a judge,

(2)

(3)

(%)

(5)

magistrate or justice of the peace to imprisonment for
a fixed term in a place of confinement other than a
penitentiary shall, upon being received therein, be
credited with statutory remission amounting to one-
quarter of the fixed term for which he has been
sentenced or committed as time off subject to good
conduct.

Every prisoner who, having been credited with remission
pursuant to subsection (1), commits any breach of the
prison regulations is, at the discretion of the person
by whom the breach is determined to be committed,
liable to forfeit, in whole or in part, the statutory
remission that stands to his credit.

Every prisoner who is convicted by a judge, magistrate
or justice of the peace of the offence of escape,
attempt to escape or being unlawfully at large forthwith
forfeits three-quarters of the statutory remission
standing to his credit at the time that offence was
committed.

An official designated by the Lieutenant Governor of the
province in which a prisoner is confined may, where he
1s satisfied that it is in the interest of the rehabi-
litation of the prisoner, remit in whole or in part any
forfeiture of statutory remission.

Notwithstanding subsection (1), no prisoner shall be
credited with statutory remission that would reduce the
term of his imprisonment.to less than fourteen days.

b) Earned Remission: Prisons and Reformatories Act,

Section 18.

Section 18:

(1)

Every person who is sentenced or committed by a judge,
magistrate or justice of the peace to imprisonment in
a place of confinement other than a penitentiary may
be credited with three days remission of his sentence
in respect of each calendar month during which he has
applied himself industriously, as determined in accor-
dance with any rules made by the Lieutenant Governor
of the province in which the person is imprisoned, to
the program of the place of confinement in which he is
imprisoned.
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(2) Upon being committed to a place of confinement, other
than a penitentiary, pursuant to section 20 to 21 of
the Parole Act, a prisorer shall be credited with
earned remission equal to the earned remission that
stood to his credit at the time his parole or manda-
tory supervision was revoked or forfeited.

Temporary Absence: Prisons and Reformatories Act,
Section 36.

Section 36:

Where, in the opinion of an official designated by the
Lieutenant Governor of the province in which a prisoner is
confined in a place other than a penitentiary, it is
necessary or desirable that the prisoner should be absent,
with or without escort, for medical or humanitarian reasons
or to assist in the rehabilitation of the prisoner at any
time during his period of imprisonment, the absence of the
prisoner may be authorized from time to time by such official
for an unlimited period for medical reasons and for a period
not exceeding fifteen days for humanitarian reasons or to
assist in the rehabilitation of the prisoner.
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TEMPORARY ABSENCES GRANTED FOR 1972

SPRINGHILL
DORCHESTER -«
DORCHESTER FARM ANNEX

BLUE MOUNTAIN CORRECTIONAL CAMP

Pair TOWN CENTER
CARLETON CENTER
REGIONAL TOTAL

ST. HUBERT CENTER

ST. VINCENT DE PAUL
REGIONAL RECEPTION CENTER
REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
LAVAL MINIMUM INSTITUTION
FEDERAL TRAINING CENTER
ARCHAMBAULT

ST. ANN& DES PLAINES
COWANSVILLE

SPECIAL CORRECTIONAL UNIT
LECLERC

REGIONAL TOTAL

Jan., Feb., Mar. Apr.
96 73 112 69
1 9 10 8
B 16 20 XS
25 . 18 35\ "y

223

z 2 28 37

73 104 158 149
76 26 80 100
5 5 17 68

6 7 13 14

36 4, 88 42
0 3 14 13

L7 46 95 83

68
18
27
148

758
32

170

16
35
89
38
131

June July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Total
107 122 145 150 . LHL 101 101 1301
22 9 15 19 9 ! 19 s
16 22 10 6 13 10 2L 196
196 ‘130 ‘167 80 42 13 b 907
0 9 58 67

(0] 2 14 16

2039

88l - 385 1337 352 369 303 303 3314
27 28 33 2, 22 2 4 251
29 18 3 L8

124, 118 158 330 =8 99 - VR8s 136L
66 67 53 74 . 61 26 68 701
16 <26 31 20 22 0 3 209
110 130 8L 389 . 21 19 5 482
192 96 192 118 165 176 250 1488
/4 5 2 3 7 1 7 95
168 149 160 180 116 57 184 1410
9418,
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BRITISH COLUMBIA

WILLIAM HEAD

GRIERSON CENTER

OSKANA CENTER

MATSQUI :

WEST GEORGIA CENTER
REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
AGASSIZ CORRECTIONAL CAMP

REGIONAL. TOTAL

TOTAL OF TEMPORARY ABSENCES GRANTED FOR 1972

Number of inmates who failed to return: 285

Number of crimes committed: 58
These crimes were committed by 57

inmates, one inmate accounted for

2 crimes, namely theft

Number of inmates still at large 57

21
162

764

62,317

18
177

837

181

L5
178

993

257

12
94

843
L6l

147

23
260

1151
504

352

12
175

1335
357

470

163
59
1164
469

527

12
122

178
1242
472

253

8l
6
239
945
529

336

1 I 7
250 316
40 412
252 172
413 447
325 179
231 276
15-1-73

16
270
422
159
477
192

361

171
2251
896
1059
10611
3491

3476
33129
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NO. OF TEMPOiARY ABSENCES GRANTED
N A REGULAR BASIS ON NOVs=MBER 30, 1972

Pre-release Rerular Educational Qther Total
Emnloyment Employment Proposes
ATLANTIC

Minimums Dorchester Farm Annex 0 1 0 0 1
Medium: Springhill Institution 0 0 J: 0 i
Maximums Dorchester Penitentiary 0 0 0 0 0
C.C.C.% Carleton Correctional Centre 0 0 0 0 0

Parr Towvm Correctional Centre 0 3 0 2 -
ry P i b 2 7
Minimums St. Anne des Plaines 0 0 0 L 1
Laval Minimum Institution 0 0 1 0 -]
Mediums Federal Training Centre 0 0 0 0 0
Cowansville Institution 0 0 0 0 0
Leclerc Institution 0 0 0 0 0
Maximums Quebec Regional Medical Centre 0 0 0 0 Y
Quebec Reception Centre 0 0 0 0 0
Archambault Institution 0 0 0 0 0
Special Correctional Unit 0 0 0 1 1

C.C.C.: St. Hubert Centre 27 16 2 9. 54
27 16 3 11 57

89°1
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AS AT NOVEMBER 30,

JEMPORARY ABSENCES 1972

NTARIO

Minimums

Mediums

C'C.C.=

WESTERN

Millhaven Minimum

Collins Bay Farm Annex

Landry Crossing Correctional Camp

Beaver Creek Correctional Camp
Joyceville Farm Annex

Collins Bay Institution
Joyceville Institution
Warkworth Institution

Regional Medical Centre (Ont)
Regional Reception Centre (Ont)
Millhaven Institution

Prison for Women

Kingston Service Centre

Montgomery Correctional Centre

Stony Mountain Farm Annex
Saskatchewan Farm Annex

William Head Institution
Agassiz Correctional Camp

Pre-release

0 0 O O OoOlinsd e\ w o 0 o -

—

N
o

& H B o

Regular Educational Other

Employment Emoployment Purposes

W P

| Sl
2L @ OF.C O &

N wido o ailo o

1
\)IOO-P'OOOOOO\U\OONO

O 9 o ~

Total
0 2
1 L
0
3 17
12 25
1 8
0 0
2 L
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 15
0 0
52 Ab
19 90
1 2
1 2
10 21
0 20
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AS AT NOVEMBER 30, TEMPORARY ABSENCES 1972

WESTERN

Medium:

C«C.Ce:

(Cont'd)

Stony Mountain Institution
Drumheller Institution

Matsqui Institution

Mountain Prison

Saskatchewan Penitentiary
British Columbia Penitentiary
Regional Medical Centre (Western)
Osborne Centre

Oskana Centre

Scarboro Correctional Centre
Grierson Correctional Centre
West CGeorgia Correctional Centre

Burrard Correctional Centre

Pre-release

Emnlovment
0
&
10
0
0
0
0
0
3
6
5
5
o
36
TOTL: 89

Regular Educational Other

Employment Pranposes

oo
& P

Eglra e W o e ofto W

W
C,!k. N H NN OO O O O ©O wo w

I

33
12

o O 0 (@)

o

:
£

Total

13

14
9.1
20

219

0L T
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T.i. PROGRAN
LIFERS (Convicted of €adpital or Non-Capital murder
from list submitted to. Cabinet on 21{-12-72)
REGIONAL TOTALS
Region No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. | Average No. of Nights | Parole Consid
1 Iamates l Spent In
b.tob. | Reg. |[mededuckrorkpther | Comn. Last. Yes No
ATLANTIC 15 2 2 1lis ol 4
u avge.e '
5 nights/wk i
QUEBEC 11 1 0 L “~ jsleeps in i
institution
ONTARIO 22 6 i 1 2147 .5 & 2 sleep 19sleep in | 1O b
out avg.
5 nights/w}
WESTERN 28 3 22z 2116 | -7~ | 3 sleep 22 sleep in | 1% i
out avg..
4 nights/wlt
T
TOTAL 76 12 891 Is1 54270 X8 sleg 29 22
of 76 Lifers, 67 sleep
in josticdtion 7 nichtd
per week.| 9 sleep an
average off 4.7 nights
per week in the communilty.

It is to be noted that 25 inmates are receiving T.A. on an irrepgular basis.

8.

2.73

€L6T ‘9 YdIBIN
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T.A. PROGRAM
LIFERS (Convicted of Capital or Non-Capital murder
from list submitted to Cabinet on 21-12-73)

REGION: ATLANTIC

Institution| No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. HAverage No. of Nights [Parole Consid.
Inmates Spent In
b.to b¥ | Reg# med%duﬁgork ther Comm. 'Inst. Yes No
SPRINGHILL 7 ik 0 0 X 0 0 3 nights 4 nights 1 Your) Iifars
on T.A.
DORCHESTER PEN. 2 0 0 o| o] of o 0 0 program. They

spend an average

of—fivemights
DOR. FARM ANNEX 5 0 2 0 0 2 0 6 1 2 per week in

the community.

PARR TOWN CENTRE : 4 1 0 0 0 i 0 5 2 h 5

TOTAL 15 2 2 0 s 3 0 4

*Note: b.to b. - back to back
Reg. - regular

8.2.73

SL T
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A. PROGRAM

T.A.
LIFERS

(Convicted of Capital or Non-Capital murder

from list submitted to Cabinet on 21-12-72)

REGION:

QUEBEC

Institution No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. | Average No. of Nights | Parole Consid.
Inmates Spent In
b.tob. | Reg. |mededucworkpther | Comm. Inst. Yes No

= E

LECLERC 6 One lifer
on T.A.

COWANSVILLE 2
program,
Inmate sleeps

ST. HUBERT 1 1 1 7 1 PERFSS | I
in the Inst.

LAVAL MIN. SEC. INST. 1

FED. TRAINING CENTRE b

TCTAL 8 1 0 0 0 & 0 1

8.2.73
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LIFERS (Convicted of Capital or Non-Capital murder

PRUGRANM

from list submitted to Cabinet on 21-12-72)

bL

SIregy Teuonnjnsuo) pue Tesot

REGION: ONTARIO
Institution No. of Type of Prog. Purpose of T.A. Average No. of Nights Parole Consid.
Inmates Spent In
b.to. b. Reg. mededucworkiother Comm. Inst. Yes No
WARKWORTH 7 0 7 7 all 7 2 5
nights in
PRISON FOR WOMEN 3 ) & 2 3 1-3 nights 2 in Inst 0 3
in comm.
LANDRY CROSSING T : 5 7 z “ig“ts v
CORRECTIONAL CAMP ROADEL
JOYCEVILLE 3 3 1 2 7 nights 2 3
in Inst.
. v 1 in,
COLLINS BAY 4 2 1 2 3 3 nights 2 “
comm. 7 g bt
nights 3
JOYCEVILLE FARM 2 1 0 1 1 ::;:cz in »
ANNEX
BEAVER CREEK > B 0 1 i znn§§2zs 1 0
CORRECTIONAL CAMP »
MILLHAVEN ANNEX 1 0 1 1 S PLENEE 3
in Inst.
TOTAL lC 1%
TOTAL 22 6 15- 1 2 7 0 % 7 *0f 2) Lifers - 19 spend nights in
institution - 2 average 5 nights per week

] 5% 5
n—tne—communTty

€L6T ‘9 UdIEIN



T.A. PROCRAM

LIFERS (Convicted of Capital or Non-Capital murder
from list submitted to Cabinet on 21-12-72)

REGION: WESTERN

No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. | Average No. of Nights | Parole Consid.
Instirution Inmates | [ L Spent In
b.tob. | Reg. |mededucworkpther | Comm. Inst. Yes No
MOUNTAIN PRISON s 5 O T o L E LA R 2
7 nights
10 2 1l spends 2| 9 1live in 2
MATSQUI 11 " 7 HIEhER out 8
DRUMHELLER 2 2 1 1 all live in| 2 0
STONY MOUNTAIN .| 2 1 b} all 1live in 2 1
WILLIAM HEAD 2 2 1 X all live in| 2 0
GRIERSON 1 1 b § all live in| 1 0
B.C. PENITENTIARY 1 t b all live in F 0
SCARBORO 2 2 4 3 1l spends 3| one lives 2 0
nights out in
SASK. FARM ANNEX L 0 s} lives in c
Insk. ;
of- 25 Lifelrs = 22 1L 11
stay in institution
3 spend an| average of
; 4 nights pper week in
TOTAL 28 3 22 2 16 7 the communfity.
8.2%73
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Inmates on "back to back" or
regular T.A. program in Institutions
and Camps

Region:

Atlantic, Quebec, Ontario and Western Regions

No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. P2%P%ble Consid.
Institution Innates Remarks
b.tob. | Reg. |medleducwworkpbther Yes No
Atlantic 3 1 2 A - 2 i Average of 4.66 nights per week
spent in Community, per inmate
Quebec 2 - ] = 2 — = 2 & Average of 1.5 nights per week
in Community, per inmate
Ontario 73 28 L5 3 i1eiligo lag L6 27 57 inmates spend 7 nights in Inst.
5 15 spend average 6-7 nights per week
_in Communitwv
1 inmate out 7 nights a week for
medical reasons.
78 inmates spend 7 nights in Inst.
Western 95 3 92 1 |11 48 35 26 69 17 spend average 2.2 nichts per week
in Comnunity.
TOTAL 173 32 141 4 24-72 73 76 97

Tfiis report include Lifers

convicted of Capital or Non-Capital murder from Yist submitted to cabinet on 2-12-72

9L: T
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lnmates on” “back-to back" or "regular"
T.A. Program in Institutions & Camps.

REGION: QUEBEC
ITnstitution No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. PJ?gle Consid. Raneplie
Inmates
b.tob. | Reg. |medleducworkpther Yes No
ST. ANNE DES PLAINES 2 2 2 2
TOTAL 2 2 2 2

qf a total of 2 inmates:
-one spends 1 night in community,

6 nights in iInstitution
-~other spends 2 nights in community,
5 in institution

Alverage 1.5 nights in community.

9.2.73

8L T
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Lamates, 6 oacek to back” or '"regular"

T.A. Program in Institutions & Camps

REGION:

ONTARIO

No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. p3%%1e Consid.
Institution Innates Remarks
b.tob. | Reg. |medleduclrorkpther Yes No
MILLHAVEN MINIMUM 2 2 2 b 1
COLLINS BAY F.A. p 1 1
LANDRY CROSSING C.C. ;| 1 1 1
BEAVER CREEK S.S. 10 4 9 10 1 9
COLLINS BAY INSTITUTION 29 7 22 6 5 18 22 v
JOYCEVILLE FARM ANNEX 5 5 h 4 4 5
WARKWORTH INSTITUTION 8 n " 1 146 2 6
PRISON FOR WOMEN 15 13 2 p ! 3 9 2 13 2
JOYCEVILLE INSTITUfION 2 2 - 2 & a
TOTAL € ol | TN o] i B el Tl O ant ytuss sikE ix Thvs:

1 spends 7 nights in hospital
Remaining 15 spend average of
6.7 nights in community.

9.2.73
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Inmates on "back to back" or

reguler T. A. program in ) )

Institutions and Camps Region: Western

1
No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. »2%%1e consid.
Institution Ivnates Remarks
b.tob. | Reg. |mededucworkpbther Yes No
Stony Mt. Farm Annex 3 1 i '3
William Head Inst. 15 15 1) 4 9 1 6 9
Agassiz C. C. 12 12 = 2 6 4 4 8
Stony Mt. Institution 4 - 4 - 2 1 X 2 2
Drumheller Inst. 18 18 - - 8 10 3 15
Matsqui Institution 28 28 - 24118 8 5 23
Mountain Prison 13 33 - - 211k 4 9
Saskatchewan Pen. 3 3 - - - | - - 3
British Columbia Pen. 1 1 1 1
Out of a total of 95 inmates
TOTAL 95 3 92 i 11 {48 |35 26 69 78 sleep in Inst. every night
17 sleep out on an average of
2.2 nights a week

08:1
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Iamates on "back to back
‘program in C.C.C.'s.

or "regular" T.A.

REGIONAL TOTALS

Day
— No. of Type of Prog.| Purpose of T.A. |Parole Consid.
agion
% lanates % Remarks
b.tob. | Reg. |mededucworkpther Yes No
Of a total of 14, 14 inmates spent
an average of 6 days in the centre
ATLANTIC 14 14 14 10 4 and 1 in the community.
O0f a total of 22, 22 inmates spent
. an average of 5 days in the centre
QUEBEC 22 22 1 1 14 6 22 and 2 in the community.
Of a total of 15 inmates, all
ONTARIO 15 15 5 9 1 2 13 sleep in the centre.
Of the 88 inmates, 31 spend all
WESTERN 88 88 19y 64 7 26 62 their time in the centre, of the 57
1 remaining, an ave., of 1.5 nights/week
are spent in the community
TOTAL 139 139 1 23 1014 14 60 79
*0f a total of 139 inmates on T.A.
46 stay in the center and of the

remaining 93 each spend an average
of .72 nights in the community
per week.

8.2.73

This report include Lifers convicted of Capivar or Non-Capital murder from list submitted to cabinet on 2-12-72
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+As Program in C.G:C. 4.

nztes o5 "back to-back"” or"regular"

QUEBEC AND ATLANTIC C.C.C.'s

Day
No. of Iype of Prog. | Purpose -of T.A. |Parole Consid. :
Region Pumaras Remarks
b.tob. | Reg. lmeéeducgorkLther Yes No
Average of 2 nights in
T community and 5 nights in
AUHRER H institution per inmate.
St. HUBERT CENTRE 22 22 111 14 6 23
"OTAL FOR REGION 22 22 1. }X 14 6 22
ATLANTIC
CARLETON CENTRE 10 10 10 7 3
PARR TOWN 4 4 4 3 %
TOTAL FOR REGION 14 14 14 10 4

8.2.73

28°1
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Inmates on "back to back" or "regular"
Program in C.C.C.'s.

T.A.

ONTARIO C.C.C.'s

No. j0f

Type of Prog.

Purpos

e of T.A.

ng%le Consid.

Remarks
Region Iunates
b.tob. | Reg. |mededuckrorkpther Yes No
ONTARIO
All sleep in center. Passes
MONTGOMERY 14 14 4 9 1 2 e may be granted for weekend visits.
Case prepared for presentation to
PORTSMOUTH : A 1 ; i Sol. Gen., presented to Cabinet
Oy A )
TOTAL 15 15 . § & . "

8.2.73
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Inmates on "back to back" or "regular" T.A.

Program in C.C.C.'s.

WESTERN C.C.C.'s

Da
No. of Type of Prog.| Purvose of T.A. Pathle Consid.
Institution Tanates £ [ Remarks
b.tob. | Reg. |medieducWorkpther Yes No

Only one exception,one sleeps in

GRIERSON 29 29 8 21 7 22 community 7 nights
2 sleep in Inst. nightly, 14 slee;

SCARBORO 16 16 1 15 5 11 an average of 4 nights in center
and 3 anights in community.

> . of 15 inmates the average is as
MEST SEQREIA 15 15 2 9 3 12 such-2 in community and 5 in centre.
. Of 12 inmates the average 1is as

O SLD R 12 12 10 Ll such-1 night in community, 6 nights
in .center.

OSKANA 5 5 4 3 9 Of 5 inmates, 4 spend 1 night
community & 6 nights in center, 1
Hnmate ig alwavg at centaer

BURRARD 1l 1l 2 9 8 3 Pf 11 inmates an average of 1 night
per inmate/week is spent in cozmmunicty
hnd 6 niohtdinmate in center.

TOTAL 88 88 i 64 26 62 Df 88 inmates, 31 spend all their tiz:

° tn the institution. Of the 57

emaining, an ave. 1.5 nights/week ar=:

spent in the community.

78
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ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX “B”

APPENDIX TO MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA AND
“THE SOCIETY” CONDUCTING THE COMMUNITY

ASSESSMENT

Procedure for Community Assessment

The plan for parole developed by a potential parolee
or the plan developed by a person subject to mandatory super-
vision shall be submitted by Canada to the Society. The Society
shall thereuvon, if its capabilities permit, make an assessment
of the feasibility and practicality of such a plan. In the case
of a community assessment required immediately following sentence
(nrost-sentence report), the information required to carry out the
task shall be submitted by Canada to the Society. The assess-
ments shall be furnished confidentially to Canada without delay
and shall so far as practical contain the following:

(a) the sources from which information has been
derived, including the name of the sources, their acceptance
or refusal, their relationship if any to the prospective parolee
and whether such information was obtained through the means of
an interview in the home, an office interview, by telephone, or
in other (specified) fashion;

(b) a list of the names, ages, addresses and
occupations of tho#e with whom the prospective parolee plans

to live or who are particularly significant to the parole plan,
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including parents, brothers and sisters, and close friends;
and an assessment of their personalities and attitudes and
the quality of the inter-relationship;

(c) in the case of a marriage partner, include
any person with whom the prosepective parolee has formed a
union usually described as a "common-law marriage", an assess-
ment as in (b) above and an assessment of the stability and
comnatibility of the partners and their respective attitudes
to the children;

(d) the location and brief description of the
accommodation available to the person if paroled;

(e) the employment, or schooling, or both, avail-
able to the person if paroled, together with details as to
requirements, financial or otherwise, (such as transportation
tools and licences,) to enable the person to take advantage
of such employment or schooling;

(f) the known assets of the person, including
prison funds, savings, clothing, property both real and personal
and the availability of any source of financial aid and the
potential extent thereof;

(g) the known debts of the person, including
amounts owing to his lawyer, to finance companies, by way

of restitution or otherwise; and possible solutions;
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(h) an ooinion as to the organization of his
social life: 1leisure, principal interests, net of friends,
participation in the activities of his community etc.;

(1) the perception of the community and the
attitudes likely to be encountered by the person in his
secondary contacts in the community, including the police,
any victims of his offence, his prospective neighbours, his
relatives, and previous employers;

(5) an assessment of whether the persons described
in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Appendix:

(1) wunderstand and accept the interpre-
tation of the parole terms.

(2) are willing to accept entirely their
role and responsibilities to the
parolee and the supervisor;

(k) an assessment of the nature and frequency of
supervision required and whether the supervisor will be avail-
able;

(1) the name of the supervision agency;

(m) the name of the police department to which the
parolee will have to report;

(n) any recommendation for special conditions of

parole, together with supporting reasons;
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(o) an assessment of the plan for parole, together
with a recommendation that such plan be approved, or that it
be rejected, or that it be approved subject to specified modi-
fications; and any special arrangements requested by the pros-
pective supervisor regarding notice and timing of release and

kindred matters.
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APPENDIX “C”

Summary submitted by the National Parole Board

This is in response to a request for information on the
various legal measures under which an offender may be in the

comnunity.

These measures are often mistaken for parole. As far

as the Parole Board is concerned, we are asked specifically for
information on:

Parole for deportation or voluntary departure

Mandatory supervision

authority granted under the Parole Act
to an inmate to be at large during

his term of imprisonment

Parole Act

National Parole Board

1) Ordinary parole
2) Day Parole
3)
4)
1) Ordinary Parole
a) definition:
b) statute:
c) authority:
d) discretion:

"absolute discretion" to the National
Parole Board (Section 6). That

discretion is exercised within limits

set out in the Parole Act and the

Parole Regulations. The most important
limits are the legal criteria and the

time rules pertaining to parole eligibility.

The legal criteria are set out in

Section 10(1)(a) of the Act. They provide
that the Board may grant parole if it
considers that:

(i) the inmate has derived the maximum
benefit from imprisonment

(ii) the reform and rehabilitation of the
inmate will be aided by the grant of
parole

(iii)the release of the inmate would not
constitute an undue risk to society.

The eligibility rules are to be found in
Section 2 of the Parole Regulatiens.

This section establishes the portion of

the term of imprisonment that an inmate
shall ordinarily serve before parole may

be granted. The general rule is one third
of the sentence or 4 years, whiechever is
the lesser. FEligibility is at 10 years

for a death commuted sentence or a sentence
of life imposed as a minimum punishment

and at 7 years for all other life sentences.

Section 2(2) of the Parole Regulations
provides that the Board may waive these
rules if special circumstances exist.

Preventive detention: vyearly review (Sec. 69!
C LY
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e)

conditions:

2) Day Parole

a)

b)
c)

d)

definition:

statute:
authority:

discretion:

Under Section 10(1)(a) of the Act,
the Board can impose any terms or
conditions when it grants parole.

In practice, the conditions imposed by
the Board are listed on the copy of a
Parole Certificate attached as Annex "A".

The term'day parole" itself could be

a cause of confusion. I suppose it
implies in the mind of an observer

a return to the institution each night.
It should more properly be called
Temporary parole and its present definition
is a parole "the terms and conditions cf
which require the inmate to whom it is
granted to return to prison from time to
time during the duration of such parole
or to return to prison after a specified
period" '

Parole Act.
National Parole Board

The same elements apply as for ordinary
parole except for the criteria that the
inmate has derived maximum benefit from
imprisonment. As an internal policy,
the Board has decided that it would n
entertain applications for day parole
earlier than one year prior to the
eligibility for ordinary parole.

or voluntary departure

(:) Parole for deportation

C) Mandatory Supervision
a) definition:
b) statute:
¢) authority:
d) discretion:
e) conditions:

Everything said about ordinary parole

applies except for the conditions of

the Parole Agreement. Under such a parole,
there is only one condition: the inmate
agrees not to return to Canada for the durati
of his parole. The penalty for a breach of
that condition is revocation.

applies to all inmates who are released
as a result of 60 or more days of
remission (statutory and earned)

Parole Act, Section 15(1)
Parole Act, Section 15(1)

A release on Mandatory supervision is not

a decision of the Board, it is a simple
application of the law. The only discretion
exercised by the Board has to do with the
imposition of conditions (Sec. 10(1)(b)

same as for ordinary parole.
Annex "B" is a certificate of Mandatory
Supervision.

March 6, 1973
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CERTIFICATE OF NATIONAL PAROLE BOARD
CONDITIONS OF MANDATORY SUPERVISION iy T e e
CONDITIONS DE LA SRUVEILLANCE OBLIGATOIRE SURVEILLANCE CONDITIONNELLES
‘OBLIGATOIRE CANADA
The person described in this certificate shall abide by the terms
and conditions imposed by the National Parole Board and shall Parole Act — Loi sur la libération conditionnelle de détenus S.R.C.
abide by the instructions which may be given by his supervisor. 1970 c. P-2
La personne décrite dans ce certificat doit se conformer aux This is to certify that
termes et conditions imposés par la Ci i Na des : t attest:
libérations conditionnelles et doit se conformer aux instructions EE PO .e o . . L
qui p t lui étre données par son surveillant. vfho WEESEEVISE e of,nnpn’sonment -
qui purgeait une d’empr enta
was
B

released under datory supervision on

été libéré sous surveillance obligatoire le

Provided he is not recommitted, supervision will terminate

A condition qu'il ne soit pas réincarcéré, la surveillance se ter-

on

minera le / / ,

Date Signature Issued on — Délivré le Sec tary — Secrétaire
INSTRUCTIONS

You must proceed directly to

Vous devez vous rendre directement 8
and report to your Supervisor

et vous rapporter 3 votre surveillant *
at

a ..... cesssscecsesssssasnee R R R D R R

I I T IR R ces e v

Pursuant tothe conditions of your Mandatory Certificate, you must obey these instructions. Failure to do so may result in

recommittal .
En conformité avec les conditions de votre certificat de surveillance obligatoire, ces instructions doivent étre suivies. Tout

manquement peut amener votre réincarcération.

Representative — Représentant Supervisor — Surveillant

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT — RECONNAISSANCE
| understand that the Certificate of Mandatory Supervision must be delivered on demand of the National Parole Board. | also
understand that | am subject to Mandatory Supervision for a period equal to the remission granted to me.

I fully understand all the conditions (including the conditions printed overleaf)regulations and restrictions governing my period
on Mandatory Supervision. | also understand that if | violate them | may be recommitted in the same manner as though | were a
paroled inmate.

Je comprends que le Certificat de Surveillance Obligatoire doit étre retourné sur demande de la Commission Nationale
des libérations conditionnelles. Je comprends aussi que je serai sous surveillance obligatoire pour la méme période que la
période de rémission qui m’a été accordée.

Je comprends parfaitement toutes les conditions (y compris les conditions imprimées au verso), les régles et les restrictions
auxquelles est assujettie ma période sous surveillance obligatoire. Je comprends également que si je ne les respecte pas, je
puis étre réincarcéré de la méme fagon qu’un libéré conditionnel.

Date Signature

NPB 29



192

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 6, 1973

REPORTS TO POLICE -- RAPPORTS A LA POLICE

Initials
Initiales

Initials
Initiales

Initials

Initiales Date Date Date

Inttials
Initiales

VISITS TO SUPERVISOR — VISITES AU SURVEILLANT

Initials
Initiales

Initials

Date |/nitiales Date Date

CONDITIONS OF MANDATORY SUPERVISION

1. To remain until expiry of sentence under the authority of

the designated Representative of the National Parole Board.

. To proceed forthwith directly to the area as designated in
the instructions and, immediately upon arrival report to the
Supervisor and after to the Police as instructed by the
Supervisor,

. To remainin the immediate designated area and not to leave
this area without obtaining permission beforehand from the
Representative of the National Parole Board, through the
Supervisor.

. 7o endeavour to maintain steady employment and to report
at once to the Supervisor any change or termination of
employment or any other change of circumstances such as
accident or illness.

. To obtain approval from the Representative of the National
Parole Board, through the Supervisor before:

(a)
(b)

purchasing of motor vehicle

incurring debts by borrowing money or instalment buy-
ing;

ass,t:lming additional responsibilities, suchas marrying;
owning or carrying fire-arms or other weapons.

(c)
(d)

. To corr.1municate forthwith with the Supervisor or the Repre-
sgntatlve of the National Parole Board if arrested or ques-
tioned by police regarding any offence.

. To obey the law and fulfill all legal and social responsi-
bilities.

CONDITIONS DE LA SURVEILLANCE OBLIGATOIRE

Demeurer jusqu’a l'expiration de la sentence sous l'autorité du
représentant désigné par la Commissioh nationale des libéra-
tions conditionnelles.

Se rendre directement et immédiatement a I’endroit spécifié
dans les instructions et dés l'arrivée se rapporter au Surveillant
et ensuite 3 la police selon les instructions du Surveillant.

Demeurer dans les environs immédiats tel.que désigné et ne pas
quitter ce territoire avant d’obtenir au préalable, par l'entre-
mise du Surveillant, la permission du représentant de la Com-
mission nationale des libérations conditionnelles.

S’efforcer de travailler réguliérement et faire part immédiate-
ment au surveillant de tout changement ou cessation d’emploi
wu oul duire chigngenieni ue Circonsiances Conme un aceiuerni
ou la maladie.

Obtenir au préalable l'autorisation du représentant de la Com-
mission nationale des libérations conditionnelles par I'entremise
du surveillant avant de:

(a) faire I'achat d’une automobile;

(b) contracter des dettes par emprunt -‘argent ou par achat a
tempérament;

(c) assumer des responsabilités additionnelles comme le
mariage

(d) posséder ou avoir en sa possession une arme a feu ou toute
autre arme.

Communiquer immédiatement avec le surveillant ou le repré-
sentant de la Commission nationale des libérations condition-
nelles si arrété ou interrogé par un officier de police au sujet
d’une offense quelconque.

Obéir @ la loi et s’acquitter de toutes les responsabilités légales
et sociales.
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PAROLE CERTIFICATE NATIONAL PAROLE BOARD
CONDITIONS OF PAROLE CERTIFICAT DE LIBERATION COMMISSION NATIONALE DES
CONDITIONS DE LA LIBERATION CONDITIONNELLE CONDITIONNELLE LIBERATIONS
AT CONDITIONNELLES
The parolee shall abide by the conditions of his parole and all 1 )
instructions which may be given by this supervisor from time to Parole Act — Loi sur Ia libération conditionnelle de détenus
prmisly 1958 c. 38
Le libéré conditionnel doit se conformer aux conditions de sa This is to certify that
libération et d les directi que peut lui donner da Le présent certificat atteste qu'

l'occasion son surveillant:

and shall abide by this special condition: wiio was serving a term of imprisonment in

et il doit se conformer d cette condition spéciale: qui purgeait une d'emp d
was granted
a été accordé une libération
parole on
conditionnelle le

provided parole is not suspended, revoked, forfeited or terminated.
d condition que cette libération conditionnelle ne soit pas suspendue.
it will expire on

révoquée, frappée de déchéance ou terminée, elle prendra fin le

Ay T

Date Signature — Parolee/Libéré Issued on — Délivré le #retary — Secrétaire

INSTRUCTIONS

You must proceed directly to

Vous devez vous rendre directement a
and report to your Parole Supervisor
et vous rapporter a votre surveillant
At .

A. ........................... R R ] Fh e s s e L T
Pursuant to the conditions of your parole you must obey these instructions. Failure to do so may result in suspension and
revocation of parole.

En conformité avec les conditions de votre libération, ces instructions doivent étre suivies. Tout manquemant peut amener la
suspension et la révocation du certificat.

Representative — Représentant Parole Supervisor — Surveillant

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT — RECONNAISSANCE
| understand that the parole certificate is the property of the National Parole Board and must be delivered on demand of the
National Parole Board or of my supervisor. | also understand that | am still serving my term of imprisonment and that parole has
been granted to allow me *o resume my activities as a citizen at large in the community under supervision.

| 'fully understand and accept all the conditions (including the conditions printed overleaf), regulations and restrictions
governing my release on parole. | will abide by and conform to them strictly. | also understand that if | violate them | may be
recommitted.

Je comprends que le certificat de libération conditionnelle appartient & la Commission Nationale des Libérations
Conditionnelles et doit étre retourné sur demande de la Commission Nationale des Libérations Conditionnelles ou de mon
surveillant. Je comprends aussi que je continue de purger ma sentence mais que je suis libéré conditionnellement et sous
surveillance afin de me permettre de poursuivre dans la société mes activités de citoyen.

Je comprends parfaitement et j'accepte toutes les conditions (y compris les conditions imprimées au verso), les régles et les
restrictions auxquelles est assujettie ma libération conditionnelle. Je m’y conformerai complétement. Je comprends également
que si je ne les respecte pas, je puis étre réincarceré.

Certificate Dated Received on — Date regu Paroled Inmate — Libéré
Date du certificat

Witness — Témoin Date

P8 1(9-70)
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REPORTS TO POLICE —~ RAPPORTS A LA PULICE

VISITS TO SUPLRVISUR — VISIIES AY SURVEILLANIT

Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Initiales Date Initiales Date |[/nitiales Date Initiales Date |/nitiales Date |/nitiales Date
CONDITIONS OF PAROLE CONDITIONS DE LA LIBERATION CONDITIONNELLE

1. To remain until expiry of sentence under the authority of the
designated Representative of the National Parole Board.

2. To proceed forthwith directly to the area as designated in the
instructions and, immediately upon arrival and at least once a
month thereafter report faithfully to the police nearest the
place of residence or as instructed by the supervisor.

3. To remain in the immediate designated area and not to leave
this area without obtaining permission beforehand from the
Representative of the National Parole Board.

2. To.cndeaveur-to-misintain steady cmploymont and fo.soport 2t
once to the Parole Supervisor any change or termination of

employment or any other change of circumstances such as
accident or illness.

5. To obtain approval from the Representative of the National
Parole Board, through the Parole Supervisor before:

(a) purchasing of motor vehicle

(b) incurring debts by borrowing money or instalment buying;
(c) assuming additional responsibilities, such as marrying;

(d) owning or carrying fire-arms or other weapons.

6. To communicate forthwith with the Parole Supervisor or the
Representative of the National Parole Board if arrested or
questioned by police regarding any offence.

7. To obey the law and fulfill all legal and social responsibilities.

N

6.

Z

. Demeurer jusqu’d l’expiration de la sentence sous l'autorité du

représentant désigné par la Commission nationale des libérations
conditionnelles.
Se rendre directement et immédiatement & l'endroit spécifié

dans les instructions et dés ‘arrivée et par la suite au moins une
fois par mois se rapporter fidélement & la police le plus prés du

- lieu de résidence ou tel que requis par le surveillant.

Demeurer dans les environs immédiats tel que désigné et ne pas
quitter ce territoire avant d‘obtenir au préalable la permission
du représentant de la Commission nationale des libérations
conditionnelles.

Clnffnrannr o travaillor rdén
o orloreer G2 LrQVaNer Fogliiorel

1 faire part immédiate-
ment au surveillant de tout changcmen
ou tout autre changement de circonstances comme un accident
ou fa maladie.

O cesgation domple!

. Obtenir au préalable |autorisation du représentant de la

Commission nationale des libérations conditionnelles par I’entre-
mise du surveillant avant de:

(a) faire I'achat d’une automobile;

(b) contracter des dettes par emprunt d’argent ou par achat 3
tempérament,

(c) assumer des responsabilités additionnelles comme le mariage

(d)posséder ou avoir en sa possession une arme a feu ou toute
autre arme.

Communiquer immédiatement avec le surveillant ou le repré-
sentant de la Commission nationale des libérations condition-
nelles si arrété ou interrogé par un officier de police au sujet
d‘une offense quelconque.

Obéir 3 la loi et s‘acquitter de toutes les responsabilités
légales et sociales.

Published under authority of the Senate by the Queen’s Printer for Canada

Available from Information Canada, Ottawa. Canada.
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FIRST SESSION—TWENTY-NINTH PARLIAMENT
1973

THE SENATE OF CANADA

PROCEEDINGS OF THE
STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON

LEGAL AND
CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

The Honourable H. CARL GOLDENBERG, Chairman

Issue No. 2

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 7, 1973

Sixteenth Proceedings on the examination of the
parole system in Canada

(Witnesses and Appendix—See Minutes of Proceedings)



THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON
LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

The Honourable H. Carl Goldenberg, Chairman.

The Honourable Senators:

Asselin Laird
Buckwold Lang
Choquette Langlois
Croll Lapointe
Eudes *Martin
Everett McGrand
*Flynn Mcllraith
Goldenberg Prowse
Gouin Quart
Hastings Walker
Hayden Williams (20)

*Ex Officio Members
(Quorum 5)



Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate,
Monday, February 5, 1973:

“The Honourable Senator Goldenberg moved, seconded
by the Honourable Senator Thompson:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and report
upon all aspects of the parole system in Canada, including all
manner of releases from correctional institutions prior to
termination of sentence;

That the said Committee have power to engage the
services of such counsel, staff and technical advisers as may
be necessary for the purpose of the said examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so authorized
by the Committee, may adjourn from place to place inside or
outside Canada for the purpose of carrying out the said
examination; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on the
subject in the third and fourth sessions of the 28th
Parliament be referred to the Committee.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Robert Fortier,
Clerk of the Senate.



Minutes of Proceedings

March 7, 1973.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at 2.00
p-m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Goldenberg (Chairman),
Eudes, Hastings, Lapointe, McGrand, Mcllraith, Quart and Williams.
®)

Present but not of the Committee: The Honourable Senator
Denis.

In attendance: Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director for the
Examination of the parole system in Canada; Mr. Patrick Doherty,
Special Research Assistant.

The Committee resumed its examination of the parole system in
Canada.

The following witnesses, representing the Ecole de Criminologie,
University of Montreal, were heard by the Committee.

Mr. Pierre Landreville, Professor;
Mi. M. Nicolas, Research Assistant;
Mr. André Beaulne;

Mr. René Blain;

Mr. Georges Paradis.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Hastings it was Resolved
to print in this day’s proceedings the briefs entitled “Brief on the
parole system in Canada by the School of Criminology of the
University of Montreal” and “The parole system as perceived by
inmates and ex-inmates of metropolitan institutions—Summary of
the contents and conclusions of the study”. They are printed as
Appendix “A” and Appendix “B”, respectively.

At 5.15 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the
Chairman.

ATTEST:

Denis Bouffard,
Clerk of the Committee.



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and

Constitutional Affairs

Evidence

Ottawa, Wednesday, March 7, 1973.

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional

Affairs met this day at 2 p.m. to examine the parole system in
Canada.

Senator H. Carl Goldenberg (Chairman) in the Chair.

[Transiation)

The Chairman: We already have on hand the two briefs
submitted by I'Ecole de criminolgie de I'Université de Montréal.
These briefs will be presented by the five witnesses appearing
today. We will be hearing first Professor Landreville and Mr.
Nicolas. Mr. Landreville?

Professor Pierre Landreville: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If you
have no objection, I would suggest that the best way to proceed
in this regard would be to summarize or reread the recommendations
suggested in our brief which contains 13 recommendations, the
first of which is as follows:

1. All the inmates of penitentiaries should be paroled after
serving at the most three-quarters of their sentence, less the
reduction of the sentence earned. As a result, the provisions of
the Act dealing with mandatory supervision should be abolished;
the reduction of the sentence earned should be excluded from the
term of parole to be served.

2. In general, the parole should run over a maximum period of
five years.

3. In the case of disqualification of parole on account of a
criminal offence, the inmate should only have to serve that part
of the sentence not yet served when the criminal offence is
commited, less the reduction of the sentence earned.

4. In the case of simple non-compliance with conditions or of
a minor offence, parole should be suspended only for a maximum
period of three months.

5. In the case of suspension, the inmate should be allowed to
appeal to the National Parole Board, because we will discuss the
matter of a regional board and a national board.

[Text|

Senator Hastings: You are using the word “suspension.” Is this
a translation? Do you mean ‘“‘revocation’?

[Translation]

Mr. Landreville: Yes. The term used is probably not the right
one. In fact, it is a suspension followed by a revocation. The
question of a suspension as such would therefore never come up.
It would be a new one, that is the suspension would always be

understood as a suspension and a revocation for a maximum of
three months. Is this clear?

258772

[Text]

Senator Hastings: There is “revocation” and “forfeiture.” To
which are you referring?

Mr. Landreville: Revocation.
Senator Hastings: Revocation.

Mr. Landreville: If you wish, yes.
[Text]

Senator Hastings: That should apply also to 5 and 6. When
you use the word “suspension”, you actually mean “revocation.”

[ Transiation)
Mr. Landreville: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Thank you.

Mr. Landreville: In the case of a revocation, the inmates should
be allowed to appeal to the National Board.

6. Revocation should apply only when non-compliance with the
conditions or the committing of a new offence can be proven.

7. Day parole should be considered as a pre-release or semi
freedom phase, not as a form of semi-detention.

8. The Parole Board should be regionalized.

9. The regional parole boards should be integrated into the
regional classification committee which already exists within the
penitentiary service.

10. These new committees which might be called “Sentence
Enforcement Committees™ could include one or two members from
outside of the penitentiary service—the present commissioners of
the Parole Board—the Regional Director of Penitentiaries and
another member of the regional office, a representative of the
regional intake centre and one or several representatives of the main
penitentiary institutions of the region.

11. These committees would have to take all the major decisions
with respect to an inmate during his sentence: such as allowances
and the transfers from institutions, temporary leave which is now
referred to as code 26, day parole and final parole.

12. In the short term, the provinces would have to assume total
responsibility with respect to parole, in the case of inmates from
provincial establishments.

In the long run it seems preferable to us to unify all correctional
systems by letting the provinces deal with all the inmates.

Senator Goldenberg: Do you wish to elaborate on certain things
you have said, or would you like to be asked questions?
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Professor Landreville: Personally, I think the best way would be
to move to the question period to be able to elaborate from
problems which will come up.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Mr. Landreville, I apologize for asking
questions in English. I cannot speak French.

My first question deals with your first recommendation, which
states:

All penitentiary inmates should be paroled after having
served three quarters of their sentence at the latest, minus the
reduction of earned remission time.

We now have a stipulation as to the earliest date, which is
one-third of the sentence. Firstly, do you have any views with respect
to the earliest date which should be considered? And, secondly, is it
not now in effect that a man is automatically paroled, albeit under
mandatory supervision, at the completion of three-quarters of his
sentence?

[Transiation)

Professor Landreville: Yes, regarding the second part of your
question, if we consider that inmates are now released on probation;
of course, they are released at the latest after serving three-quarters
of their sentence. But here we wish to do away with the concept of
probation, and we think, at best, an inmate should be released
during the course of his sentence but never after serving three-
quarters of it.

Regarding your first question, we have not spoken of a
minimum. We believe, that in general cases the present minimum is
probably acceptable. We could accept, as it is the case now,
exceptional cases. Here, it is not a matter of position, from a
theoretical criminological point of view, but as a matter of policy, I
think there should rather be a minimum and for the time being, in
general cases, the present minimum seems acceptable to us.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: My second question deals with your comment
on page 2 of the first draft which you submitted to us, which states:

Sometimes, judges act as though parole will be automatically

granted when the prisoner becomes eligible. Nothing is
further removed from the truth.

And on page 3 of your presentation today, under the head
“sentencing and parole”, you say:

... not only should judges use incarceration as a last resort,
but they should also reduce as much as possible the length of
the sentence and never increase its term with a view to
counteracting the effects of parole.

What are your bases for making those two statements?

[Zranslation]

Professor Landreville: Some research has proved that, chiefly
during the first years of parole, there has been an increase in the
number of two-year sentences, a little less of them, and a little more

of three-year sentences, so that it seemed we would be able to
interpret this increase of long sentences or of sentences which are a
little longer because of the way judges reacted some years ago. Now,
we read in the newspapers often enough that some judges frankly
admit that they extend the length of a sentence to be sure that a
minimum of it will be served.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: You believe they are lengthening the sentences
as a reaction to parole and not as a deterrent because of the increase
in crime?

[Transiation)

Professor Landreville: Yes, in fact, maybe for these two reasons,
but there are several judges who assert that they must extend the
parole period and the length of the sentence, to be sure that the
individual will serve a minimum of the sentence either in prison or
in a penitentiary.

The Chairman: But when you say, they assert, when and how do
they do it?

Professor Landreville: Yes, in fact, I do not have any clippings
here, but there are judges, we could read it, who state it in court.

[Text]

Le sénateur Hastings: Quelles recherches? Vous mentionnez des
recherches, lesquelles?

[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: Yes, the first research, it was a research,—I
do not have it exactly in mind, but I believe that it was made by the
Department of Criminology, by Professor Ciale, if my memory
serves me right, during the years 63-64; at any rate Mr. Jubinville
was aware of this,—I remember reading this research paper a few
years ago; it could have shown that there was an increase in the
number of three and four years sentences and a reduction in that of
two years sentences, immediately after the Act was implemented at
the start of the 60’s.

Senator Lapointe: At item 2, which is titled “Selection”, you
state: “The main question is no longer whom to release . .. but
when to release.” Do you believe then that all prisoners should be
released, even though they may be dangerous and they must have a
chance to be paroled? Or are there any who cannot be released?

Mr. M. Nicolas: Basically, we must define what parole or the
concept of parole is. It is an intermediate stage. Now, whether an
inmate is more or less dangerous, there is nonetheless, a need for a
transition stage between close detention and liberty. If we can refer
to what Mr. Street stated before your Committee, I believe that at a
given time, even the most dangerous inmates, or those who have
been detained the longest in a prison or a penitentiary, have greater
need for an intermediate stage. This is why we say: for us, selection
must mainly focus on when, that is the optimum time for releasing a
prisoner. 4

Senator Lapointe: Then, if, for instance, a prisoner does not
behave himself inside the institution, and you say that it is not the
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only criterion to consider, but, admitting that he misbehaves, and
that his chances of improving, his expectations are not too good, do
you think that we should at least give him a chance and release
him?

Professor Landreville: I would believe—excuse me, but I do not
like the word ‘“‘chance”—, I believe that we should nonetheless give
ourselves a chance, a chance in the sense that, even if his behaviour
within the institution is bad and he is considered dangerous, the
great majority of such inmates will be released anyway. Then, I
believe that society would have a better chance and be better
protected if we can arrange a transition period, usually a year or
two, release the prisoner earlier, that is a year or two, and I think
that, at that moment, we increase our chances, at the level of
society; we are giving a period of transition to someone who will be
released sometime or another.

Senator Denis: With this kind of reasoning, it would be useless to
send him to prison. But if this reduces his sentence by two years,
then during these two years he remains in prison and society is
better protected, better protected than if we release him when he
has badly behaved in prison.

Professor Landreville: 1 perfectly agree with you that society
would be better protected during these two years if the individual
remains in jail. But we must not forget that after these two years, if
we release him all at once, we probably will be less protected.
Naturally, we could simply wash our hands and forget him since he
has served his sentence. But, from a practical point of view, he will
still be at large in society.

Senator Denis: Thus, according to your reasoning, the good or
bad conduct of an inmate has nothing to do with parole, whatever
this conduct may be in the penitentiary, being a troublemaker or
committing reprehensible acts. He would have as much chance as
the well behaved inmate who wants to rehabilitate himself and who
starts behaving himself in confinement.

Mr. Nicolas: His good or bad conduct in the penitentiary can be
a clue among others as to the moment when he must or should be
released.

Senator Denis: You do not mean that he should misbehave in
order to get out before the others?

Professor Landreville: I do not imply a direct connection but I
could certainly say that, in many cases, an inmate’s misbehaviour is
a good hint that he should be released because many people cannot
endure prison life; we are increasing their problems and their
inbalance by keeping them confined. I come back to what you said
earlier in respect of whether a troublemaker in prison should not be
released earlier? Within the institution trouble makers and dis-
orderly inmates are punished, that is to say there is a disciplinary
board within the institution and they will be punished for these
offences. But, I do not think it is a good policy to look at their
conduct in confinement and automatically conclude that we should
postpone their parole. As I said, in certain cases, it should be the
reverse.

Senator Denis: But if parole is to be automatic, the judges who
sentence the accused are aware that he will be released after serving
three quarters of his sentence. Is this true?

Professor Landreville: It is.

Senator Denis: Is it possible that the judge, being aware of how
you want to apply the law, that the judge, as I say, who normally
would want the accused to be confined for four full years, would
thus sentence him to five?

Professor Landreville: As I said before in reply to a question,
some judges follow this method at the moment and we deplore it.
On the other hand, as we said before regarding another question,
parole or mandatory supervision now applies automatically to all
inmates. Inmates do not serve the full sentence passed by the judge.
I do not think that things should remain as they are.

Senator Denis: Why then, do you object to placing a paroled
inmate under mandatory supervision? I do not say that the
supervisors will live with him, but they will exercise some sort of
control or supervision. Why do you object to this supervision?

Professor Landreville: I am sorry but I do not know where you
have . ..

Senator Denis: In “The provisions of the Parole Act should be
abolished,” that is as soon as you free someone.

Professor Landreville: We do not want parole to be abolished.
What we do want is to abolish those provisions where mandatory
probation is concerned, that is to say the Act that obliges an
inmate to be freed after serving three quarters of his sentence. We
want that part of the Act abolished because everybody falls under
the parole concept. Parole applies to everyone and the concept of
mandatory probation does not exist as provided by the Parole
Act.

Senator Lapointe: You say that we should have recourse to
imprisonment only in the last instance?

Professor Landreville: Yes.
Senator Lapointe: Then what measures do you recommend?
Professor Landreville: Alternatives.

Senator Lapointe: Yes, at least to have the convicted person
realize that he acted wrongly?

Professor Landreville: In fact, several measures other than
prison are available for more and more courts and if my memory
serves me well, probably only 40 percent of people condemned
for criminal actions go to prison. That means that 60 percent of
the people concerned do not go to prison. Judges have other
measures available such as mandatory probation or week-ends in
prison.
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Senator Lapointe: For example, would you recommend if
there were one or two victims, that a deduction be made on their
salary to pay the victims? Would that be an acceptable punish-
ment?

Professor Landreville: I think it would be a very important
concept to take the victim into greater consideration and, among
other things, to think of compensation for the victim on a wider
scale. I think it is probably a type of measure that could applied
to offenders and that could be very important. We know, for
instance, that it is a very old measure that is no longer applied,
but which, I believe, could be of great benefit to society, among
others, to keep the offender within society and to maintain the
link between him and society. I believe society would be far less
ready to reject an offender if he or she were to compensate the
victim. Moreover, society, which identifies itself with the victim,
would be less agressive towards the offender.

Senator Lapointe: That would give him a sense of responsi-
bility. Do you think, though, that after a certain time he would
get tired of that obligation; he would stop working, for example,
to escape his obligation, knowing what human nature is like?

Professor Landreville: This is certainly an arrangement which
should also be personalized, having regard to the conditions, the
salaries, etc., of the person. This method is already applied at the
civil procedure level where reimbursements are made.

Senator Lapointe: In your brief, you practically say that the
National Parole Board should be abolished—not exactly so, but, in
fact, this is what it comes down to, is it not?

Professor Landreville: We refer to regionalization and having a
board at the national level. Insofar as regionalization is concerned,
we think that the regional classification committee should be
integrated with the regional parole board in order that the new
board, which might be referred to as the sentence enforcement
committee, could follow the inmate at each step, and thus
participate in every important decision taken concerning him. This
is why we mentioned transfer in an institution, the planning of
inmate institutional treatment and, at then, we could consider the
question of temporary absences. We could examine the possibility
of day parole, where necessary, in a particular case. Furthermore,
it would always be the same committee which would take the

decisions, so that there would be standardization and a balanced
treatment and parole system.

Senator Lapointe: It seems that, at some future date, you also
would like to have the provincial governments take charge of
them, if not actually administer them. How could we, for
example, set up such a board as a provincial system within a
federal institution? Would the federal institutions have to give up,
not of their property rights, but their “management” rights?

Professor Landreville: Yes, this is what we mean: that the
whole penal system should come under the provinces. That might
be somewhat outside the frame of reference of this Committee,
but I really don’t see how, from a political point of view,

agreements could be reached on this. Some programmes are
certainly administered at present by the federal government, but
this is another matter.

Senator Lapointe: Would you like it to be that way only for
the sake of decentralization or for the purpose of political
ideology?

Professor Landreville: For decentralization purposes. If it were
for the purpose of political ideology, we could make other
recommendations.

The Chairman: But you said that it seems better in your
opinion to standardize all penal systems by entrusting the inmate
to the provinces. How are you going to standardize the system
when we have 10 provinces?

Professor Landreville: No, to standardize the penal system,
probation, parole, at the level of each province. We would have
then ten penal systems.

Senator Lapointe: But, do you think that with ten systems
there might be some risk of rendering justice in different ways,
since some systems would be too strict, while others would be too
lenient. Moreover, these would be a lack of balance when
considering the system as a whole.

Professor Landreville: Yes; there are certainly systems which
would be permissive and others which would not. But those systems
would likely fit the mentality or the aims of local people;—so I
believe.

[Text]

Senator McGrand: I have two questions. When a prisoner is
sentenced to a five- or six-year tern in penitentiary he is, for the
most part, a discouraged individual and is often hostile to society.
Sometimes, however, he might be resigned and willing to accept the
situation. Could you tell us anything about the development of
acceptance on the part of the prisoner or development of hostility
on his part as time goes on? Perhaps you cannot put your finger on
exactly what I am trying to ask, but what is the general rule with
respect to the attitude of the prisoner regarding hostility or
acceptance as time goes on?

[Translation]

Professor Landreville: I do not know whether you are talking of
hostility or acceptance at the level of society in general or at the
level of confinement as such. Many studies have shown that an
inmate, when he enters prison, has still a relatively positive outlook
on society, or at least he is not deeply-rooted in the prison
sub-culture, and around half way through his sentence, his outlook
on society becomes more negative. But when the end of his sentence
is forthcoming he seems to come out of that hostility in order
precisely to face his return to society,—his attitude follows some-
what the course which we have described and he beomes a little
more positive, in outlook. That is what we have discovered in some
studies on the attitude of inmates towards society, or . . .
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[Text]

Senator McGrand: I brought that point up because of your
program of rehabilitation. At what stage in his psychological
attitude towards these things would you bring him along, and what
type of rehabilitation could you use to sort of bring him along the
way you like to? How would you treat him in the negative stage,
and how would you treat him when he is on his way, getting ready
to come out and has to go one way or the other when he does come
out?

|Translation)

Professor Landreville: I do not know what I would do, in
general, because I believe that any treatment or approach regarding
an inmate must be on an individual basis. In general terms, we
cannot find a ready-made formula. But one way which seems of
interest to everyone, is to shorten somewhat the sentence, in order
that the period which is most negative towards society,—or the
aggressivity which has built up and the negative attitude towards
society which develops within the penitentiary from the very loss of
freedom and of contact with the outside world,—be as short as
possible,—if that answers your question. Naturally, the same
criterion of ‘“‘dangerousness” must always be used—and the general
formula of reducing sentences would not apply to some inmates,
who must . . .

[Text]

Senator McGrand: Apart from the criminally insane or the
psychopath on whom you never can rely, do you feel that you can
do as much for the ordinary prisoner in the course of a one-year
sentence as you could in the course of a five-year sentence? In
other words, for the man who could be rehabilitated, you can do it
in one year as well as you can in five.

[Transiation)

Professor Landreville: Yes; I do not know whether my answer
will satisfy you, but I believe that in general, imprisonment can
hardly rehabilitate an inmate, and we can hardly do it inside prisons.
Thus it is my personal opinion that the longer the sentence, the
smaller our odds that the individual will be able to readily adapt to
society.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Professor Landreville, we are talking here
about a man who, because of his conduct and his deviant behaviour,
has been placed in custody. I cannot quarrel with that. I can quarrel
with our system of custody and so fourth, but this individual has to
be removed in custody. Now, that is where the motivation or the
change must take place, surely, before he can qualify to come back
to society. As inadequate as it may be, it has to be custody, surely?

[Translation |

Professor Landreville: Some of them should be imprisoned,—that
is those who must really be segregated from society. But, as we have
mentioned previously, their number is much smaller than the
number of prisoners. As to these, there is actually no reason to send
them to prison in order to protect society, if you will. For those
who must be imprisoned, I believe that the best way to rehabilitate

them, and that is a prerequisite, is to make imprisonment, that is life
in prison, as closely similar as possible to outside life. The individual
must not forget to live within society, or lose the means or the
culture he has required outside prison walls. At that point,
imprisonment should be as closely related as possible to outside
conditions prevailing within society, and that the inmate could
work, even earn money, or draw a salary. We wish to protect
ourselves from the inmate, but we must not add, say . . .

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Are you saying that punishment has no place
in the correction process?

[Translation]

Professor Landreville: No, but I think that confinement is not
the only penalty, if that is what you have in mind. If you ask all
those, on parole or who have paid a fine, they too think that parole
and other sentences are also penalties. I am of the opinion that there
is room for other forms of punishment than confinement and we
should react in other ways.

Senator Lapointe: Do you want to replace some penitentiaries by
rehabilitation centres? Do not some minimum security prisons
actually constitute some sort of rehabilitation centres where living
conditions are better and more interesting and less demanding.
Would there be other forms of rehabilitation which could be called,
for instance, rehabilitation institutes, where inmates would work
and lead a more productive life?

Professor Landreville: Certainly, 1 believe that all prisons should
serve as ‘‘resocialization” centres for inmates. This is a basic
principle: if somebody is kept in jail to protect society, the
institution must be able to help him to return to society and not to
keep him off. Minimum security prisons allow much more freedom
and reasonable living conditions, but the remedy is not to be found
in these institutions, because an inmate who lives in a minimum
security institution should not perhaps be confined.

Senator Lapointe: In your opinion, where should he be?

Professor Landreville: In society probably, and this person who
is not a threat to society could be confined to an open minimum
security prison, work where he pleases, hold a normal job, return
home at night and serve another kind of sentence since he is no
threat to society and has been recommended for a minimum
security institution. I cannot see then why he should be kept in an
institution, except in a few exceptional cases where society cannot
tolerate to see him free, not because he is dangerous, but because it
demands a severe punishment. I am thinking now about certain
cases of manslaughter for which a punishment is required by
society. In such cases, the judge must, to a certain degree, comply
with this request, only in such cases is there room for minimum
security institutions.

Senator Lapointe: Do you think then that we should set free all
those who escape from minimum security institutions?
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Professor Landreville: The Penitentiary Service Commissioner
will probably disagree with me, but I think that the few inmates
who are sent to minimum security institutions are not a threat to
society. They are now bound to return to the institution, but most
minimum security institutions inmates should not be there.

Senator Denis: You said earlier that the inmates should receive
in prison the same treatment as they would in society, in order to
rehabilitate them—or something to this effect?

Professor Landreville: Yes.

Senator Denis: If this is the case, what prevents a person from
going out and committing a crime knowing that, if he is captured,
he will continue to live the same way in jail as he does outside? If I
rob a bank and steal $10,000, so much the better for me if I am not
captured. If I am, I will be as well treated in jail as in society.
Therefore, what would prevent somebody from committing a crime
if, once in jail he is treated as well as he would be under normal
circumstances?

Professor Landreville: First of all, We would answer that
confinement, even though we try to obtain in the institution the
same conditions as outside, will always be quite different because
we have, among other things, deprived the inmates of his freedom.

Senator Denis: This is not what you wish; you wish him to be
treated as well as if he were free?

Professor Landreville: I wish him to be treated as well, if
possible, but he would lose his freedom just the same. I do not
believe it is the worst punishment a person can receive; supposing I
would take you to the Chateau Laurier and say to you that for the
next three years you will have to remain inside the hotel, I have the
impression that you would not find then that you are living the
same way you are now.

Senator Denis: Someone who has no employment, who has no
means of spending the winter and no money, will commit a crime,
break a shop window and say: “I will spend a comfortable winter in
jail and then start work again. First of all, I will be discharged after
serving about three-quarters of my sentence.”

Professor Landreville: You want then to use prison as a means of
solving social problems.

Senator Denis: The question is to know whether we should
abolish jails or maintain them. There must be an objective,
somehow. Is it a correctional institution or a rehabilitation centre?
There are laws providing for the rehabilitation of people if they
want to. Moreover, I think that the government is now paying these
people to study, to rehabilitate themselves or, in other words, to
retrain themselves. Therefore, if jails are homes or institutions,—
when we were attending school, we used to spend eight months in it
as if we were in jail; we were well fed and we received some
education.

Professor Landreville: I believe the objective of jails should be to
provide immediate protection.

Senator Denis: Protection of the community?

Professor Landreville: Immediately. Moreover, I think a person
should go to jail only if he is actually dangerous to society. The
objective of confinement then, is to segregate him so that he will
not pose a useless and serious risk to the community.

Senator Denis: To protect society?

Professor Landreville: You emphasize here the intimidating
effect of jail. I believe that a sentence other than confinement could
be passed unto the offender because most offenders would resent
receiving another kind of sentence as much as they do imprisonment
however exceptional its conditions may be. As I saw, for example,
in Finalnd, there are inmates who go out to camps where they work
and are paid by the Department of the Public Prosecutor in
conditions which are almost equal to what lumbermens are paid in
Canada or something else. To those who had to spend six or eight
months there, this was no gift at all.

Senator Denis: You suggest that the inmates should be paroled
after serving about three quarters of their sentence. If my
understanding of the legislation is right, an inmate is considered for
parole only after he has served two thirds of his sentence. Yesterday,
a representative of the Parole Board told us that out of 100 cases
studied, 45 were paroled, that is, after serving two thirds of their
sentence. In other words, that is 66 and 1/3 percent, right?
According to your suggestion, an inmate should be paroled after
serving three quarters of his sentence. You are less lenient than the
present legislation in this respect. Do you want to disregard the
present legislation with respect to the term of parole. Do you want
the parole to be considered after the inmate has served two thirds of
his sentence or do you want both to operate concurrently?

[Text]

Senator Hastings: He is advocating exactly what is in process at
the present time—three-quarters less earned remission, which works
out to two-thirds.

Senator Denis: I am not talking about remission; I am talking
about the study by the Parole Board after two-thirds of the sentence
in order to accept or reject the parole.

[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: Our brief does not mention any minimum
period of parole eligibility. We said earlier that, in our opinion, the
present time period for eligibility should probably be the same in a
new system.

Senator Denis: In fact, do you not agree that, up to a point, you
are replacing the judge who condemned the accused to four, five, or
six years of imprisonment, since your recommendation implies that
the judge’s sentence was too long by one quarter.

Professor Landreville: We have suggested, as presently mentioned
in the Parole Act, that the paroled inmate still continues to serve
this sentence, but differently. We are of the opinion that the
sentence given by the judge is mainly a confinement to prison. The
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Parole Board should see that the parolee be allowed to serve his
sentence some other way, in order to allow for a more flexible
transition from the penitentiary, especially when an inmate is about
to finish serving his sentence. However, we do not want to replace
the judge. We only want the Board to change the way an inmate
serves his sentence.

Senator Quart: Mr. Landreville, I know that you understand
English much better than I speak French. I will therefore continue
in English.

[Text]

Senator Quart: I just want to follow up on Senator Denis’
comments regarding the conditions in penitentiaries. A few days ago
I read an article which appeared in several newspapers, such as the
Globe and Mail and the Gazette, which stated that in Prince Albert
prison the prisoners were very well nourished. Now I do not object
to anyone’s being well nourished, as you can see, but the menu
mentioned in the article was quite amazing. They had ham and wing
steak plus vegetables and salads for the prisoners, while the guards
were served sausages and mashed potatoes. Do you not think that
that was in a sense very bad for the prisoners, receiving all these
menus while the guards were served sausages and mashed potatoes?

Senator Hastings: If I may comment for a moment on that news
story, I should like to say that I have been in Prince Albert on
several occasions, and on that one particular day, the day they
opened the dining rooms, they served the inmates steak for that one
occasion only. On all other occasions, in every institution that I
have been in, the staff eat exactly the same food as the inmates eat.
But the press had to pick up that one particular story about that
one particular meal on one particular occasion and enlarge it.

Senator Mcllraith: There is something to that. One of the
particular problems in the penitentiary system at the present time
is that certainly in some of the better-run minimum security
institutions the feeding standard is better than the inmate can
expect to sustain when he goes outside, even in full employment.
This is a situation that does bear heavily on the minds of some of
the inmates—the fact that they are living well in a minimum
security institution knowing that their families are not fed as well.
It is a problem which does come up from time to time. I am not
for a minute advocating inmates should not be fed well, but there
is a problem in feeding them; they are on number one army
rations now.

Senator Quart: I am not in any way objecting to them being
well fed, believe me; but I thought the article was very strange.

Senator Hastings: And inaccurate.
[Translation]
The Chairman: You want to say something?
Senator Lapointe: No, I just wanted to speak on another

matter, that is, the mandatory supervision as it applies to released
inmates who have been granted a sixty-day sentence reduction.

You said that, especially in Quebec, they are not supervised at all.
Is there a shortage of staff?

What is it all about?

Professor Landreville: No, in Quebec prisons and penitentiaries,
this legislation is not being enforced while the Act provides that
all inmates having more than 60 days of remission should be
released under mandatory supervision in the detention establish-
ment and we believe that this provision should also apply with
respect to the provincial detention establishment.

Senator Lapointe: When you say that this provision is not
being enforced in Quebec, is it because you have only studied the
situation in Quebec or . . .

Professor Landreville: This legislation does not apply to the
inmates in Quebec prisons or penitentiaries. If they have more
than 60 days of remission, they are released from prison, and as
this has always been the case, and they are not subjected to
mandatory supervision.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: You are talking about provincial institu-
tions?

Professor Landreville: Yes.

Senator Hastings: But all federal institutions . ..

[Translation)

Professor Landreville: In federal institutions, in penitentiaries,
individuals are watched in the same way as when on parole. But
we wonder, when we read this piece of legislation, whether this
Act should not also apply to provincial institutions, when we
speak of any prisoner with more than 60 days of remission.

Senator Lapointe: Are you the one who recommends that
after they are released from prison, the probation period should
terminate?

Professor Landreville: No, we only say that, in general and for
various reasons, the maximum period should be five years. On the
one hand, five years on parole is quite a long time. After five
years, the possibilities of relapse are insignificant. If the individual
has not relapses into crime during his first five years, the
probabilities of his doing so are probably from 5 to 6%.

Senator Lapointe: But I am talking about the period of
probation after the individual has served all his sentence. He is
released and we submit him, in some cases, to a period of
probation?

Professor Landreville: We have not made any recommendations
in this regard, but it was indicated by the Committee.

Senator Lapointe: Can you clarify for us the difference
between half-freedom and half-imprisonment, because, in my
opinion, I assure you, it is somewhat playing with words.
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Professor Landreville: It may sound like it, but, in general,
penologists and experts have agreed on the definitions of these
terms. For us, half-imprisonment is a transitional period after a
term of imprisonment while, half-imprisonment is a way of serving
a sentence: it may be imprisonment at night and freedom during
the day. Half-imprisonment would be, for instance, when a
prisoner sentenced to one year in prison would only go there at
night and during week-ends.

Senator Lapointe: And half-freedom, then?

Professor Landreville: Half-freedom would be at the expiration
of a sentence where there is actually parole. In most cases this is
half-freedom, as the inmate serves part of his sentence in prison
and only towards the end, does he undergo a transitional period
when he goes to the institution at night and works outside during
the . day. Half-imprisonment replaces completely the period of
detention as from the beginning of the sentence and the inmate is
free during the day.

Senator Lapointe: But when an inmate goes out to work or
study during the day and returns to prison at night, does he meet
his fellow prisoners who did not go out during the day? This is
dangerous and could prompt jealousy, or whatever else, I do not
know.

Professor Landreville: I could not give you a precise answer at
the moment. I think this depends greatly on institutions and on
the possibilities offered by institutions.

Senator Lapointe: There are no special quarters for persons on
half-freedom?

Mr. Nicolas: What is happening now . . . take the case of the St
Vincent de Paul complex . ..when there is a recommendation for
day parole, the inmate is transferred to the minimum security
Laval Institute where there is a dormitory for day parolees, but I
do not know whether this policy is applied across Canada. I
would like, perhaps, to add something concerning the semi-
detention stage. We would like to state that we can hardly accept
that the Board impose semi-detention by means of day parole, as
when an individual is sentenced one week and, two weeks later,
the Board determines that he should continue to study. Very well.
We agree that he should, but we think that it is perhaps up to the

judge to decide on passing judgment that the inmate can continue
his studies.

Senator Lapointe: In a normal way, you mean?

Mr. Nicolas: By way of a semi-detention, that is, the judge will
decide on the semi-detention.

Senator Eudes: At this point, do you not think that you are
substituing the judge to the Parole Board?

Mr. Nicolas: No, what I mean is that the Board is not the judge,
because it is the Board which decides, the day after the sentence,
that the inmate should be day paroled. I think this is rather a
semi-detention which, legally, falls under the judiciary power.

Senator Eudes: But, at the time of sentencing by the judge, the
judge is not, after all, in position to foresee that the accused he
sentences and finds guilty, would embark on or pursue study
courses.

Professor Landreville: Well, I am sorry, but yes. | think that the
judge could do it following a presentence report. In fact, it is
possible for him to impose such a sentence. When the judge
condemns someone to a prison term not exceeding 90 days, he can
determine at which time the sentence will be served. Now, he can
specify as is often the case now a days in the province of Quebec,
that it will be the following four, five or six weekends, or he could
also decide that the inmate will spend his evenings in jail during the
next month or the next three months. The judge can do it under the
recent provisions of the Criminal Code. So, we ask why the judge
could not then take such decisions? As Mr. Nicolas has just pointed
out when the Parole Board decides to day parole someone the day
following his sentencing, it seems to me that the Board is rather
substituting itself to the judge. There is also the fact, regarding
prison sentences, that for semi-detentions it would mean that for
nine months approximately or for six months at least, the inmate
shall have to return to prison at night only. We think that nine
months is a very long period and that very few inmates can endure
being freed during the day and having to return to the penitentiary
every evening for nine months. So it is really an exceptional method
and we do not think that it should be part of the Board’s policy to
use day parole as semi-detention contrary to what Mr. Street has
previously stated.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Mr. Landreville, I would like to deal, if I
could, with the document which you supplied dated August 28,
1972. It pertains to the summary of the contents and conclusions of
the study you made of the institutions, I presume, in the Montreal
area.

Under the section dealing with rehabilitation, on page 2, it
states, “Except in one institution . . .”” Which is the one institution?

[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: Excuse me, but I think that you are
probably referring to the other brief or to the other group.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: It is a study you made of the institutions in
the Montreal area which was supplied to us on August 28, 1972.

Senator Mcllraith: It pertains to the other group.
The Chairman: There are two briefs.

Senator Lapointe: It belongs to the men who are seated along
the side and waiting to present their brief.

Senator Hastings: I will go back to your list of recommendations
on page 11, where you say:

In case of revocation, the inmate should be able to appeal
to the National Board.

Does he not have that right now?
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[Translation)
Professor Landreville: No; or rather yes and no.

Senator Hastings: What do you mean when you say yes and no?

Professor Landreville: According to the present system, a
suspension must be revoked by the National Board. What we mean
is that the Regional Board could revoke the sentence for a three
months’ period, after which time, the inmate could make an appeal
to the National Board, since such a Board exists and it could be used
as a Court of Appeal in the case of a revocation at the Regional
level

[Text]

Senator Hastings: This was based on the regional board. Your
recommendation No. 6 reads as follows:

Revocation should only occur when it can be proved that
a breach of conditions or another offence has taken place.

Do you know of any revocation that has taken place where that
has not been the case?

[Transiation)

Professor Landreville: The Act, as it stands, allows the sus-
pension of parole, even though no breach has occurred. The Act
allows an officer to suspend a parolee because of a mere suspicion or
because he himself believes that it is in the interest of the inmate
that his parole be suspended. So, we think that this should be
struck from the Act and that we should not be permitted to
suspend a parolee unless it can be proved that there has been a
breach of conditions, and not only on the mere hypothesis that he
might be guilty of such a breach in the near future.

[ Text]

Senator Hastings: Do you not think that if the public is in
danger, the parole officer should have power to suspend and bring
the man in if, by his conduct, he shows that he is slipping
dangerously close to suspension?

[7ransiation]

Professor Landreville: We do think that there are enough
recommendations and that they are clear enough, so that, in most
cases, if we think that the parolee may become a public danger, we
have specific reasons to revoke the parole, whereas, in some other
cases, the Act, in its present wording, may leave great discretionary
powers to the Parole Officers.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: But is a parole officer not doing a service to a
parolee when he sees him slipping dangerously close to that line by
bringing him in? I think he would be doing a service to a lot of
men.

[Translation]

Professor Landreville: We may probably think so and we realize
that, in many cases, it is true that the Parole Officer may be useful
to the parolees, but he could, according to the Act as it now stands,
very often suspend a parolee without giving him the impression that
he is being done a favour.
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[Text]

Senator Hastings: Of course, he will never think that is a service
until perhaps later on, when he is saved from another three or four
years. However, I would be very reluctant to take that away from a
parole officer.

[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: But I think that this provision does exist
in several American states where it has to be proven, at least, that
there was a breach of some of the conditions. We are already aware
of the fact that there are a great number of conditions and that is, in
fact, relatively easy to find a proof of breach. In such a case, the
parolee would not get the impression that we are being unfair to
him when we return him to the prison again, knowing that he has
been guilty of a breach.

Senator Lapointe: The Parole system is highly criticized; you too
are criticizing it; what are your main objections against it? Some of
these recommendations are in fact criticisms, in a certain sense
because we want to improve or change the system as it is now. One
of the things that we criticize and that we want to change, is that we
think the Board is not operating very efficiently. That is why we
would like to see a decentralization, a regionalization. Furthermore,
in view of the way the system is operating right now, we do not
believe that there is always coordination between what is done
inside the penitentiaries and decisions taken by the Board. That is
why we also want a regional board made up of penitentiary officials
and people from outside of the present National Parole Board so
that decisions taken for inmates may be truly coordinated, that is
that all decisions be coordinated. We do not believe that at present
they are really coordinated. There is ample proof here before your
Committee that some decisions by penitentiary authorities could go
either against those of the Board or could be taken to force the
Board’s hand.

Would you accept that a representative ot the National Parole
Board sit on that regional board?

Professor Landreville: Yes. We saia—we could always change our
suggestion—that a good deal of time would have to be spent in
discussing the composition of that regional Board, but we also
suggested that it be formed of at least two members of the present
Board or of the members from outside the penitentiaries who would
now be commissioners.

Senator Lapointe: Do you want to say two members.
Professor Landreville: Of the Board.
Senator Lapointe: . . . who would not be from the area?

Professor Landreville: On the regional Board, there would be
two members of the present National Parole Board.

Senator Lapointe: And how many members would be from the
area?

Professor Landreville: The Committee could be made up of four
or five members, according to the area, according to the number of
important penitentiaries in the area.
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Senator Lapointe: Not more members than that?

Professor Landreville: Not at the regional level. There would also
be a board at the national level.

Senator Lapointe: If there would be several penitentiaries in the
area, do you think that would be sufficient to take care of all
problems, of all case studies, and so forth?

Professor Landreville: For most areas, I think a thorough study
should be made, but, for most areas, it would be enough. There
should probably be more members sitting on the committee for
Quebec and Ontario. We did not linger over the number of members
needed.

Senator Lapointe: Would there be women sitting on the
committee or would you accept men only?

Professor Landreville: We have no sex discrimination and
therefore, why should we . . .

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: Could I follow that up? You speak of the
regionalization of the parole system, and so on. You then include
the last recommendation, as follows:

It would seem preferable to unify the correctional system by
committing all prisoners to the charge of the provinces.

I am a little at a loss to understand how committing a prisoner
to the jurisdiction of each of the 10 provinces would unify the
system.

[Transiation)

Professor Landreville: We mean that it would be much easier in
our view to unify the parole system at the provincial level, unify the
process at the level of the present provincial institutions and
penitentiaries, so that the whole correctional field could be brought
}mder the authority of the provinces; we would then have an
integrated provincial system, ten systems in all, but all integrated.

The Chairman: You told us that this would mean that the

expectations of the provincial community would be taken into
account; this is what you said, is it not?

Professor Landreville: Yes, this is what I said in reply to . . .

The Ch?irman: Yes, and if according to the expectations of one
of the provinces, parole is rejected, what would you say?

Professor Landreville: I would say that,—I would be very
greaved, if you wish,—but I would then say that if a province rejects
parole, it must be a province where the system is working very badly
at the moment and where there must be lots of complaints. In this
case, I believe that the administration of Justice should somewhat
relate to the expectations of the people in a given region. I do not
believe that this is the case at the moment.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: If I could follow my question a bit further,
the recommendation speaks of committing all prisoners to the
charge of the provinces. How many of the provincial jails in the
provinces, other than Quebec and Ontario, have you visited?

[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: None whatsoever. The recommendation
was then made mostly with respect to the provincial system which is
familiar to me.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: Have you, in the course of your studies, had
an opportunity of studying the attitude of each of the provincial
authorities towards the whole subject of parole systems, prisons and
institutions?

[Translation)

Professor Landreville: May be not directly; I have not examined
it directly, but in studying legislation and their attitude towards
parole or towards the development of a provincial parole system, we
can picture their general attitude towards the correctional field. I
see your objection when you say that some provinces would be
willing to put much doubt in a correctional system. In this case, I fail
to see why no thought has been given, even from the federal
government, as to the possibility of imposing a certain minimum, of
allocating some amounts of money which would be specifically
ear-marked for the correctional field, even of imposing minimum
rules, but in this case, leaving each province free to distribute this
money as it deems fit. But I can very well see your objection that
important problems would arise in some provinces.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: But how would you have a high standard ot
correctional treatment, that you obviously wish to have, applied in
all provinces if you do not have jurisdiction over all the provinces, if
each of the 10 provinces has its own jurisdiction in connection with
this subject?

[Transiation |

Professor Landreville: When it is a question of minimum
security, only money is required for what appears at the heading of
a program where the federal government prescribes certain com-
pulsary standards, when handing out the money, to some rather
sparsely populated regions, by regrouping, for instance, certain
Maritime Provinces, but always imposing minimum conditions.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: How can you apply minim..n standards
legislatively from the federal authority and have them applied in so
many individual cases on a short-term, quick basis, because
applications and decisions must be taken from day to day in this
process?

[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: I wonder if the present prison and
penitentiary legislation is not,—there is also a federal legislation
governing provincial prisons,—I wonder if it is'not a way to impose a



March 7, 1973

Legal and Constitutional Affairs 2:15

minimum system across all provinces. At the moment, there is a
federal legislation providing legal frame for the province’s rights
regarding provincial prisons.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: Turning to another matter, I take it that
recommendation 12 indicates that all persons who are sentenced to
less than two years would come under provincial jurisdiction for
parole purposes?

[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: If my memory serves me well, I think that
this was the recommendation of the Ouimet Commission.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: Have you examined the work of the Ouimet
Committee on that point?

Perhaps I can relieve your mind. It was always one of my own
ideas.

[Transiation)

Professor Landreville: I did not know which report I had to draw
the idea from.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: I would like to come back to this question of
“within custody’’; you still have not satisfied me. On page 2 you say
that the treatment in prison is a very small indication of his
behaviour in free society; and over on page 4 you say we have just
seen that the decision to parole a prisoner is closely related to his
reaction in confinement.

On what basis, if you had to make a parole decision, would you
make it, if you do not take into consideration this man’s conduct
within custody?

[Transilation]

Professor Landreville: Well, as Mr. Nicolas just said, we must
take into account the inmate’s behaviour in the institution. But
there must be no direct relationship between bad behaviour and
parole used, then, as punishment.

Behaviour inside the institution can be a very valuable indication
of whether the inmate is trying to make progress. But he can have a
very negative behaviour, undesirable reactions, which would actually
indicate that he cannot remain in an institution any more, or that if
he stays any longer, his behaviour will increasingly deteriorate. I
think that behaviour must be taken into account, that it is an
indicator which whether positive or negative, must be interpreted in
some individual cases.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Which just happens to be the case right now,
that when the board comes to make a decision, the conduct “within
custody” is not the only criteria. There are many other consid-
erations that the board uses, and it does take into consideration
the circumstances under which the human being has been living, the
pressures, and his natural reaction to those conditions.

[Translation)

Professor Landreville: Yes, but we wanted in particular to
counteract the objection or the current belief that bad behaviour in
an institution is in fact an indication that the inmate is not ready for
parole and should be kept in confinement. I know this is not the
way the Board operates at the present time, but many people think
that it should operate that way and impose such a strict
relationship.

Senator Lapointe: Do you find that judges lack imagination in
their judgments, or do you think that they are limited by the law
and that they are bound to pass sentences which are almost always
the same: prison, prison—or could they impose more imaginative
sentences, like sending the accused to work in Africa for a year, or
things like that?

Professor Landreville: Judges are certainly restricted: they
cannot send someone to work in Africa. However, I think that they
do not make use of all the possibilities afforded them within the
framework of the present legislation.

A moment ago, you spoke about compensation to victims. The
legislation now provides for such a measure in the case of parole.
However, judges very seldom use it.

There are many other provisions—nmew ones relating to inter-
rupted stay in prison—but very few judges use them.

I think that the law should now allow for other solutions, and
this has already been initiated with the new measures adopted last
July. But as far as the present legislation is concerned, as you say,
judges could use more possibilities.

Senator Lapointe: In your opinion, is there lack of contact
between judges and the National Parole Board? Should they meet
from time to time or hold seminars, to co-ordinate their views—
things like that?

Professor Landreville: I do not know whether this comes within
a different purview, but I know that judges have relatively little
contacts with the Board. A more fruitful dialogue would certainly
be desirable. The only time that the engage in a dialogue at present,
is when a crisis erupts and then they criticize each other instead of
having a continuing dialogue to really understand each other.

[Text]
Senator Hastings: Is it not necessary?
[Transiation]

Professor Landreville: Yes, this is most necessary, yet I do not
think it is done very much at the present time; but a better dialogue
would be needed.

Senator Lapointe: A moment ago, we spoke about mandatory
supervision, and things like that which were mentioned in the earlier
recommendations concerning precisely the abolition of the
condition regarding mandatory supervision.

Senator Hastings: Il veut simplement changer le nom.
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Professor Landreville: We do not want the inmate to feel that he
is under mandatory supervision. We want parole to be granted rather
at the end of the sentence, and not the way it is under the present
concept and as the inmates presently understand it, that is an
imposed measure. There is also the fact that we have two concepts
on mandatory supervision and parole. In practice, people also see
two concepts, and so do many officers. We would like parole to be
granted when the sentence is nearing its end, by the same people
having the same concept of the service to be offered to the inmates.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: I should clarify one point for you, Professor
Landreville, which Mr. Therrien, the Assistant Chairman of the
Parole Board, clarified for us yesterday, and that is that no one has
to re-serve his earned remission. If he is brought back he is always
credited with the earned remission.

[Translation]

Professor Landreville: Yes, but in this case I know that there
may have been a change of policy recently. However, if my memory
serves me well, there is a conflict between the Parole Act and the
Penitentiary Act: there are two sections in conflict, but I do not
remember which they are. I think that recently we have followed
the policy of taking into account the Parole Act rather than the
Penitentiary Act, or vice versa, but there still is a conflict in the
legislation.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Getting back to your recommendation that
the suspension would take effect only when it is proved—and I asked
you this previously—proved to whom?

[Translation)

Professor Landreville: This is with a view to proving it to the
Board; that is—in order that the officer can prove to the Board there
has actually been an offence, and that the inmate may then have an
opportunity to defend himself. At the moment, the inmate has no
opportunity to defend himself against a charge, because no charges
are laid. He should be told: you are charged with this offence; now
what have you got to say? Can you submit any defence?

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Well, Professor Landreville, that is exactly
the way it stands. If the man who has been suspended is brought
into custody he is interviewed by a member of the Parole Service
who informs him as to why he has been brought into custody. It
is then referred to the board either to reinstate the parole or issue
a revocation order. The man has every opportunity to appear
before the board the next time it is in the institution.

[Translation]

Professor Landreville: The inmate can appear before the
committee but, at the present time, we can suspend or revoke him
without any obligation to prove that there has been a breach of
condition. The Act even provides that if an officer believes the
individual is about to commit a breach of condition, he may
suspend or revoke him.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: He can suspend, but not revoke. The only
authority to revoke the parole lies with the board.

Mr. Nicolas: Yes.
[Translation]

Professor Landreville: The only people revoked are revoked by
the Board: they can be revoked even if they have not committed
any breach of condition.

Senator Lapointe: But is there a difference between being
suspended and revoked? Can he be suspended for three months,
for example?

Professor Landreville: No. This misbehaviour should last for a
maximum of 14 days before he can be revoked.

Senator Lapointe: Can inmates be suspended only, and then
reinstated, so to speak, later on without being revoked?

Professor Landreville: Yes.

Mr. Nicolas: There is then a possibility that within those 14
days the officer may release the individual or that later the Board
may cancel the suspension.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: The parole officer interviews the inmate in
custody and informs him as to why he has been suspended. He
can either reinstate the parole or refer it to the board with a
recommendation to revoke. The board makes the final decision as
to revocation or reinstatement.

[Transiation]
Mr. Nicolas: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Ce que nous demandrons . .. La Commission
prend-elle la décision finale?

Mr. Nicolas: Yes, as far as revocation is concerned.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: There is quite a difference between a
suspension and parole. This is covered by section 16 of the act and
the Procedure set out in the subsequent subsections. The suspension
procedure can be imposed rather arbitrarily and then the parole
inmate,

... shall be brought as soon as conveniently may be before a
magistrate, and the magistrate shall remand the inmate in
custody until the suspension of his parole is cancelled or his
parole is revoked or forfeited.

Then it goes on the deal with the review of the suspension, the
effect of the suspension, and then the clauses respecting forfeiture
of parole. Those are two separate and distinct things.

[Transtation)

Professor Landreville: But perhaps I might read une paragraph to
emphasize what we really mean, what our conception really is.
Section 16(1) reads as follows:

A member of the Board or any person designated by the
Board may, by a warrant in writing signed by him, suspend
any parole, other than a parole that has been discharged, and
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authorize the apprehension of a paroled inmate whenever he
is satisfied that the arrest of the inmate is necessary or
desirable in order to prevent a breach of any term or
condition of the parole or for the rehabilitation of the inmate
or the protection of society.

So it appears to us that this section just puts a very large
discretionary power into the hands of the officer who may suspend
parole if he simply believes or is satisfied that the arrest of the
inmate is necessary or desirable in order to prevent a breach of any
term or condition of the parole or for the rehabilitation of the
inmate or the protection of society. We would prefer this section to
be deleted and the Act to say only: when the inmate has committed
a breach of parole. This is exactly what we mean.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Which would be too late, sir, in many, many
cases.

[Translation]

Professor Landreville: Probably, in some cases.
Le sénateur Hastings: Dans bien des cas.

Professor Landreville: But in several cases, the inmate would not
have the impression that he is denied his freedom without reason.
Thus, we simply want to limit the discretionary power of the parole
officer. For example, comparing with probation, a probation
warrant cannot be revoked on mere suspicion alone. To revoke
probation, it must be proven that there has been a breach of
condition, and this can simply not be done before the fact.

Senator Lapointe: For example, if he has threatened once or
twice to kill his wife.

The President: We have to wait until he has killed her!
[Text]

Senator Hastings: With great respect, I have yet to meet a parole
officer who would suspend without just cause, nor one who would
not go to great lengths to avoid suspension.

Mr. Chairman, will the brief be included in the record of today’s
proceedings?

The Chairman: You may make that motion, if you wish. We are
not doing it with all briefs.

Senator Hastings: It is a very liberal brief—that is a small “1”
liberal—and I think it should be included.

The Chairman: Is it agreed that this brief be included in the
proceedings?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

See Appendix “A” pp. 2:31-2:36
[Translation]

The President: Well, on behalf of the committee, I thank you
very much for your brief and your patience.

[Text]

I suggest that we take a ten-minute recess before we hear the
next group.

[Translation]

The President: Now we will hear the presentation of the second
part of the study made by the School of Criminology of the
University of Montreal. We have with us Mr. Beaulne, Mr. Blain and
Mr. Paradis; who is first?

Who is going to start: Is it you?

Mr. René Blain: The fundamental assumption of the study is,
then, based on the debates which took place before your Committee
with the members of the Board.

So let us say no, not on this basis, but parole is the final stage of
the treatment in institution. It has been presented as a continuum
beginning with the admission into the institution. To explore this
continuum, we have established a basic rationale. We start with the
inmate entering the legal system, that is, from the moment he is
convicted. He then starts asking himself questions about parole.
How shall I get out of this jail? Thus begins a potential parole. This
is the first stage of potential parole. In principle, this potential
parole develops in the institution through treatment. The moment
comes when the inmate begins to be really concerned with parole.
He submits an application to the Board and his case is then
discussed; it becomes a case under study. This is the second stage of
potential parole.

Finally, once the Board has studied his case and if, under
external or internal criteria, it is of the opinion that he is entitled to
parole, the inmate then reaches the third stage, which is the actual
parole: he is then a paroled inmate.

Our approach was to hold group discussions with groups of six
inmates. We obtained a sample of 162 inmates in federal and
provincial institutions, and former inmates as well. The discussions
dealt with certain issues of this basic rationale. As I said, the first
stage of potential parole is treatment and, more precisely, treatment
in the institution. This is the first topic.

Secondly, what are the advantages and disadvantages to an
inmate of potential parole, that is, to a confined inmate? His case
has not yet been studied, but he hears about parole. What does that
bring to him? Does that really motivate him or, on the contrary,
will that be detrimental to him?

The third topic concerns the Board, that is its membership, its
operation, any thing that has to do with the Board.

The fourth topic deals with internal criteria, that is: what does
the institution do to help the inmate to obtain parole? At this
stage, we do not deal with the treatment, but rather with
administration, personnel, employment officers and others; what
they actually do to help the inmate to obtain parole?

The fifth topic deals with external criteria that the board uses:
police report, community report or anything else.

The sixth topic concerns the actual parole, that is: what are the
problems of the paroled inmate? What does he face while on
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parole? The seventh and concluding topic of discussion is: what do
the inmates recommend in respect of what we have discussed?

The topic itself was as simple and as objective as possible, in
order that the inmates could vent their concern without being
directed or without being led to say things they did not believe.
Moreover, we have not touched in our questions on external criteria.
We simply asked: what are the criteria of the Board?, without
saying: what do you think of the police report? The inmate was
free to emphasize what was important to him.

In the institutions visited, the demand itself centered on very
specific stages in the basic rationale; the mates were in fact more
concerned with potential parole. So they dealt at length with this
point, without of course neglecting others, because to them this was
the most important. But people in half-way houses, for example,
were more interested in actual parole, so they dwelt more on it,
while touching on the other points however, since they have of
course lived through them.

Mr. André Beaulne: So, here is a brief summary of these
meetings with the inmates. As a matter of fact, a document on this
is included in the text that has just been circulated. I shall simply
read a few sentences in order to put ourselves in the picture.
Concerning adjustment of sentences, the inmate is first submitted to
:v.uch an adjustment in relation to the eligibility date. So the inmate
is aware that the judge, in adjusting his sentence, takes into account
the possibility that he may be paroled. The inmates . . .

[Text]

Senator Hastings: The inmate says this or thinks this?
| Transiation)

Mr. Beaulne: I beg your pardon.

Le sénateur Hastings: Le détenu le pergoit-il, ou le pense-t-il?

Mr. Beaulne: Is aware, yes.
[Text ]

. Senator Hastings: You have heard my question to the previous
w1tn§sses. Do you have any evidence that this is the case or are
you just conveying to the committee the views of the inmates?

[Translation |

Mr. Beaulne: Yes. The thing is we went out to see the inmates.

We asked them: what is your opinion on each of these topics?
And that is what they told us.

Senator !Eudes: Do you talk about the sentences that the
inmates received from the judges? Now, have you been out to see
the judges?

Mr. Beaulne: No, no, not at all. We transmit . . .

Mr. Blain: If T may, I shall give an example in that area. Mr.
Paradis and myself are at the present time working as clinicians at
the Bordeaux jail. I recently dealt with the case of an inmate who
has been sentenced to five months. He had also been tried, two
years before and convicted. Now, the sentence was postponed

from time to time, and he received it only recently on this
particular case. What happened is that the individual will be
released on Friday. He got the final sentence last week, so this
matter had been dragging on for two years, and his chances of
being paroled or getting day parole were in these circumstances
totally annihilated because no release could be granted when there
was a judgment or a sentence pending. Can we say that the judge
was aware of that or that he was acting in the best interests of
the inmate? It is hard to say, but it is nevertheless a case that is
rather . ..

Senator Eudes: But you do not answer my question. You just
said that you had questioned inmates who say that the sentence
they received from the judge is related to their possibility of being
paroled. Now, in this case, there are likely two different offences,
or two different crimes.

Mr. Beaulne: It is on the same offence.

Senator Eudes: On the same facts.

Mr. Beaulne: There were two different charges.

Senator Lapointe: So all your brief is simply stating the
opinion of inmates, and not necessarily yours?

Mr. Beaulne: It does not state our opinion.

Senator Lapointe: Very well.

Mr. Blain: We want to be spokesmen for the inmates.
Senator Lapointe: Precisely.

Senator Eudes: So, you report what the inmates told you?
Mr. Beaulne: Exactly.

Mr. Blain: We want the other point of view to be heard.
The Chairman: Have you not questioned judges?

Mr. Paradis: No, since the terms of reference for this study
were precisely to report on how the inmates saw the situation.

The Chairman: Yes, I understand.

Senator Eudes: In your opinion, is not the judge a person who
is nevertheless in a position to assess the rehabilitation possibilities
of the man he sentences, as much as the inmate can tell you?

Mr. Beaulne: No; let us say that this document was based on
everything that we have gathered from various meetings which
totalled, I understand, about 20 meetings. This text synthesizes
elements that came up in all the meetings in the various
institutions.

I wonder if this answers you question.
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Senator Eudes: Yes. It goes on.

Mr. Beaulne: All right.
[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: Could I follow that point? This group you
met with, were they a group of prisoners who volunteered, within
that prison?

[7ransiation]

Mr. Beaulne: They were free to attend these meetings. No
pressure was exercised. We simply posted a notice that a meeting
was scheduled.

Mr. Paradis: I, myself, contacted the directors of these
institutions, asking if it was possible to form groups in their
institutions in order precisely to discuss parole.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: So you did not interview all the inmates in
the institution. You only interviewed those who came forward of
their own volition.

Senator Eudes: Well, they interviewed 162.

Senator Hastings: You interviewed 162 inmates. How many
ex-inmates did you interview?

Mr. Beaulne: Eight.

Senator Quart: Only in one institution?

Senator Hastings: Was that eight parolees or eight ex-inmates?
| Transiation |

Mr. Beaulne: That is quite correct.

Senator Hastings: Vous avez dit 162 prisonniers?

Mr. Beaulne: Eight.

Senator Hastings: Huit libérations conditionnelles, ou bien . ..

Mr. Beaulne: In three institutions, we have talked with ex-
inmates.

May I proceed?

So,—inmates have doubts about the relevance of parole . . .
[Text]

Senator Williams: When you posted your notice in this insti-
tution, populationwise what was the attendance—and when I say
“populationwise,” 1 mean in terms of the total numbers of that
institution. And out of that total number, how many come to
your meetings voluntarily?

[Translation ]

Mr. Paradis: It all depends on the number of poeple in the
institution. For instance, at the special correctional unit, I believe
there were 72 inmates at that time, we have seen fit to meet two
groups of 6 individuals, by group naturally. At the Leclerc
Institute, for example, where the population was over 400 at that
time, we have had I believe four discussion groups, four interview
groups. Obviously, it all depends on the number of individuals in
an institution.

In transition or half-freedom institutions, it was rather hard at
that time even to find a group of 6. Therefore, there have been
groups of 3 or 4 inmates. It should also be mentioned that the
inmates, were feeling, I would say, all the more at ease to talk
that parole representatives or officers, or members of the
administration, were not present. In my view, freedom was that
much greater.

[Text]

Senator Williams: With respect to some of those volunteers
who would attend your meeting and be interviewed by your
group, were some of them in for four years, six years, eight years
and ten years, perhaps?

[Transiation]

Mr. Paradis: Naturally, perhaps you do not have here the
implementation of the study.

Mr. Beaulne: No, we do not have it.

Mr. Paradis: You have, on page 22 of the report, the number of
individuals by institution who were interviewed; of a total number
of 72 at the special correctional institute, you had two groups
totalling 12 inmates.

[Text]
Senator Williams: No, I have not the appendix.

Senator Eudes: We just have a resumé.

Senator Williams: If I can get that document, Mr. Chairman, that
will satisfy me.
[Translation]

The Chairman: Proceed.

Mr. Blain: I think that the average would be about 50, in all the
samples.

Le sénateur Hastings: Moyenne de quoi?

Mr. Blain: The average of sentences. The inmates doubt the
relevancy of parole considering the large increase in the length of
sentences since the setting up of the National Board.

Judges sometimes act as if obtaining parole is assured on the aate
of admissibility. Nothing could be further from the truth. It is even
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dangerous and unjust for the future of an individual to gamble by
giving him a long sentence, because, if his request is refused, he will
serve a number of unwarranted additional years.

Inmates asked about rehabilitation as such said that rehabil-
itation in general is not found in prisons. It is society’s way of
clearing itself while also giving itself a sense of security by claiming
that the guilty will receive a rehabilitation treatment. This results in
an hypocritical game played by the inmate who wants to get out.

Rehabilitation does not exist when there is no real institutional
base for the examination of the ‘“behaviourial” progress of the
applicants, except for brief meetings on rare occasions with the
classification officer or the specialist.

When confined to a prison, the inmate is faced with the problem
of isolation; he has no responsibility and is completely dependant
on society. He must play the game that the penitentiary service
wants him to play. He has nothing to say about the decisions which
concern him directly. Parole is used by the penitentiary authorities
as a means of applying pressure, as ““a means of blackmail”, and not
for rehabilitation purposes.

The inmates told us: here is what we are being told by the
authorities: if you do not comply with this requirement, an

unsatisfactory report will be made in your respect and you will not

be paroled.

There is a true parole when the individual becomes converted of
his own will and abides by the social rules. However, nothing can
help the inmate in this respect while in the penitentiary or in prison.
It is while on parole, when faced again with physical problems and
with responsibilities that he can readapt himself socially providing
he is motivated and receives appropriate moral help.

With respect to the institution itself, the inmates feel that the
penitentiary administration is distant and they complain about the
distrust which exists when communicating—besides, there hardly is
any such thing as communication. The penitentiary authorities want
to keep the inmate locked in his status of prisoner. At the same
time, there is no comprehensive planning so that would enable a
better evaluation of the inmates’ behaviour to be made and nothing
is done to help him acquire a true sense of social responsibilities. So,
we asked them: What do you consider as an ideal penal institution?
We were told: The institution should play a greater role in
rehabilitation by favouring programmes capable of making the
inmates aware of their self-identity, of stimulating their willingness
toassume responsibilities at various levels, of adopting system for the
purpose of assessing the real efforts of the inmates held in
institutions on which would serve as a reliable base for the National
Parcle Board in reaching decisions. Briefly, the inmates are
unanimous in saying that communication must be encouraged at the
following three levels: the penal administration, National Parole
Board and the inmates.

As for the National Parole Board, it is considered as being
inaccessible and distant. There is truly no dialogue between
commissioners and applicants: hearings are disconcertingly short.
On the other hand, procedures take much time and the admissibility
date is often passed by under the mention “decision reserved”’.

The real deciding factors which enter into play are ignored.

As for matters related to personality, attitudes, and human
contact with the commissioners, they are considered impersonal by
the inmates. They do not permit a real dialogue with the applicant
at the hearing. They press him to answer ambiguous questions about
the institutional treatment programme—which does not exist, his
accomplices, his private life, etc.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Which all has a bearing with respect to the
granting of parole.

Mr. Beaulne: Pardon?

Senator Hastings: The questions you just indicated that he is
asked by the board simply might have a bearing with respect to the
granting of parole. Do you agree that they are relevant?

[Transiation)

Senator Lapointe: It is said that these questions obviously have
no relation with his parole, the offence, and the treatment
programme, in relation with probation conditions?

Mr. Beaulne: The inmate cannot make this distinction. He is in an
institution, he lives in an institution, he is supposed to be preparing
himself to leave; in saying that, he reads it entirely; it is they who
have given him that.

Does that answer your question?
[Text]

Senator Hastings:
observation. Excuse me.

It was not a question; it was just an

[Translation]
Mr. Beaulne: Fine, — thank you.

Senator Lapointe: The other paragraph, read it, so it will be put
on record, because it is very important.

Mr. Beaulne: Several groups think of the commissioners as
incompetent and sadistic. The over representation of repressiveness
within the Board is blamed fiercely. In spite of the applicant’s
efforts in a (penal) institution, the arbitrary and overbearing power
of its members cut short any objective chance of obtaining parole.

Questioned on what the National Parole Board should be like,
the inmates said: To compensate for the Board’s remoteness and
also its ineffectiveness, the overhaul would lead to institutionalizing
the National Parole Board, that is the setting up of a permanent,
regionalized board assigned to each penal institution. It goes
without saying that the rehabilitation system will then be able to
develop in a more functional way. Thus the admissibility date would
cease to be relevant because the staff, which will be more qualified
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and more numerous, will be able to follow closely the behavioural
development of the inmate. When he will be ready for probation,
the inmate will be able to take advantage of it, while the waiting
period will not have all the detrimental effects corresponding to a
long period of imprisonment.

The autonomy of that new Parole Board would no longer
depend on the institution because it will be an integral part of the
“prison” environment.

We also asked them what they thought of the various implica-
tions concerning parole as experienced by them, because there were
some who had been on probation before. The most important
problem they have seems to be a negative opinion of the public has
about the former inmate. The most serious consequence of this is
the difficulty to find employment. Money problems seem to be of a
crucial nature. If the parolee cannot find employment, he will then
have to live by his own wits which will lead him back sooner or later
to the “prison” environment.

The probation officer is seen as being too suspicious and as
having a tendency to establish a master-dependent relationship. A
relationship based upon lending help seems to be more effective
in maintaining individual motivation.

The efforts which a parolee is willing to make to fulfill
probationary requirements are sometimes thwarted though too
strict a police supervision and parole regulations which are both
illogical and too difficult to observe.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: If I could return to that section again on
sentencing, where you said that in the view of the inmates the
sentence was irrelevant to parole, my first question is this: Do the
inmates ever consider it relevant as to the offence?

[Translation)

Mr. Beaulne: I did not quite understand the meaning of the
question. Could you repeat it, please? I do apologize.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: You stated that the inmate regards the
sentence as being irrelevant to his opportunities for parole. I ask
you: Does he ever consider his sentence as being relevant to the
offence which he has committed and on which he has been
convicted?

[7ransiation |

Mr. Beaulne: Firstly, we did not say that ourselves; the
inmates did. That is the first distination. Then, did you under-
stand the question? ...

Mr. Paradis: Yes. I understood the question as such: “Is the
sentence relevant? ”. This is your question: “Does the inmate
consider it as relevant or porportionate to his offence”?

Le sénateur Hastings: A son délit?

Mr. Paradis: Actually, that question was not brought up as
such.

[Text]

Senator McGrand: You have spoken once or twice about when
the inmate is ready for parole. Now you have done extensive
research in your work, and the file on the prisoner includes all
about his criminal record. But have you done any research into
the childhood background of these prisoners? Events in childhood
at the age of, say, 10, when he was probably a battered child,
certainly influence his conduct at the age of 30. Now, if you have
done any research in this field, what influence does it have in the
granting of parole, and would you just take it from there and say
something about it?

[Transiation |

Mr. Beaulne: What you merely want to say is: Has the inmate
been influenced by the circle in which he lived? Is there any
connection between the atmosphere of his surroundings and the
offence he committed? Do I understand your question properly?

[Text]

Senator McGrand: Well, what I mean is this; we know that
what happens to a child when he is 8, 9 or 10 years of age,—or
even younger,—does influence his conduct as he grows up. But I
have a feeling that our courts, and so on, pay very little attention
to the childhood of a prisoner when they are sentencing him for a
particular offence. Have you done any research into the childhood
of these prisoners to find out what happened that could influence
then?

[Transiation |

Mr. Paradis: I think it would be useful for you to consult the
articles written by Bruno Cormier in the Journal de la Société
canadienne de criminologie, where you would find, I think, an
answer to this question.

Mr. Beaulne: Irrelevantly.
[Text]

Senator McGrand: I have tried to get some information on the
background of prisoners and I never was able to get it. Where
could I get that?

[Translation |

Mr. Paradis: You have, at the moment, a paper, written par
Mr. Fréchette, of the Criminology Department, in which he deals
mainly with the problem of identification of the recidivist during
his first years of imprisonment, and where there is question of all
the problems which can affect him, of his past behaviour and of
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his actual conduct when he is still imprisoned, as well as of his
behaviour when he leaves prison.

[Text]
Senator McGrand: Is this thesis in English or in French?
[Transiation]

Mr. Beaulne: In French.

Mr. Blain: But Mr. Cormier’s article in “La Société canadienne
de criminologie” was written in English.

Senator McGrand: Number 1?
Mr. Blain: Is it published in No. 1 or No. 2?
[Text]
Senator McGrand: Number 1?
Mr. Blain: One or two, I am not sure. One of the first numbers.

Senator Hastings: Your brief contains some observations which
certainly represent the view of a number of inmates of institutions. I
find them negative and uninformed, and many of them are
paranoid. I would like to go through them with you, and perhaps
you will tell me whether you agree with them or what you did to
correct the situation.

[Translation

Mr. Beaulne: If you allow me to say so, you bring in very well
the third part of the discussion; Mr. Paradis will reply to you.

Mr. Paradis: First of all, in order to sum up what has just been
said, I must say that there is an information we had to get by
ourselves; we had to do conduct group discussions in the institutions
and have acted as group leaders. In the case of the basic rationale
which the inmate did not understand and which left him rather
puzzled was the following question: “After all, is parole something
of a candy which an inmate is offered while serving his sentence?
The National Parole Board has merely said that Parole, ... so to
speak is a factor or an important means fo social apprenticeship for
the individual. Therefore we wanted to discover exactly in that
sense whether the inmate sees that step as being an important step
in his re-integration into society. We came to the conclusion that the
inmate sees parole if he ever gets one as being a sort of chance that
is given to him; it was not so much a need for re-integration into
society but rather they see it as a special favour that is given to him.

[Text]
Senator Hastings: They see it as a way out as quickly as possible.
[7ransiation

Mr. Paradis: According to the basic rationale, it was exactly
meant to determine whether the inmate had, within him, a

possibility for reintegration. Taking into account existing means—
and the National Board and eventual parole is one of them—is this,
for the inmate, a means towards his social reintegration? He does
not consider it as such having regard to institutional environment, to
his situation when on parole, and also, if you will, to the phases of
half-freedom which, according to him, he would be thrown into.
Therefore, he would not have any decision to take concerning his
own reintegration.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: So, there is a misconception regarding parole,
it seems, by the press, the public, the courts; and now the inmates
do not understant it—at least, the group that you interviewed.

[Translation)

Mr. Paradis: In fact, they have a very bad opinion which could
run parallel to that prevail in the public. But I believe that a kind of
balance could be struck some time in the future between the two
groups, their opinions, views, as appears at page 8 of your form. We
have prepared, at a certain point, a plan which, according to the
inmate, would correspond to the gradual learning of freedom that
he wishes to experience. First of all, as we have just said, the inmate
would rather not have an alien body deciding on his parole or his
half-freedom, because, according to its present arrangements, the
Board is an alien body while he would much prefer an institution-
alized commission, a commission which would follow him up in the
field, taking into account the means now available to him. There
are, at the present time, some prisons and penitentiaries where it is
already possible for the inmate to be granted temporary absences
and, furthermore he would like to be granted a half-freedom. There
are already half-way houses which can take complete responsibility
for the discharge of the inmate or for his parole. This would also
represent an important step, but only after a period of half-freedom.
The inmate would gradually advance towards complete freedom.
This is the pattern in which he his.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: On page 2 of your brief it says:

... Since the National Parole Board relies mainly on out-
dated instead of recent data. . .

Where do they get that idea?
[Transiation]

Mr. Blain: We mean that we are not interested in their behaviour
in prison, whether they are sincere or not, whether they change or
rehabilitate themselves, if we are interested in what they have done
in the past, what job they had and what their matrimonial relations
were. They also told us that the Board has studied the institution’s
report but considers it as more or less important because they know
very well that the classification officer deals with too many inmates
to be able to produce a really reliable report on any given inmate.

Senator Lapointe: Still, this report, simple as it may be, would
be better than no report at all!
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Mr. Blain: But at a given moment, we have called this report
“the report of reports”. It is the report of the classification officers.
It is often a question of compiling a report on the basis of those
made by the guards and supervisors, and from this, we have tried to
produce something without really knowing the person concerned.

Senator Lapointe: On page 2, you state that the inmates are very
critical of the rehabilitation system within the institution, since they
call it a monumental joke; is this somewhat exaggerated in your
opinion or are they right in saying this? At any rate, is any attempt
at rehabilitation being made in the centres?

Mr. Blain: Efforts are being made to this effect, they are
endeavouring to start something, but I would say that the
administration has to deal with a hierarchy which is not terribly
cooperative in this respect. There is a lack of communication
between the staff, the various levels of the personnel, and between
professionals, administrators, psychologists, and so on. Moreover,
there is a serious lack of qualified personnel for the work to be done
in the institutions. This being the case, is it really possible for us to
set up a truly efficient rehabilitation system, in views of the fact
that we are short of personnel and that the people in the institution
cannot really communicate among themselves. This is the present
situation.

Senator Lapointe: Do you feel that there are institutions where
the system works better than in others, or do you think that they
are all just about equal in this regard?

Mr. Beaulne: There are certain differences. We have noted that
there are differences at the Waterloo prison. When I say in an
institution, it is to that institution I am referring, but this institution
put aside, the answers given by other groups conformed to the
image that has been presented.

Senator Lapointe: It is a very harsh criticism to say that all
members of the National Parole Board are inefficient and sadistic. It
is a little bit hard!

Mr. Beaulne: Yes, I admit it.

Senator Lapointe: As far as prisoners are concerned, whom
would they like to have as Parole Board members, since they allege
there is too much repressive representation, that is, too many
policemen or do they consider judges as being repressive people,
since you include them in the repressive representation structure?

Mr. Beaulne: I believe that in the inmates’ minds, judges are part
of the repressive system. They say so because at the hearing which
lasts 2, 5 or 10 minutes, they get the impression of being judged a
second time.

Senator Lapointe: Whom would they like to have on this
Board? Would they like... I am at a loss myself, but we cannot
pick up some members of the Mafia just because they would be
more understanding.

Mr. Chairman: Maybe some senators!

Mr. Blain: As it happens. I have with me the inmate’s
recommendation concerning the Board’s composition. They ask that
the Board be formed of various specialists working in therapeutic
teams thus insuring the Board’s ability. By specialists, I mean social
workers, psychologists and people who are rather chosen from
rehabilitation circles.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: That is what they have now; there is one judge
on the board, so they seem to think they are all judges. There is one
policeman.

Senator Mcllraith: There are no policemen.
[Translation]
M. Blain: There is a judge and a policeman.

Mr. Paradis: Yes, but as far as inmates are concerned the
Commission is a basic accepted line. It is seen as a faraway body or,
if you like, an alien body which comes in to decide on the inmate’s
desire to reintegrate society whereas he did not meet that body
during his confinement. I think that the Board is considered as an
alien body.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: They say that we served; it is just not that
way. When the board sits down to interview an inmate it has the
institution report, the community report and any other reports it
desires and has an interview with the inmate. Now, I just do not
know how this statement can be made, that he does not know the
man. Yesterday Mr. Therrien said that while the interview lasts on
an average of 40 minutes, 20 minutes without the man and 20 with
him present, it takes hours of preparation before he sits down to
talk with the man. This is a negative attitude that seems to exist in
the minds of the men. The board does not sit down to attempt to
figure out how to keep a man in jail.

[Translation]

M. Paradis: Yes, the first thing you mention is the report. Those
reports are prepared in the institution, and if for instance, we
consider the staff and the number of inmates in most institutions,
we find that the same placement officer has a large caseload so
that these reports, according to him, are hastily prepared and
generally represent a synopsis of a summary. Concerning his
institutional work, reports made by instructors or by supervisors are
in the inmate’s opinion chain production reports. I have myself
worked in an institution and if we look at the way the inmate is
evaluated according to his daily behaviour, I think that assessing him
with letters from A to J or 1 to 10 does not mean much. Fine.
Moreover, I feel that where the Board’s responsibility is concerned
one of the wishes that has been expressed is that the inmate would
be much more in favour of an appeal board. Moreover, he thinks
there should also be a Committee which would decide on his degree
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of freedom in the institution and this Committee would discuss the
treatment or any other aspect. Moreover, there should be, at a given
point, a possibility of appealing in some way to the existing Board.
Therefore, it is much closer, although we would like it to remain
remote, while at a given point, it should be made into an appeal
board, if need be. However, matters concemning semi-freedom
should be left to the Institution or to the group who, in fact, knows
this individual.

Senator Lapointe: Yes, but if you say that this group, who
knows the inmates does not have the time, the competence, and
that the reports are only half done, it is not more intelligent
basically than the Parole Board.

Mr. Paradis: Yes, this is true, but at that point, the inmate will
probably answer that all those experts who are being used should be
assigned to the institutions and that they should be allowed to go
out with these same experts. You understand that the whole set of
experts presently outside of the institution who would occasionally
give their opinion on community or other reports would probably
prefer to see them in the institution, to see them act and so on.

Senator Lapointe: Obviously, there are not only nine members,
it would seem, on the National Board and they themselves regret the
fact that they are only nine and that they do not have the time to
interview each individual during an hour and a half, as would be
highly desirable. I feel that the number of members on the Board
should be increased so that each individual can get more attention.

Mr. Paradis: Yes.

Senator Lapointe: Yet, there simply are so few of them that
they cannot be distributed in each institution. In short, they are
experts since they do this type of work during the whole year.
These nine people cannot be distributed among the many institu-
tions throughout Canada. There should be many more of them.

Mr. Paradis: Or, there should be more of them on location, that
is in the institutions where they could live and be part of the staff.
They would have to give their opinion before a group, maybe in
front of the commissioners, or outside, or before a group. The only
thing they want is to have a group who can observe how they live in
the institution. If these people saw them living in the institutions
maybe they could have their word in the paroling of an individual.
They could give advice in this respect.

Senator Lapointe: Therefore, do you feel that if there was a
greater number of officers in the institution, if they had a greater
degree of competence, if they wrote better reports, if they made a
better study of each case, that when the members of the Board
came for their visit, they would be much better informed and would
do a better job?

Mr. Paradis: Yes, exactly.
[Text]
Senator Mcllraith: May we return to the paragraph that is very

critical of the *...repressive members on the National Parole
Board, such as the ex-chief of police . ..”, who is named, . . . for-

mer judges, etc.” Let us deal firstly with the ex-chief of police. You
are from the University of Montreal School of Criminology, are you
not?

Mr. Blain: Yes.

Senator Mcllraith: Could you tell me what degrees in the
specialist field the ex-chief of police, Mr. Gilbert, holds from your
university?

Senator Lapointe: He is a chief of police.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, but what degrees does he hold?
Mr. Blain: A master’s degree.

Senator Mcllraith: A master’s degree in criminology?

Mr. Beaulne: Yes.

[Translation)

Mr. Paradis: Yes.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: So then, are we to conclude that in getting
the specialists in the field, the ones who hold masters degrees in
criminology, you must find out what additional experience or
training they have in life and, presumably, take only those who
came directly from school into the course?

[Translation)

Mr. Blain: The inmates object to this former chief of police
because, as they say, a chief of police whose policy has been to put
all criminals in jail cannot, overnight, change his outlook on
prisoners. He has done that for a long time and this repressive trait
has become part of his personality. Therefore, even if he tried very
hard to change, it is certain that this repressive nature is always
there.

Senator Lapointe: But, do you admit that he wants to put
criminals in jail until they are released, or what?

Mr. Blain: No. We mean that as a police chief his purpose was to
arrest criminals.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: Allow me to follow that up. I know
something of the qualifications and references today, and so on, and
you rather alarmed me by that horrendous assumption which you
have made. What evidence have you that as chief of police he
wanted to put these people behind bars?

[Translation]

Mr. Beaulne: It is in their minds that the prisoners see him as
such. If I am answering the question properly, they look at the
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former police chief as somebody who has spent his life arresting
people. He is now appointed to the National Parole Board but, to
them, he is still entrenched in this repressive attitude.

[Text]

Senator Mcliraith: Did you have any discussion on this point
when they asserted this point of view to you?

[Translation)

Mr. Paradis: No. In general, there was no question of discussing
with inmates any disagreements on certain points during our group
meetings. We were really trying to find out what they thought
within about the present Board or whatever else. There was no
question of saying: “Indeed, listen a bit, you are wrong on such a
point or you are going too far.”

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: If I may follow up on that with respect to the
chiefs of police, then I suppose you would have to deduce that they
assumed that all chiefs of police, of whom there are many thousands
in Canada, want to put people in jail. Would that follow?

|Transiation]
Mr. Beaulne: In general, I think it would be in this direction, yes.

Mr. Paradis: The fact is, if we take into account the groups we
have met, we can say that the reaction, towards this particular body
was quite negative. This is all I can say. We can say that the prisoner
considers. . .

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: I suppose, then, they would apply the same
kind of reasoning to all judges? That would follow; and I suppose,
if they wanted to follow it a little further, it would apply to all
persons who saw them commit a crime and reported it, but not to
those who saw them commit a crime and did not report it. Would
that be a logical conclusion?

[Transiation)

Mr. Beaulne: You infer things that go further than our terms of
reference since we did not have to ask them for more details on the
matter than we have. This could have influenced them; we could not
ask them whether they believed this or that. We could not do it.

[Text]

Senator Mcllraith: What troubles me is that the thrust of your
brief talks about specialists. Then it excludes very quickly the
specialists who claim to be specialists in this field. It then includes
other specialists whom a great section of society, although not the
School of Criminology, include as specialists in this field. I am
trying to find out to what specialists they refer.

The Chairman: May I read you a clipping from the Montreal
Gazette of March 2:

Ex—convict on parole board.

Chicago: “The governor wanted somebody who knows
the loneliness of a prison cell,” says John M. Nolan, a new
appointee to the Illinois Pardon and Parole Board. And Nolan
has that experience. He served eight years and four months at
the federal penitentiary at Lewisburg, Pa., on a 25-year
sentence for bank robbery and still has two years to go on his
own parole.

[Translation]

Mr. Blain: This is indeed one of the recommendations put
forward by the prisoners, that former inmates be appointed to the
Board, because they know the problems facing the prisoner. They
also suggested that members of the Board spend some time in penal
institutions to really get the feel. . .

[Text]
Senator Mcllraith: Is that what you want?

The Chairman: I was reading something to you that I happened
to pick up in the Gazette last week.

Senator Mcllraith: Do they know whether or not there are any
ex-convicts on the staff of the board?

[Translation]

Mr. Beaulne: I think they believe that there are no former
inmates on the National Board.

Mr. Blain: Nor in the Public Service.
Mr. Beaulne: Nor in the Public Service; they are well informed.
Le sénateur Hastings: Eh bien, ils le sont.
Mr. Beaulne: Well, I have just learned it from you.
[Text]
Senator Mcllraith: There are?

Senator Hastings: Of the 162 that you interviewed, how many
had been refused parole?

[Translation]
Mr. Paradis: There were no. . .

Mr. Blain: Yes, there were S1.
[Text]

Fifty-one received parole and 111 did not.
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Senator Hastings: Fifty-one had applied and been deferred, and
111 had yet to appear?

Mr. Blain: They did not have it or they were refused.

Senator Hastings: You gave me a figure of 162 that you
interviewed. How many had applied for parole and been deferred or
otherwise?

Mr. Blain: We do not have that number. We have only the
number of those who received parole. The inmates were in—

Senator Lapointe: Halfway houses.

Senator Quart: Were any of the inmates that you interviewed
qualified people in different lines, such as psychiatrists, or ex-
policemen? Did you take the background of any of the inmates
that you interviewed? Were they willing to let you have their
names, even if not for publication? I think this is an extraordinary
statement when you say, “It is a colossal farce, since the National
Parole Board relies mainly on outdates instead of recent data. ..
to grant parole.” How did they know that? Just how did they
come to that conclusion?

Senator Quart: You have the names?
[Transiation

Mr. Paradis: Let us say that the information we have on these
people,—we had the names. . .

Le sénateur Quart: Vous avez les noms?

Mr. Paradis: We had the names,—but we assured them no names
would be published.

Senator Quart: No,—it is all right.

Mr. Paradis: The information we have about them deals with
infractions, age, sentences, sex, etc.

[Text]

Senator Quart: When you approached the inmates of these
various institutions to interview them, did they understand that it
was just for research, or did they think that you were there as well
to sympathize with them against the Parole Board, the establish-
ment, or judges? Did you, after their testimony, leave them with
the impression that you agreed with them?

[Transiation]

Mr. Beaulne: I could answer your question by reading a short
text we have written,—the introductory text we read before any
discussions with inmates.

I am from the University of Montreal and my name is N.
We are conducting a survey on the opinion and experience
you have of the parole system. I am not a parole officer and

your participation in this discussion will not be taken into
account when considering your own parole.

I am a member of a group visiting different penitentiaries
and prisons to gather the opinions of inmates on the subject.
The final report of this survey will be sent to the Canadian
Senate for the fall session where the question of parole will
be examined. Our purpose was to contact those who are
mainly concerned with this subject and also to complete the
studies in order to obtain an image of what justice is in the
eyes of attorneys, judges, the public, and the penitentiary
staff. I am here to gather your opinion, if it is possible, and
not to inform you.

In order to preserve you anonymity, I ask that no name
be mentioned. The discussion will be recorded so that we can
be faithful and remember all you have said. The members of
the group only will have access to the recordings. Thus your
anonymity will be completely preserved.

The length of our meeting should be about two hours. So,
I will ask you to limit yourself to the themes of the
discussion and to allow everyone to give his opinion.

[Text]

Senator Quart: Did you ever, by discussion, by smiling in
agreement, by scowling in any way, or by any facial expression,
show that you agreed or disagreed with them?

[Translation

Mr. Beaulne: We wanted to know what were the ideas of the
group on a certain theme. Our role was to stimulate the discussion
of the inmates so they would express an idea as clearly as possible
on the theme.

Mr. Blain: But there was no approbation since it was in a
penitentiary and the time was limited; we had no time to see them
afterwards.

[Text]

Senator Quart: In your opinion, without asking for any names,
did any of the inmates impress you as being qualified to offer these
various criticisms?

Senator Hastings: They had been refused parole.
[Transiation]

Mr. Paradis: I believe that it is always embarrassing to say
whether somebody is qualified or not to express those needs. One
thing is certain however: since they are the ones who for all
practical purposes are mainly concerned with parole,—in view of the
fact that there is a tendency for inmates to gradually become more
involved in their own reinstatement, and that it is not something
which has materialized out of thin air, just like that,—I think that
the inmates were in a position to express their concern in that
respect.
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However, are they or are they not qualified? Be that as it may,
it is the inmates who at present experience those phases of parole.
That is all we can say.

Senator Lapointe: In your discussions,—the conclusion of your
short brief on that subject, is that your personal conclusion or is it
inferred from what they said, or what?

Mr. Paradis: What you find in conclusion,—you are talking about
the plan aren’t you?

Senator Lapointe: Yes; you tell us at the end that as a result the
National Parole Board and its parole system would become
purposeless, since they would duplicate the role and the decision-
making powers of the experts,—and you suggest that they should be
within the institution and that the whole parole process should take
place in the institution itself. You conclude by saying that as a
result, the Board would no longer save its purpose. Is that your own
conclusion?

Mr. Paradis: You have, at one point, the inmates who assess the
present provincial system and, precisely in that same study, you
have all the recommandations following each of the subjects
involved, that is the Board, the sentence, and all that. At one point,
they make an assessment of the provincial system and they blame
precisely the fact that the Commissioners are not present, or on
hand, since most of them do not meet them. Therefore, in that
respect, there is an attempt to integrate the Board, of all those who
would have to decide on a type of semi-parole which would take
place inside the institution. That is the picture that emerges. What
you gather there—the Board being inoperative . . .

Mr. Beaulne: That is, the last sentence.

Senator Lapointe: Yes, the last sentence of your brief.
M. Paradis: Progressive apprenticeship?

Senator Lapointe: Yes.

Mr. Paradis: That has been formulated by the group in question,
by taking into account precisely the concern for the environment,
to the extent that there was there a progressive apprenticeship,
insofar as this was in accordance with that line of thought.

Senator Lapointe: Do you agree with that sentence, that is that
if there were to be an integration of the whole rehabilitation
learning system within that institution, the Parole Board would no
longer serve its purpose?

Mr. Paradis: “Would no longer serve its purpose”? Let us say
that the present Board,—and the inmates raised that point at one
time,—would operate as a kind of Appeal Board. Thus it would be
another group who would actually decide in connection with the
progressive paroling of an individual.

In that sense, insofar as the inmate is concerned, that is not a
direct organization.

Senator Lapointe: It would be so, only if there were cases where
the inmates would not be satisfied,—they could make an appeal?

Mr. Paradis: Yes, that is correct,—make an appeal.

Mr. Beaulne: I would point out that the whole third part of the
summary followed from our considerations at the end of the study.

Senator Lapointe: You mean the part that starts at page 5 in the
French version?

Mr. Beaulne: Yes, at the bottom there.
Senator Lapointe: I thank you.

Mr. Beaulne: Unless, precisely, a time rehabilitation system is
initiated within the institution,—a real one.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: The rehabilitation opportunity is there if the
man will accept it, but we cannot drive him to it. Many, many men
come out and find their way back into society—60 percent, as I have
said. We cannot do much about the other 40 per cent until they are
ready to respond to what we do. I do not know what else we can
do. There is this 40 per cent who negatively criticize everything we
do or try to do.

The observations you have brought forward are from men, I
rather suspect, who are just not ready.

|Transiation]

Mr. Blain: That is to say that a good part of the former inmates
who have been met, of those who have been rehabilitated, have
achieved that result by themselves,—an inner motivation—but also
because they have been assisted by agencies outside the institution,
like the AA, for instance,—I do not know if there are any
others—but that organization has been quite successful in helping
them in their rehabilitation. It is in that sense that we wonder
whether the 60 per cent about whom we no longer hear have
received assistance from the outside or if it is really because they
underwent the treatment available in the institution.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: They started inside. Every one of them made
the move within the institution. The help came from the outside,
naturally. I would not deny that. A great deal of help comes after
the release, but the individual must make the first move. It is only
then that the help will come.

[Translation]

Mr. Blain: What the inmates have told us is that when one tries
to act properly, he is considered a hypocrite,—if he tries to boost
himself in the eyes of the authorities. This is one kind of difficulty
for the fellow who wants to get out of his predicament, because he
is banging his head against a wall,—and those are actual facts.
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Senator Lapointe: Is he considered a hypocrite by fellow
inmates or by the authorities?

Mr. Beaulne: No,—by the authorities.

Senator Lapointe: But, for instance, when an inmate is ap-
pointed president of sport activities or supervisor of the wood-
working facilities, or has a kind of role to play in the workshop, is
that not some sort of responsibility?

Mr. Blain: The fact is precisely that the report of the instructor
in charge in that particular field,—his report seems to have very little
impact in the eyes of the classification officer, who reports to the
authorities. That is at least what the inmates told us; the instructor’s
reports are controlled; even if they are good, nothing happens.

Senator Lapointe: That would be the classification officer, as
you say, who would be somewhat at fault in that respect, by not
taking into account the merit points which the inmates could
deserve, either at work or perhaps in the field of music or in any
field where he has a good record?

Mr. Beaulne: I think one should avoid accusing anyone in the
institution or on the Board but I believe that the situation should be
analyzed with a view to trying to create an organization likely to
produce something more efficient, more tangible in relation to the
rehabilitation to be achieved.

Senator Lapointe: Would it not be necessary to know where the
break occurs, where the deficiency lies in the channel of com-
munications?

Mr. Paradis: The picture that would emerge in that area would
be that the inmate precisely does not have this possibility of also
taking into his own hands certain stages of his life, whether he is
enjoying full or partial freedom, in order to be responsible for each
of the stages. At the present time, he states that at the institutional
level, this is very difficult, because the staff is often very limited as
compared to the number of inmates, and this we have found in the
field. Therefore, as he relies upon the Parole Board to obtain such
aid, the situation isvery difficult for him not only because there are
very few members on the Board but also because at a certain point,
at the provincial level, inmates are not met in the provincial
institutions. So they feel that they are dealing with people who are
there and yet not there. All they are asking is to be allowed to

actually take part in their reintegration into society, to take part in
the decisions.

Senator Lapointe: How can he do that?

Mr. Paradis: That is the question that we should perhaps also ask
ourselves—how could an inmate reach a situation of gradual
apprenticeship with a view to achieving total reintegration into
society? This goes far beyond the field of research.

[Text]
Senator Hastings: I have a letter I received just yesterday from

the young inmate at the Leclerc institution who was doing 15 years.
He was denied parole a year ago and went up again this year before

Mr. Gilbert, which disturbed him, when he was granted parole. He is
now going to a $10,000-a-year job as a data processor. He came into
that institution with a bad record and a bad charge of wounding. He
is going out, I would say, well on the road to rehabilitation in this
occupation, all of the studies for which he got in the Leclerc
institution, which will put him on the road. Now, what happened to
him? Was he a hypocrite?

[Transiation)
Mr. Paradis: I am thinking of that.
Le sénateur Hastings: Etait-il hypocrite?

Mr. Paradis: I am thinking of some work that should be done,
which should not be questioned. On the other hand, the study
shows the situation as seen by a group of people faced at a given
time with the problem of total or partial freedom, people who have
to live through those stages, and what you have here is simply how
these groups see the situation.

The Chairman: Do you mean that as far as their views on the
Board are concerned, they were unanimous, that there were no
dissenters? Were they unanimous in their wishes concerning the
Parole Board? Was there not at least one dissenting voice?

M. Paradis: There is a second part to this study, which we have
sent, and which contains an analysis of each group meeting. There
you can see, of course, various opinions and possible dissenting
ones.

Mr. Beaulne: They are actual reports of each of the meetings. We
have summarized each meeting and then we have compared the two,
three or four meetings held in one institution. At Leclerc Institute,
four were held, and we have drawn the image that emerged at the
Institute, and so did we for the various other institutions. And then
we arrived at the image outlined in the summary.

Senator Lapointe: Were the pictures different in relation to the
quality of the institutions?

Mr. Paradis: Obviously, there was a basic reasoning, at one time,
which Mr. Blain has explained a while ago, of respecting the fact
that the same sentences occurred, but it is obvious about the
institutions we are talking about, for instance, the Federal Training
Centre, where emphasis was placed on the institutionalization of the
National Parole Board, so as to have it closes to those it serves.
Other institutions, for example, you have special correction units
where work is mainly done in institutions. Those were blocks, but
nonetheless each of the groups we met in these institutions had the
same themes. Obviously, may be depending on the problems of the
institution, there were themes which were more . . .

Senator Lapointe: ...emphasized?

Mr. Paradis: .. .emphasized.

Senator Lapointe: Did many speak’ about halfway houses and
did many express the wish for more of these houses or did they not
speak much about them?
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Mr. Paradis: Obviously many inmates never knew this stage, it is
recent. We have met individuals in halfway houses who, obviously,
would wish for more of these houses so that more individuals could
benefit from them. Many prisoners in detention centres never knew
these stages, so many of the groups never asked themselves the
question.

[Text]

Senator Quart: Mr. Chairman, you asked the question I was
going to ask, but now I am going to ask just one more. I promise I
will not hold up the meeting. Was any one inmate favourable at all
to the present system of parole or rehabilitation; or was it general
dissatisfaction? I think it would have been a marvellous thing if you
could have brought us four or five tapes of interviews, without
knowing the man’s name, so that we would hear the questions and
the answers.

[Translation)

Mr. Paradis: First of all, in answer to your expectations, we have
those tapes at the School of Criminology and you can listen to
them. However, one should scrupulously abide by professional
ethics. You can listen to them because we have kept them. Group
analyses which you can also peruse, are reproduced in the second
part; there, you will find the answers to your questions. Was there
not one who did not agree? It is obvious that, at one time, an
inmate had negative feelings forwards the members of the Board. It
is also obvious that, in the case of the other person, the question
was of little relevance, if at all. But there have been agreements, at
times, on some points.

Senator Lapointe: A consensus?

Mr. Paradis: An agreement, yes.
[Text]

Senator Quart: When you interviewed the groups together, was
there ever a difference of opinion or would one person say “it is not
exactly like that”? Was there a difference of opinion when you
interviewed groups, even?

[Translation]

Mr. Paradis: Exactly, there has been some, to a certain extent,
because that was depending on the personality, the person, and his
background; there have been discussions, but on the whole . . .

Senator Quart: Disagreements?

Mr. Paradis: In general, they quite of the same opinion.

The Chairman: Do you mean that all groups have insisted that
the commissioners were sadistic?

Mr. Paradis: Let us say, in this respect, that it has been so in the
majority of cases.

La sénatrice Quart: Je me demande ce qu’ils pensent de nous?

Mr. Paradis: During some of the interviews, we have not talked
at all about the members, and since we could not succeed in having
the inmate talk and in order to induce him to say something, we
would ask him: “Now, what about the members, do you want to
talk about them? ” Then if the inmate was not concerned by that
idea of members the question was ignored.

Mr. Beaulne: Perhaps I can complete the answer.

At a certain point if you will refer to tape 6 of number 2, you
will hear: the Board is a secret society. You have on tape No. 2: it is
difficult to imagine what it is, because we see it once in a lifetime if
not ever at all. That is on tape No. 2. And so it goes. You know, that
is an account of that, and other inmates have more categorical
opinions, so that you have there what has been actually said.

[Text]

Senator Williams: Knowing that once they become inmates we
have no definition of who they are or what ethnic group they may
belong to, knowing that there is a very large Indian population at
the penal institutions, did you in your interviews have interviews
with an inmate or an ex-inmate?

[Translation)

Mr. Blain: No inmates have disclosed that they were Metis, but
we could check to find out whether there had definitely been such
inmates.

[Text]

Senator Williams: Maybe I put my question the wrong way.
Among the inmates were there Indian dissidents without defining
them as such?

|Translation |

Mr. Blain: At this time, I know that there are Eskimo inmates at
the Bordeaux jail.

Mr. Paradis: Here, we have not taken notice of that, nor whether
there were inmates of other ethnic origins.

Mr. Beaulne: We have learned at the end of the study when one
of our colleagues compiled the notes describing the offence, the
sentence, the age, the schooling, etc., we have learned, at the end of
the summer, that we had interviewed 12 murderers and inmates who
were found guilty of about 100 offences against property. We had
no idea during the interview that we were addressing a murderer or
an individual guilty of some offence. That was intentional in order
that we would not be influenced in our capacity as interviewers.

[Text]

Senator Williams: I believe you referred earlier in your brief to
the attitude of an inmate towards someone in authority when that
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inmate was attempting to get a parole. The attitude of the inmate
toward the ex-policeman and the ex-judge is something I can
understand, because the Indian people in Canada have experienced
that attitude and are still going through it.

Too many people in the employ of the civil service or in the
Department of Indian Affairs are ex-policemen or ex-majors. In the
first place, the policeman’s job is to make an arrest and the judge’s
job is to sentence. After a lifetime in that environment they cannot
change, and the Indian people have experienced their militancy. So I
can see through the attitude of the inmates in regard to ex-
policemen and ex-judges.

The Chairman: Of course, a judge sometimes also acquits, you
know.

Senator Williams: That could be right.
The Chairman: Senator Hastings, did you have a question?

Senator Hastings: I would not dare. 1 just wish to express on
behalf of the committee our appreciation to the witnesses for the
work they undertook. It is very interesting. I know it represents a

viewpoint that is held by a few within our institutions and it is just
as well that we have that viewpoint before us.

I should have liked to explore the possibility of breaking down
the wall, or getting rid of the myth of misunderstanding and trying
to find out what we should be doing in that regard, but we do know
now that this situation exists. Thank you very much.

The Chairman: Perhaps the committee should also note that this
study was financed completely by the Solicitor General of Canada.

Senator Quart: When did you start your research?
Mr. Blain: Last summer.
Senator Quart: When did you receive the grant?

Mr. Blain: In February or March. We plan to go on next year
with a questionnaire in more detail.

The Chairman: The committee is now adjourned until tomorrow
morning at ten o’clock. There will also be a sitting at two o’clock
tomorrow.

The committee adjourned.
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APPENDIX “A” INTRODUCTION
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century. Although that correctional measure has originated from the
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FOREWORD

This brief is the outgrowth of observations, interviews with the
members of the Parole Service, the National Parole Board and the
Penitentiary Service, of reading, reflection and discussion made
during the summer by a research group of the School of
Criminology of the University of Montreal under the direction of
Pierre Landreville, Ph.D.

Right at the outset, we decided to limit our study 1-to the
principles and goals of conditional liberation, 2—to mandatory
supervision, 3—to day parole. The working paper prepared by the
team is available for consultation at the Information Centre of the
School of Criminology of the University of Montreal.

It is obvious that our reflections have often spilled beyond the
limited field which had been decided upon. We have had to bring
conditional liberation back into the frame of the correctional
process and study the effects of the division of powers between the
federal government and the provinces at that level. Our brief will
also take stock of these matters.
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Recommendations

leave (a method advocated by Maconochie and Crofton) directed the
evolution towards the present system. According to that method, a
deserving inmate was allowed to be released and to remain free if he
would abide by the conditions of that ticket of leave. The concept
of mercy was abandoned and the notions of privilege, selection and
conditions were introduced.

Nowadays, when a better integration of the whole correctional
system is being aimed at and when it is desired that all parts of the
system favour above all the resocialization and the social reinte-
gration of the inmate, these notions are undergoing new modifica-
tions. The selection is no longer to be based essentially on good
conduct inside the prison (the points system of the Irish graduated
system), but it must, to a greater extent, take into account the

future and the reintegration of the inmate. No longer do the

conditions serve only to protect society but they are an instrument
of control and help for the inmate.

A-PAROLE

Before elaborating further on our notion of parole, we want to
mention that the principles which we will formulate are intimately
related and can be vindicated only in relation to a very specific
notion of the freedom deprivation aspect of the penalty. We believe
that internment is warranted only a) for offenders who seriously
endanger the community, b) for those who need a treatment
unavailable to them except in an institution, c) and for those who
have committed crimes which are so deeply shocking to the
collective conscience that the public cannot tolerate, at this time,
that they would not be deprived of freedom.

Our notion of parole is not unlike that of the Fauteux
Commission (1956), which stated:

“It is a transitional step between close confinement in an
institution and absolute freedom in society.” (p. 51).

The transitional step does not imply the successful treatment in
an institution or the successful resocialization. Parole promotes a
reintegration of the individual into society.

Whether treatment in an institution be a total or partial failure,
most inmates are bound to be released one day or another and many
of them will need that transitional step. Our confidence in the
present institutional treatment is mitigated and we believe that the
reaction to the treatment in prison is a very small indication as to
the behaviour of the individual within society, since some persons
react in an “artificial” way to the treatment undergone in an
artificial environment.

Although conforming to the notion of social adaptation, the
parole stage remains, in our opinion, a way of serving one’s
sentence. That means that the time spent under parole is actually an
integral part of the sentence. At the present time, the definition of
parole underlines that principle, but the practice runs counter to
that since, according to sections 20 and 21 of the Parole Act, the
person whose parole is forfeited or revoked must serve again the
time spent outside prison.
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Thus our position is rather simple: parole is a transitional step
necessary to all inmates (barring exceptions) and it is actually the
continuation of a sentence outside prison during a certain time.

Parole should end either by being revoked or forfeited (and the
balance of the sentence is served inside the prison until its expiry or
the granting of a new parole), or through a decision of the Board
who is of the opinion that the individual can operate normally
within society, or finally due to the expiry of the sentence.

1—Need for parole

What reasons can be put forward to justify the principle to the
effect that all inmates should go through that stage?

a) Life within society. The problem of the offender is to abide by
social standards, and isolating him does not teach him to live within
society. Even though some inmates might go back into society with
greater assets because they have undergone treatment in an
institution, have followed a course or learned a trade, they need to
adjust to that social life. The Ouimet report (1969) rightly says:

“One cannot learn to live in freedom without experiencing
freedom, and even the most open institution provides a restricted,
protected environment”, (p. 337).

b) Confinement impact. It should be remembered that prison is an
artificial environment wherein it is impossible for some to function.
For many inmates, confinement has a disastrous impact which
counteracts resocialization. While the expected outcome is the
return of inmates to society, prison further desocializes some of
them. If granted at the appropriate time, parole decreases the danger
of further desocialization.

2—Selection

Although we may be of the opinion that all inmates should be
paroled, the two acknowledged goals of parole must be kept in
mind, namely: the protection of society and rehabilitation of the
individual. We believe that to achieve those two goals, the crucial

question is no longer who should be paroled, but rather when to
parole an inmate.

a) Protection of society. The selection made by members of the
Parole Board partly aims at protecting society. Some prisoners are
more dangerous than others. Tables should be used to forecast on a
more accurate scientific basis, the probabilities (and the seriousness)
of a relapse. However, a strong probability of relapse should not
preclude a prisoner from parole. On the contrary, he probably
would need even more to undergo this transitional step of
supervising and help. The most dangerous individual should be
paroled later, but in no case after he has served three quarters of the

sentence imposed by the judge.
/

b) Rehabilitation. If “rehabilitation” is one of the goals of parole
and if it is sometimes argued that this must be one of the criteria for
selection, it must be emphasized that parole is only granted when a
prisoner is “rehabilitated” or if he can be “‘rehabilitated” only when
on parole.

When it is stated that “‘rehabilitation” must be taken into
account, it is rather a question of choosing the most appropriate

time for parole, that is to say the most favourable moment for
reintegration into society. If a prisoner who is deemed dangerous is
confined until his sentence comes up, he may prove to have become
even more anti-social after his release. In this respect, job oppor-
tunities and acceptance of the prisoner by his family should also be
considered in each case to determine the most favourable time for
parole. Finally, as we have already mentioned, each person reacts in
a different way to imprisonment; thus, the saturation point must be
taken into account in deciding when parole should be granted.

3—Sentencing and Parole

Parole is closely related to sentencing with these two decisions
completing instead of neutralizing one another. In determining the
maximum sentence, the judge must take into account the protection
of the public, the deterrent effect of the sentence and the
seriousness of the crime whilst the decision to parole an inmate is
taken within legal limits considering his reaction to confinement and
the most favourable moment for his social reintegration. We wish to
emphasize, however, that not only should judges use incarceration
as a last resort, but they should also reduce as much as possible the
length of the sentence and never increase its term with a view to
counteracting the effects of parole.

4 —Parole and the Correctional Process in Canada

We have just seen that the decision to parole a prisoner is closely
related to his reaction to confinement as well as to the other
decisions taken in his respect during such confinement. We believe
that there must be co-ordination between the type of activity or
treament within the penitentiary, the type of institutions where the
prisoner will be successively committed, his periodical contacts with
the outside world and his family (through temporary leave or day
parole) and the decision to release him permanently.

Thus, in addition to the criticism already voiced in connection
with the operation of the National Parole Board (overwork and
excessive travelling by the commissioners, too cursory consideration
of records, etc. .. .) we believe that this reason speaks in favour of a
regionalization of the Parole Board.

This regionalization should be made according to regional
divisions already established by the Canadian Penitentiary Service.
Moreover, in order to assure the desired co-ordination throughout
the term of the sentence, we think that regional commissions should
be integrated to the regional Classification Board which is already
part of the penitentiary system. These “penalty application com-
mittees” would take all important decisions during the confinement
of the inmate such as assignment to and transfer from an institution,
temporary leave, day parole and permanent release. They would
include in each region one or two members selected from outside
the Penitentiary Service (the present commissioners), the director of
the Regional Penitentiary Service or another member of the
Regional Office, a representative of the Regional Reception Centre
and one or more representatives of the main penitentiary ins-
titutions of the region. At the national level, the Commission
constituted by its chairman and the regional chairmen would see to
the establishment and implementation of a national parole policy
and act as a committee of appeal in respect of important decisions
(such as permanent release) which are appealed at the regional level.
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It must be noted that this regionalization takes into account
federal institutions only for we consider, as did the Ouimet
Committee (1969) that “it is inefficient for an inmate to be the
responsibility of one government until the question of parole arises
and for him then to pass under the control of another level of
government” (p. 283). We have reached the same conclusion as the
committee, i.e.: that the provinces should assume responsibility for
parole in respect of provincial inmates.

We therefore recommend, as a short term proposition, the
establishment of two parallel correctional systems: one on the
provincial level and the other on the federal level. But it seems to us
logical to eventually devise one integrated correctional system by
doing away with the arbitrary division of jurisdictions between the
federal government and the provinces based on the length of the
sentences (more or less than two years). Moreover, the arguments
brought forward by the Ouimet Committee (1969, p. 281) and by
the Prévost Commission (1969, p. 60), namely, to turn res-
ponsibility for all prisoners over to the provinces, seem convincing
enough for us to adopt such a solution.

B-MANDATORY SUPERVISION

The Parole Act has been recently amended (1969) with a view to
setting up a new measure known as “mandatory supervision™
(mandatory release).

It is necessary to study this measure in order to evaluate its
consequences as well as to distinguish it from our concept (as
detailed in the preceding pages) regarding mandatory parole.

1—The Law
Section 15 of the Parole Act states:

“Where an inmate to whom parole was not granted is released
from imprisonment, prior to the expiration of the sentence
according to law, as a result of remission, including earned
remission, and the term of such remission. exceeds sixty days, he
shall, notwithstanding any other Act, be subject to mandatory
supervision commencing upon his release and continuing for the
duration of such remission.”

This measure applies therefore to any inmate who is released at
the expiration of his sentence and who has earned a remission of
more than 60 days. The mandatory supervision terminates concur-
rently with the expiration of the sentence imposed on the inmate by
the judge and is therefore effective in respect of all and any term of
granted and earned remission.

2—Implementation of the law

Mr. Street, Chairman of the National Parole Board explains the
proposal as follows:

. ..if a person selected for parole requires counselling and
supervision, those persons who are not so selected need such
counselling and supervision even more.” (Senate vol. 12, p.
46)

We believe that all inmates are eligible for parole and whether
they are eligible or not depends on the Board’s decision. When this
decision is negative the Board, though it rejects supervision, makes it

indirectly mandatory thereafter (S.0.). Consequently, inmates under
mandatory supervision are reluctant to accept such counselling and
supervision. The implementation of the legislation is also com-
plicated by the fact that inmates detect in it either injustices or
encroachments on their “vested rights”.

a) Earned and statutory remission. We have already mentioned that
if the number of days credited to an inmate exceeds 60, supervision
will be mandatory. According to the Penitentiary Act, an inmate
earns remission through good conduct in the institution, equal to
three days a month, together with a statutory remission of a quarter
of his sentence, but he will have to serve the said number of days
under mandatory supervision.

While he was entitled to be paroled without obligation, the
legislation now subjects him to a supervision. The duration of the
sentence is thus extended and the earned or statutory days do not
serve their purpose, of rewarding good conduct. The authority of
the Board would extend to and include the power of cancelling the
days granted by the Penitentiary Administration by revoking the
mandatory supervision certificate. The inmate would therefore lose
not only his statutory days but would also serve again that part of
his sentence served away from prison.

In order to correct this situation, we believe that those inmates
whose parole is forfeited or revoked should not have to serve the
remission that was credited to them as an earned remission.

Sections 20(1) and 21(1) of the Parole Act, besides conflicting
with section 24(2) of the Penitentiary Act, should therefore be
amended accordingly.

Moreover, we suggest that all inmates should be eligible for
parole when they have served three quarters of their sentence at the
latest, (minus any earned remission days) and the statutory
remission concept would thus become redundant.

b) Cancellation or forfeiture. Nowadays, when an inmate is
discharged under mandatory supervision, the complete freedom
which he was earlier expecting to enjoy is conditioned and thereby
restricted. His freedom is all the more precarious and the sword of
Damocles hangs as menacingly since section 16(1) of the Parole Act
provides that a member of the Board may suspend (then revoke) the
parole or mandatory supervision of an inmate, “whenever he is
satisfied that the arrest of the inmate is necessary or desirable in
order to prevent a breach of any term or condition of the parole or
for the rehabilitation of the inmate or the protection of society ™.

This provision apparently constitutes an arbitrary measure
towards inmates under mandatory supervision, as much as it also
affects parolees, and we think that it should be fundamentally
amended.

Indeed, we suggest that a paroled inmate should only return to
serve that part of his sentence that had not yet expired at the time
he commits a new indictable offence (minus any earned remission).

In the case of a simple breach of conditions or of a minor
offence, parole could be suspended for a short period (up to three
months) by the local Board with the right to appeal to the National
Parole Board. This suspension would take effect only when it is
proved that there has been an actual breach of conditions.
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¢) Short Duration Sentence. The law is now being ignored since
paroled inmates (at least in Quebec) who have been granted a term
of remission of more than 60 days are not supervised by the
National Board although they fall under the jurisdiction of
mandatory supervision.

It is easily understood that the Parole Board is too overworked
to implement this legislation, but one wonders what the reaction of
the provinces would be, in the event of the implementation of the
law, when they will have to lay out several hundred thousands of
dollars yearly to commit once again to prison those inmates under
mandatory supervision who have committed indictable offences
prior to the expiration of their sentence.

The effect (i.e. mandatory supervision) that such a federal Act
produces on prisoners and provincial budgets alike is another
example of the disadvantages created by the present joint system
(federal parole and provincial prisons).

Conclusion

We fully agree with Mr. Street’s statement to the effect that all
prisoners need help and supervision when they are freed, but the
only logical way to do it is through the parole system. Our concept
entails that parole must be both mandatory and timely and that it
should not be delayed until the sentence has expired as is the case
with mandatory supervision. However, we think that parole should
not be unduly extended especially in the case of long sentences.
Even though hardcore prisoners should take advantage longer than
others of the help of probation officers, the Board should release
them from their obligations when help is not absolutely required or
in general, after a maximum five-year period of probation.

C-DAY PAROLE
1-Definition

Together with the implementation of mandatory supervision, the
Parole Act was amended by a new provision known as day parole.

Section 2 of this Act gives the following definition:

§ Day parole means the terms and conditions of which require the
inmate to whom it is granted to return to prison from time to time

during the duration of such parole or to return to prison after a
specified period.

This definition has a much wider scope that the wording gives to
understand. As a synonym, Mr. Street uses the expression “interim
parole” which seems to us more appropriate. It is more appropriate
because day parole can actually present different aspects and not
necessarily imply a return to the institution in the evening. In effect,
this period can extend to a day, a week or even a month.

According to the chairman of the National Parole Board, the
aims of the above mesure are twofold:

1 — It may contribute to the continuation of an employ-
ment or of study courses when any interruption could entail
grave consequences such as the loss of a long-term employ-
ment or of a school bear because a term was not completed
or examinations passed.

2 — It is also used as a preparatory step towards parole as
such and is often used to test an inmate’s capacity to adapt
to society and to help him in this respect thanks to
employment, retraining courses, etc.

We can now turn to the nature of parole as described by Mr.
Street.

2-Its Use

Should parole be used as a correctional measure in itself or asa
pre-release step?

a) Correctional Measure. Under that approach, day parole becomes
a way of implementing imprisonment. It is used to counteract
negative effects which imprisonment may have on a particular
prisoner. We would quote, in this connection, the following thought
which Screvens wrote down in 1967:

“_..the penalty will be all the more effective when its evil
effects are lessened””.

Further to decreasing social alienation, day parole would allow
an inmate to follow a more adequate treatment outside the
institution.

We must, however, admit that in terms of treatment, day parole
is of limited scope and can be resorted to for short periods only. It
becomes quickly difficult for the prisoner to endure this periodic
and unavoidable return to the institution and he unavoidably
expects to be paroled following the “‘success” of day paroles.

b) Means of Evaluation. Should the success or failure of day parole
serve as a criterion for granting or denying parole? The result of day
parole used as a selective criterion might become an easy way out
but the Board must not embark on this course. To assess the success
of such a measure is difficult, because the individual does not fully
partake of social life. However, the Board, following the success of
that measure, is morally bound to grant parole to whom concerned.
In other words, it cannot withdraw its confidence from that person
especially if he has proved worthy of it. On the other hand, the
opposite decision, that is the refusal of parole, cannot be based on a
partial success of the day parole or even of a failure. Actually, an
inmate who does not abide by the requirements of day parole may
however behave normally when on probation.

The Board should, in principle, avoid considering day parole as a
preliminary test to probation since it would be evading the problem
and throwing back all the errors on to the inmate. The Board must
help the prisoner to acquire social maturity and not to look for
instruments to test him in this regard. Conversely, the difficulties
encountered on the occasion of day parole may indicate to the
Board the way to adequately help the inmate.

c) Pre-release stage. In our view, day parole is mainly a pre-release
stage and unlike parole it is an interim step, although the inmate has
probably some contact with society. The true quality of day parole
lies in the economic stability of the individual before his release on
parole. In this respect, day parole is part of a reformatory though
strongly case-oriented process, because, on the one hand, some
inmates find constant return to prison unbearable, and on the other
hand, many of them do not need this economic security because
they had a steady job and will have one on their release.
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For this reason, day parole requires a knowledge of each
individual’s needs. Does an inmate with a family who can receive
him and with guaranteed employment truly enjoy semi-freedom?

3-Day Parole — and other similar measures

Day parole is related to other correctional or judiciary measures,
and it is important to differentiate it from semi-confinement and
temporary leave of absence.

a) Day parole and semi-confinement. Day parole is a correctional
measure which is part of a process aiming at the reintegration of an
inmate into society. It must be applied at the end of confinement
and be regarded as semi-freedom. On the contrary, semi-
confinement is a sentencing process which from the outset implies
partial imprisonment, generally in the evening or during the
weekend. (1)

Screvens (1967) wrote in this connection:

“The difference between a convict who might be allowed by
prison authorities to work outside of the institution (semi-freedom)
and the offender who is placed in semi-confinement and therefore
carries on his occupation during the day, has been pointed out and
regarded as important.” (p. 50).

It is a basic difference because the decision regarding semi-
confinement falls within the jurisdiction of a court, whereas that of
semi-discharge is the responsibility of a correctional agency. In this
connection, when the Chairman of the National Parole Board, stated
in 1971 that one of the purposes of day parole is to contribute to
the continuity of employment, he probably overrode the limits of
his jurisdiction or at any rate exceeded the meaning of the Act.

Basically, the two measures are different. As a correctional
process, day parole aims at the social readaptation or reintegration
of an inmate, while as a sentencing process, semi-confinement goes
back to the idea of a particular retribution for a punishment, which
offer the advantage of allowing the inmate to carry on some
activities (work in progress), to prevent greater social alienation and
to avoid permanent confinement impact.

This concept has just been recognized by legislators who have
recently amended the Criminal Code along these lines, by adding
paragraph ¢/ to subsection (1) of section 663, which enables the
court to pass a sentence of uninterrupted imprisonment provided it
does not exceed 90 days.

This distinction is therefore essential since semi-confinement
aims mainly at solving the shortcomings of short-term sentences
whereas day parole provides for social readaptation.

b) Day parole and temporary absence. Day parole and temporary
absence are two completely distinct measures which vary in several
respects.

1) Administrative differences. Temporaty absence is granted by
the director of a penitentiary or the commissioner for penitentiaries
taking into consideration the length of and the reasons for this
absence. Temporary absence from penitentiaries is governed by
section 26 of the Federal Penitentiary Act.

Day parole is granted by the National Parole Board for a period
determined by the Board. This measure comes under the federal

Parole Act. Penitentiaries and reformatories are also placed under
the jurisdiction of the Board.

2) Basic difference. Even though both measures result in the
temporary release of an inmate, their basic principles are specific. In
principle, temporary absence is granted solely for medical or
humanitarian reasons or to facilitate rehabilitation.

Day parole is also granted for humanitarian reasons, but of a
more important nature, such as looking after a sick dependent or
relative. However, these reasons are very often similar to those for
temporary absences (see Senate, 1971, vol. 12).

In our view, the use of identical reasons to obtain a leave of
absence from two different administrations points to the lack of
co-ordination within the correctional system.

If we believe that under the present Act the penitentiary
administration should be the only one to allow absences from the
institution for humanitarian reasons, in practice it should not use
temporary absences to allow, for example, an inmate to be
employed outside (according to Mr. Faguy, Commissioner of the
Canadian Penitentiary Service, 50 per cent of extended temporary
absences are either for work or educational purposes (Senate, 1972,
vol. 2, page 8).

As we have already pointed out, these' are not the first
ambiguities and duplications at the correctional administration level.

As regards day parole and temporary absences, the division of
legislative powers between the federal government and the provinces
increases this confusion. There are federal laws governing peniten-
tiaries and provincial laws governing reformatories. In addition to
this ambiguity, a federal law, the Prisons and Reformatory Act
(1952, RSC 217) encroaches on a provincial area, namely: prisons.

In the province of Quebec, under the Provation and Houses of
Detention Act, a system of temporary absence (Section 20) and of
day parole (Section 19) has been established since May 1969. With
the prisons falling also under the jurisdiction of the National Parole
Board, there is again duplication as regards federal and provincial
day parole.

Recommendations

1. All penitentiary inmates should be paroled after having served
three quarters of their sentence at the latest, minus the reduction of
earned remission time. Consequently:

1a) The provisions of the Act concerning mandatory
supervision should be abolished.

1b) Any earned remission should be excluded from the
time to be served under parole.

2. Parole should generally cover a maximum period of five
years.

3. Should parole be forfeited following an indictable offence,
the inmate should have to serve only that part of his sentence which
had not already expired when he committed said indictable offence,
minus any earned remission to his credit.

4. In the case of a simple breach of conditions or of a minor
offence, parole would be suspended only for a maximum period of
three months.
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5. In case of suspension, the inmate should be able to appeal to
the National Parole Board.

6. Suspension should only occur when it can be proved that a
breach of conditions or another offence has taken place.

7. Day parole should be considered as a pre-release step
(semi-freedom) and not as semi-detention.

8. The National Parole Board should be regionalized.

9. Regional boards should be integrated to the regional clas-
sification committee which already exists within the penitentiary
service.

10. These “penalty application committees” could be formed of
one or two members from outside the penitentiary service (the

present commissioners), of the regional director of penitentiaries or
another regional office member, or of a representative from the
regional reception centre and one or more representatives of the
main penitentiary institutions in the area.

11. These committees would be responsible for making all
important decisions concerning a prisoner during the time of his
confinement such as: assignment to and transfer from an institution,
temporary leave, day parole and final release.

12. Short Term recommendation: Provinces should assume full
responsibility for parole in connection with provincial inmates.

13. Long Term recommendation: It would seem preferable to
unify the correctional system by committing all prisoners to the
charge of the provinces.
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“It does not seem possible to convince man, by any means
whatsoever, to trade his nature against that of a termite; he will
always have a tendency to defend his right to individual freedom
against the will of the masses. A great number of battles within
humanity are being fought and are concentrated on one task:
finding an appropriate equilibrium, of such a nature as to ensure the
happiness of all, between these individual demands and the cultural
requirements of the community.”

Sigmund Freud

“The Uneasy Civilization”

The aim of the present document is to summarize the contents
and conclusions of the report bearing the same title which will be
submitted in October 1972 to the Senate Standing Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

This study attempts to bring out the image and the representa-
tion resulting from the perception of the parole system by inmates
and ex-inmates of the Montreal area. The total population affected
amounts to 162 individuals, 112 of whom are from federal
institutions, 42 from provincial institutions and 8 from private
institutions (residential community centres for ex-inmates).

By means of group interviews, the team has attempted to find
out and compare this image with that presented by legislators and
administrators. The study has revealed that, to all practical

*The complete study (300 pages) is available tor consultation at the
Information Centre of the School of Criminology of the University
of Montreal.

purposes, the first assumption formulated by the National Parole
Board to the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs according to which there is continuity between the so-called
“rehabilitation” or institutional treatment and the parole system,
does not really exist. There is rather a partition between jurisdic-
tions which weakens all efforts at encouraging inmates to reassume
their responsibilities as members of society. We recommend that the
reader consult, if he is interested, chapter 7 of the report submitted
to the Standing Senate Committee.

The team has developed its report from data collected during
group interviews with inmates. Each of those meetings was analysed
and appears in the report as an appendix (I to VI) grouped by type
of institution, that is: penitentiaries; I. super-maximum security; II.
maximum security; III. medium security; IV. minimum security; V.
jails; VI. residential community centres for ex-inmates. Finally, a
comprehensive presentation has been made with specific statement
supporting references.

Synthetic Presentation

This document is a synthesis of various images that were brought
out during group meetings in federal, provincial and private
institutions. It is an attempt at a comprehensive regrouping of the
statement made by those who are the most concerned by the parole
system.

General Presentation

Adjustment of sentences

An inmate is first submitted to the adjustment of his sentence in
relation to the date of eligibility. The judge will add up the
mandatory number of months or even years of confinement before
parole may be granted so that he will serve the chosen minimum
arbitrary sentence.

The inmates question the relevance of parole in view of the fact
that sentences have been substantially lengthened since the National
Parole Board was established.

Sometimes, judges act as though parole will be automatically
granted when the prisoner becomes eligible. Nothing is farther
removed from the truth. It is even dangerous and unfair that
someone’s future be jeopardized by a long sentence for if his
application for parole is turned down, he will have to serve a
number of unwarranted additional years.

Rehabilitation

Except in one institution, institutional rehabilitation is al-
together non-existent. It is used by society as a means of evading its
responsibilities and guaranteeing its safety while claiming that the
inmate will receive a “‘rehabilitation” treatment, thus leading to a
game of deceit on the part of the inmate who wants to get out of it.

Rehabilitation cannot exist unless there is a various institutional
basis to study the behavioural improvement of the applicants apart
from the cursory and sporadic meetings with the classification
officer or the specialist. It is a colossal farce, since the National
Parole Board relies mainly on outdated instead of recent data
(behavioural improvement during confinement) to grant parole.
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A confined inmate faces isolation, total lack of responsibilities,
total dependence on society, a game of deceit which the prison
administration lays upon him, a deprivation of any right of
intervention in the decisions closely affecting him. The penitentiary
administration uses parole as a means of pressure, of “blackmail”,
but not for rehabilitation purposes.

Actual rehabilitation occurs when an individual voluntarily
mends his ways and abides by social regulations. In this respect,
however, nothing can help a confined inmate. It is only when on
parole and face to face over again with material constraints and
responsibilities that he can be socially rehabilitated provided he is so
motivated and receives appropriate “moral” support.

Penitentiary
Bureaucratic alienation

We have just seen that inmates — except those of a single
institution — do not feel that they are receiving institutional
treatment. They rather learn about the hypocrisy of society. They
do not see any relationship between their life in an institution,
rehabilitation and parole.

The inmate is progressively depersonalized inasmuch as in-
stitutional environment compels him to play a role other than the
one he would have ordinarily played under normal circumstances. In
other words, he must prostitute himself in order to establish a good
relationship and to be well treated.

The penitentiary administration is far removed from the inmate
who complains about the climate of distrust prevailing, in com-
munication, which barely exists anyway. The penitentiary authority
wants to keep its ward in his status of inmate. On the other hand,
neither a comprehensive plan for a better evaluation of inmates’
efforts, nor a treatment is contemplated to stimulate the real
learning of social responsibilities.

The inmates consider the work of classification officers as
inadequate when it comes to preparing the candidate for parole.
Respondents consider that the institution’s caseload is too heavy for
any serious work to be achieved. However, Classification officers are
seen as being interested, at the outset, in helping inmates, but they
finally side with the repressive administration. Nevertheless they
have too much arbitrary power which can easily turn into
favouritism. A classification officer is considered as the decisional

turning point between the penitentiary administration and the
National Parole Board.

The ideal penitentiary: a school of life in society

. The institution should play a more important role in the
rehabilitation process by promoting such programs as will awaken
the inmates to their own identity — the establishment of living units
under the direction of a criminologist or another specialist as a
means of group therapy has been suggested by several study groups
— or stimulate the acceptance of responsibilities at different levels,
as well as by adopting a reliable system for evaluating the real
efforts made by confined inmates and on which the National Parole
Board could establish its decisional criteria. All inmates are
unanimous in suggesting that communication should be stimulated

on all three levels: the penitentiary administration, the Parole Board
and the inmates.

The institution must adopt a comprehensive philosophy aimed at
the individual rather than on an arbitrary generalization and on the
passive role of social defence which only serves to put away,
without too much concern, individuals who have offended a “‘just”
society. One must not “break a guy” but break the inertia of an
inefficient bureaucracy by forcing the latter to play the only role
society expects it to play, namely to enable prisoners to assume
their social responsibilities.

The National Parole Board

An unreachable and inefficient Parole Board

On the one hand, the Parole Board is seen as far removed and
unreachable. The commissioners do not really exchange views with
the applicants: interviews are disconcertingly brief. On the other
hand, the protracted procedures are such that the eligibility date for
parole very often falls far behind thanks to the mention of “decision
reserved” appearing on the file. This bureaucratic excuse brings back
to the applicant’s memory the tense moments he had to go through
awaiting his verdict.

Fully aware of the dilemma facing the National Parole Board
which claims to advocate a process of rehabilitation which is
actually nonexistant in the penal institutions, the applicant feels
that the reports submitted by the penitentiary are unreliable and
should not be used by the National Parole Board as a criterion on
which to base its decisions. Furthermore, it seems that the National
Parole Board wishes to be autonomous and does not want to be
involved in the administration of penal institutions. Now, how is the
National Parole Board to appreciate an applicant, if it does not
listen to the penal institution? Simply by referring to the criminal
record, that is to say to the applicant’s background while ignoring
all that might have taken place during his term of confinement.

In trying to find a logical explanation to inconsistencies of the
National Parole Board, the inmates confess that they are unable to
understand its internal operation. The National Parole Board looks
like a secret organization whose internal mechanism is complex, if
not altogether unknow. Parole becomes a ‘‘stroke of luck”, the
applicant relying on a chance decision that will allow him to readapt
to social life.

The real elements of the decision making process are now
known. However, it is stated that the police report is usually
negative and all the more restrictive if police officers have had a
hard time capturing the applicant at the time of the offence. The
community inquiry report, the marital status (priority given to
applicants with family responsibility) and the report of the
classification officer — even though based on the inmate’s slanted
behaviour in order to get away from it all — are of major
importance. The application for parole might be received differently
depending on the seriousness of the offence and the background of
the inmate.

Impersonal and arbitrary commissioners

Commissioners are generally looked upon as impersonal re-
presentatives. They do not allow the applicant to have a real
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dialogue with them when the hearing takes place. Instead, they urge
him to answer ambiguous questions dealing with the institutional
treatment program, which does not exist, his accomplices, his
private life, and so on.

For many groups, commissioners are unqualified and sadistic.
The presence of too many repressive members on the National
Parole Board, such as the ex-chief of police, J.P. Gilbert, former
judges, etc., is consistently blamed. In spite of the applicant’s efforts
during confinement, the chances of being objectively paroled are
curtailed by the arbitrary and discretionary powers vested in the
Board.

A National Parole Board that should be involved in the re-
habilitation process: (1)

In order to remedy the remoteness, and inefficiency of the
Board, (1) This paragraph does not contain the
recommendations of the inmates who were interviewed. These
recommendations appropriately appear in Chapter 7. We will try to
draw out a comprehensive picture of the National Parole Board and
project it in the future. This is a generally accepted picture which is
not relevant to any group in particular, we should institutionalize
the National Parole Board, that is, create a permanent regional
board for each penal institution. Needless to say that a more
functional rehabilitation program could then be set up. Thus, the
eligibility date would lose of its relevance since a more numerous
and qualified staff would be in a position to closely observe the
behaviour of the inmate who, when “ready” for parole, would be
able to enjoy it without having to put up with delays as harmful as a
long confinement.

The autonomy of the new Parole Board will no longer be related
to the institution as such since it will be integrated into the
penitentiary structure. Its immunity will rather be of a judiciary,
political and public nature.

Thus, a real exchange can be established with the institution
being part of the National Parole Board. Thanks to the process of
communication, it will be possible to determine the potentialities of
the inmate and the guidance to be recommended. Many meetings
will be scheduled to that effect. Moreover, the applicant will have
the right to appeal the decisions rendered.

The actual Parole Stage

The parolee’s problems

The problems facing a parolee are numerous and serious, the
most important being the negative attitude of the public towards
the ex-inmate. The most serious consequence is the difficulty to
find employment. If the inmate is unable to find work, his financial
problems become very accute; he will have to resort to dubious
devices which will return him, sooner or later, to the penitentiary.

The Parole Board Officer is considered as being distrustful and
too much inclined to establish a master/servant relationship with his
wards instead of a helpful attitude which would show up individual
motivation. If moral support could be also obtained, the inmate will
be able, in most cases, to succeed as a fine man. It might be
necessary someday for institutions or half-way houses to provide an
adequate training to inmates.

Excessive police supervision added to unreasonable and ex-
ceedingly difficult parole requirements tend in some cases to thwart
the efforts a parolee is willing to demonstrate in this respect.

I

The conclusions reached by the group are the outgrowth of
reflection following its meetings and the examination of proceedings
of the Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs. A few
excerpts from Chapter 8 of the Report attempt to give the gist of
these conclusions.

“In the present state of penal policy, the institutional treatment
and the parole system are wholly inadequate to attain their first goal
which is rehabilitation.” Moreover it is “incoherent because, instead
of solving the problems which are at the root of the inmate’s
criminal disposition, it only serves to complicate them along with
others. We formulate a policy of progressive learning of freedom.”

“Since the subject’s basic problem is a wrong perception of
freedom, the proposed system should teach him anew how to use
his freedom. Three stages of learning enable the inmate to progress
from a freedom in confinement (institutional freedom) to an open
freedom (community freedom) through a semi-open environment
(community and institutional freedom).

As soon as an offender is convicted, he is taken to a reception
centre. In this diagnostic-pragnostic phase the capacity of the
subject is evaluated. From there on, he is directed towards one or
another of the three stages according to his needs. It is not necessary
for him to pass through all three stages, because with some people
the problem is less acute than with others: in some cases closed
environment proves to be unnecessary and harmful.

When the subject is led to a closed environment, whether in a
prison or a penitentiary, his life within the institution is structured
around living-units (unités de vie). Therefore, the new learning and
the use of freedom in institution are carried out through these small
groups and, after a certain time, outside the institution, by means of
temporary absences. These absences which are no longer granted on
humanitarian grounds but for learning purposes, prepare the subject
for the second stage.

At the second stage which takes place at the half-way house, the
inmates are divided into two separate groups including, on the one
hand those subjects who have gone through the preceding stage and,
on the other hand, those reaching directly this stage following the
evaluation made by the recebtion centre. A pre-release house,
separate from the institution receives the first group. A restricted
but more generous freedom than in the institution is allowed in
these houses where more emphasis is laid on solving institutional
problems than on those arising from community life.

When the prisoner is ready to move forward in progressive
freedom, he joins the group directly referred to the semi-open
environment stage in the halfway house. Community problems
prevail in that type of house: for some, institutional problems are
non-inexistent and for those who have cleared the other stages, they
are negligeable, hence of secondary importance. Since the com-
munity takes precedence, freedom of the individual is geared to the
community. At this stage, his apprenticeship is well advanced and he
can enjoy a greater freedom in the half-way house.
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Finally, the last stage before total release in terms of the
social-political and legal aspects occurs when the individual living
within the community, is able to meet specialists who will help his
total integration into society. For we should not forget that the
community problems facing him at this stage are a lot more
complex than those encountered in semi-freedom where he is
assured a certain security in the house. To solve these problems, the
subject must have the possibility of obtaining qualified help in a
climate of understanding and not of supervision.

It is important, through all stages to retain a qualified team of
specialists: for institutional problems, people who have acquired
institutional experience, and for community problems, people living
and working in the community.

Such a system would thus pave the way for a progressive
apprenticeship of freedom. Treatment would continue uninter-
rupted through the various stages. We insist on the continuity in the
practical or theoretical treatment in the various stages through
which an inmate must pass. In order to guarantee social readapta-
tion and to motivate the individual towards this goal, it is essential

that he feel the permanence underlying the system. As suggested,
the subject will first become freedom conscious and then will
assume it progressively before becoming fully responsible and aware
of it.

It is obvious that to insure the success of this system, the policy
on which it is based should be integrated under one jurisdiction. The
dispute over jurisdiction will disappear since the treatment and the
process of progressive release are an integral part of the institution.
Indeed, the institution alone can insure a continuous apprenticeship
of freedom since it alone truly knows the individual. And, for the
same reason, and as a result of the continuous evaluation of the
individual by its specialists it alone can decide whether an inmate
should go to a further stage or be definitely released.

The result would be that the National Parole Board and its
parole system will become redundant since they would duplicate the
treatment and the decision-making authority of specialists. Not only
does the proposed system ‘“undo the functions” of the National
Parole Board, but it entails its disappearance and replacement by the
freedom apprenticeship “treatment”.

DIAGRAM FOR THE PROGRESSIVE FREEDOM APPRENTICESHIP SYSTEM
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Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate,
Monday, February 5, 1973:

“The Honourable Senator Goldenberg moved, seconded
by the Honourable Senator Thompson:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and report
upon all aspects of the parole system in Canada, including all
manner of releases from correctional institutions prior to
termination of sentence;

That the said Committee have power to engage the
services of such counsel, staff and technical advisers as may
be necessary for the purpose of the said examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so authorized
by the Committee, may adjourn from place to place inside or
outside Canada for the purpose of carrying out the said
examination; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on the
subject in the third and fourth sessions of the 28th
Parliament be referred to the Committee.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.



Minutes of Proceedings

March 8, 1973.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at
10.00 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Goldenberg (Chairman),
Choquette, Eudes, Flynn, Hastings, Lapointe, McGrand, Mcllraith
and Williams. (9)

Present but not of the Committee: The Honourable Senator
Denis.

In attendance: Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director for the
Examination of the parole system in Canada; Mr. Patrick Doherty,
Special Research Assistant.

The Committee resumed its examination of the parole system
in Canada.

The following witnesses, representing the Elizabeth Fry Society,
were heard by the Committee:

Mrs. Monica Freedman, President, Elizabeth Fry Society,
Kingston;

Miss Glennys Parry, Vice-President, Elizabeth Fry Society,
Ottawa;

Miss Phyllis Haslam, Executive Director, Elizabeth Fry
Society, Toronto;

Mrs. Kay Shaw, Board Member, Elizabeth Fry Society,
Ottawa;

Mrs. Dorothy Flaherty, Ottawa Board Member, Liaison with
Canadian Association of Elizabeth Fry Societies;

Mr. James MacLetchie, Executive Director, Elizabeth Fry
Society, Ottawa;

Mrs. Joan Moody, President, Elizabeth Fry Society, Toronto.

) Orf motion of the Honourable Senator Denis it was Resolved to
print in 'this day’s proceedings the briefs presented by the Elizabeth
Fry Societies of the Province of Ontario and by the Elizabeth Fry

Society, Toronto Branch; they are printed as Appendices “A” and
GIB"‘

At 12.05 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the
chairman.

AhES 15

Denis Bouffard,
Clerk of the Committee.



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and

Constitutional Affairs

Evidence

Ottawa, Thursday, March 8, 1973.

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10 a.m. to examine the parole system in
Canada.

Senator H. Carl Goldenberg (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: We have two briefs before us this morning from
the Elizabeth Fry Societies of Ontario, one being the provincial
brief and the other being the brief from the Toronto branch.

I believe Mrs. Freedman will introduce the provincial brief.

Mrs. Monica Freedman, President, Kingston Elizabeth Fry
Society: First of all, I should like to introduce those who have
accompanied me this morning. They are: Miss Phyllis Haslam,
Executive Director, Toronto Elizabeth Fry Society; Miss Glenys
Parry, Vice-President, Ottawa Elizabeth Fry Society; Mr. James
MacLatchje, Executive Director, Ottawa Elizabeth Fry Society.

We also have with us: Mrs. Dorothy Flaherty, from the Ottawa
Elizabeth Fry Society; Mrs. Norah Law, from the Ottawa Elizabeth
Fry Society; Mrs. Kay Shaw, from the Ottawa Elizabeth Fry
Society; Mrs. Joan Moody, President of the Toronto Branch; Mrs.
Susan King, a social worker from Hamilton; Mrs. Ruth Bruce,
President, Hamilton Elizabeth Fry Society; and Mrs. Margaret
McKee, Vice-President, Kingston Elizabeth Fry Society.

I would now call on Miss Parry to give you a summary of the
brief from the Provincial Council of Elizabeth Fry.

Miss Glenys Parry, Vice-President, Ottawa, Elizabeth Fry
Society: Mr. Chairman, honourable senators: We are pleased to have
this opportunity to appear before you this morning to provide you,
perhaps, with additional information on our viewpoints concerning
parole policy.

As volunteer agencies assisting in the rehabilitation of women
who have come into conflict with the law, we are vitally concerned
with the subject of Canadian parole policy. We are convinced that
parole is a valuable tool in the rehabilitation process and one which,
ideally, should be made available as widely as possible to as many
inmates as possible.

We commend the use of day parole during an inmate’s sentence
and urge the extension of this program.

A mandatory remission and parole policy in the case of women
serving sentences of more than two years is, in our viewpoint, a

desirable policy. We recognize the primary administrative res-
ponsibility of the National Parole Board and Parole Service in this
sphere, and their component status in what the Solicitor General
described before this committee as “a social defence network.”

The general direction of additional policy reforms and advances
which we hope to see is indicated in some detail in the brief
submitted for your consideration. We look forward to answering
your questions.

Senator Hastings: I wonder if you could repeat the statement
with respect to mandatory supervision?

Miss Parry: Mandatory remission, perhaps?
The Chairman: Mandatory supervision.

Miss Parry: Mandatory remission in the case of women serving a
sentence of more than two years.

Senator Hastings: Mandatory remission is desirable?

Miss Parry: Yes.

Senator Lapointe: From the summary of your brief, it would
appear that you support the mandatory supervision provision. In the
brief from the Elizabeth Fry Society of Toronto, it would appear
that they do not support that provision.

Miss Parry: There is perhaps a divergence of opinion in that
respect.

Senator Hastings: Are you referring to mandatory remission and
mandatory supervision as one and the same?

Miss Parry: No. The point I made in the summary statement was
that we do favour a mandatory remission and parole policy for
those inmates serving a sentence of more than two years.

Senator Hastings: Mandatory remission and parole?
Miss Parry: That is right.

Senator Hastings: You mean the earned and statutory remission
would be parole?

Miss Parry: Yes.

Miss Phyllis Haslam, Executive Director, Elizabeth Fry Society,
Toronto: Perhaps I should speak to the apparent discrepancy here.

35
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Quite correctly, the Toronto brief raised serious questions about
statutory remission. We feel that there is an advantage in having
people coming out under supervision. However, we believe that with
the changes of policy and program within the total system, and the
lack of clarification about the basic meaning of statutory remission,
a great deal of confusion and resentment has been built up around
this factor. The point we are attempting to make is that the whole
question of the various types of release under day parole, temporary
absence, statutory remission and parole should be clarified. We are
really saying we believe this matter should be looked at again
comprehensively.

Senator Hastings: Which we are trying to do.

Miss Haslam: I know. We are saying this is a basic issue, and this
is why there is the apparent discrepancy.

Senator Lapointe: In the brief you recommend greater flexibility
in the financing formula. What do you mean by that?

Mrs. Monica Freedman: With many women, we find a great deal
more time has to be spent supervising them than is considered
average for the supervision of inmates on parole, especially women
who have problems with reintegrating into the family. Perhaps her
children have been with the Children’s Aid; or even if they have
remained in her home or with her parents there is the added
problem of reintegration with the children and into the community.
Sometimes much more time than the approximately three hours a
month is spent in supervision. There should be some sort of scale in
the fee for services for supervision.

Senator Lapointe: What would you consider the ideal amount of
time to be devoted to each inmate? Would you say more than three
hours a month?

Mrs. Freedman: It depends so much on the inmate’s or the
parolee’s needs. It would have to be considered on an individual
basis rather than establishing a flat fee for services. I think we say
that in our brief.

Senator Hastings: What is it now?

Miss Haslam: Thirty-five dollars a month.

Senator Hastings: Per parolee?

Miss Haslam: Per parolee.

Senator Hastings: What other fees do you receive?

Miss Haslam: For community assessments I believe it is $40
month, but I am not certain.

Senator Hastings: Is that $40 for community investigation?
Miss Haslam: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Are there any other fees for service that you
receive?

Mrs. Freedman: We run a halfway house for the federal
government, and we receive a per diem rate for every inmate on day
parole or temporary absence of $10 a day.

Senator Hastings: That is $10 per inmate?
Mrs. Freedman: Per inmate, yes.

Senator Hastings: You get $35 per parolee. As you say, it
depends on each parolee, but do you base the fee on three hours per
parolee? Do you know what it is based on?

Mrs. Freedman: No, I do not know what it is based on. It has
been stated that it would be three hours, average, a month. In the
last week we have had someone on mandatory supervision who
occupied approximately 15 man-hours of supervisory work. That is
in only one week.

Senator McGrand: In the brief of the Ontario Society you say
that unless an inmate is dangerous to himself or others he should be
eligible for parole. There has been a great deal of criticism of parole
when an inmate has been released and committed a crime when on
parole. That has given parole rather a bad name among a certain
section of the population. The phrase “dangerous to himself or
others” is hard to define, and it is difficult to say whether an inmate
is dangerous to himself or others. I would like to hear some further
elaboration of that. How do you decide?

Miss Haslam: I believe the kind of offence a person has
committed and the inmate’s behaviour within the prison may
certainly indicate whether that person is a danger to other people.
In looking at parole generally we have to keep in mind that the
person will be released from the institution sooner or later, and if
there is sufficient build up of supports as that person moves from
the institution into the community on parole, it probably reduces
the danger of repeating a crime than if there was merely release at
the end of the sentence. From the point of view of the benefit to
society, if someone can be released gradually into the community,
and finally on parole, we believe this provides a greater safeguard to
the community than merely releasing that person.

Senator McGrand: You mean letting him out one day at a time
rather than giving him parole; let him out for a day at a time to see
how he integrates?

Miss Haslam: We believe in the sort of thing that has been tried,
for instance, in relation to the Vanier Centre for Women. Residents
have been released on temporary absence under close supervision
with a volunteer for a time, then on day parole, and there are fairly
careful control situations in terms of going out to work and back
again, hopefully to a unit which is not a part of the main prison,
because the pressures there are too great. As the person demon-
strates his or her ability to function in the community, then parole
is granted.

Senator McGrand: Do you see much difference between female
and male inmates who go out on parole? After all, the men are
much the majority. .
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Miss Haslam: The men are much the majority, but many people
who have worked with both men and women seem to feel that there
is greater demand on parole supervision to help the women to
become reintegrated than to help the men. There are a number of
reasons for this. In the first place, a woman will more frequently be
prepared to talk out her anxieties and fears, and the kinds of
pressures which can lead her into further crime. She is more
prepared to come in and talk and work through these with her
supervisor than men are. The pressures the woman is under in
coming back, as has already been said—the reintegration into a
family, which so often tends to condemn a woman who has
committed an offence, which is a bit of the double standard
approach; the amount of emotional turmoil she has to overcome in
coming back into the community—seem to be greater for women
than men. This means that more time needs to be spent with the
women. I believe there is sufficient experience in the field—and we
have talked a great deal with various people about this—to indicate
that undoubtedly the demands made on supervising a woman
parolee are greater than for a man.

Senator McGrand: Is there a change in the trend of female
crime? A few years ago bank robberies and that sort of thing were
committed entirely by men. We now read in the papers that in many
of these cases women are involved. Is there a tendency for women
to associate with men in what I might call big crime?

Mrs. Freedman: I can speak to that from the Prison for
Women’s standpoint. I think many women who are in prison for
such offences have been involved with men but may not have been
the perpetrators of the crime; because they have been involved they
have also been convicted of the crime. Their degree of participation
in the execution of the crime may not have been as great, but their
sentences may be equally as long.

Senator Lapointe: In the case of mental illness or mental
unbalance, is the board careful enough when releasing a woman on
parole? She might be dangerous to children. We have read of some
women who have been released and killed other children. Are the
psychiatrists careful enough in recommending release?

Mrs. Freedman: There are never enough psychiatric services
inside the institutions as far as I am concerned. I think a great deal
of effort goes into preparing parole reports, in ascertaining whether
a woman convicted of child abuse is likely to do it again with other
children who may be returned to her on release. I do not know that
I can answer the question accurately without having any sort of
statistics. I am not aware of any women recidivists in child abuse
cases, as has happened lately with the males.

Miss Haslam: I think one of the problems has been that, unlike
the men’s institutions, where the Solicitor General’s department has
been able to arrange with the Government of Ontario to have men
who show signs of being mentally ill transferred to the Penetan-
guishene Hospital, there has been no comparable long-term plan
worked out for women who are mentally ill. Unquestionably, there
are some women presently in our prisons—not many but some—
who, if there was a hospital for the criminally insane for women,
would be transferred there.

Senator Lapointe: Why is there no such provision for women?

Mrs. Freedman: There are not enough women in that category to
warrant such an institution.

Senator Denis: When you say in the brief that unless an inmate is
dangerous to himself or to others he should be eligible for parole, do
you mean that if an inmate is dangerous he should not be eligible
for parole?

Mrs. Freedman: I think there should be some sort of way of
ascertaining whether that person is dangerous, at the time they are
applying for parole. If someone has committed crimes of violence
and has not shown any movement in their term of stay in the
penitentiary, and if it is ascertained that there is no way of showing
that he or she will not be dangerous when she is returned to society,
then perhaps the risk is too great to release that person on parole.

Senator Lapointe: You speak of provincial parole boards. Are
there some provincial parole boards?

Miss Haslman: In Ontario and British Columbia.
Senator Lapointe: Thank you.

Senator Williams: It is your statement that there are not enough
mentally ill women in the prisons to warrant treatment as required
by men. Does your society agree that there are not enough women
suffering from this type of illness, that the authorities will not give
consideration for treatment?

Mrs. Freedman: I think we believe that there should be
consideration given to the female who is mentally unstable, but
there are no provisions right now, because the government has not
felt that it was feasible financially to build a separate institution or
make room in another institution, just for women who would fit
into the same category as the men who might go to Penetang. It has
been discussed on various occasions as to the feasibility of buying
services from the province in mental hospitals for the treatment of
mentally disturbed or unbalanced inmates who may be sentenced to
the prison for women.

Senator Williams: Then there is no treatment whatsoever made
available to those few women who may be suffering from such
illness?

Mrs. Freedman: At the present time, there are some women
incarcerated in the Prison for Women in Kingston, who are receiving
psychiatric services on an in-patient basis at the Kingston Psychiatric
Hospital; but they are very few and it has to do with the diagnosis
of what is mental unbalance and what is normality and this kind of
thing.

Senator Williams: I am not quite clear on your answer that some
women in particular are receiving psychiatric services. Does the
word “services” in this case mean treatment?

Mrs. Freedman: I am assuming that “services” means treatment,
g
yes.
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Senator Williams: Using the word “services” as equivalent to the
word “treatment”?

Mrs. Freedman: Yes.

Miss Parry: I think the difference is that for the men there is a
special hospital where the security arrangements are such that the
man can be transferred to the Penetanguishene hospital and that is a
unit within itself. I think that the difficulty as far as the women are
concerned is that while they can be transferred to the local Ontario
Hospital there is not the same kind of provision within the hospital
to provide the security which will be necessary. Therefore, there is a
tendency to return them to the institution, where they are seen by
the psychiatrist.

Senator Williams: I have tried not to bring forth a question that
involves security, and I am merely trying to find out, for my own
knowledge, the treatment that is made available.

Miss Haslam: I am suggesting that treatment in a setting where
one can concentrate on treatment and not be worrying about other
things is probably more effective than treatment in a unit where
people are concerned about other things and, therefore, may not
keep the patient in hospital for as long a period as they really need.

Senator Williams: Thank you.

Senator Lapointe: You could not take one floor, or half of one
floor, for the women, in this institution?

Miss Haslam: There are not enough. But we do think thatitisa
matter that really should be looked after.

Senator Williams: Countrywise, if you included all provinces,
would there be enough?

Mis. Freedman: There is only one penitentiary for women in all
of Canada.

Senator Williams: I realize that.

Mrs. Freedman: And there are now 130 women there. There are
four or five women receiving services at Kingston Psychiatric

Hospital at the moment, plus those receiving psychiatric services
within the institution.

Senator Williams: Thank you.

Senator Mcllraith: 1 would like to pursue this a little further by
way of clarification—and it is not a new point I am trying to raise.
Would it be fair to say that the problem in creating such an
institution that is, with the security requirements as well as the
psychiatric treatment required is the absence of a sufficient number
of patients for such an institution, to assemble the necessary staff
and organization?

Miss Haslam: Yes, that is the argument.

Senator Mcllraith: It is not an unwillingness to provide the
money and not a matter that can be cured with the provision of
further money; it is, rather, a matter of trying to have the facilities
created, to find some formula that could get it created. If that were
done, it would seem to require the use of the same facility by at
least several of the provinces, in order to have enough inmates to
make the creation of such an institution possible. Would that be
fair?

Mrs. Freedman: I could foresee inmates being paroled for the
purpose of rehabilitation, with some of their parole restrictions
being that they be a resident in a psychiatric or a treatment facility
and that if they left that treatment facility then they would have
violated their condition of parole and then would be returned to the
Prison for Women. It would be possible to parole someone to a
psychiatric facility, thereby giving the treatment staff the
opportunity to impose the day-to-day conditions, but that the
ultimate condition would be imposed by the Parole Board.

Senator Mcllraith: I agree it is highly desirable that the facilities
be there, but I was trying to pin down the nature of the problem of
creating such a facility. It is highly desirable that it be created.

Miss Haslam: I think there are very few women right through
Canada that actually fall into this category.

Senator Mcllraith: It is a problem of size, and size in the context
of having enough patients to make an institution, to assemble the
staff that such an institution would require, and to keep the staff
adequately or properly occupied in order to maintain their
professional skill.

Senator Hastings: I would like to pursue a little further the
questions that were raised by Senator McGrand, with respect to
parole and how it is completely misunderstood by the public. It
seems to me the myth that exists in society is that the accused goes
before a judge and he is charged with breaking and entering . . .

The Chairman: Should you not say ‘“‘she” now?

Senator Hastings: She is given three years for breaking and
entering, by a wise, sage judge. Two years later, the Parole Board
takes a look at her and considers she has made a certain amount of
progress, and, therefore, deems it advisable to release her at this
stage, in the best interests of society. They release her. Then, as
Senator McGrand indicated, our accused robs a bank. Then society
comes up with the criticism that if all these bleeding hearts and
senators had minded their own business and let the sentence by the
wise judge run its course, this would never have happened, and
Johnny or Mary eould have come out of the institution as a
relatively rehabilitated individual. They do not seem to understand,
and they will not accept the premise, that this particular inmate was
coming out a year ahead, in the best interests of society, and for the
best protection of society, and in the best judgment of the Parole
Board the odds were better to let this person out a year earlier. But
we missed. It is this idea that if the judge’s sentence had run its
course this second offence would never have happened.
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Miss Haslam: Possibly we need to encourage our community to
read history a little more closely. For many years we really had no
provision for people getting out of custody. They were kept in for
sentences which frequently were very long sentences, and the
recidivism rate was very high. So that the keeping of them, you
know, to the end of their sentences, which many people do feel is
the thing to do, did not succeed in doing what it was supposed to
do.

There is sufficient indication of a very reasonable proportion of
people who do get out on parole who do very well on parole. I think
so often we concentrate on all the people who break down and we
forget about the many people who do well.

Senator Hastings: Even breakdown is success.

Miss Haslam: Yes, because again we tend to see success or failure
totally in terms of whether they committed another offence. We do
not do it with other situations where people have longer periods of
breakdown and then gradually get on their feet again. Parole gives
that person that added help to get on his or her feet again. It really
does, you know.

Senator Hastings: How do you explain that to a public which
does not want to hear you? That is my problem.

Miss Haslam: That is why I suggest they read history.

Senator Hastings: And you agree that even though this inmate
fails on parole, parole can be a great contributing force to his success
in the future?

Miss Haslam: We have certainly found, for instance, in our
residence that frequently the person who does best is the person
who has had at least two failures after we started working with her.
The reinforcement of feeling that there are people who continue to
believe in her, who continue to be prepared to offer services to help,
who continue to help her to build up the supports which she needs
in the community, eventually results in that person’s doing very
well.

Other peopie do not. They continue to break down because we,
unfortunately, so often do not help people until they have been so
badly damaged that perhaps the main thing we can do is to help
them to continue to feel that people care. But, certainly, just
because some people continue to break down is no reason to feel
that nobody should be given the chance. That is really our
experience.

Senator Hastings: 1 agree that it is your experience, but how do
you convince the public of this, when they demand that if a man is
paroled he has to succeed? If he fails, “Damn you all for letting him
out! If you had just left him there it would have been fine for that
three years.” ;

Miss Haslam: People hear only what they want to hear, really. It
seems to me that the service that an organization such as the John
Howard Society and Elizabeth Fry Society offer, of talking with
groups, of sitting down with people and letting them talk their

anxieties out, can be of great help. We have a large group of
volunteers who meet with groups and talk with them. I think that
the sort of programs which are put on television and radio should be
able to help also, but I am afraid you are always going to have some
people who always see the worst and never the best in people.

Senator Lapointe: The point you make in your brief, that to
prepare the community to accept these persons is to have an
effective public relations program, is very important, I feel. I think
that is what is lacking in many cases. But how do you envisage this
public relations program? Are you publishing articles in the
newspapers and relating the success of one case after a few failures,
or that sort of thing? Do the newspapers accept that kind of story
or do they refuse them?

Miss Haslam: I would say that the newspapers, in places where
we have societies—and remember that this is in a very limited
area—quite often come to us for stories and they write very
positively in this field. We also have people appearing on radio and
television from time to time, but I am only speaking from one
society and the others may have more to add to that.

Mrs. Freedman: Mrs. Shaw would like to speak to that, if she
may.

Mrs. Kay Shaw, Ottawa Board Member, Elizabeth Fry Society:
With respect to the point that the senator made that people do not
think of the prisoners who come out without parole in the same
way that they think of prisoners who come out on parole, one of
the failures is that we do not publicize the failures who have not
been on parole. I do not believe there are any records kept. These
two should be compared and should be compared publicly. The rate
of failures with people who come out without any help, without
any parole supervision, ought to be compared to the rate of failure
of people who come out with supervision. If these comparable
figures were presented to the public from time to time I think this
would obviate the problem because people do not consider the
other cases at all. They just consider the ones that are out on parole.

Senator Lapointe: Are you giving stories to the newspapers just
when it is time for a subscription campaign, for example, or do you
give out stories during the whole of the year? The reason I ask that
is that it seems that when there is a subscription campaign every
society is giving news to the papers and it is a little indigestible, if I
may put it that way. On the other hand, if you cared to distribute
the news over the whole of the year that would be much more
acceptable to the public.

Mrs. Dorothy Flaherty, Ottawa Board Member, Liaison with
Canadian Association of Elizabeth Fry Societies: The Ottawa
Society has a speakers’ bureau, and we make it a point of addressing
women’s groups. There is not a week that goes by without some
group telephoning to ask us to send a speaker.

We have corporate members; some of the largest women’s
organizations in Ottawa are corporate members of our Society. We
have a news letter which goes to our members and anyone we think
might be interested, and we have had very good reaction from the
community at large. Not only that, but at the time of the United
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Appeal our members are available for speaking engagements. I
myself addressed a group of high school students at Fisher Park
High School. The assembly hall was full. I was speaking about the
work of the Elizabeth Fry Society and how important that work is.
I told them that people are going to come out of prison anyway,
because anyone who goes in, unless he or she dies in there, is going
to be coming back out into the community and the whole point is
to give persons coming out of prison some help so that they realize
that people are caring about them and that they have someone to
turn to if the going gets too rough.

I was most impressed by the reaction of these high school
students, many of whom had just come to the talk because they had
to be at the assembly that morning.

Senator Lapointe: When you go to meetings like that do you
sometimes take along former inmates to communicate along with
you?

Mrs. Flaherty: Yes, we have done that, but one point that I
make quite frequently is that our successes are not visible. You
cannot hold a person up and say, “Here is a successful person.” If
we are successful, our clients have disappeared into the community.
If we are not successful, there they are!

In our situation you can boast of your success in numbers but
not in actual individuals. As I say, you cannot hold a person up and
say, “Here is a person who did this, that and the other thing,”
because now they are part of the community and who would know,
and the minute you identified them you would probably be starting
to destroy the work you had already done.

Mr. James MacLatchie, Executive Director, Ottawa Elizabeth
Fry Society: If I may add a word, Mr. Chairman, in terms of public
education, as Miss Haslam mentioned earlier, public attitudes are
tricky things to deal with on this kind of issue, because it is an
emotional issue. If I might venture an opinion, it would seem to me
that we have really done the trip, if you will, about public
speaking—you know, the concept in which the community can be
brought together and we can tell them the truth and tell them where
it really is.

It makes we wonder these days whether or not it is public
involvement in our activities which is the best vehicle for public
education. I am talking of that on many levels. A church group, for
example, which will do newspaper clippings for us in order to do
our work, or a group of people who will prepare a brief to bring to a
committee at various levels, or people who will assist us ir
developing a program to bring into the schools to attach to their
established curriculum about corrections and so on — it is where
they have become personally involved that the education part really
works.

We have all seen television and we all go to the theatre, and so
on, and you have to be pretty well skilled to communicate the
message through these media in today’s society, it seems to me.

Senator McGrand: Just following on from that, you mention in
your summary a residence for ex-inmates. Are you referring to

females only, or are you referring to both men and women? There
has been a suggestion that inmates could be boarded in private
homes, but the idea of a criminal on parole boarding with an elderly
couple was considered dangerous by a great many people. They
drew mental pictures of these dangerous people living in homes with
gentle old-age pensioners. I must say that I was very much in favour
of this plan in selected cases. Would you be good enough to discuss
whether you were referring to women only, or to men and women,
and the problems that could be encountered in such a program?

Mrs. Freedman: Well, two of our societies run community-based
residential centres. The Toronto Elizabeth Fry Society has
provincial inmates or women in trouble with the law in their home.
We have seven residents in our home who are on back-to-back
temporary absences or day parole. The Kingston Society, and, I
think, all the Elizabeth Fry Societies of Ontario, support the idea of
community-based residential centres particularly for women because
we are more informed about the women, and also because we feel
that women, whenever possible, should go to their home com-
munities.

To define ‘“home communities” is very difficult; it is not
necessarily the place where they were sentenced, but the place
where they have ties and the community to which they will return.
We feel they should have the chance of going into these com-
munities.

Senator McGrand: What is the problem faced when an
inmate,—and we will say it is a woman,—is taken into the home of
an ordinary couple? What problems do they face? Is theft one of
the problems?

Mrs. Freedman: I think one problem that is always apparent is
the apprehension of the people who may be opening their home to
someone with a criminal record, unless they are thoroughly
prepared for the kind of individual who is going to be in their home,
not just the type of person, but the specific person and the
compatibility between that person and the couple in the home that
that person is going to. There may be problems in this connection
and that possibility has to be carefully studied on an individual
basis.

Senator McGrand: You have had some experience in this. So
what is the problem that comes up? I just mentioned theft as one
example. Is theft one of the problems? Is there a fear that these
people may steal something valuable from the home and walk away
with it? You must have some experience in this field.

Miss Haslam: We have quite a lot of experience actually, and I
think the first problem is the fact that we are dealing with adults,
and adults usually do not like to be placed somewhere. So there is,
first of all, the problem of finding a home which is compatible both
ways. Sometimes you get a person who has had very limited social
experience placed in a home where the social mores are different
from his or her own, and I think there is a necessity for matching
there.

Further, I think that one of the problems, certainly for a fair
number of people, has been that of alcohol. More often we are
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dealing with older people in this area and alcohol has been a
problem. It works both ways. 1 can remember the case of an older
woman who was working in a home and she seemed to be quite
happy, and then she said that she really did not think that she could
make it because she felt they constantly just did not believe her and
did not have faith in her. She said, “You know, if you come to the
door and you have been out for the evening, and you ring the
doorbell and the lady opens the door like this and leans forward and
says, ‘Did you have a good evening? * And she said, “You know,
the constant reiteration of saying things like, “Thank heavens she is
not drunk tonight! *” Now she had not had any liquor when she was
in the home, but this was her problem and the person in the home
knew it. We have had very little experience of people staying in
homes stealing from that home.

Senator McGrand: Very little experience?

Miss Haslam: Yes. Again, you see, it depends a little bit on the
kind of way in which people function: In the case of an alcohol
problem you have people who say, “Well, I left the alcohol all out
because I wanted to show her that we trusted her,” and they had
already been told that this person was having great problems with
alcohol, and such a person can get lonely and start to drink.

I think there are times when people may steal from the home in
which they are placed and where, in a sense, the wealth of the home
is almost being pushed at them; but I really think the problem is
much more a question of inadequate preparation, as has been
suggested, and interpretation, and also of setting up an opportunity
for both sides to talk with an outside person.

It sometimes amuses me that people talk about the fact that
they would be afraid to have this kind of person in their home,
when they have had somebody come and tell them a little about the
person and when they know where the person came from and they
know what their problem is and everything else. At the same time
they will rent their room to a person off the street who may have a
far greater problem and who may be a much greater danger to them.

Senator McGrand: Well, you have been dealing with women, and
perhaps you would not want to discuss men, so perhaps I should
save questions in that respect for the John Howard Society.

Miss Haslam: Perhaps that would be better because our
experience is limited.

Senator Lapointe: Are these persons paid for receiving former
inmates into their homes; and, if so, how much are they paid?

Miss Haslam: Where people have gone into a rooming house or a
boarding house and this is a commercial business, then they have
paid and the person just accepted them. In some cases it has been a
work arrangement, where the person is staying in the home and in
return for room and board gives some help in the home.

Senator Lapointe: Are they screened before being accepted?

Miss Haslam: We want to screen both sides, both the home to
which the individual is going and the person who is going to the

home, because there are some people who want only some cheap
labour. It is much more a question of providing a place where the
person can go and see whether this is a home in which she would be
comfortable.

Senator Hastings: Do you supervise men and women, or women
only?

Miss Haslam: Primarily the Elizabeth Fry Societies have
supervised women, but more recently some of the branches like
Kingson have been supervising men. The Toronto Elizabeth Fry
Society has been doing community assessments of men. Where a
family is involved we have quite a good deal to do with men because
where there are women there are frequently men and what with
husbands, common-laws, and boy friends we may be doing quite
some work with them.

Senator Hastings: I should like to return, if I may, to my original
thought in dealing with failure on parole—which I know is going to
lead to a question from Senator Denis. A failure on parole can be a
success, and the Elizabeth Fry Society does not accept the
suggestion that is being made that a failure on parole should not be
considered again for parole.

Miss Haslam: I would disagree with that.
Senator Hastings: You would disagree?
Miss Haslam: Yes.

Senator Denis: According to your experience what is the main
reason for either the first or second failure? Is it work, bad habit, or
is it the good or bad treatment they receive in the prisons? What is
the main cause for a man again becoming an offender?

Miss Haslam: I speak in terms of women because that is my
experience. I think the first reason people have failed on parole is
because they did not really anticipate the pressures they were going
to be under when they came back into the community. In a sense,
they were not prepared to be released on parole. People feel that
because they have been out of the community the conditions in the
community have changed and they will be able to fit in. They may
not have been prepared to work closely with their supervisor and to
meet those kinds of pressure.

I think the second reason people fail is that many of them begin
to work in the community for the very first time in their lives. They
come back to the community, and many of them have not had any
prior employment experience in the community. The institutions
are not set up to give a person the opportunity to do a full day’s
work with the kinds of pressure they face when they get out into
the community. They are released and there is difficulty, let us say,
in adjusting to working in a factory. You get the kind of young
person who tends to react and say, “Oh, to hell with you, I'm
getting out! ” This does not work too well. Or you get the kind of
person who feels she is doing well but is not receiving any support
from her supervisor; and that is it for her.

I think the third reason, and perhaps one of the most important,
is the question of loneliness. When a person comes out of an
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institution where everything tended to be fairly well structured, and
where there was always someone to talk to, where there was neither
a sense of loneliness nor a sense of anxiety about what was going to
happen in the future; and then she comes into the community and
feels lonely and may very well move back into contact with people
who will re-introduce her to criminal activities.

I think these are our experiences; but Mr. MacLatchie may have
more to add to this discussion.

Mr. MacLatchie: The only thing I would add is that you must
never forget the burden of the stigma these people have to carry,
and the kinds of decisions and fears that hang behind just about
every contact they have with the community. Whether or not their
anxieties are real or merely perceived this is significant to them and
they must cope with it on a daily basis.

Senator Hastings: Having listened to your reasons, parole failure
is not their fault. They really did not blow it, as has been indicated.
We should be assuming a bit of the responsibility if we are not
preparing them, for the reasons you have given.

Senator Lapointe: You must not exonerate these people in your
efforts to be kind toward them. We recognize they are not the only
ones who are responsible; but you seem to exonerate them on all
counts. '

Senator Hastings: I am not exonerating them. I am sharing the
blame. The witness has nodded her head and this will not show on
the record.

Miss Haslam: I am saying that I think it is a shared responsibility.

Senator Denis: I think that perhaps society is not ready to
accept them either.

Senator Hastings: In certain quarters, that is right.

Senator Lapointe: When she is in this home does the woman feel
so comfortable that she does not want to leave, or she does not

want to accept her own responsibilities, or to return to her own
home?

Miss Haslam: That is right, yes. Certainly, one of the things that
a person who is responsible for a resident must watch for is that
they do not make a person totally dependent so that they want to
stay on. Most residences, I believe, have a policy where there is
constant discussion with the young person regarding why she wants
to stay in the residence—is it really giving her anything? Should she
not be moving out? I think moving out, and helping her to move
out is important.

At the same time, I think that as a community we need to
recognize that there are some people who are so limited, perhaps in
intelligence, in health, or for a variety of reasons, and that they
may need a constant setting where there is assistance for them,
perhaps a sheltered workshop or a residence with that kind of
facility—not in a custodial sense but as a facility available for them.
Perhaps the residence part of the situation is more in terms of

moving into homes which are prepared to take them, or it may be
that we need some residences where people can stay happily,
comfortably, and out of trouble for the balance of their lives.

Senator Lapointe: Are you preparing, for example, the husband
to take her back?

Miss Haslam: Indeed, one of the jobs of a social worker in an
agency such as ours is to help that person build relationships with
people in the community who have meaning to them. This means
getting in touch with the husband and finding out whether or not
the husband is prepared to take her back, or whether or not she is
prepared to go back to her husband. Where there is a lot of
misunderstanding, the period of time she spends in residence may
provide opportunities for these two to meet together without
immediately moving back together. Gradually this relationship may
build in such a way that the person is received back into the home
which is prepared to receive her and to which she is prepared to
retumn. .

In other instances, I think our job is to help the woman
understand that moving back into her own family home, or her
parents’ home, is really unlikely to work; and she cannot go on
using this as an alibi for committing crimes for the rest of her life.
She had better accept this fact and try to find other ways of getting
satisfaction. This is true for men, as well.

Senator Denis: Does the situation occur where people on parole
tell you they wish to return to the institution because they receive
better treatment in prison than in society?

Mrs. Freedman: I think we have had instances where that has
happened, where a person feels uncomfortable in the streets and
that he or she feels more secure in the institution. I think a lot of
counselling is needed as to why they feel more comfortable in the
institution than they do in the community. This is a prime example
of where there is constant need for counselling, not only with that
person, but with people who are immediately related to him—his
employer if he has one, his wife, his family, his parents.

Senator Hastings: What percentage would be in that category?
Mrs. Freedman: I cannot give you the statistics.

Senator Hastings: Would it be a few, or many? I think it is
important to clarify that answer.

Mrs. Freedman: I think it is a small percentage of the women
with whom I have been associated.

Mr. MacLatchie: I would say it is a small percentage.

Senator Hastings: Very small.

Miss Haslam: This is a very good argument for parole, and not
too late in their sentence either. My experience is that people who
feel this way become so dependent, not on the halfway house, but
on the institution. They become institutionalized and then it is very
difficult to get them out. So let us get them out on parole as soon as
possible.
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Senator McGrand: You mentioned that he felt secure. Is the
security of the individual the basis of this whole discussion?

Mrs. Freedman: Yes, I think so. One basis for granting parole, in
my opinion, is the ability of the individual to go into a community
and feel some worth. I feel particularly that women who are
incarcerated, or have been, do not feel very much self worth. The
longer they are incarcerated, the more they lose their self
confidence, if they ever had any to begin with.

Senator McGrand: Yes, but most people commit a crime for
security. They rob a bank to get a few thousand dollars to achieve
security in the first place.

Miss Haslam: Financial security is seldom, in my opinion, the
basis on which women commit crimes.

Senator McGrand: I am thinking mostly of men, I suppose.

Mrs. Freedman: A great percentage of the women in penitentiary
have some sort of addiction problem, whether it be alcohol or
narcotics. I think this is something that must be considered. The list
may indicate that they are in for fraud, theft, manslaughter or
something else, but they have some problem other than that. In a
great percentage of cases it has to do with an addiction problem,
either alcohol or drugs. To get to the basis of why they need
dependency on some sort of chemical is an important matter.

Senator McGrand: That is security; they are looking for security.
Miss Parry: It is a reflection of a basic insecurity, I would say.

Senator McGrand: They are insecure, but they are looking for
security.

Miss Parry: Yes.

Senator McGrand: While you are discussing this subject, would
you comment with respect to the relationship of women to the
battered child syndrome which is so common today?

Miss Haslam: We have a number of clients who have been in
custody because they have been involved in battering a child. I
suggest that perhaps your committee might like to have Cyril
Greenland testify on this, if you are interested; he is an authority,
and we are not.

Senator Williams: Can you tell me if the average age of inmate is
becoming younger?

Mrs. Freedman: The average age of women in penitentiary is
from 24 to 26 years, although I would not wish to be quoted on
that. However, we have women from 18 to 65 years of age in federal
penitentiary.

Senator Hastings: Has the average age been increasing, or
decreasing?

Mrs. Freedman: That is a statistical matter.
Miss Haslam: It has been decreasing.

Senator Williams: An inmate who has spent possibly eight, 10 or
12 years in penitentiary and becomes qualified for parole seems to
have a feeling that he will be returning into the society he left
possibly eight or 10 years ago. However, society has changed, and he
suddenly finds himself in a very strange atmosphere and becomes
overwhelmed with fear.

Mrs. Freedman: This is a severe problem. Most women have not
spent 10 years in prison. In my opinion, programs such as
temporary leave are attempts to cope with this situation in order
that a person does not spend 10 years in jail and return to a
community of new cars, new fashions and the whole gamut of such
things in our society which are completely strange to him or her.
This is one reason why we must be very careful in ascertaining
whether an inmate is not really ready for parole at an earlier date.
Perhaps 10 years incarceration would be too long for quite a few
people and a shorter period would have sufficed, with a longer
period on parole, rather than serving their sentence within the
institution.

Senator Williams: Parole being made available at an earlier date
would help them to keep up with changing society?

Mrs. Freedman: Yes.

Senator Williams: In your opinion, that would be beneficial to
them?

Mrs. Freedman: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Do you have anything to offer with respect
to the statutory condition now of serving one-third of sentences?

Mrs. Freedman: I believe parole ought to be a part of the
treatment process of the individual inmate. The parole date, or
eligibility date for parole, should be constantly evaluated with the
appropriate authorities, such as the Parole Service representatives
who make the evaluation to the Parole Board, the classification
department and any others within the institution who deal with
inmates, such as the psychiatrist, the psychologist and the work
officers who are responsible for work placements. A constant
re-evaluation of an inmate’s progress within the institution and
realistic planning of that person’s ideas of what he will do on the
street when he is released on parole are necessary. With this constant
evaluation there need not be an arbitrary one-third of sentence

served before a person becomes eligible for parole. It may be longer,
or far less than one-third.

Senator Lapointe: You suggest that the board’s membership be
increased. How many members would you envisage?

Mrs. Freedman: We have suggested regional parole boards, with
an appropriate number of members on the National Parole Board to
enable it to participate in regional parole boards with regional
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representation. I do not know exactly how many members should
be added. I think that depends on the final make-up of the regional
parole boards, should that be a recommendation of the Senate
committee.

Senator Lapointe: You say there is a long delay between
suspension and the revocation of parole. What is the delay? Isita
few weeks, or a few months?

Mrs. Freedman: It could be a few months. The regional parole
representatives attempt to interpret to the suspended parolee why
the suspension was imposed and make an assessment for a final
recommendation to the Parole Board. This may take some time,
however, involving psychiatric evaluations and quite a few other
processes. In addition, regional parole representatives are often
over-worked.

Senator Lapointe: You say that during that time they are back
in jail.

Mrs. Freedman: They are back in the jail

Senator Lapointe: Does this time count against sentences? You
speak of dead time. Does that mean it does not count toward the
sentence?

Miss Haslam: Mr. Street, perhaps, could speak to that.
The Chairman: He is not a witness now.

Miss Haslam: Very often this time is spent in the local jail, not
where they previously were. It differs among parole boards. I believe
it does count, but it does not help in terms of the planning for that
person.

Senator Flynn: It seems to me that most of these briefs are
directed at the failure of imprisonment as a penalty for an offence
of any kind. I wonder whether the witnesses before us today have
ever thought of any other punishment than imprisonment? I am
not referring; of course, to a fine, because that is reserved for
statutory offences, but really to crime. After all, this is the thrust of
the briefs we have heard. They criticize the effect of imprisonment
on an offender.

Miss Parry: I think, sir, that we are criticizing imprisonment not
in its failure as a punitive measure, which is not within our interest,
but in its failure to serve as an adequate rehabilitative measure. I
think it is a significant distinction.

Senator Flynn: To my mind, it is about the same.

Senator Hastings: Do you believe there is a place for punishment
in the corrective process?

Miss Parry: That would be a rather personal and subjective
opinion, frankly. It certainly forms no part of our Society’s
platform. We are interested in the rehabilitation of individuals in

order that they can again function as useful citizens in the
community.

Senator Denis: You remarked earlier that most inmates are there
because of drugs or alcohol. Would you say that they are sentenced
because of the crime of being an addict, or is it for a crime
as a consequence of taking drugs?

Mrs. Freedman: 1 would say it was a consequence of an
addiction problem. I think that some people commit some offences
under the influence of alcohol. Others have committed offences for
their need to support an addiction habit.

Senator Denis: Naturally, because they are addicts.

Mrs. Freedman: My personal feeling is that it is not necessarily
because they are under the influence of the drug at the time, but
because they are in need of finances to support the habit.

Senator Lapointe: Do you think that the amount of $415 a year
is enough to supervise a parolee? Would it be better if you had a
little more?

Mr. MacLatchie: I believe we addressed ourselves to that earlier.
I think we are looking towards a system that would essentially be
open-ended on a fee-for-service basis, as opposed to the way it
stands now, which we understand was established by the Solicitor
General’s department in a massive survey of the number of parolees,
treatment agencies, parole services, and so on. The answer, of
course, relates again to the needs of the particular parolee and the
kinds of services required to assist him in functioning adequately
within the community. One can perceive any number of devices for
that—an hourly rate, or something of that order, where the amount
of time charged up against the parolee could be registered
somewhere and paid for.

Senator Lapointe: Are you getting $415 automatically for every
parolee?

Mrs. Freedman: We submit a statement at the end of each month
to the accounting department of the Parole Service, of those people
we have had under our supervision, which is verified by the regional
Parole Service representative.

Mrs. Joan Moody, President, Toronto Elizabeth Fry Society: In
reply to the question, I should tell you about what we do, which
explanation might help from the financial point of view.

In Toronto, and in the other Elizabeth Fry Societies, we rely
heavily on volunteers. We have at our residence three full-time social
workers as well as our executive director. We also have about 100
active volunteers. Now, these people do a lot of work with people
who come to us for help, and some of those are on parole. The
reason I want to make this point is, it gets increasingly difficult to
get people to act in a volunteer capacity, because people are getting
more and more busy in this life of ours and more women are seeking
financial employment in the community. So we have less volunteer
time to drawn on.
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I am not sure whether the community always realizes how much
support they get in this free time. The sort of thing that happens in
our residence, a girl will come in, will be admitted and invited to
stay with us. She will get her counselling from the trained social
worker. Now, a volunteer will be a tremendous back-up person here.
A volunteer may have seen this girl in court and already have spoken
to her about taking part in the Elizabeth Fry program.

Once she is in the residence, the social worker can get a
volunteer to take the girl into the community, down to Manpower,
to talk about getting employment. The volunteer can also be used to
talk with people in the inmediate community where this person has
come from, to see about accepting her back into the area.

All this takes a lot of time. None of this time is chargeable to the
government. This is all free time. When you are talking about how
much it costs to rehabilitate a person, you cannot say, “Shall we
give you $400 a year or $400 per person? > It is just going to start
costing more, because you are going to be using less volunteer time.
It is just not going to be available.

Senator Lapointe: Is the government aware of this problem?
Mrs. Moody: Probably not.

Senator Hastings: I think that essentially we are dealing with the
Toronto brief.

I have one final question. I wonder if each witness can tell me
how many years they have been in the correction field. Miss
Haslam?

Miss Haslam: Since 1953 —twenty years.
Mrs. Freedman: Eight years.

Miss Parry: Since 1969.

Mr. MacLatchie: Since 1970.

Senator Hastings: Would you say that your proposals, as
contained in your brief, were based on the result of solid experience
or academic theory?

Miss Haslam: Solid experience.

Senator Choquette: Do you pay occasional visits to these
women’s penitentiaries and interview the inmates before they are
released on parole?

Miss Haslam: The Elizabeth Fry Society in Kingston is visiting
them constantly. The staff from the Toronto society visits the
prison every two months and spends two or three days getting to
know the women who are going to be coming back into the Toronto
area. So there is some relationship built between our staff and the
prison before the actual release into the community. There is also
help in terms of making community contacts which can be helpful
to the person on release.

Senator Choquette: So far we have mentioned that some of the
main causes why people are incarcerated in women’s penitentiaries
are drugs and alcohol. Do you agree with me that the greater
percentage is for sex crimes, repeated crimes of prostitution,
committing abortion, being aborted, and that there is lesbianism
rampant in those women’s organizations or institutions? Do you
ever have complaints about that, that the guards themselves are
out-and-out lesbians?

Miss Haslam: There are very few women in penitentiaries for
crimes associated with prostitution. This is a summary conviction
offence. Abortions: some, but not very many. In any institution,
where you are separating the sexes one from the other and putting
people under the kind of pressures that exist in an institution, there
is a tendency for homosexuality to develop. and, certainly, the
Prison for Women is no exception, although I think that in more
recent years there has been a great effort to try to combat the very
causes of this within an institution. Again, the use of day parole, the
use of parole itself, is one way of meeting this problem, but I think
we need also to realize that homosexuality with women, lesbian
activity with women, is a very deep-seated psychological problem,
which frequently has developed long before the person ever got into
custody.

Senator Choquette: Did you ever have complaints from some of
the inmates that guards of such places are out-and-out lesbians and
encourage such practices?

Miss Haslam: In the Prison for Women?
Senator Choquette: Yes.

Mrs. Freedman: There have been those accusations from time to
time. I have not heard them in quite a few years.

Senator Choquette: Because I have heard them. I have done a lot
of criminal law work and I have defended two or three women
abortionists. Some of them served four years, and they came back
to me and said, ““It’s amazing what goes on in those institutions. The
guards are out-and-out lesbians.” And I said, “Report it to the
Department of Justice.” It was done, but they did not believe it at
all. Are people inventing these stories? Iam wondering. That is why
I am asking you the question.

Mrs. Freedman: There have been matrons from time to time who
have been dismissed on those grounds, but right now, at the Prison
for Women, there are quite a few males on staff. With the winter
works project there is more male staff than there has ever been
before, which counteracts lesbianism to some degree. There are
males coming into the institutions in terms of volunteers for special
reasons and special purposes. I have been going in for eight years,
and I do not see it as a severe problem within the institution in
terms of staff and inmate lesbianism.

Senator Lapointe: Are there female members on the National
Board and the provincial boards?
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Miss Haslam: There is one woman on the National Parole Board;
there has been one woman on 2 provincial parole board, I believe,
but [ am not altogether certain about that.

Senator Lapointe: Would you suggest that there should be
more?

Miss Haslam: I think there are many women who would make a
very great contribution to a parole board. I feel that anyone coming
on to a parole board ought to be chosen because of the contribution
they can make. This would probably be one factor in getting
balanced boards.

The Chairman: The Toronto brief suggests a close Haison
between the Parole Board and the institutions. Are you suggesting a
form of integration of the penitentiary and parole services?

Miss Haslam: In that recommendation I think we are trying to
point out that sometimes within the institution programs are
developed and a person involved in a program, and this is sometimes
not recognized by the Parole Board. The type of thing that
sometimes occurs is that you get a person out on, say, day parole
where she is getting to the point of feeling secure within the
community and to the point of moving forward with this amount of
support and the tendency is to say, “Well, this person is okay; she
can go out on full parole”, whereas that may not be the best thing
for that person at that moment.

On the other hand, there are other times when the institutional
people feel very strongly that a person has reached the peak of what
she can gain from the institution and that if she remains much
longer she is likely to deteriorate in her attitude, her abilities and
her readiness to fit back into society. However, in the sharing of this
information, perhaps because of the limitations that are put on the
Parole Board itself in their own regulations, it is not possible for
that person to leave the institution at that time. I think this is rather
the type of thing were are referring to in our brief.

The Chairman: You suggest the possibility of amalgamating
temporary absence and day parole.

Miss Haslam: Providing there is this type of close liaison. If the
regional parole boards are there, then it is possible to move people
more readily. At the present time, it seems to me, there is no real
clarification regarding the differences between these services.

Senator Hastings: Have we moved to the Toronto brief, Mr.
Chairman?

The Chairman: Do you have some questions, Senator Hastings?

Senator Hastings: I yield to Senator Lapointe.

Senator Lapointe: In your brief you point to the unsatisfactory
experience for those who have to accept mandatory supervision and
the problems which it creates. Which problems are they?

Miss Haslam: I think they stem back to the whole question as to
why there is statutory remission in the first place. The inmate tends

to feel that this is something that is his or hers and suddenly they
are told that they must have supervision at this period. In other
words, she says, ‘I was to be free and now suddenly I am not free; I
have to have supervision.” I would question the whole basis of
statutory remission as much.

Senator Lapointe: Would you want to abolish it or submit it to
other kinds of regulations?

Miss Haslam: I wish someone could explain to me why we have
it. If it is a question of control—“If you are good, then you will get
these days off and once you get them off, then they are yours,” sort
of thing—that is one thing; but then we turn around and say, “But
when you get out you will be supervised as you would be on parole,
and you may lose those and be brought back again.”

If we look at the total sentence and the most effective way of
helping this person all the way along, then it seems to me that
statutory remission just does not seem to fit in too well. The inmate
sees it as double talk. On the one hand we say, “Because you are
good, you earn it; and because you are bad, you lose it.”

Senator Lapointe: But, actually, even if they are bad they get it.
Senator Hastings: No.

The Chairman: You are talking now of statutory remission as
distinct from earned remission?

Senator Lapointe: Yes.

Miss Haslam: Yes, everyone gets statutory remission, but why do
we suddenly say, “Okay, you are sentenced to three years and one
year will be statutory remission”? I do not know whether I am
correct in quoting these figures or not.

The Chairman: It is one-quarter of the sentence.

Miss Haslam: So, if they are sentenced to four years they serve
three years. What we are saying in our brief is that we would like
this whole question of statutory remission looked at, bearing in
mind its validity in the present penal system. We do feci that itis a
good idea to have everyone released under parole supervision.
However, to base it on statutory remission for many people seems
to us to be just out of keeping with the whole philosophy and
policy of parole and the idea of when the individual needs this help.

Senator Lapointe: In your brief you say that the volunteers
should be drawn from as wide a group as possible. First of all, do
you have societies in small towns?

Miss Haslam: Two of the smaller centres would be Peel-Halton
and Sudbury. Hamilton, Toronto, Ottawa and Kingston, in Ontario,
and Vancouver, out West, are the larger ones.

Senator Lapointe: How do you manage to get volunteers in a
small town? Are they as numerous as you would like?
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Miss Freedman: We are trying at this time to start a chapter in
Napanee, Ontario, which is where the regional detention centre is
located. It is sometimes difficult to get volunteers because they are
not used to having a penal institution in their area. Generally
speaking, the people who are already interested in doing something
for other people are the ones who have volunteered their services in
setting up a core of volunteers to get the society started. This, as I
say, is a very small community.

Senator Choquette: There was a time when the provincial court
judge, if he wanted to make sure that the person remained in jail, let
us say, two years, would hand down a definite term of sentence
together with an indeterminate term, which meant that the person
had to serve two years with no possibility of being released on
parole.

Are your hands not tied in such cases, or is that type of
sentencing still being carried out?

Miss Haslam: Sentencing procedure in Ontario for women is
different than that for men. They are regarded as totally indeter-
minate sentences and are dealt with by the provincial parole board.

Senator Choquette: So you can start working on the future
parolee at any time.

Miss Haslam: That is right.

Senator Hastings: I should like to return, if I may, to the matter
of the volunteers and Mr. MacLatchie’s comment with respect to the
need for involvement. The suggestion has been made and will be
made to the committee—and I should like you to comment on
this—as to whether or not these volunteers would be overly
sympathetic towards the liberty of the individual and the cause of
rehabilitation. The theory is that the use of volunteers would,
unfortunately, include do-gooders who would not have the proper
training for the supervision and counselling of parolees, and whose
judgment would be impaired by the doctrine of appealing to the
good side of the individual rather than being fair and firm. Would
you like to comment on that?

Mr. MacLatchie: I shall be happy to respond to that. I think
about this type of thing in historical terms. Social agencies, as you
know, historically were organized as groups of volunteers who
wanted to be beneficent and helpful, and now gradually all social
agencies, as we can see, are changing over to professionalism and are
reducing the rate of volunteers.

1 believe that today we are into a new kind of synthesis, if you
will, of the professional and volunteer. I would dare say that in the
use of volunteers it is essential to provide training, education and
support, and I believe we have the capacity to do this. It requires
adequate job descriptions, adequate screening measures, adequate
reorientation programs, on-going supervision and support for
volunteers, and so on.

We are also at a time, certainly in this country, when volunteers
are coming forward at a greater rate. There is much more concern
among people in the community today. Only five or six years ago it

was very difficult to find volunteers. The attitude then was, “Well,
that is what the social agency is for, that is the kind of work it is
doing.” Today there is much more involvement, particularly by the
young, a desire to be part of the community and do something
actively, and it is meaningful to them. It can be done, and I do not
see why we should not capitalize on it.

I might add that with the changing role of women in our society
and the freedom and education they have generally for voluntary
work, being able to provide baby-sitting for their own families while
they go out and do this kind of thing for us under our supervision,
certainly makes for an exciting time for these volunteers, and I do
not see why they cannot contribute more. They are there, and we
know they are there.

Senator Lapointe: One of your colleagues said a moment ago
that there were fewer volunteers, especially among women, because
they were too busy working at full-time jobs.

Mr. MacLatchie: Our experience has been that we are getting
more volunteers from among women whose children are in school or
are getting older and can essentially take care of themselves after
school. I cannot speak for the other societies, but certainly in the
Ottawa Elizabeth Fry Society we are seeing more of them.

Senator Hastings: I can never understand the premise that when
a volunteer makes a suggestion it is considered as based on
sentimentality or emotion, yet when the police make proposals they
are always said to be based on solid experience.

Mr. MacLatchie: The combined experience of our society, which
has been operating programs for well; nigh two decades in prisons,
detention centres and jails, and working in this field, is that we have
not too many problems in respect of the kind of training programs
and on-going support that we can provide. Remember, as I said
before, the importance of this as a public education vehicle.

Miss Parry: I think it is also important to emphasize that our use
of volunteers is selective. Not everyone who comes to the society
and says they want to be a jail visitor is considered suitable to do it.

Senator Hastings: They are screened.

Miss Parry: There is an automatic screening process. On that
basis I think it is fair to say that, while our viewpoint may
frequently differ from that of the police, it is not to say that we are
all sentimantalists.

Senator Hastings: I agree.

The Chairman: I have told that you need the volunteer to offset
the bureaucratic tendencies of the professional. Is that right?

Miss Haslam: I am sorry I have been overpowering!
Senator Hastings: Excellently put, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Williams: How much briefing or instruction do you give
avolunteer?
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Mrs. Freedman: It varies from society to society.

Mr. MacLatchie: It varies depending on the task as well. A
volunteer coming to the Elizabeth Fry Society might be involved
with a client or a parolee in some fashion or other under the
guidance of the professional staff we have. On the other hand, they
might be involved in preparing a brochure for us, or in undertaking a
public speaking engagement. The training required is related to the
specific task.

I do not think we have the capacity to train a volunteer for all
purposes for our society. What we have to do in reality is to clearly
define our tasks. If it is a jail-visiting task, for example, the person
concerned will be advised about the jail regulations, the kind of
routine we have been in, the kind of relationship we wish to
establish, and the kind of resources the agency has behind that
visitor. They are likely to go in with another experienced visitor,
and will be essentially counselled out if what they are telling us
differs from how they behave in the institution itself. There are any
number of other mechanisms. We have a responsibility to fire
volunteers who are not responsible, even after the fact, if we have
missed this in our screening.

Senator Williams: I realize it is impossible to train every
volunteer, and that is the reason I use the word “briefing.” There
are the people who will be in direct contact with the individual as an
inmate. I suppose a lot depends on the age of the volunteer and the
age of the inmate; there could be a barrier or a difference.

Mr. MacLatchie: Oh yes.
Senator Williams: This is all taken into consideration?
Mr. MacLatchie: Certainly; most assuredly.

Senator Lapointe: Should the parolees in the residence do some
kind of homework or not? Iam referring to participating in work in
the house.

Mis. Freedman: All our residents participate in the upkeep of
the house by keeping it clean, keeping their own rooms clean,
cooking and so on. In our house we try to get them involved in
community activities as much as possible, according to their needs
and desires, rather than bringing the community activities into the
house. If they are interested in theatre, ceramics or something else
we try to provide a volunteer to get them slowly integrated into that
kind of community, whatever it is they are interested in, such as
parents-without-partners, daycare centres and all those kind of
things, rather than bringing those things into the residence. If they
are working during the day, whatever their interests may be we try
to get them adjusted to going into the community for those
activities, rather than bringing the activities into the residence.

Senator Hastings: Do you have one house in Toronto?
Mrs. Freedman: One house in Toronto, one house in Kingston.

Senator Hastings: How many women are in the house?

Mrs. Freedman: In Toronto?
Senator Hastings: Yes.

Miss Haslam: We have accommodation for 14. It averages about
nine or ten.

Senator Hastings: I am a great supporter of the residence as a
stepping-stone out to society, for the reasons outlined in the brief,
but there is one thing on which I should like to ask a question. You
refer to counselling staff who can help people who use the
residence. I find the biggest problem is to get the individual to use
the counselling, and I would like to know how you counsel clients
who just do not want counselling. The centre is the stepping stone
out, but most of the clients are not willing to be counselled; they
want out; they just do not want any counselling.

Miss Haslam: This is one of the areas where there is a
breakdown. They do not feel they need any counselling. They feel
they can make it, as some of them can, when they get out. Perhaps
this is one of the areas where it is easier working with women than
with men. We have found that where a contact has been made with
the women in the institution she is usually prepared to continue with
counselling. With the girls in the residence we go through two
periods. One is where she is sort of testing out whether she wants to
stay in the residence. It may be that the residence is the worst place
for her to stay and she would be better in the community. The very
fact there is this period during which she can make up her mind
before deciding whether she will stay on in the residence means that
if she decides to move out she then feels free to come back for
counselling. This does happen.

Senator Hastings: How often does a person come back?

Miss Haslam: If they have been in the residence even for a short
time, I would say it is very high—70 to 80 per cent.

Mirs. Freedman: I agree.

Senator Hastings: This is one of the great problems. I do not
know how you impress it upon your clients, that there is a place to
go for assistance, but to get them to come there . . .

Miss Haslam: The original idea, of persuading them in the
institution or persuading them when they were in court, with the
idea that they need help, I think this was the difficult period; but
once they have made the move, then the help they are getting and
the feeling of support and the feeling that there is somebody that
understands what they are going through and helps them through it,
is the kind of reason they keep coming.

Senator Hastings: How big a staff do you have in Toronto?
Miss Haslam: We have three social workers.
Senator Hastings: Three social workers. It seems to me that it is

part of this “we-they” syndrome that continues to exist with your
clients, that “we” do not understand “they” and “‘you” won’t—*“if I
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come to you with my problem you just do not understand me and I
always slip into that other area where they know me and they
know my problems.”

Miss Haslam: This is the problem, certainly, but one of the
advantages is that we usually have staff stay for some time, and we
find that one girl will tell another girl and say, “It is okay, you can
go and talk. They do understand; they do not get shocked; they will
not condemn you; they will help you.”

Mrs. Freedman: It shows the advantage also of an after-care
agency, a private after-care agency, rather than the “we-they”
penitentiary parole inmate system. It is a sort of stepping-stone to
the ultimate authority, although as an after-care agency doing parole
supervision we have authority to recommend for parole or against
parole to the National Parole Service, which makes the ultimate
recommendation to the Parole Board. We are not seen as that
authority, and therefore we sometimes get the confidence of the
women and have this relationship because of our position as a
voluntary after-care agency.

Senator Hastings: The reason I am pursuing this is from a great
deal of experience with the community correction centres, which
are community-based services run here by the Canadian Peniten-
tiary Service, which I support and agree with; it seems that the
difficulty is not the shortage of counsellors but the shortage of
inmates who will acceept counselling.

Mrs. Freedman: Perhaps it is the way the Penitentiary Service is
run. They are community based residential centres rather than the
ones run by the after-care agency. There is a move now to make a
co-operative venture with these things, having parole, penitentiaries
people and community people, involved in the management and
program planning in these centres, which would make it a more
cohesive effort and would tend to solve some of those problems.

Senator Hastings: It seems that they just move from the
institutions to the centres.

Mrs. Freedman: To a smaller institution.

Senator Hastings: To a smaller institution, but the same attitude
seems to exist between the staff and the client.

Mrs. Freedman: We do not find that in our half-way house.

Senator Hastings: You said they have moved to this concept.
Where?

Mrs. Freedman: We are talking with the Penitentiary Service
now, regarding another half-way house.

Senator Lapointe: Are you establishiig some quality standards
for the work of your different branches? Is someone looking at
that, to see they observe some standards of quality?

Mrs. Freedman: We have our provincial council. We are all
autonomous agencies, with our own funding, with our own

constitutions and with our own way of managing our societies in the
various areas. We feel that if any of the other societies across
Canada, or emerging societies, wish advice, we have given them
advice in setting standards and qualities. It is something that we are
not prepared to do on a very systematic basis, because we do not
have any funding, for our body at either the provincial level or the
federal level, to have someone that is there all the time to give
advice to a new emerging agency, although the existing agencies are
willing to help any emerging agency in this kind of a plan.

Senator Lapointe: Is there a central authority which supervises
the other ones?

Mrs. Freedman: No. We differ from the John Howard Society in
that way.

Mr. MacLatchie: I would like to add, before we leave half-way
houses, and the role of a half-way house, as such, in the system and
as an alternative for a judge who would prefer to have a different
facility than the penitentiary or jail to send a woman to—which is a
very important kind of concept, in our opinion—that right now in
Ottawa there is no half-way house. We are hoping to open one, with
some luck, in June 1973. This is certainly one of the things that
seem so important to us, to have an alternative for the judge,
where again the institution or the penitentiary facility might not be
suitable in some cases.

Senator Lapointe: Do you make a distinction between a
half-way house and a residence?

Mr. MacLatchie: No, not necessarily.

Miss Haslam: I think we would make a distinction here, because
we feel that a residence is a part of a total service, whereas a
half-way house tends to be more often connected in the public’s
mind with a place where you go when you come out of prison.

Senator Flynn: This is an interesting suggestion, and I think it
goes to the point I raised. Instead of sending someone to jail, you
send someone to the half-way house; just like you do with boys,
you send them to a boarding school. I was sent to boarding school
when I was young and 1 did not like it very much. I do not know if
it did me any good, but I suppose it was better than If I had been in
jail!

The Chairman: You were still able to become a senator.

Mrs. Freedman: In some sections of the United States they are
not only experimenting with this kind of program, of sentencing
people on first offences, no matter what the mandatory minimum
length of sentence would be, to a short stay in a community-based
residential centre, to get away from the concept of just a half-way
house, or sentencing them to a term of seven years, six years or
three years, or whatever it is, putting them in a penitentiary for
maybe six weeks, two months, and then releasing them and if they
violate any of their conditions they would have to go back to the
institution and serve that sentence. So it is a total concept of the
whole idea of parole, too.
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Senator Lapointe: Is this what you call “the more imaginative
views” of the sentences?

Mrs. Freedman: Yes.

Senator Hastings: What do you mean, under “Purposes of parole,
section (d)—Conditions of parole should be developed to meet the
needs of the specific person? ™

Miss Haslam: I think we were meaning that the person is within
the institution. There are some people where perhaps the circums-
tances surrounding the committing of the offence are such that,
with a relatively short period of time in custody, there is an
opportunity to sort out the kinds of things that created the problem
that got them into custody, rather than to continue keeping them in
custody longer which may result in their deteriorating rather than
their being helped. So they then might be released earlier. This is
one of the kinds of conditions. The other thing is that if there is a
case where there may be pressures and where it may be obvious that
the person is under those pressures, if a condition can be written
into their parole that would help that person in meeting that
pressure, then that might be an advantage.

Senator Hastings: Is that not the case at the moment?

Miss Haslam: Not particularly. By and large, one would hope
that conditions would be kept to a minimum, but there are times
when this can be helpful.

Senator Hastings: Can you be specific about that? I believe that
is exactly the way it is now—that it is all on a personal basis, that
the board interviews the man and grants parole and the conditions
are put on there to meet his specific problem or to try to help him
to meet his specific problem.

Miss Haslam: It might be that if a young person were coming up
for parole and there was a feeling that this person should stay within
some kind of controlled setting during the time that she is on
parole, or that it should be for a period of three months and then
reviewed, that might be a type of condition.

For instance, I think that it used to be that alcohol was more or
less routinely put on, and that you were not to have anything to do
with alcohol. For the most part that is now changed, I believe,
although it is still true in some jurisdictions. For many people
alcohol is not a problem, and for a condition like that to be put in
perhaps there should be some good reason why it is put in. In other

words, rather than a condition should be written in there as a
blanket condition, there should be some good reason for it. At any
rate, with the exception of Ontario, I do not think that such a
blanketing condition does apply at the present time.

Senator Hastings: With the greatest of respect, I disagree. I think
that the conditions that are put in there are put in there for specific
reasons. The problem is to convince your client that it is in his best
interests that those conditions are in there.

Miss Haslam: I sit corrected, but the point we would like to
ensure in any question of parole is that any conditions that are in
any parole set-up should relate to the need of the person and not to
a blanket kind of need. But, yes, there has been a change in the last
few years in the national parole.

Senator Lapointe: Of the women in custody, are single women
more numerous than married women? By “single” I mean single,
divorced or separated? Are they more numerous than the married
women who are convicted?

Miss Haslam: Of the ones who get into custody, yes.

Senator Lapointe: The single ones are more numerous?

Miss Haslam: The single ones are more numerous, yes.

Senator Lapointe: Is part of your work caring for the children
left at home by the woman who is in prison?

Miss Haslam: No. Quite often the girl wants word of her children
and we will find out about how they are doing and so on; but, no,
that is not our job.

The Chairman: If there are no more questions, I want to thank
the representatives of the Elizabeth Fry Societies for coming before
us today and presenting these very helpful views.

Senator Denis: Mr. Chairman, I would move that the two briefs
be printed as part of today’s proceedings.

(For text of briefs see appendices “A” and “B”’).

The Chairman: The committee is now adjourned until two
o’clock this afternoon.

The committee adjourned.
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APPENDIX “A”

A BRIEF SUBMITTED TO
THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON
LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

BY

THE ELIZABETH FRY SOCIETIES OF THE
PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

The subject of Canadian parole policy is of immediate interest to
the Elizabeth Fry Societies of Ontario who, as volunteer agencies,
have entered into agreements to assist the National Parole Board in
the rehabilitation process of parolees. Accordingly, we respectfully
submit the following comments for consideration by the Standing
Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

In principle, we believe that parole is an essential step in the
integrated rehabilitation programme which should begin as soon as
an individual is sentenced to a term of imprisonment. Ideally, this
process will culminate in the successful re-establishment in society
of the ex-offender.

We recognize the primary administrative responsibility of the
National Parole Board and Service in this sphere, and their
component status in the “social defence net-work™ described before
this Committee by the Solicitor General, and we welcome the
prospect of additional policy reforms and advances.

We support the Ouimet Committee’s recommendation that the
provincial parole boards should assume responsibility for inmates in
provincial institutions, and that the National Parole Board’s respon-
sibilities should be continued to those individuals serving sentences
in federal institutions. This would avoid much of the current
duplication and overlapping of authority that at present exists
between Federal and Provincial parole for those in Provincial
institutions serving a combination of definite and indeterminate
sentences. It would also ensure that everyone serving a sentence
came under the jurisdiction of a parole authority. At present this is
not the case.

We believe that the payment of Fees for Services is the most
practical way for the Department of the Solicitor General to obtain
the assistance of volunteer agencies in supervision and rehabilitation
of parolees, but we are convinced that the present financial
arrangements are, in general, insufficiently flexible, and, in some
cases, patently inadequate in view of the supervisory time required
for each parolee. The present rate of payment was apparently
calculated on the basis of a large caseload, and with a projected
estimate of three hours’ counselling a month for each parolee. Our
experience indicates that re-establishing some parolees in the
community requires considerably more time than this. For example,
helping a female parolee find suitable accommodation and
employment can be very time-consuming and it is our experience
that she needs and depends upon the supervisor as an acceptable
social contact. We believe that parole supervision should be provided
according to the needs of the individual and that the existing hourly
rate, with no ceiling, should be established, so that clients can
receive more personalized and effective supervision.

Almost all those serving terms in prison will someday return to
the community. One way to prepare the community to accept these
persons is to have an effective public relations programme em-
phazising the prositive side of rehabilitation and parole. Cooperation
between governmental parole services and voluntary after-care
agencies, besides increasing the number of professional staff workers
capable of sharing responsibility for parole supervision, ensures
individual and community involvement and interest, in a spirit of
participatory democracy, in the subject of parole. This involvement
will inevitably do much to dispel the concept of the ex-inmate as a
social outcast or as an individual to whom the ordinary citizen
cannot relate.

We consider this public and social education role to be one of
our most important functions, and one which will encourage
acceptance of under taking the individual’s rehabilitation within the
community in as many cases as possible. The Parole Service,
together with voluntary agencies, can, through administrative
coordination and frequent consultation, develop satisfactory quality
standards for agency involvement.

Unless there is compelling evidence to suggest that an inmate is
dangerous either to himself or herself or to others in the
community, we velieve that he or she should be eligible to be
considered for parole.

With maximum client benefit as the determining criterion, we
suggest that the Parole Service direct the establishment of com-
prehensive aftercare programmes for all regions and, in consultation
with volunteer agencies, special programmes for districts within each
region.

In our opinion, the two roles presently the responsibility of the
Chairman of the Parole Board, that of chairing the Parole Board and
supervising and directing the National Parole Service, should be
divided. We therefore support recommendations 1 and 2 of Chapter
18 of the Report of the Canadian Committee on Corrections
namely:

1. The independence of the National Parole Board be
formally acknowledged by legislation freeing it from the
possibility of ministerial direction in any aspect of the
function of the Board or any member of the Board.

2. The National Parole Service should be by legislation
directed to supply services as required by the National Parole
Board and be made directly accountable to the Department
of the Solicitor General.

The present set-up of the National Parole Board which requires
members to travel throughout the country and which limits the
amount of time available for individual cases, may result in an
inadequate evaluation by the Board of an inmate’s readiness for
parole and chances of success. Conversely, of course, parole hearings
presided over by regional boards composed entirely of local citizens
might be less objective towards individual inmates known to them,
and more parochial in their viewpoint on parole policy.

For these reasons, we recommend a compromise whereby local
boards could be appointed and a member of the National Parole
Board serve as Chairman. Such boards should be required to include
some minimum number of professionals from the field of Crimino-
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logy, Social Work or Social Services, and, the National Parole Board
could act as an appeal tribunal in cases where the inmate disagreed
with the local board’s decision. In certain cases, perhaps those
involving a sentence of more than five years, the National Parole
Board might have exclusive jurisdiction.

If procedural changes were not adopted, it seems that the most
effective way of lightening the workload of individual Parole Board
members would be to increase the Board’s membership even more
than was done in January, 1970. Such a step would presumably
have the added advantage of reducing the delay between suspension
and revocation of parole, during which time inmates are serving
‘“dead time” in prison. The heavy caseloads of parole officers may
be another delay-causing factor. A partial solution to this problem
may lie in increased contracting for parole supervision by suitably
qualified private citizens, especially in smaller communities, thus
abolishing the “absentee supervisor” syndrome. Such private
volunteer supervisors would themselves have to be supervised under
the auspices of the government parole service or of a recognized
professional body.

In conclusion, we believe that parole is a valuable tool in the
rehabilitation process which would be made available to as many
inmates as possible. For women inmates, few of whom are classified
as dangerous offenders, parole appears to be an accessible and

practical means of accelerating rehabilitation and social readapta-
tion. We commend the use of day parole during an inmate’s
sentence and urge the extension of this programme. We would
favour a mandatory remission and parole policy in the cases of
inmates serving sentences of more than two years. Under no
circumstances should parole be refused because the inmate refuses
to admit his guilt, or without the inmate being given a reason for the
refusal.

Recent figures show that it costs an average of $10,400 a year to
maintain an inmate in a federal penitentiary, but only $415 a year
to supervise him or her on parole. Thus, a substantial financial
advantage will accrue as the programme becomes more broadly
bases. Moreover, the parolee is, in most cases, contributing to the
country’s economy by working, sometimes with upgraded technical
skills acquired through training received in prison.

Public acceptance of parole will increase, we believe, if parole is
presented as an important stage in the rehabilitation of individuals
who were formerly inadequate members of society. As stated above,
nearly all offenders will eventually return to society and therefore
any programme that will help them adjust to society must be
encourage and expanded.

June 1972.



March 8, 1973

Legal and Constitutional Affairs 328

APPENDIX “B”

TO
THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON
LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS
WHICH IS EXAMINING THE PAROLE SYSTEM OF CANADA

FROM THE ELIZABETH FRY SOCIETY, TORONTO BRANCH

July 18, 1972

We have noted with interest the many presentations which have
been made to your committee. It is our desire to share with you
ideas regarding various aspects of parole with which we have had
direct experience and which may not have been covered in other
briefs.

1. VOLUNTEERS

Qurs is a voluntary Society in which we call upon the knowledge
and experience of both volunteers and staff, who work together as a
team. Because of this we have seen the benefits of involving
volunteers in the area of parole. Some of these are:

a) The possibility of finding a volunteer who has common
interests and concerns with the potential parolee and who
can start to develop a relationship with the person while
he/she is still in custody.

b) The introduction of the parolee through this volunteer to
valuable community contacts and resources.

c) The availability of the volunteer (or group of volunteers)
to the parolee, following release, as a person who can help
him/her to meet some of the problems of loneliness, anxiety,
fear, etc.

In order to get the maximum benefit of volunteer participation,
it is important that volunteers be drawn from as wide a group as
possible. Variations in age, in social, economic and/or cultural
background will improve the chances of finding the right people to
fit the needs of the widely assorted group receiving parole. For some
parolees, the best people to help them may be those who themselves
have served a sentence.

It should be stressed that if volunteers are to be used effectively,
it is important that there be careful selection, placement and
supervision of the volunteer in a job which has been clearly defined
and in which the areas of responsibility are understood and
accepted. Staff should be readily available to help the volunteer in
handling emergency situations.

We would urge the increased use of volunteers in the supervision
of parolees under these conditions.

2. RESIDENCES

The Toronto Elizabeth Fry Society has had the benefit of a
residence which has been available for clients of our Society when,
in the opinion of the staff member and the client concerned, a
period in the residence would be of benefit to the client. Through
the experience which we have had, we would see a number of values

for the Parole Service if such residences were available for the
parolee and we wish to bring the advantages to your attention.
Some of these are:

a) Testing periods spent in the residence, prior to release on
parole, can give the potential parolee and the staff of the
agency some indication as to whether or not a group living
situation is appropriate for the individual in terms of his/her
total parole plan. This is important because residence
accommodation should be only one part of several services
offered to him/her either in the residence or through other
community services.

b) When a person is considered to be ready for parole but
has been unable to find employment and/or accommodation
prior to release, a short stay in a residence can provide
temporary assistance until the person has found employment
and knows where he/she wishes to live.

c) Some people need the structure of community residential
living for a brief period between the institution and complete
freedom in the community. Such a residence can provide
this.

d) Some people run into periods of particular stress while
they are on parole and can find help in handling this stress by
moving into a residence for a short period of time.

In considering the provision of such a residence, it is important
to note that “caretaker” type of staff is not adequate. Counselling
staff who can help people to use the residence as an ongoing part of
their development are essential.

3. THE PURPOSE OF PAROLE

Basic to any productive discussion regarding parole, it would
seem essential that there be better clarification regarding the real
meaning and purpose of parole. In talking with people, one gets
varied answers as to the purpose of parole. There may well be more
than an element of truth in all the suggested reasons, but, in fact,
should these be the reasons for parole? For instance,

a) “Parole is a way of reducing excessive sentences”’. In fact,
some judges tend to lengthen sentences so that the person
will get a sentence in custody which the judge believes is
adequate. Little consideration is given to the many who are
given longer sentences for this purpose but are not given
parole and so serve a sentence in custody which is much
longer than that anticipated by the judge.

b) “Parole is given as a reward for good behaviour”. Those
who see this as the primary basis for the granting of parole,
probably do not understand the dynamics of life is custody.

c) “Parole is a way of getting a person out of custody who
will gain nothing further from staying in custody and is no
danger to the community”. Such an answer seems to point
up the problems around sentencing procedures where judges
give sentences to institutions rather than adequately con-
sidering alternatives.

The Elizabeth Fry Society of Toronto believes that the primary
purpose of parole should be to make it possible to use both
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institutional and community resources in such a way that each
individual can be given the most favourable opportunity to learn to
live in the community in a manner which will promote a sense of
self worth and minimize his/her threat to the community.

This purpose carries with it some obvious implications:

a) There should be close liaison between the staff of the
institution, the parole service and community resources.

b) The Parole Board should be close enough to the institu-
tion so that it may be aware of the development of each
person so that parole may be used wisely to enable the
individual to move out of the institution at the point at
which such a move would contribute most effectively to his
progress.

c) If there was this close liaison between the Parole Board
and the Institution, it would be unnecessary to have both
Day Parole and the Temporary Absence Program. These two
could be amalgamated. Release under this program should be
seen as an integral part of the person’s total program, not as a
series of unrelated incidents. More imaginative use should be
made of this type of release.

d) Conditions of parole should be developed to meet the
need of the specific person.

e) If the purpose of parole is seen as above, then it becomes
difficult to reconcile the idea of a period of mandatory
supervision set at a time which is determined by the length of
sentence, not by the need of the person. One would hope
that an actively developed parole system would make it
possible to release most people on regular parole prior to the
end of their sentence and that the mandatory supervision
program would be discontinued.

4. STATUTORY REMISSION

There is great resentment on the part of many inmates that they
are placed on mandatory supervision. They see statutory remission
as their right to free time if they have not forfeited it. One would
believe that some of this problem stems from the whole concept of
statutory remission. Presumably this was seen as a device for helping
to control behaviour in the institution. If so, then its effectiveness
has been severely undermined by the introduction of mandatory
minimum supervision. It well may be that the place of statutory
remission in the correctional field should be re-examined in light of
modern developments in the field.

The Elizabeth Fry Society, Toronto Branch
215 Wellesley Street East
Toronto 282, Ontario
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Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the
Senate, Monday, February 5, 1973:

“The Honourable Senator Goldenberg moved, second-
ed by the Honourable Senator Thompson:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and
report upon all aspects of the parole system in
Canada, including all manner of releases from correc-
tional institutions prior to termination of sentence;

That the said Committee have power to engage the
services of such counsel, staff and technical advisers
as may be necessary for the purpose of the said
examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so
authorized by the Committee, may adjourn from
place to place inside or outside Canada for the pur-
pose of carrying out the said examination; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on
the subject in the third and fourth sessions of the 28th
Parliament be referred to the Committee.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”
Robert Fortier,
Clerk of the Senate.
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Minutes of Proceedings

March 8, 1973.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing
Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
met this day at 2:00 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Goldenberg (Chair-
man), Flynn, Hastings, Lapointe, McGrand, McIlraith and
Williams. (7)

Present but not of the Committee: The Honourable
Senator Denis.

In attendance: Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director
for the Examination of the parole system in Canada; Mr.
Patrick Doherty, Special Research Assistant.

The Committee continued its study of the parole system
in Canada.

The following witnesses, representing the Social
Rehabilitation Services Association of Quebec, were
heard by the Committee:

Mr. Pierre Asselin, Vice-President of the Social
Rehabilitation Services Association of Quebec;

Mr. Jean-Luc C6té, Member of the Board, and Gener-
al Manager of the Social Rehabilitation Services,
Quebec.

Mr. Stephen Cumas, Members of the Board, and Gen-
eral Manager of the John Howard Society,
Montreal.

On motion of the Honourable Senator Hastings it was
Resolved to print in this day’s proceedings the Brief pre-
sented to the Committee by the Social Rehabilitation
Services Association. It is printed as an Appendix.

At 12:05 p.m. the Committee adjourned until 2:00 p.m.
ATTEST:

Denis Bouffard,
Clerk of the Committee.



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal

and Constitutional Affairs

Evidence

Ottawa, Thursday, March 8, 1973

The Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 2.00 p.m. to examine the parole
system in Canada.

Senator H. Carl Goldenberg (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: The gentlemen appearing before us this
afternoon have to return to Montreal on the 5 o’clock train
and they are taking your chairman along with them, so I
hope we will be able to complete the hearing by 4 o’clock.

Senator Hastings: That is not closure.
The Chairman: That is not closure, no.

[Translation]

We have with us today the representatives of the Social
Rehabilitation Services Association and I would ask one
of them to begin by introducing the representatives.

Mr. Pierre Asselin, Vice-President., Social Rehabilitation
Services Association: Mr. Jean-Luc Co6té, at my right, is
General Manager of the Social Rehabilitation Services in
Quebec and member of the Board of Directors of the
Association; Mr. Stephen Cumas is General Manager of
the John Howard Society, in Montreal and a member of
the Association’s Board of Directors; I am, Vice-President
of the Association and Director of Professional Services
of a multi-purpose agency which I will explain to you.

Senator Hastings: Your name?
Mr. Asselin: I am Pierre Asselin.
The Chairman: Go ahead.

Mr. Asselin: First I want to apologize for the absence of
the Social Rehabilitation Services Association’s president,
Dr. Marc Adélard Tremblay, and the secretary of our
Association, Mr. Emmanuel Grégoire.

As I already told you, the delegation includes three
persons and we want to thank you for the opportunity
given to us first to submit our brief and for this after-
noon’s hearing.

What is the Social Rehabilitation Services Association?
It is a provincial association with aggregates 25 private
agencies. It includes three specialized agencies which are:
the Social Rehabilitation Service, represented by Mr.
Jean-Luc C6té, the John Howard Society of Montreal and
the Social Rehabilitation Services Society (Société des
services de réhabilitation sociale;, SORS) of Montreal,
whose General Manager is Mr. Emmanuel Grégoire who,
concurrently is secretary of the Association. There are

also twenty two Social Service multipurpose agencies
scattered throughout the province and they offer, as sug-
gested by their name, various services to the population.
The services are namely marriage counselling, children
placement, adult placement, adoption service and so on.
Moreover, within these services, there is the delinquency
service which receives inmates on parole. These multipur-
pose agencies, as well as the three specialized agencies,
are staffed by experts in human relations, namely social
workers,sociologists, psychologists, criminologists, and
social counsellors.

The objectives of the Association are actually the pro-
motion and improvement of services to adult delinquents
in the province of Quebec. This Association is an inter-
mediary between the agencies, the Department of the
Solicitor General and the Quebec Department of Justice.
The Association acts as a link between the agencies and
the Department of the Solicitor General of Canada par-
ticipates in the signature of contracts of service for
paroled inmates and the distribution of grants by the
Department, to institutions. Moreover, the Association is
the spokesman for member agencies before the Board of
Inquiry. It was also the spokesman for these agencies as
member of the Board of Inquiry, and the Prévost-Ouimet
Commission. This consulting service was requested by the
Solicitor General of Canada. As another objective, it par-
ticipates in national and international conventions on
criminology.

I wonder if you have any questions in this respect. I
have thus introduced the association and its member
agencies.

Senator Lapointe: I have one or two questions.

I should like to know why there are multivalent agen-
cies which deal also with the rehabilitation of the inmates,
as well as other specialized agencies? Is it because the
volunteer groups can work in places where specialized
agencies would not have enough clientele, for example?

The private agencies, members of the Association, are
not departmental agencies. They are administered by
volountary citizens, members of the community. They
have a certain autonomy, are flexible and innovative and
are free to critisize the system.

Mr. Asselin: Indeed. Actually, the majority of offend-
ers—those who leave the penitentiaries and the parolees—
live mostly in urban centres, while most of the volunteer
agencies do their work in semi-urban and rural centres.

4:5
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[Text]

Senator Hastings: You do not have any inmate self-help
organizations such as Inspiration which operates in the
city of Montreal? Is there any particular reason for this?

Mr. M. Stephen Cumas, Director, John Howard Society: They
are not part of the SRSA because they come and go. We
have had Comprehension House, and another recent one.
But I must admit our experiences have not been particu-
larly successful.

Senator Hastings: Is there any particular reason for this?
Mr. Cumas: Is this an in camera session?

Senator Hastings: No, it is on the record.

Mr. Cumas: There have been three organizations and
they have not been very successful. I am speaking about
the English sector. You must understand that in Montreal
we have a dividing line and I can tell you only about the
English section.

Senator Hastings: We have that in Canada, too. It is not
just in Montreal.

Mr. Cumas: I can only speak about the English group.
There have been three or four organizations, and they
have not succeeded very well. It is my considered opinion,
and that of many others, that the self-help groups are very
good, or could be very good. They have a certain réseau
d’expérience, you know, which is necessary. But you
should have some professional who is responsible to the
social workers, to the Parole Board, to the probation
officers, and so on. I would prefer not to mention the
three or four units, but they have not been working for the
benefit of the clients. They have been working for their
own benefit, with the result and we have had this unfortu-
nate Meloche outbreak. This was a self-help organization.

Recently, an organization has been set up—and it has
been in all of the papers. The person set aside as executive
director of this particular organization was picked up on
an armed robbery charge while he was still the executive
director.

These are the catastrophes which have hit private
groups in the Montreal area. It may be something which
has happened only to these particular groups, I do not
know. This is the only way I can answer your question.

) Senator Hastings: Again, I would be a little reluctant to
judge them on a few incidents.

Mr. Cumas: No, I am saying these are the realities which

Eave been facing us. I do not know what the future will
e.

Senator Hastings: My second question pertains to
remarks you made on page 1 of your brief where you say:
... the privgte social service agency must be consid-
e;ed as an integral part of the correctional services
network.
On page 2 you say—it is in a spirit of co-operation.
On page 3 you say:

It works in close co-operation with the other public
and private correctional services.

On page 6 you say it must be “a true participant in the
work already undertaken.” Do you believe there is team
work, co-operation and understanding between the police,

the judiciary, the custodial parole services, and the after-
care agencies?

[Translation]

Mr. Cumas: Our Association considers that all the agen-
cies whose purpose is to help the offender’s rehabilitation
constitute a services network. These are public or govern-
ment services. However, we believe that agencies like
ours, private agencies, because of the part they play in the
correctional sector, must be considered as being a part of
this services network. In other words, the network would
consist of government agencies and also of private and
non-government ones. By integrating themselves into that
network, it is easier for the private agencies to achieve a
better co-ordination of their activities with other members
of the network which are government agencies and they
wish to form a team with them, to work in close coopera-
tion with all those engaged in the correctional sector.

[Text]

Senator Hastings: Yes, I agree. My question is: Isn’t there
team work prevalent throughout the various correctional
jurisdictions?

Mr. Cumas: I think there is that cooperation between the
parole system and the probation system. It varies. I do not
think we have the co-operation which, perhaps we should
have with the police, although it is better now than it was
ten years ago. What other group are you suggesting?

Senator Hastings: The custodial group.

Mr. Cumas: Yes, there is much greater rapprochement
with the custodial group, the parole and probation
groups; and the situation regarding the police has
improved. Years ago we suggested to the agencies that
they set up a separate body of parole police for people
being released on parole. They did field work in our
agencies for a short period. They had an awareness of
how we operate. In the meantime, we worked closely with
them and we were capable of seeing their operations.
There is quite a good relationship between us and the
police who worked in that particular segment of parole.

Now, a man picked up and brought to station No. 10—
contingent on the agency involved—in order to have a
liaison between them and the client we have to be con-
stantly re-interpreting. For example, in the west end we
are enjoying a better relationship with station No. 10 than
we did a year ago. We used this example case to interpret
our work. It is not as complimentary in its functions as it
is with the parole, probation or custodial groups from the
Solicitor General’s office.

Senator Hastings: When I was referring to custodial
people I was talking about the Penitentiary Service. You
have team work and co-operation with them?

Mr. Cumas: Yes, we have their co-operation. If X is
incarcerated and has some problems, the classification
officer immediately has recourse to the worker from
social d’adapation, the SORS, or to Pierre Asselin’s group,
or to my group to discuss these problems. Our agencies in
the community know the other problems involved con-
cerning the family. So, in order to flush out that individu-
al, and for the classification officer to do a better job and
to use the proper treatment, we are an absolutely neces-



March 8, 1973

Legal and Constitutional Affairs 4:7

sary resource. They are now aware of this and we are
working quite closely.

Senator Hostings: They are aware of it; but are they
using it?

Mr. Cumas: Yes, they are using it more that they did
years ago.

[Translation]

Mr. Jean-Luc Cété: Would you agree if the probation
officers made increasing use of them—the teams working
in penitentiaries—more so than they did in the past?

Mr. Cumas: Yes, I do agree.
[Text]

It is not an ideal situation. Nothing is ideal. I can only
tell you about its evolution. We are certainly happier with
the situation now.

I am considered an old timer. About 15 years ago when I
was working in the mother house at St. Vincent de Paul,
the maximum, as a case worker, we had nothing like this.
So there has been a natural, positive evolution.

Senator Hastings: So, as I understand it, you do have
co-operation, understanding and team work with the
National Parole Service?

Mr. Cumas: Yes, in the

penitentiaries.

and the custodial people

Senator Hastings: But it breaks down, or it has not exist-
ed between the police and the judiciary?

Mr. Cumas: Well, it is hard for me to answer that ques-
tion. At one time we did all the probation work. Now we
have the Quebec probation system which takes care of
this. We are not allowed to go near the courts except in
specific cases. So the dealings there are between the pro-
bation system and the judges. When we do intercede in a
particular case, it is usually contingent on the evolution of
that judge in the psycho-social sciences as to what extent
we are going to receive any co-operation, the first promise
as to what action will follow.

[Translation]

Senator Lapointe: You say that your agencies’ represent-
atives do a lot in order to help the inmates at the begin-
ning of their imprisonment: they make enquiries in their
circle of friends so that they come to know the inmates
very well. However, when the inmate becomes a parolee,
you are obliged to withdraw and let his Probation Officer
take care of him. But you don’t approve of this situation,
because this gentleman does not know the inmate at all,
whereas, in your case, you know him very well. What
would you suggest as a possible solution?

Mr. Cumas: Perhaps, it is better if I explain what we
would like to do in the institutions about that. We are
representatives of the community, so to speak, who
introduce ourselves into the system and we are recognized
as such by the inmates. Often, they ask to meet us and
they are referred to us by the classification officers of the
institutions. We try, first, in co-operation with the classifi-
cation officer, to get the inmates to accept their imprison-
ment. We also try to motivate them to participate in a
programme developed for them inside the institution. But,

at the same time, we go and visit the families, we keep in
touch with them and work together; we help the families
to accept the situation and also to settle the difficulties
which can be created by the absence of the imprisoned
member.

All his work is done with the inmate and his family
while he is still in prison. We also discussed with him
plans for his release. Furthermore when the release date
approaches he asks us to contact his employer, to contact
his wife or to discuss his problem with various social
agencies. We make those interviews. We create a trusting
relationship; the inmate knows us, we are not strangers to
him and some measure of esay contacts are established so
that, very often, he would rather continue to take care of
him after his release. We say that, because we have
already work with the inmate and because we know him,
his family and his environment, we would like to continue
that work. We think we are in a good position to make the
community assessment which the Board needs to decide
on parole. We have rather complete records on the envi-
ronment as well as comprehension information. We would
like to be able to cooperate at that level. Since the inmate
trusts us and since mandatory supervision after parole is
not only a means of control but, also and above all, a
means of assistance placed at the inmate’s disposal to
enable him to solve his social reintegration problems
more easily, we believe that the person most entitled,
though not necessarily most qualified, to act in this situa-
tion, can probably bring the inmate to make greater use of
his adviser in order to solve all his problems.

In some cases, because of the work already done with
the inmate, we consider ourselves to be in a better posi-
tion to assist more effectively the paroled inmate who
needs help. At that time, we can probably better exercise
the mandatory supervision of that inmate after parole
while accepting the obligations and the real requirements
of supervision and at the same time controlling the
inmate’s conduct.

Senator Lapointe: When the representative of Society
that is of the National Parole Board, takes over, does he at
least ask you information or does he go out by himself to
take care of the inmate? Does he 